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GLOSSARY OF HUNGARIAN TERMS

AVH

DISZ

HNF
IBUSZ

KISZ

MAVAG
MDP
MEFESZ

MSZDP

MTI

NEKOSZ

Irodalmi Ujsag
Kis Ujsag
Magyar Kozlony
Népakarat

Népszabadsag
Szabad Nép

Népszava

A. Abbreviations

Allamvédelmi Hatosag; also referred to as AVO - Allamvédelmi Osztély.
State Security Authority; also referred to as State Security Division.

Dolgozo Ifjusagi Szovetség
League of Working Youth: youth branch of the Hungarian Workers’
(Communist) Party.

Hazafias Népfront
People’s Patriotic Front, abbreviated as PPF (1)

Idegenforgalmi, Beszerzési, Utazasi és Szallitmanyozasi Iroda.
State Travel Office.

Kommunista Ifjusagi Szovetség
League of Communist Youth (new Communist youth organization set up
in March 1957.)

Magyar Allamvasutak Gépgyara.
Hungarian State Railways Machine Factory

Magyar Dolgozok Partja
Hungarian Workers’ Party (title of the Communist Party before 1 November 1956.)

Magyar Egyetemi és Féiskolai Hallgatok Egyesiileteinek Szovetsége
College Student Associations

Magyar Szocialista Dolgozok Partja
Hungarian Socialist Workers’ Party (title of the Communist Party
after 1 November 1956.)

Magyar Téavirati [roda
Hungarian Telegraph Agency

Népi Kollégiumok Orszagos Szdvetsége
National Association of People’s Colleges

B. Press (*)

Literary Gazette
Weekly paper of the Hungarian Writers’ Union

Small Gazette
Official press organ of the Independent Smallholders’ Party, 1-3 November

Hungarian Gazette
Official Gazette of the Hungarian People’s Republic

People’s Will
Official press organ of the Hungarian Trade Unions after 1 November 1956

People’s Freedom.
Free People
Main official press organs of the Hungarian Workers’ and Socialist Workers’ Parties

People’s Voice
Official press organ of the Hungarian Trade Unions before 1 November 1956;
Became the daily of the revived Social Democratic Party between 1-3 November 1956.



Statisztikai Szemle Statistical Review
The review of the Central Statistical Office

Szabad Ifjusag Free Youth
Official press organ of DISZ

Uj Magyarorszdg ~ New Hungary
Official press organ of the Pet6fi (formerly National Peasants’) Party, 2-3 November 1956.

(1)See Chapter XII, para. 565.
(*)See also footnote 3 to Chapter XII, para. 587.



Chapter 1
ORGANIZATION AND FUNCTIONS OF THE COMMITTEE

A. Introduction

1. The Special Committee on the Problem of Hungary, composed of the representatives of
Australia, Ceylon, Denmark, Tunisia and Uruguay, was established by the General Assembly of
the United Nations on 10 January 1957.(1) The following representatives were appointed by
their Governments: Australia: Mr. K. C. O. Shann; Ceylon: Mr. R. S. S. Gunewardene;
Denmark: Mr. Alsing Andersen; Tunisia: Mr. Mongi Slim; Uruguay: Professor Enrique
Rodriguez Fabregat. The Secretary-General appointed Mr. W. M. Jordan as Principal
Secretary of the Committee and Mr. P. Bang Jensen as Deputy Secretary. The Committee held
its first meeting at the United Nations Headquarters in New York on 17 January 1957, and
elected Mr. Alsing Andersen as Chairman and Mr. K. C. O. Shann as Rapporteur.

2. The Committee was charged by the General Assembly with the duty of providing the
Assembly and all Members of the United Nations with “the fullest and best available
information regarding the situation created by the intervention of the Union of Soviet Socialist
Republics, through its use of armed force and other means, in the internal affairs of Hungary,
as well as regarding developments relating to the recommendations of the Assembly on this
subject”.

3. The Committee submitted an Interim Report to the General Assembly on 20 February
1957.2) In this report, the Special Committee defined the scope of the inquiry which it had
been called upon to conduct, and in a summary statement on the course of Soviet intervention
in Hungary, indicated certain specific problems to which the Committee would direct its
attention.

4. The Committee’s task has been to ascertain the facts and, after careful scrutiny of the
evidence and in formation received, to present an objective report, together with findings, on
the situation in question. The Committee regrets that, owing to the attitude of the Hungarian
Government, it has not been in a position to establish and maintain direct observation in
Hungary, as enjoined by the General Assembly resolution.

5. After a preliminary examination of the available documentation, the Committee gave
hearings to thirty-five witnesses at the Headquarters of the United Nations in New York. The
Committee then proceeded to Europe where, from 11 March to 16 April 1957, it held hearings
at the European Office of the United Nations in Geneva, and thereafter in Rome, Vienna,
London and again in Geneva. These hearings greatly augmented the range of information at the
disposal of the Committee and contributed significantly to the Committee’s understanding of
the character of the events in Hungary. An extensive outline of the report, submitted by the
Rapporteur, received the provisional approval of the Committee at its 58th meeting in Geneva
on 8 April 1957. After further hearings, the Committee returned to New York to complete the
preparation of the report. The report has been adopted unanimously by the Committee, which
held its last meeting on the report on Friday, 7 June 1957.
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B. The witnesses

6. The Committee has heard 111 witnesses: thirty-five were heard in New York, twenty-
one in Geneva, sixteen in Rome, thirty in Vienna and nine in London.

7. The first three witnesses were heard in public. They were: Miss Anna Kéthly, Minister
of State in the Hungarian Government of Imre Nagy; Major-General Béla Kiraly, Military
Commander of the City of Budapest and Commander-in-Chief of the National Guard during
the Hungarian uprising and Jozsef Kévagd, Mayor of Budapest during the years 1945-1947
and again during the days from 31 October to 4 November 1956.(3)

8. These three witnesses and other prominent Hungarians requested the Committee to
hear certain other witnesses. In accordance with the provisions of the General Assembly
resolution and at the request of the Committee, suggestions as to persons to be heard were
also made by the Governments of Belgium, Canada, Denmark, France, Italy, the United
Kingdom and the United States. These Governments submitted data regarding Hungarians in
their territory whose testimony might, in their opinion, be of special interest. During the
hearings, witnesses also on occasion proposed the names of other witnesses who might
confirm or supplement their statements. Some 200 Hungarians sent letters on their own
initiative to the Committee requesting to be heard; a decision as to the hearing of these persons
was reached after obtaining from them further information regarding themselves and the
testimony which they could offer.

9. The witnesses were selected under the authority of the Chairman and the Rapporteur.
The primary consideration in the selection of witnesses was their capacity to place before the
Committee evidence based on direct and personal knowledge of the events in Hungary.
Attention was also paid to the need to ensure that the witnesses should be drawn from all
segments of the Hungarian people and from all parts of the country. Towards the end of its
hearings, the Committee had to exercise increasing discrimination in the selection of witnesses
in order to ensure that the testimony did not become unduly repetitive.

10. Among the witnesses the larger number were workers, skilled and unskilled, from light
and heavy industry, but a number of white-collar workers, and workers who had been active in
trade unions within Hungary were also heard. Many of these workers had participated in the
revolt as ordinary “freedom fighters”, but several had been leaders in various spheres during
the uprising. Among these were members of the Revolutionary Councils in Budapest and the
provinces and leading members of the Workers’ Councils in Budapest and the provinces,
including members of the Central Workers’ Council of Csepel.

11.  Testimony was also received from engineers and technicians, and from managers in
state enterprises, including the uranium mines in Pécs.

12.  Relatively few peasants were heard by the Committee, since comparatively little
fighting had taken place in country areas. Many of the workers and students who testified
before the Committee were, however, of peasant origin.

13. The witnesses included both Communist and non-Communist intellectuals. The
Committee heard several members of the Pet6fi Club, some outstanding Hungarian writers and
journalists, an actress, an artist, an architect, professors of law, medicine, philosophy, history,
science, technology, economy and agriculture, and several lawyers, including an assistant
public prosecutor. The Committee also gave hearings to a number of high school students of
both sexes and to young men and women from universities, including members of students’
councils.
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14.  Besides several officers and soldiers of the Hungarian army and members of the Air
Force, the Committee heard members of the National Guard and of the ordinary police as well
as certain leaders of revolutionary forces, viz., the Commander and Deputy Commander of the
National Guard at Csepel; the Commander of the Corvin Block; the Commander of the
revolutionary forces of southern Budapest; and the leader of the “freedom fighters” and
guerrilla forces in south western Hungary. Valuable information was received from doctors and
nurses who had taken care of the wounded and carried out Red Cross duties, and from railroad
and communication workers regarding troop movements.

15.  Testimony was also received from a considerable number of Government officials,
including diplomats. Certain of these had held high rank or had been assistants to leading
Hungarian politicians or Cabinet ministers of various parties. Some had been present in the
Parliament Building with Prime Minister Nagy until 4 November and were able to provide
valuable and detailed information about events within the Hungarian Government during this
critical period.

16.  Among the witnesses were Catholics, Protestants and Jews.

17.  Several of the witnesses had formerly been members of Parliament or leaders of
political parties. Many of the witnesses were Communists or had formerly been Communists.
Others were members of the Social Democratic Party or of the Independent Smallholders’
Party.

18.  The witnesses also included a convinced pacifist who, under the stress of events in
Hungary, forgot his principles and found himself participating in the fighting.

19. Many of the witnesses had spent years in prison before 1945 on account of anti-Horthy
or anti-Nazi activities. Some of these had spent more years in prison under the Communists.
Among the witnesses were some who had been accused in the Rajk trial; all of these had
undergone extreme torture, had been forced to sign confessions, and had been kept in prison or
forced labour camps for many years without proper legal proceedings. Some of them had,
later, after the fall of Rékosi in 1953, been released and reinstated in the Communist Party.
One witness had been a stenographer for the security police.

20.  None of the witnesses had left Hungary before the October revolution; some had
escaped only a few weeks before being heard by the Committee; one witness had revisited
Hungary several times in order to bring out his family and various friends.

21.  Most witnesses gave the explanation that they had fled because they feared arrest and
deportation. Eight witnesses had themselves been deported to the USSR, but had escaped or
been returned; other witnesses had been liberated from deportation trains. Many stated that
their apartments had been searched and were watched, so that they did not dare to return.
Several had been members of Workers’ and Revolutionary Councils of which other members
had been arrested.

22. The great majority of the witnesses were under thirty-five years of age; many were
much younger, the youngest being sixteen years of age.

23.  The Committee has been impressed by the bearing of the witnesses in the sometimes
trying circumstances of the hearings, and by the cogency and coherence of their evidence.
Despite the events which they had lived through, their testimony was usually tendered in a
level-headed and sober manner. The members of the Committee were especially impressed by
the bearing and earnestness of the younger witnesses.
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C. Conduct of hearings

24.  The first three prominent witnesses, Miss Anna Kéthly, Major-General Kirdly and
Major Kovago, were heard before the Committee in open meetings. It was, however, found
more practical to hold closed meetings, since most of the refugees feared retaliation against
their family and friends in Hungary, and since questioning could be more insistent in closed
meetings. Eighty-one out of the 111 witnesses were, at their request, heard anonymously; their
names were made known to the Chairman and Rapporteur, and to other members of the
Committee when they so desired.

25. At the beginning of his testimony, each witness would usually give his personal data
and background, and would then make an introductory statement regarding those events of
which he had special knowledge. The witnesses were instructed to give evidence based on their
personal experience. After the introductory statement, which might last from a few minutes to
a few hours, the witnesses were subjected to close cross-examination by the members of the
Committee. Some witnesses submitted important documents and original drafts, and some
prepared memoranda to support or elaborate their testimony. The verbatim records made of
the testimony comprise some 2,000 pages of evidence.

26. Throughout its work, the Committee has sought scrupulously to assess the value of the
testimony and of the documentation placed before it. Care has been taken to subject witnesses
to detailed interrogation in order to test the reliability of their evidence. The Committee has on
many points been in a position to check the testimony of one witness with the testimony of
others and with the documentation available to the Committee. As the hearings progressed, it
became possible to put to witnesses questions of a more and more precise character.

D. Documentary Material

27.  As mentioned in the Interim Report, the Committee through the Secretary-General,
requested the Member States to make relevant information in their possession available to it.
Governments having diplomatic representation in Budapest received a special request from the
Committee to this effect.

28.  The Committee is grateful for the helpful and voluminous material received from
Member States in response to these requests. Besides other documentary material, the
Governments of Belgium, France, the Netherlands, Italy, the United Kingdom and the United
States submitted reports giving a detailed and extensive picture of events in Hungary based on
information available to them. The Australian Government transmitted a valuable memo-
randum based on interviews with thirty-eight Hungarian refugees in Australia.

29. Several non-governmental organizations have transmitted memoranda and documen-
tary material. A detailed study was received from the International Commission of Jurists at
The Hague. Sir Hartley Shawcross, Q.C., had the opportunity to present this material orally to
the Committee, and submitted to questioning by the Members regarding the facts and the
views expressed in the memorandum.

30.  The initial studies of the Committee were in the main based on monitoring reports, in
English and Hungarian, of official Hungarian broadcasts up to the present time and of the
unofficial stations which were broadcasting during the Revolution. Use has been made of the
available official Hungarian documentation, including issues of the Hungarian Gazette, the
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Hungarian White Book, and official statements by the Hungarian Government. The
documentation utilized for the preparation of the Report comprises also Hungarian newspapers
covering the time before, during and after the Revolution, including several revolutionary
newspapers and leaflets published during the uprising. Annexed to the Report is a list of
material of this nature available to the Committee.

31. The Committee has also had the opportunity to view certain films which were made
during the uprising.

E. Attempts to observe in Hungary and to meet Imre Nagy

32.  As stated in the Interim Report, the Committee requested at an early stage, through the
Secretary-General, that the Hungarian Government extend assistance or facilities for the
Committee’s work, especially with regard to the entry of the Committee and its staff within the
territory of Hungary. In his reply of 5 February 1957, the Permanent Representative of
Hungary informed the Secretary-General that, in the opinion of his Government, the
Committee “violates, in its function, the Charter of the United Nations”, and that
“consequently, the Hungarian Government is not in a position to permit the members of the
Special Committee and its staff to enter into the territory of Hungary”.

33.  In accordance with the undertaking stated in the Interim Report, the Committee
renewed its request to the Hungarian Government during its stay in Europe. The Hungarian
Government replied in a Note of 25 March 1957 that it maintained its position.

34. On 14 March 1957, the Committee also requested the Secretary-General to inform the
Government of Romania that the Committee desired to meet Imre Nagy in the interest of a full
and effective performance of the functions entrusted to it by the General Assembly. The
Permanent Representative of Romania replied on 30 March that his Government considered
the establishment of the Committee as contrary to the spirit and provisions of the United
Nations Charter, as well as to the interests of international co-operation.

F. Arrangement of the report of the Committee

35.  In deciding the arrangement of information with in the report, the Committee has
sought to ensure that the form of the report should reflect the nature of the task assigned to the
Committee by the General Assembly.

36.  The Committee noted in its Interim Report that its primary concern was “to ascertain
the extent and the impact of foreign intervention, by the threat or use of armed force or other
means on the internal affairs and political independence of Hungary and the rights of the
Hungarian people”. The internal affairs of Hungary and political and other developments of
that country before 1956 were to be considered by the Committee as outside the framework of
its investigation, save in so far as those developments had a direct bearing on the uprising of
October 1956, the subsequent interventions of the USSR and the resultant aspects of the
continuing situation within Hungary.
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37.  In view of these considerations, the Committee has considered that a chronological
survey of events would not be an appropriate form for the report. It has seemed more
appropriate that each chapter should deal with a defined aspect of the situation which the
Committee has been called upon to investigate. Since this arrangement has involved a
departure from chronological sequence in the presentation of information, the Committee has
considered it proper in the following chapter to present a brief outline, in chronological order,
of developments in Hungary from 22 October 1956, prefaced by a summary of the political
development of Hungary in preceding years. In chapter II references will be found to the places
in the report where points at issue are developed at greater length. At the same time, the
Committee has sought to present this chapter as an account of the events in Hungary which
can be read independently.

38.  In chapter III the Committee has endeavoured to state objectively the contentions
advanced by the Governments of Hungary and of the USSR in justification of recourse to the
assistance of the armed forces of the USSR. The Committee has also endeavoured to indicate
within this chapter the degree to which the general contentions of the Governments in question
correspond with known facts.

39.  The remainder of the report is divided into three parts. The first part covers aspects of
the situation directly related to the intervention of the armed forces of the USSR. Two
chapters are devoted to an account of the military movements of the Soviet armed forces
within Hungary in the last days of October and the early days of November 1956. These are
followed by two chapters which deal with the alleged invitations by the Governments of
Hungary to the Government of the USSR to intervene. This first part closes with an
examination of the international instruments bearing on Soviet intervention and gives an
account of the negotiations between the Government of Hungary and the Government of the
USSR regarding the withdrawal of Soviet troops from Hungary.

40.  Having in this first part dealt with the direct problems of Soviet intervention, the
Committee has in part II endeavoured to assess the impact on the political independence of
Hungary of the use of force by the Government of the USSR. For this purpose the Committee
has found it essential to inquire with care into the immediate background of the uprising and
into the aims of the different sections of the Hungarian people. In order to present a clear
statement on their aims and aspirations, the examination of their social and political thought
has been dealt with in chapter IX separately from the narrative of events. The course of events
during the uprising is related in chapter X, commencing with the students’ movements in the
middle of October 1956.

41. Since a major aspect of the uprising was the establishment of Revolutionary Councils
and of Workers’ Councils in Budapest and in the provinces, the relevant information is brought
together in chapter XI, which contains data regarding the course of the uprising in parts of
Hungary other than Budapest. In chapter XII the Committee has sought to provide an accurate
account of political developments in Hungary in the brief period between the successful
termination of the uprising and its repression by a second intervention of Soviet armed force.
Two further chapters of part II deal with the characteristics of the régime in Hungary since 4
November, the first providing information relating to the continuance of Soviet intervention in
Hungary, and the second relating to the suppression of those political rights and freedoms
which the Hungarian people had sought to establish.
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42.  Part III of the report deals with matters relating to the treatment of individuals within
Hungary, under the heading: “Specific acts in violation of other rights of the Hungarian
people.” One chapter deals with evidence of the violation of human rights in general. A second
chapter deals with the problem of the deportation of Hungarians to the USSR.

43.  In a final chapter the Committee states its general conclusions and findings.
G. General observations on the work of the Committee
44.  The Committee regrets that the refusal of the Hungarian Government and of the

Government of the USSR to co-operate has prevented it from obtaining the information which
those Governments are in a position to place at its disposal. The Committee would
undoubtedly have profited by the data which the two Governments could have placed before it.
However, in view of the comprehensive and detailed documentation and testimony which have
been made available, it is the opinion of the Committee that the data which might have been
presented by the Government of the USSR and by the Hungarian Government would not have
modified the Committee’s main conclusions regarding what actually took place in Hungary,
though it might possibly have changed or elaborated certain specific points in this report.
Conscious of its obligation to take all views into account, the Committee has examined
carefully all evidence, both in documentation and in testimony, which might be adduced in
support of the views of the two Governments. Moreover, in the questioning of witnesses, the
members of the Committee have throughout borne in mind the description and interpretation of
events in Hungary maintained by the two Governments and have endeavoured to test their
validity.

45. Though the Committee is aware that in the course of time further documentation and
evidence will undoubtedly come to light regarding the situation with which the Committee has
been concerned, the range of information at its disposal has been far greater than could have
been anticipated at the outset of the inquiry. The Committee has sought throughout its work to
apply to the evidence the tests of authenticity and coherence which provide the essential
criteria of the objectivity of any such investigation.

46.  While therefore bearing in mind the resolutions of the General Assembly, the
Committee has approached its task of investigation without prejudgment, deeming it essential
to present a factual report based exclusively on the careful examination of reliable evidence. It
has consistently sought to avoid any emotional evaluation of the facts. It has endeavoured to
depict in restrained language the situation as revealed by the evidence received. The
Committee has felt that it would best fulfil its task by rendering to the General Assembly a
dispassionate survey of the situation which it has been the duty of the Committee to
investigate.
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Annex A

Resolution 1132 (XI) of the General Assembly of the United Nations
The General Assembly,
Recalling its previous resolutions on the Hungarian problem,

Reaffirming the objectives contained therein and the continuing concern of the United Nations
in this matter,

Having received the report of the Secretary-General of 5 January 1957. (4)

Desiring to ensure that the General Assembly and all Member States shall be in possession of
the fullest and best available information regarding the situation created by the intervention of
the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, through its use of armed force and other means, in the
internal affairs of Hungary, as well as regarding developments relating to the recommendations
of the General Assembly on this subject,

1. Establishes, for the above-mentioned purposes, a Special Committee, composed of
representatives of Australia, Ceylon, Denmark, Tunisia and Uruguay, to investigate, and to
establish and maintain direct observation in Hungary and elsewhere, taking testimony,
collecting evidence and receiving information, as appropriate, in order to report its findings to
the General Assembly at its eleventh session, and thereafter from time to time to prepare
additional reports for the information of Member States and of the General Assembly if it is in
session;

2. Calls upon the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics and Hungary to co-operate in every
way with the Committee, and in particular, to permit the Committee and its staff to enter the
territory of Hungary and to travel freely therein;

3. Requests all Member States to assist the Committee in any way appropriate in its task,
making available to it relevant in formation, including testimony and evidence, which Members
may possess, and assisting it in securing such information;

4. Invites the Secretary-General to render the Committee all appropriate assistance and
facilities;
5. Calls upon all Member States promptly to give effect to the present and previous

resolutions of the General Assembly on the Hungarian problem,;

6. Reaffirms its request that the Secretary-General continue to take any initiative that he
deems helpful in relation, to the Hungarian problem, in conformity with the principles of the
Charter of the United Nations and the resolutions of the General Assembly.

636th plenary meeting,
10 January 1957.

(1)Resolution 1132 (XI), attached as annex A to this chapter.
(2)A/3546.
(3)Chapter XI, para. 512.

(4)Official records of the General Assembly, Eleventh Session, annexes, agenda item 67, document A/3485.
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Chapter 11
A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE HUNGARIAN UPRISING

A. Developments before 22 October 1956

47. Immediately after the Second World War, the Hungarian people sought to give
expression to their political views. A general election was fought in 1945 by six political
parties, authorized by the Allied Control Commission. Five of these won seats in Parliament.
The Independent Smallholders emerged with 245 seats, the Social Democrats with sixty-nine,
the Communists with seventy, the National Peasants with twenty-three and the Democratic
Party with two. The four major parties formed a coalition, but Communist influence steadily
asserted itself. By 1948, leaders of the non-Communist parties had been silenced, had fled
abroad or had been arrested, and in 1949, Hungary officially became a People’s Democracy.
Real power was in the hands of Matyas Rékosi, a Communist trained in Moscow. Under his
régime, Hungary was modelled more and more closely on the Soviet pattern. Free speech and
individual liberty ceased to exist. Arbitrary imprisonment became common and purges were
undertaken, both within and outside the ranks of the Party. In June 1949, the Foreign Minister,
Laszl6 Rajk, was arrested; he was charged with attempting to overthrow the democratic order
and hanged. Many other people were the victims of similar action.(1) This was made easier by
the apparatus of the State security police or AVH, using methods of terror in the hands of the
régime, which became identified with Rakosi’s régime in the minds of the people.(2)

48. The Twentieth Congress of the Communist Party of the USSR early in 1956
encouraged a movement within the Hungarian Workers’ (Communist) Party which aimed at a
measure of democratization and national independence and a relaxation of police rule. In
March 1956, Rakosi announced that the Supreme Court had established that Rajk and others
had been condemned on “fabricated charges”.(3) This official admission that crimes had been
committed by the régime had profound repercussions in Hungary. It was followed in July by
the dismissal of Rékosi and, early in October, by the ceremonial reburial, in the presence of a
large crowd, of Laszl6 Rajk and other victims of the 1949 trials. Rékosi was succeeded as First
Secretary of the Central Committee of the Party by Erné Gerd. From the date of Rékosi’s fall,
the Hungarian people looked for a softening of the régime. Associated in their minds with
better days was the former Premier, Imre Nagy, whose period of office from 1953 to 1955 had
been marked by a loosening of the controls imposed earlier by Rakosi. Nagy had also been
attacked as a deviationist and, while he had escaped trial, had been expelled from the Party and
divested of all his offices. His name continued to stand for more liberal policies in the minds of
many Hungarian Communists, who wished for his return to public life.(4)

49.  The first protests against the dictatorial régime of the Party were voiced by certain
Hungarian writers, as early as the autumn of 1955. Articles published by these writers
concerned mainly the doctrine of Party allegiance in literature and interference with creative
writers and artists by Party spokesmen and bureaucrats. Although a number of writers were
arrested, the scope of these protests gradually widened to take in other grievances of the
Hungarian people. In the summer of 1956, the foundation of the Petdfi Club provided a new
forum for discussions, which were often critical of the régime. This Club was sponsored by
DISZ, the official Communist Youth Organization and its debates were mainly attended by
young Communist intellectuals.(5)
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50.  On 19 October, the Minister of Education, Albert Kénya, announced certain changes as
a result of requests put forward by Hungarian students. One of these was an undertaking to
abolish the compulsory teaching of Russian in schools. This announcement was followed by
student manifestations in Szeged and other towns, during which various demands of a more
far-reaching character were discussed and adopted.(6) Also on 19 October, news of Poland’s
move towards greater independence of the USSR was received in Hungary with enthusiasm.
Friendship between the two peoples had been traditional for centuries.(7)

51.  Although Soviet troops are said to have been called in to deal with disorders that began
during the night of 23-24 October, there is evidence that steps were being taken by the Soviet
authorities from 20-22 October with a view to the use of armed force in Hungary. On 20-21
October, floating bridges were assembled at Zahony on the Hungarian-Soviet frontier. On 21-
22 October, in neighbouring areas of Romania, Soviet officers on leave and reserve officers
speaking Hungarian were recalled. On 22 October, Soviet forces in Western Hungary were
observed moving towards Budapest.(8)

B. Meetings and demonstrations

52. On the day before the holding of mass demonstrations, namely 22 October, a number of
student meetings took place in Budapest. At the most important of these, held by students of
the Building Industry Technological University, the students adopted a list of sixteen demands
which expressed their views on national policy. These demands contained most of the points
put forward during the uprising itself. They included the immediate withdrawal of all Soviet
troops, the reconstitution of the Government under Imre Nagy, who had meanwhile been re-
admitted to the Communist Party, free elections, freedom of expression, the re-establishment
of political parties, and sweeping changes in the conditions of workers and peasants. It was
learnt during the meeting that the Hungarian Writers’ Union proposed to express its solidarity
with Poland on the following day by laying a wreath at the statue of General Bem, a hero of
Hungary’s War of Independence of 1848-49, who was of Polish origin. The students
thereupon decided to organize a silent demonstration of sympathy on the same occasion.(9)

53.  Early next morning, the students’ demands had become known throughout Budapest.
Witnesses speak of an atmosphere of elation and hopefulness. Radio Budapest referred to the
planned demonstration, but later announced a communiqué prohibiting it from the Minister of
the Interior. The ban was, however, lifted during the early afternoon, when the demonstration
was already under way. Thousands of young people took part in it, including students, factory
workers, soldiers in uniform and others. A similar demonstration took place at the statue of
Pet6fi.(10)

54. Standing beside the statue of General Bem, Péter Veres, President of the Writers’
Union, read a manifesto to the crowd, who also listened to a proclamation of the students’
sixteen demands.(11) Most of the crowd afterwards crossed the Danube to join demonstrators
outside the Parliament Building where, by 6 p.m., between 200,000 and 300,000 people were
gathered. Repeated calls for Imre Nagy eventually brought the former Premier. Mr. Nagy
addressed the crowd briefly from a balcony of the Parliament Building.(12)

19



C. The first shots

55.  There had so far been nothing to suggest that the demonstration would end in any other
way than by the crowds’ returning home. An episode, however, at 8 p.m. greatly embittered
the people. The First Secretary of the Central Committee of the Party, Erné Gerd, had
returned that morning from a visit to Marshal Tito, and the public was eagerly awaiting a
speech which he was to broadcast at that time. The general hope was that he would take
account of the popular demands voiced by the students and would make some conciliatory
announcement in connexion with them. The speech, however, made none of the hoped-for
concessions and its whole tone angered the people.(13) At the same time, another crowd had
taken it into their own hands to carry out one of the students’ demands, namely that for the
removal of the great statue of Stalin.(14) Their efforts caused it to overturn at 9.30 p.m., by
which time resentment was being freely expressed over Mr. Gerd’s speech.

56.  On the evening of 22 October, some of the students had sought to have their demands
broadcast by Budapest Radio, in order to bring them to the attention of the people as a whole.
The censor had been unwilling to broadcast the demands for the withdrawal of Soviet troops
and for free elections, and the students had refused to allow incomplete publication.(15) The
following day, some of the students went from the Bem statue to the Radio Building, with the
intention of making another attempt to have their demands broadcast. A large crowd gathered
at the Radio Building, which was guarded by the AVH or State security police. The students
sent a delegation into the Building to negotiate with the Director. The crowd waited in vain for
the return of this delegation, and eventually a rumour spread that one delegate had been shot.
Shortly after 9 p.m., tear gas bombs were thrown from the upper windows and, one or two
minutes later, AVH men opened fire on the crowd, killing a number of people and wounding
others. In so far as any one moment can be selected as the turning point which changed a
peaceable demonstration into a violent uprising, it would be this moment when the AVH,
already intensely unpopular and universally feared by their compatriots, attacked defenceless
people. The anger of the crowd was intensified when white ambulances, with Red Cross
license plates, drove up. Instead of first aid teams, AVH police emerged, wearing doctors’
white coats. A part of the infuriated crowd attacked them and, in this way, the demonstrators
acquired their first weapons. Hungarian forces were rushed to the scene to reinforce the AVH
but, after hesitating a moment, they sided with the crowd.(16)

57.  Meanwhile, workers from Csepel, Ujpest and other working-class districts learnt of the
situation by telephone. They seized trucks and drove into Budapest, obtaining arms on the way
from friendly soldiers or police, or from military barracks and arms factories known to them.
From about 11 p.m., the Radio Building was under attack with light arms and, at midnight, the
radio announced that clashes had taken place at “various points” in the city. During the early
hours of 24 October, the demonstrators seized the Radio Building, but were driven out of it
again. At the offices of the Communist Party newspaper, Szabad Nép, other AVH guards
opened fire on unarmed demonstrators. Later, insurgents who had obtained arms overcame the
AVH and occupied the newspaper offices.(17)

38. While fighting was in progress at the Radio Building, the first Soviet tanks made their
appearance in Budapest at about 2 a.m. on 24 October, and were soon in action. However, no
official announcement was made of the Soviet intervention until 9 a.m.(18)
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D. The armed uprising

59.  Before referring to the Russian troops, Budapest Radio had announced at 8.13 a.m.
that Imre Nagy had been recommended to be the next Chairman of the Council of Ministers, at
a night meeting of the Central Committee of the Hungarian Workers’ (Communist) Party. Half
an hour later came a statement that summary jurisdiction had been ordered, and this was read
by the announcer as “signed by Imre Nagy, Chairman of the Council of Ministers”. Only after
this, at 9 a.m., was it reported that the Government had “applied for help to the Soviet
formations stationed in Hungary.” No indication was given as to the manner in which this
alleged application was made. In spite of the skilful manner in which the radio presentation of
developments gave the impression that Mr. Nagy was responsible for decisions some,
remembering his opposition to arbitrary measures and his fight for the relaxation of the régime,
suspected a fraud. Moreover, Mr. Nagy had no official status the day before.(19) If the appeal
for help had, indeed, come from him, it was realized that the Soviet forces from Cegléd and
Székesfehérvar could not have arrived in Budapest by 2 a.m. on the 24th.

60.  The first shots at the Radio Building marked the beginning of a hard-fought, five-day
battle, in which the people of Budapest found themselves in combat with Soviet armour and
with the AVH. The ordinary police sympathized with the insurgents, giving them weapons or
fighting at their side. Certain units of the Hungarian Army fought as such on the side of the
insurgents, but the Army as a whole disintegrated from the start of the uprising. Wherever they
could succeed in doing so, Hungarian soldiers handed over weapons and ammunition to their
fighting compatriots and, in very many cases, deserted, individually or in groups, to their ranks.
However, in general, the senior officers were pro-Soviet and the insurgents mistrusted them.
There was no single instance recorded of Hungarian troops fighting on the Soviet side against
their fellow-countrymen.

61.  The freedom fighters, most of whom were workers, with a proportion of students,
usually fought in small groups, although some of them occupied strongholds such as the
Corvin Cinema. A frequent weapon used against Russian tanks was the “Molotov cocktail”, a
loosely-corked bottle filled with gasoline, which exploded when thrown against a tank. Such
improvised methods proved highly effective against the power of Soviet armour, which found
it difficult to manoeuvre, especially in narrow streets, and to compete with the mobility of the
young Hungarian fighters, who included some not yet out of childhood. The Soviet
mechanized forces were also hampered by insufficient infantry support and inadequate food
supplies. There was evidence that some of the Russian soldiers disliked the task as signed to
them. Those who had spent some time in Hungary had often established friendly relations with
the people, many of whom could talk to them in Russian. There were a number of cases of
fraternization with the Hungarians.(20)

E. Revolutionary and Workers’ Councils

62.  Most of the available Soviet forces had been dispatched to Budapest and, meanwhile,
there was comparatively little fighting in the provinces. Here, the first days of the uprising saw
a transfer of power from the Communist bureaucracy to the new Revolutionary and Workers’
Councils. In most cases, these Councils took over without opposition, although some incidents
were reported during this process. These Councils represented a spontaneous reaction against
the dictatorial methods of the régime. The Revolutionary Councils took over the various
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responsibilities of local government. There were also Revolutionary Councils or Committees in
the Army, in Government departments and in professional groups and centres of activity such
as the radio and the Hungarian Telegraph Agency. Members of the Councils were usually
chosen at a meeting of those concerned. They were intended to prepare for the setting up of a
genuinely democratic system of government. The Councils also put forward various political
and economic demands, calling for the withdrawal of Soviet troops, free and secret elections,
complete freedom of expression and the abolition of the one-party system. The most influential
of these bodies was probably the Transdanubian National Council, which represented the
people of Western Hungary. Using the Free Radio Station at Gyodr, this Council demanded that
Hungary should renounce the Warsaw Treaty and proclaim her neutrality. Should its demands
not be accepted, it proposed to set up an independent Government.(21)

63.  The Workers’ Councils were set up in a variety of centres of work, such as factories,
mines, industrial undertakings and so on. They also put forward political demands and wielded
considerable influence. However, their principal purpose was to secure for the workers a real
share in the management of enterprises and to arrange for the setting up of machinery to
protect their interests. Unpopular measures, such as that of establishing “norms” of production
for each worker, were abolished. The emergence of Revolutionary and Workers’ Councils
throughout Hungary was one of the most characteristic features of the uprising. It represented
the first practical step to restore order and to reorganize the Hungarian economy on a socialist
basis, but without rigid Party control or the apparatus of terror.(22)

F. Political developments

64. A serious episode occurred on 25 October, which greatly embittered the people and
turned popular sympathy away from Mr. Nagy, whose part in the alleged invitation to the
Soviet troops remained obscure. Soviet tanks guarding the Parliament Building, in which the
Chairman of the Council of Ministers had his offices, opened fire on unarmed demonstrators, in
support of the AVH. This massacre, in which many people lost their lives, shocked the
nation.(23) The Hungarian people did not know at this time that Mr. Nagy was detained at the
Communist Party Headquarters when the Russian tanks were firing on the unarmed crowd.(24)

65.  On the same day, the insurgents derived some encouragement from the news that Ern6
Gerd had been replaced as First Secretary of the Central Committee of the Party by Janos
Kadar. The following day Mr. Gerd sought the security of Soviet tanks - and later Soviet
territory. The former Premier, Andrds Hegediis, Vice-Chairman of the Council of Ministers,
also fled from the Communist Headquarters.(25)

66.  Mr. Nagy was now free to move to the Parliament Building. On 27 October, he formed
a Government into which he invited both Communist and non-Communist Ministers. These
included Zoltan Tildy, former Head of State, Béla Kovacs, former Secretary-General of the
Independent Smallholders, and Ferenc Erdei of the National Peasants. The non-Communists,
however, were serving in a personal, non-party capacity and several “Stalinists” were
retained.(26)
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67.  With the departure of Messrs. Geré and Hegediis, the Central Committee of the
Hungarian Workers’ (Communist) Party announced that the Government would start
negotiations with the USSR for the immediate withdrawal of Soviet forces.(27) On 28 October,
Mr. Nagy’s Government ordered a cease-fire.(28) Fighting stopped largely on the insurgents’
terms. Apart from the successful adoption of guerrilla tactics by the fighters, larger groups of
the insurgents had withstood Soviet tanks in strongholds such as the Corvin Block. At the
Kilian Barracks, Hungarian Army units had fought successfully against repeated attacks under
their leader, Colonel P4l Maléter, who had gone over to the insurgents after being sent with
instructions to fight against them.

G. Mr. Nagy clarifies his position

68. On the same day when Mr. Nagy’s Government ordered a cease-fire, the Prime
Minister announced that he would abolish the AVH, after the restoration of order. Popular
resentment against the AVH was so universal and so deep that Mr. Nagy was obliged to take
this decisive step on the following day, 29 October.(29) As a result, he was himself freed for the
first time from the control of the AVH, acting on behalf of the Communist hierarchy. The fall
of a régime for which, in all Hungary, only the AVH was prepared to fight, followed as an
inevitable consequence. On 30 October, Mr. Nagy announced that the Cabinet had abolished
the “one-party system”. Speaking in the name of the Communist Party, Mr. Kadar, still First
Secretary of its Central Committee, agreed with this step to avoid, as he said, “further
bloodshed”. Zoltan Tildy, former leader of the Independent Smallholders Party, announced
that free elections would be held throughout Hungary. Representatives of both the
Independent Smallholders and National Peasants entered the Inner Cabinet in which they had,
between them, as many posts as the Communists. A post was set aside for a Social-Democratic
nominee.(30)

69.  Once the AVH had been disbanded, Mr. Nagy felt free to explain his actions on and
immediately after 24 October. A series of statements was made by himself, or on his behalf, in
the press and on the radio. The most important of these declared that Mr. Nagy had not signed
any decrees asking for Soviet military intervention or proclaiming summary jurisdiction. It was
also stated that he had not subsequently approved of the invitation to the Soviet forces. These
clarifications and the political steps taken by Mr. Nagy served to dispel popular doubts
regarding his attitude towards the uprising, and his popularity rapidly returned.(31)

70.  Although a cease-fire had been ordered on 28 October, a few isolated skirmishes took
place after that date, but the cease-fire became fully effective by the time the new Cabinet took
office on 30 October. That same day saw the beginning of a withdrawal of Soviet armed forces
from Budapest. The general expectation was that negotiations for their complete withdrawal
from Hungarian territory would soon attain their objective.(32) A number of revolutionary
organs,(33) the new political parties(34) and newspapers(35) beginning to appear on the streets
all joined the Government in its efforts to stop the last manifestations of lawlessness which had
occurred. A fact reported by many credible witnesses, however, was that no looting took
place, although numerous shop windows had been destroyed and goods of value, including
even jewellery, lay untouched within reach of passers by. Hundreds of buildings in Budapest
had become ruins as a result of the gunfire, and thousands more were severely damaged,(36)
although some areas of the city had suffered little.
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71.  The days that followed the cease-fire, up to 4 November, saw the people of Budapest
take the first steps to clear away rubble and broken glass, to restore order and to bring life
back to normal conditions.(37) It was generally agreed that everyone would resume work on
Monday, 5 November.(38) The disbanding of the AVH and the renewed confidence in Mr.
Nagy, together with the victory of those who had fought in the uprising, combined to create a
general feeling of well-being and hopefulness, which impressed all observers. On 2 November
the Government called on members of the AVH to re port to the authorities, in order to appear
before a screening committee and, by the next day, great numbers of the former security police
were reporting to prosecutors’ offices. Meanwhile, political prisoners whom they had detained
and tortured were released by the people. The most celebrated political prisoner to regain his
freedom was Cardinal Mindszenty, who returned to Budapest and broadcast to the nation.
When the prisons were opened, some common criminals also appear to have been freed. On 1
November, the freedom fighters, while maintaining their identity, agreed to be amalgamated
into a National Guard(39) whose members would be the only Hungarians, apart from the Army
and police, authorized to bear arms.

72. On 3 November, the Government was again reconstituted. Several Communists were
dismissed, some of them having been ousted from their offices by the staff of their respective
Ministries. Three Ministries each were allotted to the Communists, the Social Democrats, the
Independent Smallholders, and two to the Pet6fi Party. The parties of the coalition were the
same which in 1945 had received the blessing of the Allied Control Commission, on which the
USSR was represented. Imre Nagy was now the head of a caretaker Government. The people
regarded him as a good Hungarian who could be entrusted with the organization of the free
general elections on which all Revolutionary and Workers’ Councils had insisted, and as a
suitable negotiator with the Soviet leaders on the withdrawal of Russian troops and on future
relations with the USSR. One of the most trusted leaders of the Revolution, now Lieutenant
General P4l Maléter, had become Minister of Defence. Reassuring statements were issued by
various leaders regarding the policy to be followed.40) A Minister of State, Ferenc Farkas,
himself a member of the National Peasant Party, announced that the four parties were
unanimously agreed to retain from the socialist achievements everything which could be used
in a free, democratic and socialist country, in accordance with the will of the people.(41) It was
made very clear that the condemnation of the old system which the uprising represented would
not affect those reforms under which ownership of the land and industrial undertakings had
been transferred. The peasant parties did not agree on all issues with the Social Democrats, but
they also were solidly opposed to tie restoration of large estates, as they were to the forced
collectivization and obligatory deliveries of produce imposed by the Communist régime.

73.  The Communist Party itself realized that a drastic overhaul of its methods would be
necessary to regain the confidence of its disillusioned supporters. At about 9.50 p.m. on 1
November, Mr. Kédar read over Budapest Radio a message from the Preparatory Committee
of what was to be a reformed party under the name of the Hungarian Socialist Workers’ Party.
He spoke of the uprising in which “the Communist writers, journalists, university students, the
youth of the Petdfi Club, thousands of workers and peasants, the veteran fighters who had
been imprisoned on false charges, fought in the front line against the Rékosi despotism and
political hooliganism”. The new party would defend the cause of socialism and democracy,
“not by slavishly imitating foreign examples, but by taking a road suitable to the economic and
historic characteristics of our country...” Mr. Kadar appealed to the “newly formed democratic
parties” to “overcome the danger” of intervention from abroad by consolidating the
Government. The people of Hungary had proved their intention unflinchingly to support the
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Government’s efforts aimed at the complete withdrawal of the Soviet forces. “We do not want
to be dependent any longer; we do not want our country to become a battlefield.”(42)

H. Declaration of neutrality

74. On the morning of 1 November, Mr. Nagy took over direct responsibility for foreign
affairs. He told the Soviet Ambassador that he had received authoritative information on the
entry of new Soviet military units into Hungary. This, he informed the Ambassador, was a
violation of the Warsaw Treaty and the Hungarian Government would denounce the Treaty if
the reinforcements were not withdrawn. Later that day, the Soviet Ambassador stated that the
Soviet troops had crossed the border only to relieve those troops who had been fighting and to
protect the Russian civilian population in Hungary. He said that the Soviet Government was
ready to negotiate a partial withdrawal of Soviet troops and suggested that two delegations be
appointed, one to discuss political, and the other technical, questions associated with the
withdrawal. At 2 p.m., Mr. Nagy telephoned the Ambassador and informed him that new
Soviet troops had crossed the frontier within the last three hours. For this reason, effective
immediately, Hungary was withdrawing from the Warsaw Treaty. At 4 p.m., the Council of
Ministers, which included Mr. Kadar, approved this action without dissent and, at the same
meeting, adopted a Declaration of Neutrality for Hungary. At 5 p.m., the Council of Ministers
invited the Soviet Ambassador to a meeting and informed him of these decisions. The same
news was conveyed by the Hungarian Government to various heads of diplomatic missions in
Budapest, who were also told of a request by Mr. Nagy to the United Nations, asking for the
aid of the four Great Powers in defence of Hungary’s neutrality. At 7.45 p.m., Mr. Nagy
broadcast to the Hungarian people the Declaration of Neutrality. His statement ended with the
words: “We appeal to our neighbours, countries near and far, to respect the unalterable
decision of our people. It is indeed true that our people are as united in this decision as perhaps
never before in their history. Working millions of Hungary! Protect and strengthen with
revolutionary determination, sacrificial work and the consolidation of order, our country - the
free, independent, democratic and neutral Hungary™.(43)

I. Soviet forces intervene again

75.  While news came in of the massing of Soviet armoured forces, negotiations continued
for the withdrawal of Soviet troops from Hungary. By the afternoon of 3 November,
agreement appeared to be near and only certain technical details of the withdrawal remained to
be settled. A Hungarian delegation consisting of the Minister of Defence, now General
Maléter, the Minister of State Ferenc Erdei, the Chief of Staff General Kovacs, and Colonel
Sziics was invited to settle these details at the Soviet Military Command at Tokdl near
Budapest, at 10 p.m. The Hungarian negotiators attended a banquet given in their honour by
the Soviet military representatives at TOkol. It was nearly midnight when the party was
interrupted by the arrival of General Serov, Chief of the Soviet Security Police, who entered
the room accompanied by NKVD officers and ordered the arrest of the Hungarian
delegation.(44)
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76.  Communication having been interrupted between Mr. Nagy’s Government and General
Maléter, considerable anxiety was felt at the Parliament Building regarding developments.
During the night, the gravity of the position was emphasized by numerous telephone calls
received in the Parliament Building. These came from industrial districts surrounding Budapest
and from various Revolutionary Councils in the provinces. They all reported that Soviet forces,
in battle formation, were steadily advancing, and the Revolutionary organs asked urgently for
permission to oppose them by force of arms. It has been estimated that some 2,500 Soviet
tanks and 1,000 Soviet supporting vehicles were in Hungary by 3 November. All strategic
centres, airfields, railroads and highways had been brought under Soviet control.(45) Mr. Nagy,
however, gave specific instructions not to open fire on the Russian troops, since he understood
that a successful outcome of the negotiations for withdrawal of the Soviet troops was still
expected. These instructions were not changed until news was received that Mr. Kédar had set
up another Government, whereupon Mr. Nagy summoned a Cabinet meeting at which it was
decided to resist the Soviet troops by force of arms. At 5.20 a.m. Mr. Nagy announced over
Budapest Radio that Soviet troops had attacked the capital “with the obvious intention of
overthrowing the legal Hungarian democratic Government”. He declared that that Government
was at its post and that the Hungarian troops were in combat. Battles were, in fact, being
fought on the arterial roads at the approaches to Budapest. Notwithstanding the overwhelming
power of the Soviet forces, barricades hastily erected by the Hungarian fighters presented a
first obstacle to the Russian advance. The Hungarian Army, the National Guard, and groups of
freedom fighters, mostly equipped only with light weapons, fought side by side against the
advancing tanks. Shortly after 8 a.m. Budapest Radio broadcast its last message before going
off the air. This was an appeal to the writers and scientists of the world to help the people of
Hungary. By that time, Soviet armoured units had broken through the defences of Budapest
and were in control of the Danube bridges, the Parliament Building and the central telephone
exchange.(46)

J. Mr. Kadar forms a government

77. At 5.05 a.m., only a quarter of an hour before Mr. Nagy broadcast news of the second
Soviet intervention, another radio station had announced the formation of a Government by
Mr. Kédar. The announcement consisted of an open letter signed by Mr. Kadar and three other
former members of the Nagy Government. They declared that they had left that Government
on 1 November, because of its inability to fight the “counter-revolutionary danger. In order to
defeat “fascism and reaction”, they had established the Hungarian Revolutionary Worker-
Peasant Government. At 6 a.m. Mr. Kadar’s voice was heard over the same wavelength
announcing the composition of his Government. He declared that reactionary elements were
seeking to overthrow socialism in Hungary and to restore the capitalists and land owners to
power. The new Government, he said, had requested the help of the Soviet troops to defeat
these “reactionary forces”.(47)

78.  Mr. Kéadar gave no explanation of his change of attitude since his broadcast supporting
Mr. Nagy on the night of 1 November. There is no evidence that he had taken any steps to
dissociate himself from Mr. Nagy’s policies or to resign from his Government. It is known that
he visited the Soviet Embassy after his broadcast on the night of 1 November,48) but he was
present at negotiations with representatives of Revolutionary Councils the following day.(49) If
the circumstances in which he constituted his Cabinet are obscure, so also are his movements
and those of his fellow Ministers at the time. According to witnesses, Mr. Kadar was in
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Moscow early in November and he and his Ministers made no public appearance in Budapest
until they took the oath of office on 7 November. The controlling authority in Hungary was the
Soviet Military Command, which issued orders to the Hungarian people regarding the
surrender of arms, circulation in the streets, the supply of food and other matters falling within
the province of civil administration. There is no evidence to suggest that any Hungarian group
opposed the actions of Mr. Nagy which, in most cases, merely reflected what the
Revolutionary and Workers’ Councils had insisted upon from the outbreak of the uprising. All
the evidence shows that the Soviet troops fought alone against the Hungarians. With the
exception of former members of the AVH and a small number of former Party officials, no
Hungarians, whether organized or unorganized, fought on the Russian side.(50) Many of the
new Soviet troops brought into Hungary for the second intervention came from distant regions
of Central Asia. Many believed that they were in Egypt, with the mission of fighting the Anglo-
French “Imperialists”. It would seem that the Soviet authorities had more confidence in troops
who had had no opportunity to be affected by European associations and who might be
counted upon to behave with indifference to the attitude of the Hungarian people.

79.  After the Soviet forces had occupied Budapest, local resistance continued in various
centres. Bitter fighting went on until Tuesday evening, 6 November, when most of the
Hungarian fighters ran out of ammunition. Some centres within the city continued, however, to
resist until the 8th and in the outlying industrial districts fighting went on until the 11th. Heavy
destruction and considerable loss of life were caused by the Soviet armed forces, which often
directed gunfire into buildings lining the streets. During this second armed intervention by
Soviet forces, the fiercest fighting took place in working class suburbs of Budapest, such as
Ujpest and Csepel Island. The workers at Csepel refused several Soviet calls to surrender and
held out until the evening of 9 November, despite the use of artillery against them from various
directions, supplemented by aerial bombardment. At the important industrial centre of
Dunapentele, formerly Sztalinvaros, the workers showed an equal determination to resist the
Soviet troops. On 7 November, during an all day battle, they repelled a Soviet attack from
three directions using a large armoured force, self-propelled guns and a tactical air force. Eye-
witnesses described how the factory workers, with the Hungarian officers and men of the local
garrison, were entirely united, irrespective of party or religious affiliation. Only former
members of the AVH, it was said, dissented from the policies of the Revolutionary Council.(51)

K. The abduction of Mr. Nagy(52)

80.  When Mr. Nagy’s Government was overthrown by Soviet armed force, it was the
Russian commanders, and not Mr. Kadar’s Government, who assumed control. The fate of Mr.
Nagy and his immediate entourage soon showed the inability of the Hungarian Government to
maintain its sovereign independence against Soviet intervention. Mr. Nagy left the Parliament
Building at about 6 a.m. on 4 November and sought asylum at the Yugoslav Embassy. Later in
the day, other leading Hungarians, including the widow of Lészl6é Rajk, with fifteen women
and seventeen children, sought asylum in the same building. During negotiations between the
Yugoslav Government and Mr. Kadar that took place in November, the Yugoslav Government
proposed that Mr. Kéadar should provide a written guarantee that Mr. Nagy and his party
would be allowed to return freely to their homes or, if this were not possible, to go to
Yugoslavia. A suggestion by Mr. Kadar that the Nagy party should seek refuge in Romania
was rejected by Mr. Nagy. Other demands by Mr. Kédar’s Government considered unaccept-
able by Mr. Nagy were that he should resign from his position in the Government, should offer
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a self-criticism of his activities and should declare himself in sympathy with Mr. Kadar’s
Government. Eventually, the Yugoslav Government wrote to Mr. Kédar that it would agree to
the departure of Mr. Nagy and his friends only if Mr. Ké&dar, as President of the Hungarian
Government, guaranteed in writing that the party would be granted safe conduct to proceed
freely to their respective homes. In his reply, Mr. Kadar confirmed in writing that the
Hungarian Government did not desire to apply sanctions against Imre Nagy and the members
of his group for their past activities.

81. The next day, 22 November at 6.30 p.m. a bus arrived at the Yugoslav Embassy to take
the party to their homes. Soviet military personnel arrived and insisted on entering the bus,
whereupon the Yugoslav Ambassador asked that two Embassy officials should accompany the
bus, to make certain that Mr. Nagy and his party reached their homes as agreed. The bus was
driven to the Headquarters of the Soviet Military Command, where a Russian Lieutenant-
Colonel ordered the two Yugoslav officials to leave. The bus then drove away to an unknown
destination escorted by Soviet armoured cars.

82.  In a note verbale, the Yugoslav Government condemned the Hungarian action as “a
flagrant breach of the agreement reached”. The note declared that Mr. Nagy and his party had
refused to go to Romania and it condemned the Hungarian action as completely contrary to the
generally accepted practices of international law. Notwithstanding this reaction, Mr. Kadar’s
Government announced publicly that Mr. Nagy and some of the colleagues who had sought
refuge in the Yugoslav Embassy had gone to Romania in accordance with a request they had
submitted previously to be permitted to go to the territory of another socialist country.

L. Soviet military occupation

83. The action of the Soviet Military Command in intervening in an arrangement between
Mr. Kadar’s Government and the Yugoslav Embassy illustrates the degree of his subordination
to the Soviet forces. Having taken over Hungary by armed intervention, the Soviet authorities
were compelled by reason of the administrative vacuum to administer a country whose
popularly supported Government they had overthrown. The Soviet installed Government of
Mr. Kédar commanded no following in the country, with the exception of individual members
of the former AVH, a few senior officers of the Hungarian Army and a small segment of
former Communist Party officials, who had been dismissed during the uprising. Having broken
the armed resistance of the Hungarian people in a massive attack, the Soviet authorities found
themselves facing the passive resistance of the Hungarian population. This was particularly
marked in the case of the workers, who had borne the brunt of most of the fighting. In the
industrial and mining districts, they steadily maintained their demands.(53)

84.  Finding themselves confronted by this nation wide resistance, the Soviet Military
Command began by resorting to mass arrests.(54) Many of the people thus apprehended had not
been directly involved in the fighting. In numerous cases, the captives were not transferred to
the Hungarian authorities, but were crowded on trains or in trucks and deported, under
Russian escort, to the USSR. In some instances, because of action by the Hungarian resistance
and the railway workers, it was found necessary to run the trains entirely with Russian
personnel. No accurate figures exist regarding the numbers of Hungarian citizens deported, but
these certainly run into thousands. By January 1957, some of these had been returned to
Hungary, but it would appear that a considerable number still remain in the USSR.(55)
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85. In an effort to win popular support, Mr. Kadar announced that the policy of his
Government would include the implementation of various demands put forward during the
uprising. These included raising the workers’ standard of living, factory management by
Workers’ Councils and the abolition of compulsory deliveries of agricultural produce by the
peasants. These promises, however, failed to satisfy the Hungarian people, who continued to
press for the withdrawal of Soviet troops, free elections and the return of Mr. Nagy.(56) Since
23 October, industrial production had been completely disrupted in Hungary and the position
continued to deteriorate after 4 November, since the workers refused to resume work until the
Government gave evidence that it would meet their demands.

86.  As in the time of Mr. Nagy’s premiership, the Workers’ Councils were still the
principal channels through which such demands were conveyed to Mr. Kadar’s Government.
The outcome of the negotiations was wholly unsatisfactory to the Councils. On 14 November,
the factory Councils established the Greater Budapest Workers’ Council in order to present a
united front. Until its abolition on 9 December, this Council strove to reach an agreement with
Mr. Kéadér and his Government. It became clear from the Government’s attitude that it was in
no position to satisfy the workers’ demands. Meanwhile, in order to secure control of the
country, new security forces were organized, including many former members of the AVH.
Through arrests of members of Workers’ Councils and through the infiltration of trusted Party
members into key posts, the power of the Councils was steadily undermined. When the Greater
Budapest Workers’ Council declared a forty-eight hour protest strike to take place on 11 and
12 December, the Government issued a decree to abolish all Workers’ Councils above factory
level. Decrees were also issued instituting the death penalty for a large category of offences,
including participation in strikes.(57)

87.  Hungarian factories had remained practically idle for nearly two months. Electric power
plants had produced only a minimum amount of electricity due to the slowdown strike of the
Hungarian coal miners. However, the weapon of passive resistance by the Hungarian workers
could not be employed indefinitely. Dire necessity had enforced a resumption of work by mid-
December, when the Hungarian workers found themselves in factories and coal mines which
contained a novel element - the presence of Russian soldiers.(58)

M. Recent developments

88. Other steps taken by Mr. Kadar’s Government to establish control over the Hungarian
people include the opening on 20 December of a State Information Office to control the press.
The few newspapers which started out as “independent” were gradually prevailed upon to
reproduce the official line. The Revolutionary Council of Intellectuals was dissolved on 9
December and the Writers” Union, which had branded the Soviet intervention in Hungary as a
“historic mistake”, was disbanded on 21 April. The Pet6fi Club also ceased to function and
Hungarians were without any forum where they could exchange ideas. All hope of a coalition
Government vanished although, in negotiations between Mr. Kadar and the major democratic
parties, the latter made it clear that they accepted public ownership of the means of production
and were willing to “defend the socialist achievements”. By the beginning of 1957, non-
Communist organizations had, in effect, been excluded from any role in public life. It was
officially stated that the Social Democratic Party will not be allowed to function, while leaders
of the Independent Smallholders Party have retired from public life and the Petdfi Party has

29



virtually dissolved itself. The mandate of the present Hungarian Assembly was due to expire on
17 May 1957. However, this mandate has been extended for two years by amendment to the
Constitution, thereby depriving the Hungarian people of the exercise of their fundamental
political right to participate in the function of Government through elected representatives of
their own choice.

N. Summary of conclusions(59)

89.  The mandate given to the Special Committee by the General Assembly was to carry out
a full and objective investigation on all aspects of Soviet intervention in Hungary by armed
force and by other means and on the effects of such intervention on the political development
of Hungary. In carrying out this mandate, the Committee studied a rich documentation
supplied by Governments and obtained from other sources, while it closely questioned more
than a hundred witnesses, representing every stratum of Hungarian society, whose testimony
fills 2,000 pages in the verbatim record. The General Assembly asked that investigations
should be pursued in Hungary also, but the attitude of the Hungarian Government did not
allow the Committee to carry out this part of its mandate. The Committee has summarized its
conclusions as to the essential facts about the Hungarian uprising under thirteen points. The
essence of these conclusions is as follows:

(1) What took place in Hungary was a spontaneous national uprising, caused by long-
standing grievances. One of these was the inferior status of Hungary with regard to the USSR;

(i1) The uprising was led by students, workers, soldiers and intellectuals, many of them
Communists or former Communists. Those who took part in it insisted that democratic
socialism should be the basis of the Hungarian political structure, and that the land reform and
other social achievements should be safeguarded. It is untrue that the uprising was fomented by
reactionary circles in Hungary or that it drew its strength from “Imperialist” circles in the West;

(iii)  The uprising was not planned in advance, but actually took participants by surprise. Its
timing was connected with Poland’s successful move for greater independence from the USSR
and with the disappointment caused by the speech of Ernd Gerd on his return from Yugoslavia
on 23 October, when it was hoped that he would adopt a sympathetic attitude towards the
popular demands voiced on 22 October by the Hungarian students;

(iv) It would appear that the Soviet authorities had taken steps as early as 20 October to
make armed intervention possible. Evidence exists of troop movements, or projected troop
movements, from that date on, and Soviet troops from outside Hungary were used even in the
first intervention. In Hungary, signs of opposition were evident before 23 October;

(V) The demonstrations on 23 October were at first entirely peaceable and no evidence has
been discovered that any demonstrators intended to resort to force. The change was due to the
action of the AVH in opening fire on the people outside the Radio Building and to the
appearance of Russian soldiers in Budapest as enemies in combat;

(vi)  Mr. Nagy has established that he did not issue any invitation to the Soviet authorities to
intervene and the Committee has no evidence as to the circumstances in which an invitation
was issued or as to whether such an invitation was issued at all. Similar considerations apply to
the alleged invitation by Mr. Kédar’s Government for the Soviet troops to intervene on the
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second occasion. There is abundant evidence that Soviet preparations for this intervention had
been under way since the last days of October;

(vil)  Mr. Nagy was not at first free to exercise the full powers of the Premiership. By the
time the grip of the AVH had been loosened, the real power lay with the Revolutionary and
Workers’ Councils. Mr. Nagy, seeing that his countrymen were united in their desire for other
forms of Government and for the departure of the Soviet troops, threw in his lot with the
insurgents;

(viii)  During the few days of freedom, the popular nature of the uprising was proved by the
appearance of a free press and radio and by general rejoicing among the people;

(ix) A number of lynchings and beatings by the crowds concerned, in almost all cases,
members of the AVH or those who were believed to have co-operated with them;

(%) Steps taken by the Workers” Councils during this period were aimed at giving the
workers real control of nationalized undertakings and at abolishing unpopular institutions, such
as the production norms. Meanwhile, negotiations were proceeding for the complete
withdrawal of Soviet troops and life in Budapest was beginning to return to normal,

(xi)  In contrast to demands put forward at this time for the re-establishment of political
rights, basic human rights of the Hungarian people were violated by the Hungarian
Governments before 23 October, especially up to the autumn of 1955, and such violations have
been resumed since 4 November. The numerous accounts of inhuman treatment and tortures
by the AVH must be accepted as true. In an attempt to break the revolution, numbers of
Hungarians, including some women, were deported to the Soviet Union and some may not
have been returned to their homes;

(xii)  Since the second Soviet intervention on 4 November there has been no evidence of
popular support for Mr. Kadar’s Government. Mr. Kéadar has proceeded step by step to
destroy the power of the workers. Strong repressive measures have been introduced and
general elections have been postponed for two years. He refuses in present circumstances to
discuss withdrawal of the Soviet troops. Only a small fraction of the 190,000 Hungarians who
fled the country have accepted the invitation to return;

(xiii) Consideration of the Hungarian question by the United Nations was legally proper and
paragraph 7 of Article 2 of the Charter does not justify objections to such consideration. A
massive armed intervention by one Power on the territory of another with the avowed intention
of interfering in its internal affairs must, by the Soviet Union’s own definition of aggression, be
a matter of international concern.
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Chapter III
THE UPRISING AS SEEN BY THE USSR AND
BY THE GOVERNMENT OF JANOS KADAR

A. Introduction

90. The Committee regrets that it was twice refused permission by Mr. Kadar’s
Government to enter Hungarian territory. This refusal meant, among other things, that it was
denied the opportunity of obtaining first-hand information on the views of that Government.
Throughout its investigations, the Committee has been guided by the desire to present an
objective picture of what took place. It has, therefore, wished to include in its report a
presentation of the opinions expressed by the Governments of the USSR and of Janos Kadar.

91.  The outline which follows represents those opinions in so far as the Committee has had
access to them. The main sources include the two volumes already published of the Hungarian
White Book, The Counter Revolutionary Forces in the October Events in Hungary, issued by
the Information Bureau of the Council of Ministers of the Hungarian People’s Republic; the
memorandum on the question of Hungary addressed to Members of the United Nations on 4
February 1957 by Peter Mod, Permanent Representative of Hungary;(1) statements by members
of the USSR and Hungarian delegations to the Security Council and the General Assembly;
and other official speeches or articles in officially sponsored publications.

92.  The views expressed by Imre Nagy call for consideration in chapter VI and XII, where
the Committee has assembled information regarding his actions and movements during the
period of the uprising.

93. It should be made clear that inclusion in this report of a statement of the views
advanced by the Governments of the USSR and of Mr. Kadar does not in any manner
constitute endorsement of them by the Committee. In fact, a reading of the report will show
that this interpretation of events in Hungary conflicts in many respects with what the
Committee considers to be satisfactory evidence obtained from eye-witnesses and other reliable
sources.

94. The main points which the Governments of the USSR and of Mr. Kédar have sought to
establish are summarized below.

B. The issues at stake

95.  “So long as there are exploiters and exploited in the world, so long as there are
capitalists holding power in their hands and the working class,” said an editorial which Pravda
devoted to the Hungarian situation on 18 December 1956, “so long will the conflict between
the bourgeoisie and the proletariat remain the starting point for an analysis of historical events.
Revisionism has repeatedly attempted to snatch from the hands of the working class this
Marxist compass, which enables one to give a correct appraisal of the direction of events”.
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96.  These words would seem to provide the key to the views expressed by the
Governments of the USSR and of Mr. Kadar on the origin and nature of the Hungarian
uprising. They would appear to proceed from a desire to fit events into a preconceived pattern,
rather than to study them by an objective consideration of evidence. Their account of events
starts from the assumption that all historical happenings must be viewed as aspects of the
Communist conception of Marxism and of the class struggle, illustrating a permanent conflict
between “good” Communist and “bad” bourgeois elements. While it is admitted by the Soviet
Union and Mr. Kadar that errors and even “crimes” may occur in a Communist society, it is
regarded as contrary to the destined course of history that such shortcomings could ever be so
serious as to call in doubt the superiority of the Communist political structure. It follows that
any radical criticism, such as a call for free elections, will be presented as the result, not of a
genuine wish for improvement, but of “bourgeois” efforts to mislead the working masses and
to reinstate capitalism. The Committee found this interpretation of events in Hungary, studied
in the light of the evidence, to be totally inadequate and superficial. It also found no evidence
that either the Government of the USSR or that of Mr. Kadar has hitherto published anything
in the nature of an objective statement of the facts behind the Hungarian uprising.(2) Various
indications, however, have suggested that the Soviet authorities were baffled by the
spontaneous uprising of the Hungarian people and that they did, apparently, make an effort to
obtain information on it from various sources. Thus, the Committee has become aware that
participants who were deported to the Soviet Union were closely questioned regarding the
causes and nature of the uprising. The phenomenon of a working class movement directed
against cherished Communist methods and ideals, and against emblems of the Soviet Union as
symbols of those methods, would seem to have caused misgiving, and some of the Hungarians
received the impression that their interrogators were not unsympathetic.

97.  In the memorandum circulated by the Hungarian delegation to the United Nations on 4
February, it is stated that “the aim of the Hungarian counter-revolution was to reinstate the
system of capitalists and estate owners, who have never given up hope since their defeat in
1945”. The Pravda article on Hungary to which reference is made above, suggests that no one
regarding himself as a Marxist could fail to understand that a radical change in Hungary’s
political system would inevitably mean the restoration of capitalism.

98.  In the light of these considerations, spokesmen for the Governments of the USSR and
of Janos Kadar have drawn attention to what they regard a two distinct elements in the
Hungarian situation. Firstly, the Hungarian people had a number of legitimate grievances to
which expression was given both before and after 23 October 1956. These concerned manifest
errors and shortcomings on the part of the Government headed by Rékosi, who failed, as did
his successors, to meet even the most justified demands.(3) In the second place, the spokesmen
of these Governments maintain that both reactionary elements in Hungary itself and imperialist
circles abroad took advantage of such legitimate grievances and of the unrest generated by
them to mislead the people and to strive by violence to overthrow the People’s Democratic
Republic.

99.  In the introduction to the Hungarian White Book, The Counter-Revolutionary Forces
in the October Events in Hungary (volume 1), Rakosi’s policy is described as “criminal”. It is
said to have aroused “deep indignation and a broad popular movement”. However, states the
writer, “the dark forces of counter-revolution tried from the very beginning to take advantage
of the movement ... in order to overthrow the people’s power” (italics in original). “For the
first time since the defeat of fascism in the Second World War”, Mr. D. T. Shepilov, Minister
of Foreign Affairs of the USSR, told the General Assembly on 22 November, ‘“’the world was
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witness to an open attempt by the underground fascist forces to defy the forces of democracy
and to stage a comeback by means of an armed struggle”.

100. The Introduction to volume II of the White Book returns to this theme of an
“attempted capitalist restoration” and draws what it calls “a number of irrefutable
conclusions”. They are stated as follows:

“l. The instigators and organizers of the armed uprising were foreign agents, Horthyite
emigrés and leaders of the underground organizations in the country, who took an organized
part in the mass demonstrations and increasingly assumed a leading role in them.

“2. Those representatives of the Horthy régime who had remained in Hungary began to restore
the old order in the capital and in numerous towns, villages and districts in the countryside,
while the emigrés abroad, with the aid of their agents at home, were already prepared for the
complete seizure of power.

“3. The subversive broadcasts of Radio Free Europe - backed by dollars, directed from
America, and functioning on the territory of West Germany - played an essential role in the
ideological preparation and practical direction of the counter-revolution, in provoking the
armed struggle, in the non-observance of the cease fire, and in arousing the mass hysteria
which led to the lynching of innocent men and women loyal to their people and their country.
The directors of Radio Free Europe carry a particularly heavy responsibility for the bloodshed
between Hungarians and for the subsequent defections to the West, as well as for the tragedies
they caused among many thousands of Hungarian families.

“4. After October 29, the aim of the counter-revolutionary rebels became more and more
evident: to overthrow the socialist popular régime and to spread the sphere of influence of
western capitalism over Hungary - in other words, bourgeois restoration.”

101. The White Book contends that success by the counter-revolutionary forces would have
meant more than the wiping out of ten years of “socialist progress” in Hungary and the
abandonment of her people to a cruel and reactionary régime. Such success, it maintains,
would have intensified the danger of an armed clash between Hungary and her neighbours, in
which Hungary would have become the first battlefield in a new world war. “The only
possibility of saving popular power and eliminating the threat of a new, devastating war in the
Danube Valley”, concludes the Introduction to volume I of the Hungarian White Book, “was
to suppress counter-revolution”.

102. This the forces of the Hungarian Government and people were said to be unable to
accomplish alone, so massive was the support claimed to have been given to the “counter-
revolutionary” elements by “reactionary” and “imperialist” circles in the West.

C. Justification of Soviet intervention

103. The Soviet Government’s decision to come to the aid of the “revolutionary forces”
struggling against “reaction” in Hungary was, according to the published views of Soviet
leaders, the only “correct” one in the circumstances prevailing at that time.

104. The Soviet Declaration of 30 October concerning the principles of development and
future strengthening of friendship and co-operation between the Soviet Union and other
“socialist” States included this comment on the Soviet intervention: “The Soviet Government,
in common with the entire Soviet people, profoundly deplores the fact that the developments in
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Hungary have led to bloodshed. At the request of the Hungarian People’s Government, the
Soviet Government agreed to the entry into Budapest of Soviet Army units, in order to help
the Hungarian People’s Army and Hungarian authorities to restore order in the city.” After
conceding the necessity for withdrawal, the Declaration continued: “The defence of the
socialist gains of People’s Democratic Hungary is today the chief and sacred obligation of the
workers, peasants and intelligentsia and of the entire Hungarian working people.”4)

105. On 23 November 1956, Pravda in an editorial commented as follows on the Soviet
intervention: “A socialist State”, it declared, “‘could not remain an indifferent observer of the
bloody reign of fascist reaction in People’s Democratic Hungary. When everything settles
down in Hungary, when life becomes normal again, the Hungarian working-class, peasantry
and intelligentsia will undoubtedly understand our actions better and judge them aright. We
regard our help to the Hungarian working-class in its struggle against the intrigues of counter-
revolution as our international duty.”

106. The position taken by the Government of the USSR is that it was the Hungarian
Government which officially requested the help of Soviet military units stationed in Hungary in
accordance with the Warsaw Pact. The assistance given by these troops was, they state,
directed entirely to the restoration of order. Its effectiveness is said to have caused the “forces
of reaction” to retreat and at this point, in accordance with the request of Imre Nagy, the
Soviet Government ordered its troops to withdraw from Budapest. There upon, runs the
Soviet contention, the counter-revolutionary forces in Hungary began a brutal settlement of
accounts with Communists and members of the state security services, as well as “progressive”
friends of the Soviet Union. Entrenched within the Parliament Building, the Government of
Imre Nagy, according to this view of events, had contact with the people only “through the
agency of the microphone”. It was criticized for making no attempt to prevent “counter-
revolutionary elements” from seizing weapons and forming “armed gangs”, which, Soviet
spokesmen declared, proceeded to terrorize the Hungarian people. In these circumstances,
seeing the People’s Democratic Republic in imminent danger of collapse, Janos Kadar and
other members of the Nagy Government were said to have broken away from it, set up a new
Revolutionary Worker-Peasant Government and appealed to the Soviet Union for the
assistance without which it is admitted that they could not have established that Government’s
authority.(5)

107.  When he formed his Government, Mr. Kadar said that there remained only two ways
out of the grave situation which had developed. One, it was claimed, was to stand by helplessly
while the “White Terror slaughtered, first in Budapest, then in the provinces, the active masses
of workers, peasants, intelligentsia and Communists, then all those who sympathized with the
Communists and then all patriotic democrats”. He declared that, after this, a counter-
revolution would have created a government which would have destroyed the forces of the
people and surrendered the independence of Hungary to the “imperialist colonizers”. The
second solution was to use “every possible force, including the assistance of Soviet units, to
prevent the counter-revolutionary war... The interests of the State and the people compelled
us to choose this way as the only possible way out of the grave situation. And so we chose
1it”.(6)

108. The objectives of the uprising are held to have been quite other than those publicly
announced. The Introduction to Volume II of the Hungarian White Book says that the
“propaganda in favour of bourgeois restoration” was “characterized by a hypocritical
dissimulation of its actual aims. This hypocrisy represented a well-considered, underhanded
means of misleading the socialist-minded masses”. The White Book maintains that the demands

37



and programmes that appeared in the press during the uprising “lagged far behind what it calls
the “orally proclaimed demands”. As an example, it is said that no slogan was ever printed that
all State and municipal functionaries in leading positions and all factory managers who were
Communists or who co operated with the Communists were to be relieved of their offices.
“But” affirms the White Book, “in practice this is what actually began to take place in various
administrations, institutions and enterprises.” More over, the White Book states that, while the
“counter revolutionaries” were writing about friendship with the Soviet Union, they were
tearing down red stars, outraging the monuments of Soviet heroes and burning Russian books.

109. It was always maintained that, despite such alleged provocations, the interventions of
Soviet armed forces at the end of October and the beginning of November were undertaken in
a spirit of self-sacrifice and good comradeship. On 5 November, the Commander of the Soviet
troops in Hungary broadcast a communiqué calling his troops the “selfless friends” of the
Hungarians. “Dark reaction prevails in Hungary”, declared the communiqué. “Counter-
revolutionary gangs are looting and murdering. The Government of Imre Nagy has collapsed.
Hungary addressed herself to the Soviet troops to re-establish order in the country ... We
address ourselves to the soldiers and officers of the Hungarian army to fight for sacred
victory.”

110. Janos Kadar has paid frequent tribute to what he declares to have been the high
motives prompting Soviet intervention. In an interview broadcast by Moscow Radio on 29
November, he said that the help given by the USSR showed not merely the latter’s
determination to fulfil her duties proceeding from the Treaty but a deep understanding in a
complicated situation. On 6 January 1957, Mr. Kadar’s Government stated that the Soviet
Army in Hungary was protecting the Hungarian people against a possible military attack by
foreign and imperialistic forces, and was thus ensuring that they might live in peace and devote
their strength to the great cause of socialist construction and the prosperity of the country.
Many later statements have reiterated this theme.

111.  Such are the main grounds advanced by the Governments of the USSR and of Mr.
Kadar to justify Soviet intervention. Broadly speaking, it is maintained that that intervention
was necessary to protect the Hungarian people against reactionary landowners and foreign
imperialists. In this report it will be seen how contrary is that view to the conclusions reached
by the Committee. The evidence, both written and oral, which it examined, left no doubt as to
the universal character of the uprising. It was the Hungarian workers, both men and women,
who bore the brunt of the fighting against Soviet tanks - a fact which did not fail in several
instances to impress the Soviet troops involved. Witnesses spoke of the friendly attitude of
many Russian soldiers towards participants in the earlier phases of the uprising. The
Committee also heard numerous accounts of how Soviet troops, many of Tartar or Mongol
origin, who were brought to Hungary during the second intervention, had been told, not that
they were to fight Hungarian workers in a People’s Democracy, but that they were being sent
to Egypt to throw back the “Anglo-French imperialists”. It is apparent that many of these
Soviet troops were misinformed as to the real nature of their mission and that they mistook the
Danube for the Suez Canal. They were probably utilized because those Soviet forces used in
the first intervention could not be relied upon to proceed with indifference to the attitude of the
Hungarian people.

112.  In studying the Soviet thesis regarding the grounds for intervention, it is also
appropriate to recall that some of the fiercest resistance to Russian troops occurred in typically
working-class districts of Budapest, of Ujpest and of the Csepel Island. Workers in the steel
factories of Dunapentele declared that they would defend against invading Soviet forces the
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plant and houses which they had built with their own hands. When these Soviet forces
succeeded in crushing the armed uprising, it was again the Hungarian workers who continued
to combat, by mass strikes and passive resistance, the very régime in support of which Soviet
forces had intervened. In every case, the workers of Hungary announced their intention of
keeping the mines and factories in their own hands. They made it abundantly clear, in the
Workers’ Councils and elsewhere, that no return to pre-1945 conditions would be tolerated.
These workers had shown all over Hungary the strength of their will to resist. They had arms
in their hands and, until the second Soviet intervention they were virtually in control of the
country. It is the Committee’s view that no putsch by reactionary landowners or by
dispossessed industrialists could have prevailed against the determination of these fully aroused

workers and peasants to defend the reforms which they had gained and to pursue their genuine
fulfilment.

D. The progress of events

113.  Spokesmen for the Governments of the USSR and of Mr. Kadar have always
maintained that the course of events in Hungary, being well-known, called for no further
investigation. The version of these events put forward by the two Governments, beginning with
their views on the legitimate grievances of the Hungarian people, may be summarized as
follows:

(1) Legitimate grievances

114.  “There is no doubt that the blame for the Hungarian events rests with the former State
and Party leadership of Hungary headed by Rakosi and Gerd, wrote Pravda on 23 November.

115. Grave errors were said to have been made in the political, economic and cultural
spheres and there was no attempt to remedy them, because Hungary’s leaders had become
isolated from the Hungarian working class, peasantry and intelligentsia. The methods used by
Rékosi and his supporters had allegedly shaken the faith of the working masses in the Party and
had undermined the foundations of its strength. On 1 November it was announced that the
Hungarian Workers’ Party had changed its name to Hungarian Socialist Workers’ Party, in
order to make it plain that a complete break was proposed with the past.

116. Legitimate grievances mentioned by spokesmen for the USSR and for Janos Kadar
included “crudest violations of legality”, in which many “honest Party and State workers”
suffered unjustly, the Rajk case being only one of a number well-known instances. It was said
that little or no protest had been heard against these violations of the law, because the
excessive growth of bureaucracy within the Party encouraged “boot-lickers and lackeys” of
Rékosi, who repeated slogans like parrots in the interest of their careers; even the best officials
were compelled to carry out many instructions running counter to the interests of the masses.
This situation was declared to have arisen all the more easily because the Party had more than
900,000 members in a country with a total population of only 9 million. This meant, Soviet
spokesmen explained, that “nationalist” and “alien” elements poured into its ranks and, when
difficulties arose, the Party was found the lack essential training in a “Marxist-Leninist spirit”
and could not rouse the forces of the people for struggle against “reaction”.(7)
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117. Rakosi and Gerd were criticized by Soviet commentators for mechanically following
the slogans of accelerated industrialization which was appropriate to conditions in the USSR,
but in Hungary led to the construction of large new enterprises beyond the capacity of a small
people. In so doing, they were said to have ignored “comradely advice” from the USSR to
proceed from the specific conditions obtaining in Hungary and to raise the standard of living of
the Hungarian people by devoting more resources to the development of agriculture and to the
production of consumer goods. It was not only by slavishly following industrial methods
appropriate to conditions in the USSR that the Party leaders did not, in the Soviet view, “take
sufficient account of the national peculiarities of the country”. Hungarians should have been
promoted more often to leadership within the Party, while there were often acts wounding to
national pride, such as the introduction of military uniform resembling that of the USSR. “Is
the same Army haircut”, asked Pravda, “or the same system of school grades really indicative
of the unity and international solidarity of the socialist countries?”’(8)

118.  While many grievances of the Hungarian people were well founded, it was said that
certain recognizable limits had to be set to the demand for changes, unless this demand was to
constitute a threat to the very structure of the People’s Democratic system. It was this
opportunity which was alleged to have been seized by reactionary and bourgeois elements to
“confuse” the people and to press demands to a point where acceptance them would have
brought the People’s Democracy down in ruins. By its own natural dynamics, declared a
Soviet spokesman, the counter-revolution could never stop half-way.

119. The argument put forward by some Communists that the excesses of bureaucratic rule
might become the principal danger against which Communists had to fight was seen by Soviet
commentators as misleading and dangerous. It was said to obscure the fact that the class
enemy, namely bourgeois and reactionary elements, would always constitute the standing
menace to every Communist people. The idea that bureaucracy, however excessive, could be
the greatest danger for Communists would lead easily to a justification of counter-
revolutionary rebellions against the People’s Democracy itself.(9)

(2)  Alleged preparations for counter-revolution

120.  That such “counter-revolutionary” ideas were current in Hungarian intellectual circles
before 23 October is, Soviet observers claim, a well-established fact. The forces of reaction
had long been at work, they say, waiting for an opportunity. A Russian man of letters declared
that bourgeois ideology, “a wind from the West permeated with the foul odour of corruption”,
had long assailed Hungarian writers.(10) Before the events of October, many Hungarian writers
had openly opposed the Leninist principle of Party allegiance in literature. They were said to
have spread false and “nihilistic” conceptions under the banner of “freedom of thought” or
“freedom of creation”. Open propaganda against the Government and the Party had been
disguised as criticism of individual leaders. In the ranks of the critics were to be found writers
who were described as having long ago “severed themselves from the people and sold their
souls to the West.”

121. A celebrated example of the writings alluded to is the article published in the Irodalmi
Ujsag in June 1956 by Gyula Hay, the playwright, a veteran of the 1919 Communist régime in
Hungary. Hay’s article contained a plea for freedom of the press. It was said that this article
threw the intellectuals of Hungary into a ferment. The “corruption” complained of by the
Russian man of letters was declared, however, to have progressed in direct proportion to the
mounting efforts allegedly being made abroad to bring about the downfall of the People’s
Democracies.
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122.  The Hungarian White Book, volumes I and II, and the Hungarian memorandum to the
United Nations of 4 February(i1) all gave examples of what were de dared to be counter-
revolutionary organs promoted by the West. The memorandum specifically claims that the
existence of organized counter-revolutionary activity had been proved by “facts that have come
to light during the events and every day since then”. It was maintained in the memorandum that
the peacefully demonstrating crowds of 23 October could not have planned such simultaneous
attacks as were made, according to the memorandum, “on the international department of the
Budapest-Jozsefvaros telephone exchange, the radio transmitter at Lakihegy, the Ferihegy
airport, the ammunition plant and the military arsenal in Timo6t Street”. The fact that these
events took place almost concurrently and “in an organized manner” is brought forward to
show that “the counter-revolution had a well-prepared purpose and a unified military
command”.

123.  Spokesmen for the Soviet Government and for that of Mr. Kadar place the origin of
that purpose and the centre of that military command in Western Europe and, ultimately, in the
United States. Thus, the White Book, volume II, quotes a certain United States magazine as
having said, as far back as 9 April 1948, that there was a school of thought, both in
Washington and abroad, which desired that “Operation X” should employ tactics behind the
Iron Curtain similar to those applied during the war by the Office of Strategic Services. It was
said that ruthless means, “including murder where necessary”, should be used “to keep the
Russian part of the world in unrest”. In October 1951, states the White Book, the United
States Congress adopted an amendment to the Mutual Security Act, providing funds of up to
$100 million for financing the activity of “selected individuals who are residing in or escapees
from” Eastern Europe. The White Book alleges that a detailed programme elaborated in the
United States in the spring of 1955, “envisaged the preparation of armed actions involving the
traitors who had absconded from the People’s Democracies”. It declared that the president of
the Radio Corporation of America was reported by American newspapers to have advocated
the mass use of “well-organized and well-indoctrinated anti-communist groups”.

124.  Exponents of the Soviet thesis declared that a network of organizations was set up in
Western Germany to train spies, saboteurs and diversionists. It was said that leaders were
instructed in the formation of resistance groups and prepared for the task of carrying out
administrative functions after the overthrow of the People’s Democratic régime. Volume II of
the White Book declared that, apart from “countless numbers of fascists, émigrés, newspaper-
men, radio reporters, etc.” other, more important, foreigners “of greater weight” also walked
in and out across the Hungarian frontier - and that “for obvious purposes”.

125.  The memorandum of the Permanent Delegate of Hungary dated 4 February 1957
claimed that the supply of arms from abroad had been proved by examples captured by the
armed forces. These were alleged to include pistols, sub-machine-guns and rifles of Western

type.

126. Both the White Book and the Hungarian memorandum of 4 February - indeed all
sources from which the views of the Governments of the USSR and of Mr. Kadar have been
obtained - stress the alleged role played by Radio Free Europe in stimulating and prolonging
the insurrection. This station was said to have incited the revolt in the first place and also to
have issued instructions to the fighters while it was in progress. It was alleged that Radio Free
Europe was one of the principal means chosen by the West to organize a movement that
developed into a counter-revolution.
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127.  Spokesmen for the Soviet and Kadar version of events declared that the Hungarian
authorities were aware of the activities allegedly directed against them. On 14 July 1956, the
State security policy was said to have arrested a group of persons who had been engaged in
espionage for months, under the control of a former Horthy officer. Shortly before the
uprising, the Hungarian Supreme Court was declared to have considered the case of seventeen
men accused of establishing a counter-revolutionary organization.

128. The above is a summary of views put forward by official spokesmen for the
Governments of the USSR and of Mr. Kéadar. Those Governments have maintained that the
Hungarian uprising was planned well in advance, carefully thought out and directed during the
fighting by leaders supplied or guided from abroad and by foreign broadcasting stations. The
Committee gave thorough consideration to the possibility that the up rising may have been
planned in advance, but it could find no evidence to justify any such hypothesis. The
Committee is convinced that the demonstrators on 23 October had at first no thought of
violence. When arms were obtained by the insurgents, they were almost always seized by
workers from depots known to them or were voluntarily handed over by Hungarian troops, by
the regular Hungarian police - not the AVH - and even, in some cases, by Russian troops
themselves.

129.  After its study of all the facts, the Committee has no doubt that the Hungarian uprising
was not only nation-wide, but also spontaneous in character. The Committee was meticulous in
its questioning on this point and sought to discover in various ways the possibility of advance
preparation. But the way in which great numbers of people, who could not possibly have
shared secret orders in advance, organized themselves to press their demands and to fight the
Soviet troops seems to the Committee to bear the hallmark of improvisation. Their efforts
collapsed because of the Soviet armed intervention and because no support was forthcoming
for them from abroad. The thesis which alleges that the uprising owed its origin to such
support from abroad did not survive the examination to which the Committee subjected it.

130. The Committee took pains to ascertain from witnesses what precise role, if any, Radio
Free Europe had taken in the events of October and November. It was satisfied that this station
had many listeners in Hungary, most of whom appear to have turned to it, as well as to the
BBC and other Western broadcasts, as a relief from the stereotyped news service, with fulsome
praise of the régime, to which they were accustomed. “I felt”, said one student witness, “that
its most positive contribution was its attempt to give a general picture of the situation in the
West and the help it gave to Hungarian youth through its youth programmes, together with
detailed information about the political situation, which unfortunately we could not get from
our own newspapers”. The Committee was told that during the uprising, Radio Free Europe
“was very encouraging” and obviously sympathetic. Listeners had the feeling that Radio Free
Europe promised help, although witnesses said clearly that it gave no reason for expecting
military help. Rather, the general tone of these broadcasts aroused an expectation of support,
which some listeners hoped might take the form of a United Nations token force to help in
stabilizing the situation.

131. In a tense atmosphere such as that prevailing in Hungary during these critical weeks,
optimistic and encouraging broadcasts, which paid tribute to the aims of the uprising, were
welcomed. The generally hopeful tone of such broadcasts may well have been overemphasized
in the process of passing from mouth to mouth what various speakers were alleged to have
said.(12) The attitude of the Hungarian people towards foreign broadcasting was perhaps best
summed up by the student referred to above, who said: “It was our only hope, and we tried to
console ourselves with it.” It would appear that certain broadcasts by Radio Free Europe
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helped to create an impression that support might be forthcoming for the Hungarians. The
Committee feels that in such circumstances the greatest restraint and circumspection are called
for in international broadcasting.

3) Reaction in the saddle

132.  Spokesmen for the USSR and the Government of Mr. Kddar maintain that reactionary
influences changed the uprising, within a matter of days, into a fascist counter-revolution. One
professor at the Budapest Academy of Fine Arts sought to compare what took place with his
memories of the beginnings of the White counter-revolution in 1919. “I can say”, he wrote,
“that on the morning of 23 October my pupils, though they had a few just demands, had not
the slightest inkling of the eventual development of events and within a few hours became, as a
matter of fact, blind instruments in the hands of the counter-revolutionary forces.”(13)

133.  The Government of Janos Kadar has condemned that of Imre Nagy for failing to take
action to deal with this growing movement. Mr. Nagy was accused of drifting helplessly in the
face of events, making concession after concession to right wing forces. As he hesitated, it is
said that the forces of reaction became more and more violent and the degree of assistance
from the West was stepped up in proportion. On 2 November, the Soviet newsagency Tass,
quoting the Austrian Communist newspaper Oesterreichische Volksstimme, declared:
“Squadrons of planes are continuously leaving Austrian airfields for Budapest. They are not
only carrying medical supplies, as official reports try to show with such a large number of
aircraft, all continents could be provided with medical supplies. Observers are convinced that
hundreds of Hungarian soldiers are being sent to Hungary from the West, including former
officers of Horthy’s army and hundreds of Hungarian officers and soldiers who served in the
Hitlerite army. Among the aircraft, one could see some planes belonging to the West German
frontier services, some British planes and others.”

134. Many allegations were made that Red Cross facilities were used for the transportation
of counter-revolutionary agents and arms. One report stated that, of one hundred Red Cross
planes that landed in Hungary before November 1956, more than forty brought counter-
revolutionaries.

135. Meanwhile, frenzy - so it is contended - seized upon the people in Budapest and in
other cities where, under the alleged influence of fascist provocateurs, armed gangs are said to
have roamed about, looting and terrorizing the people. A man hunt was organized for members
of the State security services and also, said the exponents of this thesis, for honest Communist
Party members and “progressive-minded” friends of the USSR, great numbers of whom are
alleged to have been hanged in the streets or otherwise done to death. Exponents of this view
of events have maintained that the Hungarian crowds, in their sadistic fury, made no distinction
between the AVH and the ordinary members of the Party or Communist officials. The
Committee is convinced that the acts of violence which took place were directed, in all but a
very few cases, against recognized members of the AVH and that many Communists were
among the crowds which wreaked vengeance on them.

136.  As soon as the “reactionary” leaders felt their power, it is said that popular demands for
change became rapidly right wing in character and threatened the whole structure of the
People’s Democracy. The Hungarian White Book, volume II, says that Archduke Joseph and
Crown Prince Otto were among the personalities whose names “again rose to the surface”.
Pravda reported on 16 November that Admiral Horthy himself, then 88 years of age, had
offered his services, and Pravda’s correspondents in Budapest said that Prince Pal Eszterhazy,
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formerly Hungary’s largest landowner, re-established himself in that city, after his release from
prison, and talked of joining the Government.

137.  Much stress has been laid by spokesmen for the USSR and for Mr. Kadar on the
reappearance of Cardinal Mindszenty, whose release from prison was said to have been
engineered by Major Anton Palinkés, referred to as a son of Count Pallavicini, “the butcher of
the Hungarian workers” in the White Terror of 1919. The Hungarian White Book declared that
the Cardinal “lost no time in getting down to business”, and on 3 November broadcast a
message in which, “notwithstanding all its restraint, he openly set forth the aims of the counter-
revolution”. The Cardinal was said to have described the victory of the counter-revolution as
an accomplished fact. However, the presence of Soviet troops at the approaches to Budapest
and the news that Soviet reinforcements had arrived caused the Cardinal, in the words of the
White Book, to “tread warily”. Among other remarks, he was declared to have said that “there
should be responsibility before the law along all lines”. The White Book deems this remark to
be “nothing less than the proclamation of a general crusade against the supporters of
proletarian rule”.

138.  Special attention has been given by spokesmen for the Soviet Union and for Mr.
Kadar’s Government to the phenomenon of the Workers’ Councils, a feature of the Hungarian
uprising which linked it with similar movements following the 1917 Revolution in Russia.
“Horthyite” and other counter-revolutionary elements, it is alleged, installed themselves on
these Councils and used them, according to the normal counter-revolutionary technique, to
mislead the Hungarian workers and to oppose the “real organs of popular authority”. In July
1917 Lenin had found himself obliged to withdraw the slogan “All power to the Soviets!”,
because the Mensheviks and Socialists, who had ensconced themselves in the Soviets at the
height of the struggle, deserted to what were called the “enemies of the working-class”.
According to Lenin, the passing of political authority from the Bolsheviks to some
indeterminate alliance of heterogeneous elements, only slightly to the right of the Bolsheviks,
or even to the left of them, would always signify a victory for the counter-revolution.
Essentially the same tactics were declared to have been used by “bourgeois reactionary
elements” in the Hungarian Workers’ Councils.

139. In its examination of witnesses, the Committee has given particular attention to the
thesis that the Hungarian uprising speedily degenerated into a reactionary movement
reminiscent of fascism.(14) It considers it appropriate, however, to summarize here certain of
its comments on this aspect of the Soviet thesis.

140. The Committee has, indeed, noted that several times during the last week of October
and the first days of November prominent personalities drew attention to the need to be on the
alert for signs of counter-revolution.(15) On 2 November, Gyula Kelemen, the Secretary-
General of the Social Democratic Party, wrote: “Let our peasant members unite their forces to
frustrate all attempts to restore the large estates.”(16) While the Committee has noted this and
similar warnings, it feels that there was never, at any time a serious danger of counter-
revolution in Hungary. The very few dispossessed land owners still living in that country
exercised no influence either with the leaders or with the rank and file of those who took part
in the uprising. No suggestion was entertained to return the estates to the former landowners
or to undo the nationalization of Hungarian industry. Even aristocratic landowners such as
Prince Pal Eszterhdzy repudiated any such intention, while Cardinal Mindszenty personally told
one witness early in November that he had no intention of claiming the return of the great
Church estates, but was proposing to ask for the reopening of Catholic schools. “Let no one
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dream”, said Béla Kovacs, leader of the Smallholders’ Party, “of the old world returning: the
world of the counts, the bankers and the capitalists is gone forever.”(17)

141. Inits extensive examination of developments between 23 October and 4 November, the
Committee found no evidence whatsoever to suggest that any political personality associated
with the pre-war régime exerted the slightest influence on events. At no time was there a
demand for any such personality to be included in the new Government. Moreover, it is a point
of interest that the question of a counter-revolution seems not to have been raised by the
Soviet authorities during their negotiations with the Government of Mr. Nagy. The
Government which he was forming in the early days of November was a coalition composed of
the parties included in the Hungarian National Independence Front of 1945. The parties
composing this Independence Front had been sanctioned by the Allied Control Commission, on
which the Government of the USSR was represented.

142.  An interesting episode was the telephone conversation reported to the Committee as
having taken place between Mr. Tildy and Ferenc Nagy, Prime Minister of Hungary from
February 1946 to June 1947, who rang up Mr. Tildy from abroad. Mr. Tildy replied that the
new developments in Hungary were developments with which Ferenc Nagy would be
unfamiliar. He indicated to Mr. Nagy that his political ideas and connexions belonged to a
world of the past.

143.  The suggestion that considerable numbers of agents, saboteurs, former fascists and so
on, entered Hungary during the uprising is rejected by the Committee. In this connexion it
noted that the Austrian Government addressed to the Government of Hungary on 3 November
a statement protesting against this very allegation. “The Austrian Government”, declared the
statement, “has ordered the establishment of a closed zone along the Austro-Hungarian frontier
... The Minister of Defence has inspected this zone in the company of the military attaches of
the Four Great Powers, including the USSR. The military attaches were thus enabled to satisfy
themselves of the measures which have been taken in the frontier zone with a view to
protecting the Austrian frontier and Austrian neutrality.”(18)

144. As to the suggestion that forty out of one hundred Red Cross aircraft landing in
Budapest during the last days of October carried arms and agents, the Committee was
authoritatively informed that the only Red Cross aircraft to arrive in Budapest during that time
were five Yugoslav and one Swiss aircraft, each of which made three or four trips a day, and
two Polish, two Czech, one Romanian and one Belgian aircraft, each of which made only one
trip during the period in question. The Ferihegy airport was occupied by Soviet forces at about
midday on 29 October and was not handed back to the Hungarian authorities until 28
December.

145.  There still remains the question of popular demands breaking out of the orthodox
Communist mould as the popular forces gathered strength. In the Committee’s view, the fact
that these demands culminated in the proclamation of neutrality and withdrawal from the
Warsaw Pact had nothing whatsoever to do with fascist influence or the alleged power of
reactionary agents. The reasons for these more radical demands should be sought in such
factors as popular hatred of the AVH and resentment against occupation by foreign troops
which was intensified by the Soviet armed intervention and by the bitterness with which the
AVH fought against the uprising in co-operation with Soviet troops.

146. Before closing its comments on the counter revolutionary thesis, the Committee wishes
to draw attention to the fact that this thesis should be read with the point in mind that Soviet
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in a special sense, i.e., that of a refusal to accept the political tenets of the Soviet Union. Thus,
Mr. Gerd in his highly unpopular broadcast on the evening of 23 October, told the Hungarians
that there could be no chauvinism, no loosening of the ties with the Soviet Union.

147.  The nature of the counter-revolution which was alleged to have been taking place in
Hungary was defined on 5 December in the first resolution passed by Mr. Kadar’s renamed
Socialist Workers’ Party. This spoke of “a Horthyite-fascist-Hungarian capitalist-feudal
counter-revolution”.(19) The Committee looked most carefully for evidence of such a
heterogeneous movement, but found none. The only counter-revolution which did take place
was that effected by the Soviet authorities when, by the use of overwhelming armed force, they
replaced a socialist, but democratic, régime in formation in Hungary by a police-State.

148. The Committee considers it of interest that certain writers of Communist sympathies,
of whose writings they have been apprised, have rejected the thesis of the USSR and of Mr.
Kadar’s Government regarding Hungarian events. In their efforts to publish what they believed
to be a truer version, they have encountered the obstacle of “Party allegiance in literature” to
which reference has been made in quoting the comment of a Russian man of letters. One of
these, Peter Fryer, claims to have been the first Communist journalist from abroad to visit
Hungary after the uprising. He had been sent to Hungary by the London Daily Worker, which
then suppressed or severely edited the dispatches which he sent from Hungary.(20) “This was
no counter-revolution, organized by fascists and reactionaries”, Fryer wrote in an unpublished
dispatch to London. “It was the upsurge of a whole people, in which rank and file Communists
took part, against a police dictatorship dressed up as a Socialist society - a police dictatorship
backed up by Soviet armed might.” Next day, readers of the Daily Worker were told only
about “gangs of reactionaries” who were “beating Communists to death in the streets” and the
following day Hungary disappeared altogether from its front page. In consequence of what he
saw in Hungary and of the refusal of his newspaper to print the facts as he reported them,
Fryer resigned from the Daily Worker after eight years’ service with it. His testimony would
seem to be of particular value regarding the view of events in Hungary presented by the
Governments of the USSR and of Mr. Kadar, because he still remained faithful to the ideals of
Communism - “a movement”, he calls it, “which has meant everything in the world to me”. He
has given as the reason for his being subsequently suspended from the Communist Party that
the leaders of that Party are “afraid of the truth”.

E. Conclusion

149. It will be seen that the version of events favoured by the Governments of the USSR
and of Mr. Kédar is in conflict at many points, and points of fundamental importance, with
what the Committee believes to be the truth. For convenience, the Soviet and Kadar version of
the Hungarian uprising is repeated below in summary form.

150. Events in Hungary are said by spokesmen for the USSR and for the Kaddar Government
to have followed the classic pattern of the counter-revolution. First, shortcomings on the part
of Hungary’s leaders created among the people an atmosphere of justified discontent.
Bourgeois and reactionary elements are alleged to have been waiting for an opportunity to
recover their lost political and economic domination. It is said that they made skillful use of
this discontent to confuse even the workers and to induce them to put forward exaggerated
demands. The argument runs that these Hungarian reactionaries were powerfully assisted by
foreign sabotage organizations, propaganda, trained agents and a plentiful supply of arms. The
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Hungarian people are said, by exponents of this view, to be fully conscious of the benefits of
living in a People’s Democracy, but to have lacked the power and effective leadership to resist
so cunning a foe. Only the assistance of Soviet troops, it is claimed, enabled the true leaders of
Hungary to throw back the armed forces of “reaction”
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Chapter IV
SOVIET MILITARY INTERVENTION
(24 October - 3 November 1956)

A. Introduction

151. In chapter I the Committee has explained why a detailed chronological account of the
events in Hungary would be inappropriate for its report. The considerations indicated in
chapter I may be briefly recalled in so far as they relate particularly to this chapter and to those
which immediately follow. At the students’ meetings on 22 October 1956 and during the
demonstrations of 23 October, demands were expressed for the removal of the severe
restrictions which had come to be characteristic features of the régime. Had events continued
along these lines, many Members of the United Nations would undoubtedly have watched with
sympathy the efforts of the Hungarian people to win for themselves a different form of
government. However, such internal developments would not have constituted a matter of
international concern calling for the attention of the United Nations. The feature of the
developments in Hungary which compelled the attention of the Organization was the
intervention of Soviet armed forces. This intervention transformed the uprising from a demand
for a change in the form and character of the domestic Government into a call for national
liberation from external oppression. It is, therefore, appropriate that the report dwell in the first
instance on the details of Soviet armed intervention. The Soviet apologia has been directed
exclusively towards the statement of reasons which would justify such intervention, and not to
a denial of the act.

152. In this chapter it is not proposed to deal with the uprising itself or to discuss the
reasons which have been advanced to justify Soviet intervention. This and the following
chapters are concerned solely with stating the known facts about the extent of intervention by
Soviet armed forces and the nature of the conflict between those forces and the people of
Hungary. The present chapter will deal with the time and manner of the first armed
intervention which ostensibly commenced on 24 October 1956, and the subsequent chapter
with the time and manner of the second armed intervention from the early morning of 4
November to the suppression of armed Hungarian resistance.

B. Movements of Soviet forces and areas of fighting

153. The Committee has received information from many sources regarding the movements
of Soviet armed forces, and on the basis of this information it is possible to present the
following account of the military operations involved.

154. At the time of the uprising, the Soviet troop locations nearest to Budapest were Cegléd
and Székesfehérvar, both about 70 kilometres from Budapest, the former southeast and the
latter southwest of the capital. The tanks coming from the southwest appeared in Budapest at
about 2 a.m. on 24 October, at which time they were seen at Moricz Zsigmond Circle, in Buda,
heading towards Pest. They had crossed the Szabadsag (formerly Ferencz Jozsef) Bridge and
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were standing on the east, or Pest, side of the bridge between 3.30 a.m. and 5 a.m. Not all the
tanks coming from the southwest crossed by the Szabadsag Bridge. Between 4.30 a.m. and
5.30 a.m. other tanks passed over the Margit Bridge on their way between Buda and Pest.
Some tanks remained near the bridges, controlling passage over the river. Others occupied the
embankment road running north and south on the east side of the Danube. Still others
concentrated around major buildings in Pest. At the latter points they were shortly joined by
tanks arriving from Cegléd; these had passed through the outlying suburbs of Budapest -
Pestszenterzsébet and Soroksar - at about 6 a.m. Thus the movement of Soviet forces gives the
impression of a military movement planned in advance.

155. At the time of the entry of Soviet forces, the people of Budapest had been in conflict
with the AVH for some hours. This conflict had begun at the Radio Building the previous
evening, and during the night the people, having secured arms, had continued to attack the
AVH wherever they could be found.(1)

156. As day broke on the morning of 24 October, the people found themselves no longer
confronted only by the discredited AVH, but by the armed forces of the Soviet Union parading
in strength through the streets of Hungary’s capital. At 6 a.m., one of the columns of Soviet
vehicles coming from the west opened fire without warning at the point where the major
thoroughfare of Ulli Street reaches the People’s Park (Népliget) ; no fighting was taking place
there at the time. Soviet vehicles coming from the east are reported to have opened fire in the
outskirts at 6 a.m. in the neighbourhood of the Slaughterhouse, and at 7 a.m. at the corner of
Soroksari Avenue and Nagy Sandor Street. Thus began the conflict between the people of
Budapest and the armed forces of the Soviet Union.(2)

157.  While the outbreak of fighting has focused attention on the actual entry of Soviet
forces into Budapest, the Committee has good reason to believe that steps had been quietly
taken during the two preceding days with a view to the use of Soviet forces for the repression
of discontent in Hungary. It has been credibly reported that on 21-22 October, in the
neighbouring areas in Romania, Soviet officers on leave and reserve officers speaking
Hungarian or German were recalled.

158.  On 20-21 October, floating bridges were assembled at Zahony on the frontier between
the USSR and Hungary; it was over these pontoon bridges that Soviet troops from the USSR
crossed on the morning of 24 October. It has also been credibly reported to the Committee
that Soviet forces were seen on the march between Szombathely and Székesfehérvar as early
as 22 October, moving from the west towards Budapest. During the night of 23-24 October,
Soviet forces began to pass through Szeged and continued to move through the town along the
road to Budapest for some thirty-six hours.

159. There is evidence also that, even in the first intervention by the armed forces of the
USSR, use was made not only of Soviet troops stationed in Hungary, but of Soviet troops
from the USSR itself and from Romania. It would appear that, of the Soviet forces used in the
first intervention, only two divisions had been stationed in Hungary before the uprising,
namely, the Second Mechanized Division, and the Seventeenth Mechanized Division.
Seemingly, however, Soviet authorities had foreseen the probability that the troops stationed
on Hungarian territory would be insufficient to deal with the situation, and had taken steps to
call in forces from outside Hungary. The Soviet troops from the USSR who crossed the
pontoon bridges at Zahony moved onwards to Miskolc, while those who crossed the border in
the vicinity of Beregsurany proceeded towards Nyiregyhdza and Debrecen. The Hungarian
political police at Nyirbator reported at 1 a.m. on 24 October to the Ministry of Defence that
Soviet troops had entered Hungary from Romania. When on 28 October soldiers of the Thirty-
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second and Thirty-fourth Mechanized Divisions were treated in the Verebély Clinic in
Budapest, they were, on interrogation, found to be in possession of Romanian money. Part of
the two divisions had been stationed at Timisoara. Thus the forces used to repress the uprising
in October were not exclusively forces which had been stationed in Hungary under the Warsaw
Treaty.

C. Resistance of the Hungarian people to the Soviet attack

160. The Soviet forces had been given to understand that their task would be the liquidation
of counter revolutionary gangs. The situation in which they found themselves was that they
were confronted by the unanimous opposition of an outraged people. Those elements on which
they had presumably counted, with the exception of the secret police, failed to provide the
expected support. The Communist Party, which had held the country in its grip during the
preceding years, was rapidly disintegrating. The detested AVH, which had been the main
instrument of oppression, found itself paralysed by the resentment of the people. Its members
had been forced to seek refuge in various strongholds, where they were subjected to persistent
attack, for the ruthlessness which they had themselves exercised now recoiled on them. The
Hungarian Army, which the Budapest Radio announced as fighting on the side of the Soviet
forces, is not known to have lent them any assistance whatever, while in at least one instance it
engaged in active battle with them and in many other cases gave aid and support to the
Hungarian people in their resistance to the Soviet Army.(3)

161. In combating the new enemy, people of all ages and occupations showed remarkable
unity of purpose. However important the role of the students in the initial stage of the
demonstrations, it was matched by equal determination on the part of the workers as the
fighting grew in intensity. The fighting was nowhere more severe than in certain factory
districts. The peasants lent aid and assistance by supplying the fighters in Budapest with food
at little or no cost. Moreover, while there were many instances of middle-aged or elderly
people participating in the fighting, the youth of the capital played a leading part.

162. Two of the first instances of the use of “Molotov cocktails” were by a man of some
fifty years of age, who destroyed an armoured car at 7.30 a.m. on 24 October near the Kilidn
Barracks, and by children who are reported to have blown up an armoured car with its crew at
8.30 a.m. Efforts made by leaders to prevent the distribution of arms to young boys seemed in
many instances to have been in vain; they readily learned to make effective use of rifles which
came into their possession.

163. In the highly industrialized area of Csepel Island at the southern end of Greater
Budapest, the factory workers, reinforced by police and artillery units which had come over to
their side, created an effective organization of their own. Though Soviet tanks arrived in
Csepel at 7 a.m. on 24 October, they made no persistent attempt to crush the uprising there.
One incident was reported in which eight Soviet armoured cars, reinforced by AVH personnel,
opened fire near the former Manfréd Weiss factory;4) when, however, the factory workers
pressed with their attack on the AVH, the Soviet armoured cars retreated to Budapest. The
Csepel workers were thus free to go to the help of those who were fighting in Budapest. They
travelled northwards in cars, on bicycles, or on foot, to the centre of the city.
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164. In the middle of Pest, two of the major points of opposition to the Soviet invasion were
the Kilian Barracks and the Corvin Cinema. At the Kilidn Barracks - the former Maria Terézia
military barracks, an old and strong brick structure on Ulléi Avenue - a unit of the Hungarian
Army under the leadership of Colonel Pal Maléter, took sides with the insurgents and
continued to withstand successive attacks by Soviet forces. The defenders of the Kilidn
Barracks, including the civilian reinforcements, are said to have numbered some 2,000. When
fighting ended there, sixty to seventy Soviet soldiers had lost their lives. About fifty yards away
from the Kilian Barracks, just beyond Ulléi Avenue, the Corvin Cinema, standing at the point
of convergence of three roads, Ulldi Avenue, Jozsef Boulevard and Kisfaludy Passage, was
rapidly converted into a stronghold. Attack on the cinema, a strong, circular structure, was
made difficult by the proximity on all sides of four-storey buildings.

165. The Committee heard a graphic account of the conflict at the Corvin Block and of the
use of the “Molotov cocktail” by the insurgents. An anti-tank gun, removed from a disabled
Soviet tank, was placed against the steps in front of the cinema, and a mechanism was arranged
to fire it from within the building. The tanks or armoured cars came from the side streets and,
on turning into the boulevard, were within range of the anti-tank gun which was able to
destroy their tracks before they could train their guns on the cinema. Observers posted on the
top floors of buildings on the side streets signalled the approach of Soviet vehicles. At the
signal, the preparation of “Molotov cocktails” began. A bottle - perhaps a bottle of tomato
preserve previously emptied for the purpose - was nearly filled with gasoline. It was then
loosely corked, with towelling around the cork. At a second signal, given when the tank drew
nearer to the Corvin Cinema, the bottle would be tipped downwards so that the gasoline could
seep into the towelling. At the third signal, the towelling would be lit and the bottle thrown. As
the loose cork fell out, the bottle would explode. A gasoline store on the premises of the
Corvin Cinema provided its defenders with an adequate supply of fuel. The Corvin Block was
one of the resistance groups in Budapest which successfully withstood attack during the first
period of fighting.

166. At times the Hungarians met with sympathy from Soviet troops. Soviet forces normally
stationed in Hungary or in Romania had been affected by their surroundings. Many a
Hungarian had learnt some Russian - either at school, where it was a compulsory language, or
in a prisoner-of-war camp. They we able to reproach the Soviet troops, when occasion offered,
for their interference in Hungarian affairs. The Soviet soldiers were, indeed, in a situation of
some embarrassment. The civilians whom they fought included women, children and elderly
people. They could see that the people were unanimous in their fight against the AVH and
foreign intervention; that the men whom the Soviet Army was fighting and the prisoners who
were captured were not fascists, but workers and students, who demonstrably regarded Soviet
soldiers not as liberators, but as oppressors. It was also an unusual experience for the Soviet
soldiers, as for the Hungarians themselves, to hear people speaking openly on subjects hitherto
banned in conversation. Some Russian officers and soldiers appear to have fought and died on
the Hungarian side.

167. Confronted by opposition in Budapest which they were unable to master, the Soviet
forces were in no position to control the provinces. The concentration of forces in Budapest
seemingly left certain parts of the country, particularly the region between the Danube and the
western frontiers - Transdanubia - practically free from Soviet forces. In such centres as Pécs,
no Soviet troops arrived until the beginning of November. In some other centres where Soviet
garrisons were present but isolated, relations with the local inhabitants were amicable enough.
On 28 October, Free Radio Gy6r announced that the Soviet military commander had denied
any intention of interfering “in your internal political affairs”, adding that “the rising of the
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Hungarian people against oppressive leaders is justified”. The Soviet commander thanked the
population for supplying milk to the children of the Soviet garrison and requested the people to
notify him of any violation of regulations by Soviet soldiers. In conclusion, he assured the
people of Gydr that the Soviet troops were not preparing to attack the city.

168. In Veszprém, the Revolutionary Council, hearing of rumours on 28 October that Soviet
troops at the Hajmaskér barracks were preparing to attack the city in order to reinstate the
former officials, sent a three-man delegation to the Soviet commander. The commander
deplored that at Varpalota, in the county of Veszprém, three Soviet citizens had been killed,
but he recognized the right of the Hungarian people to choose their own form of government
and to remove leaders who did not perform their tasks properly. He gave the assurance that, if
the Hungarians refrained from attack, the Soviet troops would make no attack on Veszprém.
The same Soviet commander refused to give asylum to members of the AVH who had sought
refuge with Russian troops. At Jaszberény the Soviet commander took the initiative of calling
on the Revolutionary Council. Accompanied by two Soviet officers, he promised the Council
that he would not interfere in Hungarian internal affairs and that the troops would not leave the
barracks on manoeuvres. Jaszberény was later the scene of a serious incident, but not until 4
November, when Soviet policy had changed. In Debrecen the Soviet forces withdrew from the
city to the countryside. Soviet tanks had arrived there on 24 October, but, after negotiations
between the Revolutionary Council and the Soviet commander had begun in the afternoon of
the 26th, the commander agreed to withdraw the Soviet troops from the city and to lift the
curfew, and Soviet withdrawal from Debrecen began on the 27th.

169. In the provinces, the evidence suggests that the Soviet forces were concerned rather to
avoid conflict with the Hungarian people.

170. In Budapest the fighting continued from the 24th to the 28th, as Soviet armour sought
to eliminate the resisters’ strongholds. The massacre in the square by the Parliament Building(s)
exasperated rather than terrified the people, and the severe Soviet attacks of 27 October were
unsuccessful. Not until the cease-fire of 28 October did a lull ensue, and the fighting had, in
effect, come to an end by 30 October.

D. The withdrawal of Soviet troops from Budapest

171.  One central demand of the insurgents in Budapest was that Soviet troops should
withdraw from the capital. Deputations of the Revolutionary Councils from the provinces and
from the fighting groups in Budapest pressed their demands on the Government. They stressed
that they would not lay down their arms until the Government had made its position clear
regarding the withdrawal of Soviet troops from the entire country. However, the insurgents
conceded that the first step would be the evacuation of Budapest, to be followed within a given
period of time by the withdrawal of Soviet forces from Hungarian territory. Such were the
demands received from the Students’ Revolutionary Council, the Miskolc Revolutionary
Council, the Transdanubian National Council, and from numerous towns and villages in
various parts of the country.(6)

172. At 5.25 p.m. on 28 October, the Hungarian Prime Minister, Mr. Nagy, announced that
the Soviet Government had agreed to begin the withdrawal of its troops from “the city’s
territory”. The following morning Premier Nagy and the Minister of Defence, General Karoly
Janza, met the representatives of the more prominent insurgent groups at the Ministry of
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Defence. According to the evidence received, General Janza insisted during this meeting that
the technical complexity of a withdrawal of troops made it difficult to effect this within the
time limits set by the insurgents. Since, however, the discussions also concerned the re-
establishment of order in Budapest, the meeting ended on a hopeful note. The Government was
to seek to conclude with the Soviet authorities a timetable for actual withdrawal, while the
insurgents would lend assistance in this task by maintaining order and showing due respect
towards the withdrawing Soviet forces.(7)

173.  Negotiations between the Government and the Soviet authorities continued during the
day. At the same time, General Kirdly, as head of the Revolutionary Military Council, was
establishing the foundations of the National Guard, with the intention of guiding and
coordinating the various insurgent groups. During the evening General Janza announced the
withdrawal of Soviet troops from the eighth district of Budapest, and called upon the
insurgents to lay down their arms in conformity with the agreement. The next day he
announced that the withdrawal of Soviet forces from Budapest would be completed by dawn
of 31 October.(8)

174.(9) During the last days of October, Soviet armoured and other vehicles began to evacuate
Budapest, with the exception of certain key positions, such as the Soviet Embassy and the
main approaches to the Danube bridges. This withdrawal, however, took place simultaneously
with the surrounding of the principal airports of Budapest - an action which provoked a
resolution of the staff of the Hungarian National Air Command of 30 October threatening that,
unless the withdrawal of Soviet troops from Budapest was effected within twelve hours, the
Hungarian Air Force “would make an armed stand in support of the demands of the entire
Hungarian working people”. The Budapest airports of Ferihegy, Budadrs and Tokol were
under the control of Soviet troops or substantially so, owing to the proximity to these airfields
of Soviet artillery and armoured units. The same was true of Szentkirdlyszabadja airport
(between Veszprém and Lake Balaton) and the Kecskemét and Szolnok airports. Budapest
was ringed by three air fields in its immediate vicinity, while the three others, lying at a distance
of 100 kilometres, occupied strategic positions. It appears, however, that six military airfields -
Pépa, Székesfehérvar and Kaposvar in western Hungary, Kiskunlachdza and Kalocsa in central
Hungary, and Kunmadaras in north-eastern Hungary - were not subject at that time to Soviet
military control. They had, according to reports, some 200 Hungarian planes, of various types,
available for immediate action.

175.  General Kiraly, in accordance with Premier Nagy’s instructions, forbade any military
action on the part of the Hungarian Air Force. The position taken by the Premier was that, as
discussions were under way regarding the withdrawal of the Soviet troops, any sign of
belligerence on the part of the Hungarian forces, particularly if not the result of direct
provocation, would destroy the chance of resolving this question through negotiations and
might, in fact, precipitate Soviet retaliation. However, air reconnaissance was permitted, and
reports were received on Soviet troop movements in Hungary for the period of 29 October to
2 November. In the vicinity of Budapest, to the north and south of the city on the Véc, Cegléd
and Kecskemét highways, there were stationed on 30 October some 200 tanks, tenders and
other Soviet armoured vehicles. Just to the west of Budapest were some thirty tanks, and at
Székesfehérvar, twenty-five. In western Hungary, around Gydr and Szombathely, some ten to
fifteen tanks and other service vehicles were located near each town. In Kecskemét, Szolnok,
Békéscsaba and Debrecen there remained a small number of tanks. It was calculated that, in all,
there were less than 400 Soviet tanks in commission in Hungary at that time. On 30 October an
airlift from Tokol, Ferihegy and other airports was put into operation, and it is estimated that
some 200 transport planes were used to evacuate the families of Soviet military and civilian
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personnel and wounded troops. Notwithstanding the reports that the incoming planes were
carrying military supplies, the belief was generally entertained on the last day of October that
the Soviet withdrawal might soon become a reality.

176. This hope was short lived. At 11.30 p.m. on 1 November, Radio Budapest reported
that, according to an announcement issued by the Soviet Embassy, airfields of the Hungarian
Air Force had been surrounded by armoured forces of the Soviet Army in order to secure the
air transport of the families of Soviet troops and the wounded. The radio statement added that
“The Hungarian Air Force, in full complement, was ready to defend itself against over-
whelming strength. The Government, however, fully realizing its responsibilities, prohibited the
opening of fire. So the troops of the Air Force are now facing the Soviet forces present,
without firing and with discipline. They await the departure of the Soviet troops.” By this date,
the possibility of action by the Hungarian Air Force was rapidly being curtailed. The staging
areas of the Soviet troops were by now the Hungarian military airfields or those which the
Soviet Air Force had previously occupied, such as Papa and Veszprém. Considering that the
number of civilians and wounded soldiers to be evacuated was relatively small, it seemed that
the Soviet Embassy’s announcement was intended to justify the seizure of the airfields and the
immobilization of the Hungarian Air Force.

177. The available information indicates that, during the days following 29 October, the
prevailing attitude in Budapest with regard to the withdrawal of Soviet troops was one of
quiet, though tense, expectancy. The new free Press and the radio, while rejoicing in the
positive results achieved during the negotiations for the withdrawal of Soviet forces from
Budapest, asked the population to refrain from showing any signs of hostility towards the
foreign troops. The Soviet forces did, in fact, withdraw from the city without obstruction. In
the 20th District, Soroksar and Pestszenterzsébet, which came under the Unified Command of
the National Guard, the only incidents reported on the 29th were of fighting with some Soviet
units which had been cut off from food supplies and were looting food stores. The next day,
the cease-fire came into full effect and there after the armed truce was respected by both sides,
and no infringements occurred until the early hours of 4 November. The situation was similar
in the suburban areas to the north and west of the capital. In the provincial centres, the Soviet
troops withdrew from the towns or, if garrisoned there, to the barracks, giving the impression
that their intervention in Hungary was coming to an end.

E. The logistic deployment of new Soviet forces

178. In fact, during the last days of October and the beginning of November, the Soviet
forces were effecting three types of troop movements in Hungary. The first was the withdrawal
from the capital, and from public view in the provinces. The second was the dispatch of new
forces from the East to certain strategic centres within Hungary, ostensibly, as announced by
Soviet Ambassador Andropov, to assist in the organized withdrawal of the Soviet forces. The
third was the massing on and within the Hungarian borders of heavy armoured units which
were to be called upon four days later to crush the Hungarian uprising. The first two
movements - outward from Budapest and inward from the eastern frontier, seem to have
converged, at strategic locations along the main arterial road system, to form a crescent about
150 kilometres east of Budapest. This consolidation stretched from Gyongyds and Hatvan in
the north on the Budapest-Miskolc highway, then through Cegléd and Szolnok on the Buda-
pest-Debrecen highway, and Kecskemét on the Budapest-Szeged highway, to Dunafoldvar
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which lies on the western bank of the Danube. In Transdanubia before 31 October, this military
consolidation was not as extensive as in the Danubian plain except at Székesfehérvar, to which
some of the troops from Budapest had been withdrawn.

179.  On the eastern frontier, after two days of relative immobility - 27 and 28 October - new
troop movements were observed. At Zahony, the frontier station on the Transcarpathian
border, at least 100 tanks were located on Hungarian territory, while a considerable force of
motorized infantry, with artillery vehicles and supporting tank units, was moving westwards
towards Nyiregyhaza. The next day, 133 light tanks and 80 of the latest model heavy tanks
crossed the frontier at Zahony, more than compensating for the few tanks and infantry vehicles
which were moving eastwards from Nyiregyhdza, with the local inhabitants cheering them on
their way.

180. In some cases, as reported from the frontier village of Csaroda, the convoy going
eastwards had not really left Hungary, but had moved in a circular fashion, returning
westwards by another road. Reports of new troops entering the country from 29 October
appear to have continued daily. The Zahony sector was the principal venue, but from 31
October, most of the roads leading into Hungary were being used for the conveyance of Soviet
troops. From the frontier village of Nyirbator close to Satu Mare in Romania, to the frontier
post of Battonya, near Arad in Romania, the roads were blocked with incoming vehicles. At
Debrecen, where a reconnaissance plane of the Hungarian Air Force was shot down on 31
October by a Soviet anti-aircraft battery, there were also considerable military activities.
During the following three days, air reconnaissance became increasingly difficult owing to the
rapid diminution in the number of airfields free from Soviet control.

181. It became clear that the new Soviet troops were advancing by stages towards strategic
positions in the Danubian plain and even Transdanubia. Thus fresh units came to Szolnok and
Kecskemét by 1 November, while another unit appears to have crossed the Danube and to
have established itself by that date at Dombdvar, 20 kilometres north of the city of Pécs. The
Soviet Army used also the main railroad line passing through Zahony for the transportation of
troops. It is known that they seized the railway stations at Zahony, Kisvarda and Nyiregyhdza
during 1 and 2 November, and some armed clashes occurred between the Hungarian railway
workers and the Soviet troops. The eastern lines were commandeered by the Soviet Military
Command, and from 2 November on the Hungarian railways could not operate between
Szolnok and Nyiregyhéza.

182. The Soviet Military Command was also using the more developed communications
system of Czechoslovakia. This proved helpful to them, as the Zahony approaches to Hungary
tended to constitute a bottleneck, notwithstanding the building of auxiliary pontoon bridges
over the Tisza. With regard to the Romanian crossings, although these lines were put into use,
as far south as Timisoara, they tended to extend unduly the Soviet communications system.
Thus, a deployment of Soviet forces took place on the north through Slovakia and along the
Danube, possibly as far east as Esztergom (north of Budapest) to Rajka (north of Magyar-
6var). On 2 November Soviet troops from Czechoslovakia crossed the Danube bridge at
Komarom.

183. By the evening of 2 November, Hungary had to all intents and purposes been
reinvaded. Premier Nagy continued negotiations with the Soviet representatives, in the hope
that this powerful Soviet force was there only as a show of strength. Estimates of Soviet forces
in Hungary vary from 1,600 to 4,000 tanks and from 75,000 men to 200,000. The Committee
has been informed that a more probable figure is 2,500 tanks and armoured cars with 1,000
supporting vehicles.
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184. By the evening of 3 November, communication between Budapest and the provinces
was limited to the telephone, as the highways and railways were, for all practical purposes,
sealed off by the Soviet forces. The agreement between the Hungarian Government and the
Soviet authorities regarding the withdrawal of Soviet troops from Hungary had been reached
in the afternoon. Certain outstanding matters relating to the withdrawal remained to be
decided. For this, General Maléter, as head of a Delegation, was empowered to represent the
Government. At 10 p.m. he proceeded to the headquarters of the Soviet Military Command at
Tokol on Csepel Island.(10) Consequently, Premier Nagy had grounds for believing that
Hungary, despite the presence of the large Soviet military force in the country, was destined to
become free.

F. Conclusions

185. In the present chapter, the Committee has summarized the information available to it
regarding the movement of Soviet forces within Hungary from the beginning of the first
intervention to the eve of the second intervention. Simultaneously with the renewed
concentration of military forces described in this chapter, negotiations were being conducted
between the Government of Hungary and the Government of the USSR for the withdrawal of
Soviet forces from Hungary. The course of these negotiations is dealt with in chapter VIII. The
problem arises of reconciling the known facts regarding the political negotiations for complete
withdrawal with the clear evidence of the continued reintroduction of forces and their
concentration within the country. It may well be that, immediately before the second
intervention, the political and military authorities of the USSR differed regarding the best way
of meeting the unusual circumstances which had arisen, and that the military authorities at no
point abandoned the belief that the only way to resolve the difficulties which had arisen in
Hungary was by force.

(1)Chapter X, paras. 469-475.

(2)Ibid., paras. 479-480.

(3)Chapter XII, para. 563.

(4)Subsequently called “Rakosi Works”; now known as “Csepel Works”.
(5)Chapter X, paras. 481-483.

(6)Chapter XI, paras. 504-505 and chapter VIII, para. 329.

(7)Chapter VIII, para. 330.

(8)Ibid., para 333.

(9)For next four paras., see chapter VIII, paras. 333-335.

(10)Chapter VIII, para. 343 and chapter VII, para. 290.

57



Chapter V
SECOND SOVIET MILITARY INTERVENTION

A. Introduction

186. A period of less than a week intervened between the end of hostilities in October and
the second attack by Soviet armed forces on the morning of Sunday, 4 November. The
Committee received authoritative evidence regarding the conditions in Budapest during this
brief period. On the eve of the second attack, order was being rapidly restored in the damaged
streets of the capital. People were already at work removing the rubble and glass. Despite
innumerable broken shop windows, no looting took place. Good progress was being made in
the direction of political consolidation, and the resumption of work could be confidently
expected on Monday, 5 November.(1) Negotiations had been completed for the formation of a
National Guard(2) under General Kiraly with a view to ensuring internal security. A sense of
confidence had developed among the citizens of Budapest.

187. Evidence has been given in the preceding chapter that Soviet troop movements into
Hungary on a considerable scale and other military preparations had been going on for some
days. In view of the difficulties of large-scale military planning, it would seem most probable
that the design of the second intervention had been worked out during the last days of
October, if not sooner. The purpose of this chapter is to assemble evidence as to the actual
fighting which took place from early in the morning of 4 November until armed resistance
ceased. It is thought appropriate, however, at this point to consider one aspect of the fighting
that had a considerable bearing on the way in which it developed, namely the attitude of the
regular Hungarian Army towards the uprising and of the insurgents towards the Army.

B. Relations between the insurgents and the Hungarian army

188. It is a significant fact that, throughout the uprising, no single unit of the Hungary Army
fought as such at the side of the Soviet troops. Not only at the Kilian Barracks, but later also
on the Citadel in Budapest and in the Matra and Biikk mountains, Hungarian Army units
fought on the side of the uprising. Apart from these organized Army units, numerous
Hungarian soldiers deserted to the insurgents or handed over weapons and ammunition. It
would not be an exaggeration to say that the Hungarian Army proved useless to the Soviet
Command throughout Hungary as a means of quelling the insurrection. In fact, it started to
disintegrate at the outset. Desertions took place in such numbers that the Minister of Defence,
Istvan Bata, was obliged to appeal over the radio in the following terms at 8.56 a.m. on 25
October - only some thirty-six hours after the beginning of the revolt: “I instruct those
members of the Army who, for one reason or another, have been separated from their units to
report to their commanding officers at their formations immediately, and not later than 12.00,
25 October.” Later appeals by radio called upon the troops to report to the nearest military
post, since by then many soldiers had left their provincial garrisons to come to Budapest or to
help in the uprising elsewhere.(3)
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189. Since the junior ranks came from peasant or working class homes, where the
grievances complained of were well known, their sympathies were quickly engaged on behalf
of the insurgents, and there is evidence that similar grievances to those of the civilians had been
voiced in the garrisons also. For example, there was bitterness over the introduction of a
Russian-type uniform for Hungarian soldiers and over the subordinate position of the
Hungarian Army. This inferior status was to be seen in the supervision by Soviet officers of the
Hungarian General Staff, in the Soviet control over heavy tactical weapons, heavy
communications materials and the Air Force, and in the infiltration of the Hungarian Army by
State security organs under Soviet supervision. A sense of inferiority had thus been bred in the
rank and file of the Army which, for some time past, had led to complaints.

190. The resistance of the Hungarian people was considerably strengthened by the attitude
of the soldiers, at first by their refusal to fight against the insurgents and soon by their active
help. This attitude, however, did not extend to most of the senior officers. Under Soviet
inspiration, special cadres of Communist officers had been developed to handle all key
operations and commanding officers were chosen for their party affiliation rather than their
military training. Senior Hungarian officers with military experience had, in most cases, been
retired or assigned to teaching posts in one of the military academies. On the other hand, a
number of younger officers had undergone training in the Soviet Union and were presumed to
be not only Communists, but also pro-Soviet. The remainder of the Officer Corps had at one
time or another during the past ten years received a special Communist indoctrination, and
many were believed to have pro-Soviet sympathies. However, in the Budapest military
academies, contrary to expectations, the cadets reacted differently to developments. They were
aware of the grievances of the workers and took part eagerly in such discussions as those at
the Petéfi Club. According to Budapest radio reports, when the demonstrations were
organized on 23 October, about 800 cadets from the Pet6fi Military Academy in Buda were
among the demonstrators at the Bem statue. Great encouragement was given to the
demonstrators by the presence in their midst of cadets marching in their uniforms.

191.  All these factors had created sympathy and confidence between the insurgents and the
rank and file of the Hungarian Army. Most of the insurgents, however, remained distrustful of
the Army Command and of the senior officers in general. During the days of freedom, the
Revolutionary Military Council of the Army and the Command of the National Guard
established a working relationship with the insurgents of Greater Budapest. In the provinces,
the situation was still confused. Much depended on the attitude of the officer commanding the
local garrison and on that of his staff. Often the senior officers had been against the uprising or
had declared themselves neutral. In some cases, where the garrison had actually sided with the
insurgents, it had been unable to act as an organized unit for lack of ammunition or through
action by the AVH or by the Soviet NKVD.

192.  The freedom fighters had welcomed deserting soldiers and officers into their ranks and
made extensive use of weapons and equipment given them by the Army, but they preferred to
keep the command of the insurgent groups in civilian hands. During the “days of freedom”, it
was proposed to reorganize the Army on non-political lines and to remove some of the officers
known for their pro-Soviet views. This, however, would have taken time and, meanwhile, the
Revolutionary Committees had little faith in the Ministry of Defence or in the Hungarian
military command. They often insisted on personal confirmation of instructions by a leader they
trusted, such as General Maléter or General Kiraly.

59



193. At the first meeting of the Revolutionary National Defence Committee) on 31
October, Generals Maléter and Kiraly and Colonel Nader of the Air Force had been of the
opinion that the reorganization of the Hungarian Army should be speeded up. They felt,
however, that the attitude of the Army and of the insurgents towards the Russians should be
above reproach during the negotiations for withdrawal of the Soviet troops. The possibility of
a renewed Soviet attack was already borne in mind. While Generals Maléter and Istvan Kovacs
were concerned exclusively with the technical negotiations for the withdrawal of Soviet troops,
Colonel Andrés Marton was called from the Zrinyi Military Academy to prepare a defence
plan, for use in the event of a second Soviet attack. Colonel Marton, however, was released
from the Zrinyi Academy only on 2 November. By that time, Soviet troop movements were
going on in various parts of the country and communications were becoming extremely
difficult. It was obvious that the Soviet command, if it wished to strike, had more than
sufficient troops in Hungary to make any organized resistance impossible.

194.  On 2 and 3 November various revolutionary groups in such positions as the Corvin
Block and the Kilidn Barracks and in the industrial suburbs of Budapest replenished their
stocks of ammunition with the help of the National Guard. They appear to have received little,
however, but rifle bullets. Some officers and non-commissioned officers attached to the various
groups undertook a little hasty artillery training. Defensive positions were improved or
alternative sites chosen which provided better vantage points for anti-tank guns. It would
appear, however, that no overall plan was drawn up to protect Budapest in the event of an
attack. The resistance organizers worked on the local level and with improvised means.

195. Leaders of Revolutionary Councils seemed to derive special satisfaction from being in
direct telephone communication with Mr. Nagy, Mr. Tildy or General Kiraly. From 9 o’clock
in the evening of 3 November, reports came in from the Councils by telephone and special
messenger both to Mr. Nagy and to General Kirdly, as they had no confidence in the hierarchy
of officers transmitting their messages from the field to the highest echelons. This circumstance
throws some light on the individualist nature of Hungarian military operations. Resistance
followed no general plan, but was limited to local, although often fiercely fought, engagements.
It is important to see these engagements against the background of a Hungarian Army which
had virtually ceased to exist as such, with the resulting impossibility for most Army units to
fight in formation, but with the corollary that the participation of soldiers in the resistance,
individually or in groups, became a common feature of the fighting. It was in such
circumstances that the citizens of Budapest found themselves again under Soviet fire.

C. The fighting in Budapest

196. From 9 p.m. on 3 November the capital had been completely surrounded. Information
that hundreds of tanks were advancing slowly towards the capital was received from
observation posts on the major highways. Reports came in that, at some places such as
Pestszenterzsébet, small units had entered the district, possibly trying to make the insurgents
open fire. Since, according to the withdrawal agreement of 31 October, Russian troops were to
evacuate Greater Budapest, local Commanders were ordered on instructions from Mr. Nagy
not to open fire. The Ministry of Defence also gave the same instruction many times. Witnesses
have testified that in no case was a shot fired by the insurgents. By 3 o’clock in the morning
tanks were moving along Soroksari Avenue up to Boraros Square on the Pest side of the river,
cutting off Csepel Island from the inner capital. Similar advances were made from the Vaci
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Avenue on the north, down the east bank of the river, cutting off Ujpest from the Buda side.
No precise information exists from the other sectors, but it is known that Soviet troops opened
fire at 4.25 a.m. on the barracks at Budadrsi Avenue, to the south of the old city of Buda.
Shortly afterwards cannon fire was heard from all quarters of the city and from outlying
districts.

197.  Fighting broke out at numerous points of resistance. Soviet tanks advanced along the
main boulevards radiating from the Danube. The insurgents set up barricades at important
intersections on the Outer Ring of Pest and fierce fighting took place at Ulldi Avenue, Marx
Square, Kalvin Square, at the Kilian Barracks, and at the Corvin Cinema. On the Buda side,
there was fighting on the Gellért Hill, at the Citadel and on the Royal Palace Hill, at the
Southern Railway Station, in Széna Square and in Moricz Zsigmond Circle. Resistance varied
according to the available strength in men, weapons and ammunition. In some cases Russian
troops were able, within a matter of hours, to fight through to such important points of the city
as the Square by the Parliament Building, the banks of the Danube, the bridgeheads, the radio
station, and the police headquarters. Whatever organized resistance may have been planned for
the city as a whole had ceased by 8 o’clock in the morning, that is, shortly after the radio
station had been taken over by Soviet troops. Thereafter the groups continued fighting until
their ammunition was exhausted or until the defending positions had been destroyed by the
heavy tank barrage. The Kilian Barracks were subjected to a three-hour assault and to aerial
bombardment, but the building was not seized for three days. The Citadel military units,
reinforced by freedom fighters, held out until 7 November. The Soviet losses were severe, as
these defence positions were well organized. Fierce fighting also took place at Moricz
Zsigmond Circle and in other parts of the city. From the evidence received, it would seem that
for the first two days the Soviet attack was directed principally against those fortified positions
which, by their continued resistance, prevented the Soviet Command from claiming that it was
in full control of Budapest. The impression is gained that the Soviet troops avoided a
systematic hunting down of secondary targets, such as snipers, in the belief that complete order
would shortly be restored. When that proved not to be the case, Soviet tanks began to move
again along the main boulevards, firing indiscriminately into houses to strike fear into the
people and to force their surrender. This shooting caused severe damage to buildings on the
boulevards and along the side streets, even where there had been no recent resistance by the
freedom fighters. By 8 November much of Budapest bore severe traces of the fighting.
Hundreds of buildings were completely destroyed and thousands more had been severely
damaged. The destruction was especially marked in certain districts but, in a city as large as
Budapest, many areas were fortunate enough to have escaped. By nightfall on the 7th the
fighting had become intermittent and was mostly confined to the outlying industrial districts.

198. It must, however, be stated that on the evidence before the Committee it may safely be
assumed that the whole population of Budapest took part in the resistance. No distinction,
therefore, could have been made between civilian and military population. “Molotov cocktails”
were thrown from apartment windows on upper floors by men, women and children on a wide
scale. It would, therefore, be difficult for any invading army to pick the objects of attack.
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D. The fighting in the industrial districts of Budapest

199. In the industrial districts of Budapest, most of the fighters were workers and the
fighting became a struggle between the Hungarian factory workers and the Army of the Soviet
Union. This was the case more particularly in those districts on the Pest side of the Danube
where most of the heavy industries of Hungary are concentrated. As in the city itself,
leadership of the resistance forces emerged at the local level. Each district or group of districts,
under the command of its Revolutionary Councils, received army equipment and was
reinforced by army personnel who volunteered to join the freedom fighters. The Revolutionary
Council of Csepel received some eighty-five pieces of artillery from the barracks on the island
when many officers and men joined them against the orders of their commanding officer.

200. The factory districts from Ujpest in the North, through Kébanya and southward to
Pestszenterzsébet, Soroksar and Csepel Island, put up the strongest resistance. This continued
until 11 November. With the exception of a few clashes in the hills of Nograd and Baranya
counties which occurred after this date, it can be said that these districts were the scene of the
most tenacious Hungarian armed resistance during the second intervention. A detailed account
of the fighting in all districts cannot be given, hut considerable material has been received on
the overall situation. The primary objective of the Soviet forces would appear to have been the
capture and control of the city. They did not enter the outlying industrial districts except to the
extent that they had to go through them when following the main highways. In the morning of
4 November, the centres of fighting were on the highways to Vac and on the other highways
radiating southwards to Csepel Island. The Soviet troops, equipped with armoured cars, light
and heavy tanks, and self-propelled artillery, were faced, as in the city, with fighting on street
corners against anti-tank guns, odd pieces of artillery, machine guns and incendiary hand
grenades. The freedom fighters were always outnumbered, but, according to the evidence,
when the situation became desperate they would withdraw and reappear from another street to
hit the tail end of an advancing armoured column. In some cases the Soviet troops had to leave
their tanks to clear road obstructions, giving the freedom fighters an opportunity to attack
them with small arms. It appears that the situation on 4 and 5 November was one of constant
harassment of the Soviet columns. The Soviet armoured units opened fire on all buildings
along avenues and streets and inflicted heavy casualties among non-combatants. Several
tenements and workers’ apartment buildings collapsed as a result of cannon fire, with twenty
to fifty people trapped in the cellars.

201. In many districts the factories, such as the Kébanya Beer Factory, the Ganz Works, the
Electric Bulb Factory and the Csepel Steel Plant, were arsenals for the Hungarians. The
fighting, however, varied in the different districts, according to the heavy weapons and
ammunition available. Witnesses testified that action would continue until all artillery shells
were exhausted. Then the freedom fighters, carrying their small arms, would either join up with
another group, or go into hiding. The Soviet forces, on the other hand, had a superabundance
of fire power, and it was not necessary for the Soviet Army to employ all the armoured units
which it had at its disposal.

202. The fighting in the 20th district - Pestszenterzsébet and Soroksar - was organized under
one command and lasted from the morning of the 4th until the evening of the 8th. Sporadic
fighting then continued until the morning of the 11th. Radio Station “Réka”, which was heard
outside Hungary up to 8 November, was located in this district and did much to maintain the
morale of the freedom fighters. Soroksari Avenue joins Csepel and the Tokol military airport
with the capital. Soviet troops soon gained control of this Avenue, but they were subjected to
harassment and their losses of men and materials were reported to be high. The Soviet troops
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undertook a number of punitive sorties in the side streets, killing many non-combatants and
destroying many buildings. During these attacks, the Committee was told, the Soviet troops
would shoot indiscriminately at anything, even if it were not a legitimate target. Examples
described to the Committee included a bread line of women and children, standing outside a
bakery, which was shot at on 4 November. On 7 November a Red Cross ambulance was
destroyed by machine-gun fire; the wounded and the nurses in it were killed.

203. The Revolutionary Council of Csepel constituted another centre of resistance. It is
noteworthy that certain witnesses, former members of the Revolutionary Council of Csepel,
testified before the Committee that they and other members of the Council had advocated on
the eve of the second intervention that, in case of a Soviet attack, the Csepel workers should
not resist. The Soviet forces, it was thought, were bound to win, and any resistance would be a
futile sacrifice of life. The workers, however, made it clear that such a suggestion was
unacceptable to them. In the outcome, the battle of Csepel was the hardest-fought of all, for
the workers were united in their determination to fight and were well provided with weapons.
Since Tokol airport would be isolated from Budapest unless the Csepel workers were subdued,
the Soviet Command was forced to break their resistance. Between 4 and 9 November,
fighting went on incessantly in the area as a whole, although at various points only inter-
mittently. The freedom fighters maintained an effective organized armed resistance in most of
the area throughout these five days. On the 7th there was a concentrated artillery barrage
against the whole area, supplemented by aerial bombardment. The next day an emissary from
the Soviet Commander asked the freedom fighters to surrender. They refused, and the fighting
continued. The following day, the 9th, another emissary stated that unless the insurgents
surrendered no one would be spared. This was also rejected. The shelling was intensified by
artillery units converging from the north and by the heavy guns now stationed on the Gellért
Hill. At 2 p.m. the Soviet forces used anti-personnel rocket mortars causing great destruction
to the factories, installations and surrounding buildings. At 6 p.m. the Revolutionary Council
decided to end the fighting. Their ammunition was practically exhausted. With the cessation of
hostilities in Budapest, it was possible for the Soviet forces to concentrate on Csepel. There
was some shooting the next day - the 10th - but the armed resistance was, to all intents and
purposes, over, as the Soviet tanks had by then occupied all the plants and warehouses which
were formerly the bases of resistance.

E. Fighting in the provinces

204. While the objectives of Soviet strategy were the suppression of the Hungarian national
movement and the overthrow of the Nagy Government, which had been called upon to
implement the demands of the insurgents, it was the apparent aim of the Soviet High
Command to avoid clashes wherever possible. Thus, throughout the whole of southern
Hungary, from Békéscsaba in the east to Kérmend in the west - with the notable exception of
Pécs - there was no actual fighting during the revolution. The absence of resistance was due to
a variety of reasons:

(a) In the towns and villages where no Soviet or Hungarian troops were stationed, the
Revolutionary Councils which came into being between 25 and 30 October could not secure
any weapons. In most cases there was no immediate need for them, as the local members of the
AVH had complied with the request that they turn over their offices and remain in their homes.
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At the time of the second intervention, these Revolutionary Councils had no weapons in store
with which to effect armed resistance;

(b) In such towns as Szeged, where troops were usually garrisoned, special steps had been
taken by Soviet Intelligence to neutralize the senior officers of the Hungarian Army. It was
thus possible for the Soviet troops to ensure from the outset that no weapons reached the
insurgents. This was also the case in Kecskemét, where the commander of the Hungarian
garrison, who was a Soviet-trained officer, had taken the necessary measures to keep his unit
as such inactive during the uprising.

205. A full account of events throughout the country would run to great length, nor would it
add to the conclusion that, irrespective of the degree or duration of military resistance by the
Hungarian people, the overwhelming majority of them were determined to see their demands
put into effect. The description here given will therefore be limited to the events in a few
provincial centres which are broadly representative of what happened in the provinces during
the second intervention.(5)

206. At Pécs, the chief city of Baranya county, and an important centre due to its proximity
to the uranium mines, nothing of any military significance occurred between 23 October and 1
November. The AVH did open fire on the first demonstrators, but during a second
demonstration on 1 November, it was forced to surrender and the Revolutionary Council took
over all the functions previously discharged by Communist Party officials. A declaration of
policy drawn up by the Council demanded as its first point the withdrawal of the Soviet troops.
It also called for the exploitation of the uranium mines by the Hungarian State.(6) On the
evening of 1 November, the Soviet officials of the uranium mines were asked to leave with
their families; they were sent by truck to Szekszard, where some Soviet units were stationed.
During the next two days, everything was quiet at Pécs and the Revolutionary Council went to
work to reorganize the various public services. After 1 November, however, reports regarding
the systematic build up of Soviet troops at Dombovar, some 25 kilometres north of Pécs,
created an atmosphere of anxiety. Before the Russians returned, the uranium mines were
flooded.

207. By the evening of 3 November, it was obvious that the Soviet troops intended to take
military action against the insurgents. The commander of the Hungarian forces in Pécs, who
had originally agreed to fight in case of a Soviet attack, decided during the night to disarm his
troops. The Revolutionary Council, in order to avoid the destruction of the city, resolved to
resist in the hilly regions surrounding Pécs. On the morning of 4 November, the Soviet troops
took over the city. In the mean time, some 5,000 volunteers - mostly miners and students
carrying arms and ammunition - joined the insurgents in the Mecsek mountains. The Soviet
troops made numerous sorties against the positions of the insurgents but, owing to the mobility
of the latter and their lightning guerrilla tactics, the Soviet troops suffered many casualties and,
for some three weeks, were unable to subdue the insurgents. On the 8th, the insurgents
attacked a convoy and killed the Commander of the Soviet forces. Day by day they harassed
the Soviet troops by commando raids and, though the insurgents had lost many men, it was
mainly lack of ammunition that forced them to give up the fight and escape across the border
to Yugoslavia. The Committee was informed by two witnesses that many of the Hungarian
wounded, who were to be sent down from the mountain hospital by Red Cross ambulances,
never reached their destination alive. One witness stated that two wounded freedom fighters
were taken out of a truck by Soviet troops, made to kneel in a public square with their hands
tied behind their backs and were then shot with a sub-machine gun. This isolated instance,
however, could not be checked by the Committee.
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208. The events during the uprising at the important industrial centre of Dunapentele are
particularly noteworthy because of the representative character of its population. After the
war, it rapidly developed from a small village into an industrial city under the name of
Sztalinvaros. Steel foundries, iron works and chemical industries caused its industrial
population to grow to 28,000 by 1956. It was the most important experiment undertaken by
the Party in its industrialization programme and was considered to be one of the main
strongholds of Communism. On 24 October the workers decided to follow the example of
Budapest. They organized a Revolutionary Council to represent them and established
Workers® Councils in the various factories. The next day, during a demonstration, the AVH
opened fire on the crowd, killing 8 people and wounding 28. During the next two days, there
was more fighting with the AVH, who were now barricaded in the Army barracks. On the
29th, a helicopter landed on the barrack-ground and a Soviet official with his family, the senior
officers of the AVH and two senior Hungarian officers were flown away. Shortly afterwards, a
deputation from the barracks declared that the Army was on the side of the revolution.

209. The following days were spent in organizing the activities of the Revolutionary Council
and in the military training of some 800 workers. Radio “Rakdczi”, which was transmitting
from Dunapentele after 4 November, was repeatedly heard asking for assistance in weapons
and equipment. It called on Radio Free Europe to pass on these appeals for outside assistance
against the Soviet intervention and also retransmitted the appeals of other “free” Hungarian
stations. On the 5th, Radio “Rakoczi” appealed to the International Red Cross for medical
supplies. On the 6th, a Russian armoured unit stopped on the outskirts of the town and asked
for the surrender of the insurgents. The commanding officer, with an AVH interpreter, was
escorted into the town and met the leaders of the Revolutionary Council. It was pointed out to
him that the insurgents were not “fascists” or “capitalist agents” but principally workers, many
of whom had been staunch supporters of the Communist Party. To convince him of this he was
asked to hear two card-bearing members of the Party from the crowd which was assembled
outside. These men explained that they had been taught to believe that the Soviet Union
defended human rights and was the liberator of the peoples. They declared they wanted now to
be free of Soviet intervention and had demanded the abolition of the AVH. When the Soviet
officer stated that he had to carry out his orders, the two Communist freedom fighters tore up
their Party cards and threw them at his feet. The Soviet Commander withdrew, stating that he
would take no action against Dunapentele until he received new orders. Nevertheless, the next
day - 7 November - the Soviet forces attacked the town from three directions using a large
armoured force, self-propelled guns and a tactical air force. The battle lasted all day, but the
freedom fighters held strongly organized positions and were able to withstand the onslaught.
By the evening of 8 November, the ammunition had been exhausted and most of the fighters
were ordered to go into hiding. Some 300 men with small arms managed to escape during the
night. They continued armed resistance in the countryside until 11 November when it was
decided to disperse, as any further resistance appeared to be futile.

210. It was reported that during the fighting in Dunapentele the factories did not suffer as
much as the living quarters of the population, where considerable damage was done by
bombing. The freedom fighters lost 240 men during the fighting; 12 tanks and 8 armoured cars
of the Soviet forces were destroyed. Witnesses stated before the Committee that the purpose
of the workers’ resistance in Dunapentele was to demonstrate that all Hungarians wanted to
see their country freed from external domination. Witnesses were emphatic in pointing out
that, irrespective of creed or party affiliation, the factory workers, with the officers and men of
the garrison, were entirely united in their objectives and that throughout the period 25 October
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to 8 November no one, except the members of the AVH, dissented from the policies of the
Revolutionary Council.

211. In the county of Veszprém, northwest of Lake Balaton, the Revolutionary Council,
having consolidated its position by 26 October, concerned itself principally with political and
administrative matters, as military questions appeared to be less pressing. There had been no
fighting in the county with Soviet troops during the first intervention except at Varpalota,
where the miners, in attacking the AVH, had also killed three Soviet political advisers.
However, the Veszprém Revolutionary Council assisted in the formulation of a co-ordinated
policy with the other Transdanubian provincial councils, for the purpose of creating a military
command to protect Transdanubia in case of a second military intervention. Its first act was to
purge from its membership four of the five officers who had been originally elected, on
suspicion of maintaining contacts with the Soviet forces; it elected instead a soldier and the
head of the County Police, thus setting up, according to the testimony received, a Council
which was truly representative of all sections of the population of the province. The next three
days were devoted to political negotiations for the resumption of work and for the
organization of the National Guard. By Saturday, 3 November, however, the systematic build-
up of the Soviet forces within the county had become so apparent that the National Guard,
consisting of students, workers and soldiers, made hasty preparations in the city of Veszprém
in anticipation of a Soviet attack. This attack came at 5 a.m. the next morning. For two and a
half days the National Guard, be sieged in the old city of Veszprém, fought against greatly
superior Soviet forces which had launched the attack from three directions. By midday of 6
November, the ammunition of the insurgents was exhausted. About 40 Hungarians and
possibly an equal number of Russians had lost their lives. The battle caused considerable
destruction in the city, including damage to buildings of historical and artistic significance.
Most of the insurgents were able to escape and attempted to hide their small arms. However,
by the evening Soviet trucks were being loaded with students seized from their homes and
taken to unknown destinations.(7) According to the evidence, by 1 December none of these
students had been returned. At the end of the battle, it was reported that some Soviet troops,
in a spirit of revenge, entered the University buildings and destroyed the chemical equipment in
the laboratory.

212. At Miskolc, the university and industrial city of northeast Hungary, military action
during the second Soviet intervention differed in some respects from that in western Hungary.
This no doubt can be attributed to the presence in the area of Soviet troops who were moving
constantly in and out of the city, since Miskolc is on one of the arterial roads between
Budapest and the north-eastern frontiers. The presence of the Soviet troops tended to make it
impossible for the insurgents to organize a resistance plan based on the city itself. This same
problem confronted the insurgents of other cities in eastern Hungary, and as there was no time
for organized resistance in the countryside, armed resistance in eastern Hungary did not endure
as long as in Pécs, Dunapentele and Veszprém. The passage of troops through the city in the
early morning of Sunday, 4 November, was not unusual, and the attack against the University
buildings, one of the principal centres of the uprising in the city, was to some extent a surprise.
The students fought for about one hour with whatever weapons had been given them. Several
students were killed and the Soviet troops also suffered a number of casualties. The Committee
was told that, when the fighting was over, many students were seized by the Soviet troops and
taken to an unknown destination. On the other hand, troops of the National Guard, who were
fighting through the day in Miskolc and the Hejécsaba district, retreated towards the Biikk
mountains. In the city itself fighting went on until the afternoon when the Revolutionary
Council of Borsod County was obliged to capitulate.
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213.  From various sources of information, including radio reports emanating both from the
“free” stations within Hungary and from those coming under the control of Soviet forces, it is
possible to conclude that the Soviet troops during the night of 3 to 4 November advanced in a
forced march from Dunaféldvar and possibly Baja towards Kaposvar and Nagykanizsa which
were captured with little or no resistance. From Szombathely northwards there was fighting
throughout the day of 4 November. Battles took place in the north at Gydr, on the Gydr-
Sopron road and on the Gydr Hegyeshalom road against parachute troops and forces crossing
the Czechoslovak frontier possibly through Rajka. At Komarom on the Danube, Hungarian
military units with freedom fighters fought throughout the day against powerful Soviet units
attacking from Hungarian territory and from Czechoslovakia across the Danube bridge. At
Tatabanya, the miners fought with weapons which they had received from the Army. At
Székesfehérvar, the Hungarian military garrison, after breaking through the Soviet
encirclement, moved to positions in the Vértes mountains, while others proceeded southwest
towards the Bakony mountains. There they established bases for guerrilla operations against
Soviet troop movements along the highways connecting Budapest with western Hungary. The
students of the Zrinyi Military Academy of Budapest and the Budapest armoured brigade
fought valiantly in the Matra mountains against an armoured division. The information
regarding the crossing of the Danube by Soviet troops at other points east of Komarom is
considered unreliable in view of the fact that for a period of more than ten days various
Hungarian units were able to move from the northeast between the Biikk and Matra mountains
across the Danube to the south-western chain of the Vértes mountains.

214.  The fighting round the Danubian military centres of Szolnok, Kecskemét and Kalocsa is
illustrative of the Soviet control exercised over the Hungarian Army. These three garrisons
were, throughout the period of the revolution, under the command of pro-Soviet officers. As
the strength of the Soviet troops was increasing from 1 November, the Hungarian garrisons
were unable to assist the local National Guard as other garrisons had been able to do. At the
outbreak of hostilities on 4 November, the barracks at Szolnok were surrounded and the
Soviet tanks inflicted many casualties on the Hungarian troops who were taken by surprise. At
Kecskemét and Kalocsa there was no fighting in the town, but a number of officers and men
were able to break through the encirclement, and for many days fought with the freedom
fighters in the Danubian plain, inflicting damage on the Soviet forces and supplies moving on
the highways.

F. Conclusions

215. A survey of the movement of Soviet forces in Hungary during the period from 29
October to 4 November shows that, irrespective of the assurances given to Premier Nagy by
Soviet political personalities, there existed a definite plan for the re-conquest and military
subjugation of Hungary. This plan in fact was carried through fully. Contrary to the
contentions of the Soviet Government that the Hungarian revolution was inspired by capitalist
elements residing outside Hungary, the Committee cannot but conclude that the Hungarian
resistance to the second Soviet intervention was a heroic demonstration of the will of the
Hungarian people to fight for their national independence.
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(1)Chapter XI, paras. 511 and 559.

(2)Ibid., para. 522.

(3)Chapter XIII, para. 597.

(4)Chapter XI, paras. 518-521.

(5)Regarding developments in other cities, chapter XI, paras. 497-498.
(6)Chapter IX, para. 416.

(7)Chapter XV, para. 723.

(8)The Committee is not in possession of what it would regard as reliable figures for the casualties that occurred during the
Hungarian uprising. From an official Hungarian source [Statisztikai Szemle, (Statistical Review), issue number 11-12,
Volume XXXIV, of November-December 1956, p. 929], it is stated that the number of all registered deaths from October
through December 1956 was 27,400, i.e., 10 percent higher than in the same months of 1955. The number of people who
died in the fighting, according to this source, can be estimated at some 1,800-2,000 in Budapest and 2,500-3,000 in the
whole country. Among those who died in the fighting between 23 October and 30 November and whose deaths had been
registered up to 1 January 1957, 84 per cent were men and 16 per cent women. More than one-fifth of these people were
under twenty years of age, 28 per cent were between twenty and twenty-nine years old, 15 per cent between forty and forty-
nine. In the provinces, the greatest number of deaths in the fighting occurred in the counties of Pest, Gyér-Sopron, Fejér
and Bacs-Kiskun.

The same official Hungarian source has stated that about 13,000 wounded (11,500 in Budapest) were treated in hospitals
and clinics up to the end of November. In addition, doctors, ambulances and first-aid stations are said to have rendered
first-aid to a large number of slightly wounded people. It is possible that the above figures do not present a complete
picture. Some sources have placed the number of dead and wounded far above that suggested by the Hungarian
Government. Speaking in the Indian Parliament on 13 December, Mr. Nehru said that, from such information as he had
received, “it would appear that about 25,000 Hungarians and about 7,000 Russians died in the fighting”. The Committee,
however, received the impression that this figure may well be too high. On many occasions, efforts were made by the
Committee to obtain precise knowledge of the casualties occasioned by the uprising. This did not prove to be possible, and
it may well be some time before accurate figures are available. According to a doctor in the biggest hospital, 80% of the
wounded were saved.
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Chapter VI
THE POLITICAL CIRCUMSTANCES
OF THE FIRST MILITARY INTERVENTION

A. Introduction

216. In its Interim Report the Committee pointed out that further investigation was called
for as to the exact circumstances and timing of the “decision” to invite the assistance of Soviet
troops. As explained in that report, Imre Nagy’s nomination as Chairman of the Council of
Ministers on Wednesday morning, 24 October, was announced over the radio before the
announcement of the call for Soviet assistance; and in a broadcast address in the evening of 25
October, Mr. Nagy referred to the intervention of Soviet troops as “necessitated by the vital
interests of our socialist order”. However, in a statement of 30 October and in subsequent
statements Mr. Nagy denied responsibility for, or cognizance of, the decision to invite the
Soviet forces.

217. The Committee has looked carefully into the significance of these denials. Mr. Nagy
was in fact not yet Prime Minister when, in the early hours of 24 October, the first Soviet tanks
arrived in Budapest to quell the uprising. Quite apart from this, the Committee has received
evidence that, for almost three days after he was appointed Prime Minister, Mr. Nagy was
Prime Minister in name only: he was in fact not present at the Office of the Prime Minister in
the Parliament but was detained in the Communist Party Headquarters.

B. The popularity of Imre Nagy

218. Mr. Imre Nagy, who is sixty-three years old and of peasant stock, became a member of
the Communist Party in 1918, and had to leave Hungary during the Horthy régime. He lived in
Moscow for about fifteen years until he returned to Budapest with the Soviet Army in 1944,
and was appointed Minister of Agriculture in the first post-war Government; in this capacity he
implemented the land reform. He became Minister of the Interior in November 1945 and later
held other portfolios. In July 1953, after Stalin’s death, he became Prime Minister, replacing
Stalin’s protégé .Rékosi. During his time as Prime Minister he succeeded in improving the life
of the workers and peasants by slowing down the expansion of heavy industry, by stopping
forcible collectivization and the persecution of the “kulaks”. But what perhaps made him even
more popular was that he took a firm and effective stand against the illegalities of the police
and the judiciary, and condemned unlawful administrative methods and excesses and crimes
committed by the Government and the Communist Party officials. He succeeded in having a
large number of the survivors released. Conditions for other political prisoners were improved
and enforced displacements inside Hungary were brought to an end.

219. Mr. Hegediis took over as Prime Minister in April 1955, and Mr. Nagy was
immediately expelled from the Politburo and later from the Party. In the beginning, he lived
more or less in retirement, but later he began to write and established contacts with
intellectuals, peasants and workers. Inside the Communist Party he thus became a leader for
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the anti-Stalinist groups and the advocate of a policy of liberalization. He was admired beyond
the limited circle of Communists. Several non-Communist witnesses stated to the Committee
that, though he was a Communist, they still considered him to be “a good Hungarian”, and an
honest, able and courageous man, though, some said, a poor politician. Mr. Nagy appears to
be endowed with certain warm human qualities which appealed to the masses.

220. On 4 October he sent a letter to the Central Committee(1) in which he demanded to be
reinstated in the Party. Expelled - so he affirmed - in violation of the Party’s statutes, he asked
that ideological and political accusations against him should be discussed in public before a
leading Party forum. In the course of this debate, he was ready to acknowledge his real errors,
while calling for the rectification of unfounded accusations. Evoking his forty years’ activity
within the Party, Mr. Nagy declared his agreement with the Party’s main political line: that the
entire national economy should be based on socialism in the spirit of Marxism-Leninism, but in
accordance with the special conditions existing in Hungary. He was equally in agreement with
the Leninist principle of democratic centralism: as a member of the Party, it was his duty to
bow before its decisions, even if he did not agree with them. Finally, he was in agreement in
principle with the objectives of the Central Committee’s resolution of July 1956 looking
towards socialist democracy in the spirit of the 20th Congress of the Communist Party of the
USSR, and although differing in opinion on certain points, he held the resolution to be binding
on him. Mr. Nagy’s position had already become a focal point in the discussions going on
amongst the intellectuals and students during the months preceding the uprising. He was in fact
re-admitted to the Party on 13 October and shortly afterwards to his Chair as Professor of
Agricultural Economy; but this did not satisfy the public. It became one of the demands
adopted by the students and the writers on 22-23 October, that Mr. Nagy should be included in
the Government and again become a member of the Politburo.(2)

C. Doubts arise about Mr. Nagy’s position

221. On Tuesday evening, 23 October, Mr. Nagy and his son-in-law, Ferenc Janosi, a
Protestant Minister, were brought to the Parliament by some friends in response to the
persistent demand of the people crowded before the Parliament Building that they wanted to
see Imre Nagy. Upon Mr. Nagy’s arrival, Ferenc Erdei asked him to try to calm the crowd.
Mr. Nagy’s short address was not too well received, perhaps partly because few seemed able
to hear him. A little later that evening, shortly after 9 p.m., the shooting began at the Radio
Building (3)

222.  Everything the Hungarian public learnt about Mr. Nagy during the next few days was
gathered from the radio. It was the content and the arrangement of the radio reports and
announcements which caused doubts with regard to Mr. Nagy’s position.

223.  Ermd Gerd, the First Secretary of the Central Committee of the Hungarian Workers’
(Communist) Party, in his radio speech at 8 p.m. on 23 October,(4) which infuriated the people
of Budapest, had stated that the Politburo decided to convene the Central Committee during
the next few days.(5) However, at 10.22 p.m. the same evening, after the beginning of the
shooting, it was announced that the Central Committee would meet immediately in order to
discuss what action to take. This announcement was preceded by a statement that “Comrade
Imre Nagy is now conferring with youth delegates and several deputies”.
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224.  The radio made no mention of the fighting until early Wednesday morning at 4.30 a.m.
on 24 October, when an announcement allegedly signed by the Council of Ministers was
broadcast. It stated that “Fascist, reactionary elements have launched an armed attack on our
public buildings and on our armed security formations ...Until further measures are taken, all
meetings, gatherings and marches are banned ...” The same announcement was read over the
radio twice during the next few hours; however, the word “Fascist” was replaced by the word
“Counter-revolutionary”.

225. At 8.13 on Wednesday morning an official statement was broadcast to the effect that
the Central Committee had recommended that the Praesidium of the People’s Republic elect
Mr. Nagy as Chairman of the Council of Ministers while Mr. Hegediis was to be come First
Deputy Chairman instead of Prime Minister.(6) It was also announced that Mr. Nagy had been
elected member of the Politburo of the Central Committee of the Communist Party. It was not
clear from the announcement whether the Praesidium had already elected Mr. Nagy Prime
Minister, or if so, at what time he had taken over his functions.(7) However, half an hour later,
at 8.45 a.m. an announcement was read over the Radio which was said to be signed by “Imre
Nagy, Chairman of the Council of Ministers”. It stated that:

“The Council of Ministers ... has ordered that summary jurisdiction shall be applied
throughout the country to acts calculated to overthrow the People’s Republic and to acts of
revolt; incitement, appeal and conspiracy to revolt; murder; manslaughter; arson; possession of
explosives; crimes committed with explosives; indirect crimes; the use of force against the
official authorities; the use of force against private individuals and the illegal possession of
arms. Crimes in the categories coming under summary jurisdiction are punishable by death.
This order comes into force immediately.”

226. Fifteen minutes later, at 9.00 a.m., another announcement was read declaring that “the
dastardly armed attack of counter-revolutionary gangs during the night has created an
extremely serious situation... The Governmental organs were unprepared for these bloody
dastardly attacks, and have therefore applied for help to the Soviet formations stationed in
Hungary under the terms of the Warsaw Treaty’’.(8) The Government also appealed to the
inhabitants to keep calm and to support everywhere the Hungarian and Soviet troops who
were maintaining order. The statement concluded: “The liquidation of the counter-
revolutionary gangs is the most sacred cause of every honest Hungarian worker.” There was
no indication given as to the source of this official announcement or as to whose signature, if
any, it bore; but many listeners received apparently the impression that it was an announcement
of the new Imre Nagy Government, since it was made shortly after the announcement
regarding the establishment of this Government and the broadcast of the decree of summary
jurisdiction which was said to be signed by Mr. Nagy.

227. Several witnesses have stated that they felt immediately that this was a fraud, since the
Russian tanks had appeared in Budapest and had participated in the fighting hours before these
announcements. For some it was particularly difficult to believe that Imre Nagy, who had been
a champion of legality, should have signed the decree under which the mere possession of arms
would come under summary jurisdiction and be punishable by death. However, it is certain that
even many of those who had admired Mr. Nagy began to feel uncertain about his true feelings.
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228.  Their suspicion increased when at noon they heard Mr. Nagy address the nation over
the radio as follows:

“People of Budapest, I inform you that all those who, in the interest of avoiding further
bloodshed, lay down their arms and cease fighting by 2 p.m. today will be exempted from
prosecution under summary jurisdiction. At the same time, I state that, using all the means at
our disposal, we will realize as soon as possible the systematic democratization of our country
in every field of Party, State, political and economic life on the basis of the June 1953
Programme. Heed our appeal, stop fighting and secure the restoration of calm and order in the
interest of the future of our people and our country ...”

229.  Mr. Nagy in this address also spoke about “hostile elements” who had “joined the ranks
of peacefully demonstrating Hungarian youth” and “turned against the People’s Democracy,
against the power of the people”. He asked listeners to “line up behind the Party, line up
behind the Government”. This speech strengthened the impression that Mr. Nagy actually had
signed the decree of summary jurisdiction and was in full control.

230. More doubt was sown when Mr. Nagy made another radio speech next afternoon, 25
October, at 3.25 p.m. shortly after it had been announced that Mr. Kédar had replaced Mr.
Gerd as First Secretary of the Central Committee of the Party. He said:

“In this address as Premier, I wish to announce that the Hungarian Government will initiate
negotiations on the relations between the Hungarian People’s Republic and the Soviet Union,
and, among other things, concerning the withdrawal of the Soviet forces stationed in Hungary.
These talks will be carried out on the basis of Soviet-Hungarian friendship, proletarian
internationalism and equality and national in dependence between Communist Parties and
Socialist countries. I am convinced that Hungarian-Soviet relations resting on this basis will
provide a firm ground work for the future friendship between our peoples, for our national
development and our Socialist future. The recall of those Soviet forces, whose intervention in
the fighting has been necessitated by the vital interests of our Socialist order, will take place
without delay after the restoration of peace and order.”

231. The phrase: “has been necessitated by the vital interests of our Socialist order” was
obviously apt to create the impression that Mr. Nagy was at least in sympathy with the
invitation to the Russian forces.

232. The many appeals, which during the first days of the uprising were issued by Prime
Minister Nagy, or at least in his name, to the workers and the students to cease fighting, had
little effect, partly on account of the doubts which had arisen with regard to Mr. Nagy’s
integrity and true position. It might well be that Mr. Nagy could have stopped the fighting at a
much earlier stage, if it had not been for the compromising position in which Mr. Gerd had
placed him in linking his name with the invitation to the Soviet forces and the decree of
summary jurisdiction. Witnesses explained to the Committee how it took many visits of
delegations of students, workers and other fighters to Mr. Nagy, and long discussions with
him, to restore their confidence; it was not until the last days of October that most of them
recognized him as the leader and heeded his appeals to re-establish order.(9)
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D. Delegations’ limited access to Prime Minister Nagy before 29 October

233. A delegation from the Hungarian Writers” Union attempted to find Mr. Nagy in the
Parliament Building during the critical night between 23 and 24 October, but was refused
admission to see him. The radio stated at 10.03 on Tuesday evening that “Comrade Imre Nagy
is now holding discussions with youth representatives and several deputies”, but there is no
indication that this was correct. In fact, it is known to the Committee, as will be described in
detail later in this chapter that Mr. Nagy at that time was kept incommunicado in the
Communist Party Headquarters in Akadémia Street; and it appears that no delegation had the
opportunity to see him until the early evening of Thursday, 25 October. A meeting then
occurred in unusual circumstances. The account of this meeting and of subsequent meetings
with Mr. Nagy will be given for the light which they throw on the problem of the extent to
which Mr. Nagy was a free agent at this juncture.

234. The meeting on 25 October took place as follows: Some of the demonstrators had
taken over a printing plant, the Red Spark, to print the sixteen points which were distributed all
over the city.(10) They had elected six representatives to take charge of the press, and it was
decided that four of these should bring a printed copy of the sixteen points to Prime Minister
Nagy. After contacting Communist Party Headquarters, they were taken by armed guards to
the cellar of the Headquarters building, where they were interrogated. They indicated that they
were representatives of the workers of Ujpest and Angyalfsld who wanted to speak to Imre
Nagy. After a moment, Mr. Nagy appeared and sat down at a table facing the delegation;
behind him, according to the evidence, were fourteen or fifteen persons armed with sub-
machine guns.

235. After having read the sixteen points, Mr. Nagy said that they were all part of his
programme, that the four delegates should feel reassured and go home and attempt to calm the
crowd, because they were going to achieve all the points. The delegation was not satisfied. Mr.
Nagy was asked whether the date of 30 December for the withdrawal of the Soviet troops was
part of his programme. He replied that they should be grateful to the Soviet authorities, and
that withdrawal was not a simple matter; it was so nad’ve to ask for a definite date. The
delegation asked when the AVH would be demobilized and that criminals among them brought
to trial before legal courts. Mr. Nagy answered that the Security Police Organization had to be
reformed and reorganized; this was part of his programme, but they should not put forward
such a demand; the delegation should have confidence in him, because he was as good a
Hungarian as they were. At this and other points in his speech, according to the witnesses, Mr.
Nagy implied doubt as to whether what he said was really what was in his mind.

236. The next day, Friday, 26 October, in the early evening, another delegation saw Mr.
Nagy. The Chairman of the Revolutionary Council of South Budapest, who was a member of
this delegation, has testified to the Special Committee about this later meeting which took
place in the Parliament Building; Mr. Nagy - as will be described later - had just been able to
move there from the Communist Party Headquarters after Mr. Geré and Mr. Hegedlis had
fled.(11) The delegation consisted of eight members, including several workers, a university
student, a grocer and a farmer. Besides Mr. Nagy, his son-in-law, Mr. Janosi, and Mr. Erdei
were present, and also two other people who were not introduced, and who, as the delegation
later found out, were members of the AVH.

237. The Committee presented Mr. Nagy with a memorandum from South Budapest. It
contained the demands which were being expressed by Revolutionary and Workers’ Councils
all over the country - withdrawal of Soviet troops; renunciation of the Warsaw Pact; abolition
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of the AVH; organization of political parties; free elections; and the establishment of a
coalition Government under Mr. Nagy. Mr. Nagy read aloud several of the points, but received
the delegation somewhat coldly. He promised nevertheless to carry out their demands as far as
possible. As to free elections, these would have to be delayed until the question could be
discussed by the Parliament. The delegation replied that, since this Parliament had been elected
on the basis of a single list of candidates, it was in no position to decide whether there should
be free elections. Mr. Nagy made no answer to this observation.

238. Two days later, on Sunday, 28 October, when the delegation again saw Mr. Nagy, the
AVH guards in civilian clothes were still present, but he was re ported to be more at ease and
to have declared that he thought he would be able to effect a cease-fire on the basis that the
Soviet forces should leave Budapest; the Government would start negotiations about complete
withdrawal of Soviet troops; the competence of the Revolutionary Councils would be
recognized by the Government; the Workers’ Councils would be set up in factories and the
political parties would he re-established; as to free elections, Parliament would have to discuss
this further. Mr. Nagy emphasized that, in his opinion, the new course would have to be based
on socialism founded on Marxism, and that there could be no question of a rightist deviation.

239.  On 29 October, the Chairman of the South Budapest Revolutionary Council again went
to see Mr. Nagy because he had received reports that, after the cease-fire had been announced,
new Soviet troops were crossing the Hungarian border from Romania and Czechoslovakia. At
the beginning of this meeting, Mr. Nagy pointed out that the delegation would notice that the
two people in civilian clothes were no longer present; they had been observers from the AVH,
who had guarded him until the AVH had been disbanded;(12) this was the first opportunity that
he had had to speak to a delegation without his speech being observed and controlled by the
Communist Party through the AVH. He could give them no assurance, he said, that the Soviet
troops would leave Budapest, because it did not depend on him. He also asked the delegation
to be careful not to demand too much because thereby all would be lost; the USSR would then
fear that Hungary would leave the Communist axis, and would simply refuse to withdraw.

240. During this period up to 28 October, Mr. Nagy was reported by Radio Budapest and
Radio Miskolc to have received three other delegations, including a delegation of the workers
of Borsod County. These reports, however, throw no light on the question of control exercised
over Mr. Nagy.

E. Mr. Nagy’s denials

241. During the meeting just described on 29 October, Mr. Nagy was asked according to
testimony, how he could find the calling in of the Soviet troops compatible with his conscience.
Mr. Nagy then pointed out to the witness that it would in fact have been impossible for him to
have called in the Soviet troops, since they had arrived in Budapest around or even before the
time that he was appointed Prime Minister. Mr. Nagy also stated to the witness that the first
addresses that he made over the radio after he became Prime Minister were made with a gun at
his back. Other witnesses testified that they had heard Mr. Nagy make the same statement.

242. The first public explanation of the position of Mr. Nagy was given in an article in one
of the students’ revolutionary publications(13) on 29 October, which stated that Mr. Nagy had
been separated from the people by the “Gerd clique” which had issued orders in his name and
without his knowledge, and had prevented him from acting; now that he was a free agent, his
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action would justify the opinion that he was a good Hungarian and “the man of our
revolution”. The invitation to the Soviet military forces was attributed in the article to Mr.
Nagy’s predecessor as Prime Minister, Mr. Hegediis. On 30 October the following
announcement was broadcast:

“Hungarians! To our common grief and our common shame, two official decrees have been the
source of passionate upheaval and of much bloodshed. The first was the calling to Budapest of
the Soviet troops; the other was the disgraceful imposition of summary jurisdiction ... Before
history, and fully conscious of our responsibility, we herewith declare that Imre Nagy,
President of the Council of Ministers, had no knowledge of these two decisions. Imre Nagy’s
signature is neither on the resolution of the Council of Ministers asking for Soviet military aid,
nor on the decree proclaiming summary jurisdiction. These two decrees are on the consciences
of Andras Hegediis and Erndé Gerd. They bear full responsibility for them before the nation and
before history!”

243.  The next day, Wednesday, 31 October, the radio repeatedly reported an address which
Mr. Nagy had made the same afternoon to “a vast crowd” in Kossuth Square, in which he said:

“My dear friends: We are living in the first days of our sovereignty and independence. We
eliminated tremendous obstacles from our way. We have expelled the Rakosi-Gerd clique from
the country. They will answer for their crimes. They even tried to besmirch me by spreading
the lie that it was I who called the Russian troops into the country. This is an infamous lie. The
Imre Nagy who is the champion of Hungarian sovereignty, Hungarian freedom and Hungarian
independence did not call in these troops. On the contrary, it was he who fought for their
withdrawal.”

244. In the evening the radio also reported that the Students’ Revolutionary Council, under
the watchword “Our trust lies in Imre Nagy”, had issued a leaflet which stated as follows:

“Confidence was shaken for two or three days but is now stronger than ever. It has come to
light that for two days Imre Nagy was a prisoner of the AVH and made his first broadcast
statement with an automatic pistol pointed at his back. His recent statement revealed that it
was not he who ordered summary jurisdiction and the intervention of Soviet troops. Gangsters
of the Rakosi-Gerd type made this allegation to bring about his downfall.”

The leaflet demanded that Mr. Nagy should take steps to ensure the withdrawal of Soviet
troops from Hungary and concluded: “As Imre Nagy satisfies the people’s legitimate demands,
so will our confidence in him grow.”

245. The same evening Radio Vienna broadcast a taped interview in German with Mr. Nagy,
transcribed the same afternoon in Budapest, in which, in answering a number of questions, he
declared that it was not he who had invited the Soviet troops to move into Budapest, nor had
he subsequently approved of their invitation.

F. Mr. Nagy’s detention in the Communist Party headquarters

246. The Committee has received detailed eyewitness testimony about the events which
took place in the Communist Party Headquarters in Akadémia Street from the morning of
Wednesday, 24 October, when Prime Minister Nagy was brought there, to Friday afternoon,
26 October, when Mr. Gerd and Mr. Hegedis left the building in Soviet tanks.

75



247.  After Mr. Nagy had unsuccessfully addressed the crowds in front of the Parliament on
Tuesday evening, 23 October,(14) he was asked to see Prime Minister Hegediis. Mr. Hegediis
was one of his worst enemies, but after some hesitation, Mr. Nagy went to Mr. Hegediis’
room. There he met Mr. Gerd, who attacked him bitterly, saying that what was happening was
of Mr. Nagy’s own making and that “now you can stew in your own juice”. Mr. Nagy
protested and pointed out that on several occasions he had told the Party and the Government
not to play with fire. A violent argument ensued. Mr. Nagy was then asked to go with the
Communist leaders to the Party Headquarters, but refused to do so, since he was not a member
of the Politburo; he demanded in this connexion to be rehabilitated in front of the people
against the calumnies of the Party leaders. However, when he descended the stairs, he and his
son-in-law, Mr. Janosi, were taken in a car to Party Headquarters in the neighbouring
Akadémia Street.

248. It is not clear at what time on Wednesday morning Mr. Nagy was told that he had been
made Chairman of the Council of Ministers. However, witnesses have reported that he stated
to them that he protested against becoming Prime Minister.

249. During Wednesday, Thursday and most of Friday, 24, 25 and 26 October, Mr. Nagy
was, according to the evidence received by the Special Committee, in the Party Headquarters.
During the first part of this period he was not allowed to see anyone from the outside, nor to
receive or make any telephone calls. He was, during part of this time, kept locked in a room
with his son-in-law.

250. Reports were received in the hours before noon on Wednesday, 24 October that armed
demonstrators were moving towards Parliament and the Party Headquarters. Mr. Ger6 became
disturbed in spite of the fact that both buildings were protected by Soviet tanks. According to a
witness, he dictated a speech and handed it out to Mr. Nagy, saying: “Go and read this into the
tape recorder.” Mr. Nagy read the text and is reported to have declared that he would never
make such a speech, even if his refusal cost him his life. According to a witness, the opening
words were, “You rebel fascist bandits”, and the text continued with similar abusive words and
included references to martial law.

251.  Meanwhile, more and more reports were coming in showing the increasing seriousness
of the situation. Mr. Gerd, in a somewhat different tone, then asked Mr. Nagy why he did not
make some changes in the text himself. Mr. Nagy did so, and the draft went back and forth
several times between him and Mr. Gerd and was amended. Mr. Nagy then made the modified
speech into a tape recorder, and the tape was immediately taken to be broadcast.

252. Mr. Nagy’s address, which was broadcast during the evening of 25 October, was made
by the tape recorder under similar circumstances. Mr. Nagy is alleged to have again refused to
read the draft prepared by the Party leaders and consented only after a number of changes had
been made.

253. During Wednesday, Thursday and Friday, Mr. A. Suslov, Member of the Praesidium of
the Central Committee of the Soviet Communist Party, and Mr. A. 1. Mikoyan, Soviet Vice-
Premier, came several times for discussions with Mr. Ger6 and other Party leaders. In spite of
the fact that it had been announced Wednesday morning that Mr. Nagy had been appointed
Prime Minister and elected member of the Politburo, he did not, according to witnesses,
participate in these conferences and was only called in for a few minutes at the end of the
meetings to be told the results.
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254.  On Thursday, 25 October, Mr. Suslov and Mr. Mikoyan held a meeting with Party
leaders just about the time the crowd was assembling before the Parliament Building
demanding to see Mr. Nagy. Great confusion and panic were caused at the Party
Headquarters. The AVH gave assurances that they would defend the leaders and prepared a
room in the cellar; thither the conference was transferred. It was on this occasion that it was
decided that Mr. Kadar should replace Mr. Gerd as First Secretary of the Party. This change,
however, according to a witness, had little effect inside the building. Mr. Kadar seemed to have
no authority, and Mr. Gerd continued to make the decisions and to speak to Mr. Nagy and
everyone else in the same tone as previously.

255.  During Friday, 26 October, reports came in that an increasing number of people were
joining the fighting and that more and more towns in the provinces had begun to rise,
especially in the industrial centres. Mr. Gerd and Mr. Hegediis became increasingly nervous.
None of the Party leaders had left the Headquarters until then, but had slept in the offices.
During the afternoon, first Mr. Hegediis and then Mr. Gerd left the building. They took care to
leave in such a way that they would not immediately be missed. It was later reported that they
had been taken away in Soviet tanks. Press reports, which the Committee have been unable to
verify, have stated that they were taken to Moscow. So far as the Committee is aware, neither
Mr. Gerd nor Mr. Hegediis have made any public statement since then.

256. When late in the afternoon of 26 October it became clear that Mr. Ger6 and Mr.
Hegediis had left the Party Headquarters, Mr. Nagy moved to the Parliament Building with
Mr. Erdei and his own son-in-law. However, Mr. Nagy, as described in the previous section,
was for another two days surrounded by AVH officers until Sunday, 28 October. The
Parliament Building also continued during this period to be surrounded by Soviet tanks.

257. According to an interview with the Chief of the Budapest Police, Sandor Kopécsi,
which appeared on 2 November in the newspaper Magyar Vilag, Mr. Nagy “was in the
Parliament Building for two days in the captivity of the AVH”. Mr. Kopacsi added that he sent
a representative to the Parliament Building to insist to the AVH officers that “the free
movement and free activity of the Prime Minister was a national interest”, and that the armed
units of the police would enforce this freedom if the AVH did not discontinue the curb on his
freedom of action and movement. Thereupon the AVH “gave in”.

258. The evidence establishes that Mr. Nagy was in no sense in a position to act in
accordance with his own judgement from 24 October to 28 October. But it would doubtless be
equally mistaken to conclude that Mr. Nagy was prevented from identifying himself with the
uprising from the start solely by the pressures to which he was subjected. There is little reason
to believe that, at the outset, Mr. Nagy was aware of the manner in which the situation would
develop or that he foresaw that he was destined to become a leading figure. He was restored to
the office of Prime Minister not as the result of any personal initiative on his part, but because
his appointment suited the immediate purposes of Mr. Gerd, aware as he was that, in the tense
circumstances of the morning of 24 October, the Communist régime needed to be adorned
with the facade of a leader acceptable to popular opinion. From that moment, Mr. Nagy tended
to become, seemingly against his expectation, the symbol for the Hungarian people of their
unity. Nevertheless, in the days immediately after 24 October, he appeared to be hesitating
between loyalty to his Marxist training, backed by an apparatus of force, on the one hand, and
association with the cause of his countrymen, on the other. His predicament between 24 and 28
October is by no means wholly explained by force majeure. From his Marxist and Communist
anchorage, he was carried along by events beyond his control, gradually aware of the intensity
of the passions which the uprising had evoked and the reality of the grievances which it ex
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pressed, and gradually convinced that he must accept the responsibilities thrust upon him by
circumstances.

G. Was an invitation actually extended?

259. It is excluded, by reference to considerations of time that the Imre Nagy Government
could have invited the Soviet forces to intervene in Budapest on the morning of Wednesday,
24 October. Another question which has called for consideration is whether Mr. Hegediis’
Government, which preceded Mr. Nagy’s, might have called for Soviet military assistance
during Tuesday, 23 October, when the demonstrations in Budapest began.

260. In the light of the political circumstances in Hungary, the question may, however, be
posed from another angle. It may well be necessary to inquire not which President of the
Council had placed his signature on the invitation to Soviet troops - if such a document existed
- but rather what, in the political system of the People’s Republic of Hungary, was the organ or
person authorized to take such a step. From the terms of the Hungarian Constitution, it would
appear that the Council of Ministers, with the concurrence of the Praesidium, was competent
to assume such a responsibility. But the text of the Constitution affords little guidance to the
actual operation of the régime. The Hungarian Constitution is silent as regards the Central
Committee and other organs of the Workers’ (Communist) Party. Such a role as the right to
recommend to the Praesidium the Chairman and members of the Council of Ministers does not
appear in the Constitution, although at the time of its promulgation the system had already
been in operation. No article deals with the secret power of the Central Committee of the Party
which reduces the Chairman and the members of the Council of Ministers to what a witness
described as “puppets” bound to accept the views of the Communist hierarchy and to put into
application its decisions. It was not Mr. Hegedis, but Mr. Gerd, the First Secretary of the
Central Committee of the Party who, before the reunion of the Central Committee, alone was
sufficiently powerful to take such a decision, whether or not he consulted his colleagues of the
Politburo at the meetings of the Politburo on 23 October. The legal niceties might well have
been forgotten in the circumstances and Mr. Gerd might have decided to proceed directly
instead of through the Government of Mr. Hegediis. Mr. Hegediis, according to the testimony
of witnesses, could not possibly refuse a request made by Mr. Gerd. According to existing
procedure, the Council of Ministers was nominated by the Party, and no nomination by the
Party has ever been known to be rejected. The Central Committee of the Party was able to
dominate the Council of Ministers.

261. If such an invitation was extended, it must presumably have been extended at a time
when there was no reason to believe that the demonstration planned for that afternoon would
lead to shooting. The first Soviet tanks arrived in Budapest at 2 a.m. Wednesday morning; no
sizeable tank units were stationed closer than Cegléd and Székesfehérvar, 70 kilometres from
Budapest. There are also indications from the numbering of tanks and from other evidence that
many of the tanks had arrived from places much further away from Budapest.

262. There is evidence that floating bridges were assembled on the river forming the border
between the USSR and Hungary as early as 20-21 October and Soviet military forces crossed
the border at 1 a.m. on 24 October. There is evidence that Soviet troops in Romania were
alerted on 21-22 October. In this connexion it is relevant to recall that Prime Minister Hegediis
and First Secretary Ger0, together with several other Ministers and other high Communist
Party officials, were absent from Hungary on a visit to Yugoslavia from 13 October until the
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late morning of Tuesday, 23 October. It will also be noted that in the unsigned official
announcement which was broadcast on Wednesday morning, 24 October, shortly after the
announcement of the nomination of Mr. Nagy as Prime Minister, it was only stated that the
Government had called “upon the Soviet forces stationed in Hungary”.

263. The Committee has sought in vain for evidence that an invitation was in fact extended.
No such evidence, however, has appeared. Two witnesses have testified that Mr. Geré on 25
October attempted to have Mr. Nagy sign an antedated document inviting the Soviet forces,
and that Mr. Nagy wrote in the corner of the paper: “I do not accept this. I will not sign it.”

264. Mr. D. T. Shepilov, then Foreign Minister of the USSR, stated on 19 November 1956
in the General Assembly that “the telegram received by the Council of Ministers of the USSR
from the Prime Minister of the Hungarian People’s Republic on 24 October 1956 stated:

‘On behalf of the Council of Ministers of the Hungarian People’s Republic, I request the
Government of the Soviet Union to send Soviet troops to Budapest to put an end to the
disturbances that have taken place in Budapest, restore order quickly and create conditions
favourable to peaceful and constructive work.’(15)

265. Mr. Shepilov did not state who had signed the message. It is indeed difficult for the
Committee to understand how Soviet tanks could arrive in Budapest at 2 a.m. on Wednesday
morning, 24 October, in response to a request received by the Government of the USSR on the
same day.

H. Conclusions

266. In this chapter the Committee has set out fully the evidence presented to it on the
problem whether the intervention of Soviet forces on the morning of 24 October took place in
response to a request by the Hungarian Government. In this matter the following conclusions
would seem reasonable:

(D) Statements made by the Hungarian authorities and by the Government of the USSR
regarding the character of the request to Soviet forces to intervene lack precision, are
somewhat discordant, and not easily reconcilable with known facts regarding the timing of
troop movements.

(2) The Chairman of the Council of Ministers during whose period of office, according to
public pronouncements, the acts of military intervention were effectively pursued, if not
initiated, has subsequently denied having called in the Soviet forces.

3) The evidence establishes that the Chairman of the Council of Ministers was not able to
exercise his full powers during the days immediately following 24 October.

(4) It may be that the invitation to the Soviet forces was extended by Mr. Hegediis, while
still Chairman of the Council of Ministers, at the behest of the First Secretary of the
Communist Party. No clear evidence that such was the source of the request has how ever
been forthcoming.

) The act of calling in the forces of a foreign State for the repression of internal
disturbances is an act of so serious a character as to justify the expectation that no uncertainty
should be allowed to exist regarding the actual presentation of such a request by a duly
constituted Government.
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(1)Szabad Nép. 14 October 1956.

(2)Chapter IX, paras. 389 and 412.

(3)Chapter X, paras. 461-474.

(4)Chapter X, paras. 464-466.
(5)Szabolcs-Szatmari Néplap, 24 October 1956.

(6)An article in Egyetemi Ifjisag on 29 October stated that Mr. Nagy only learned on 24 October at 6 a.m., from a
telephone call he had from the office of the Hungarian Writers’ Union, that he had become Prime Minister.

(7)Istvan Dobi, Chairman of the Praesidium of the Hungarian People’s Republic, stated before the National Assembly on 9
May 1957 that the Praesidium on 24 October “elected Imre Nagy Prime Minister”.

(8)The following is the original Hungarian text of this last sentence: “A kormanyzati szervek nem szadmoltak a véres
orvtamadasokkal s ezért segitségért fordultak a varsoi szerzodés értelmében a Magyarorszagon tartozkodo szovjet alakula-
tokhoz”.

(9)Chapter XI, para. 514.

(10)Chapter X, paras. 443, 450.
(11)See para. 255 below.

(12)Chapter XII, para. 572.
(13)Egyetemi Ifjusag, 29 October 1956.
(14)Chapter X, para. 463.

(15)See also chapter VIII, para. 318.
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Chapter VII
THE POLITICAL BACKGROUND
OF THE SECOND SOVIET INTERVENTION

A. Introduction

267. The purpose of this chapter is to consider the political situation in Hungary immediately
before the second Soviet intervention of 4 November 1956 and the circumstances in which that
intervention took place.

268. Chapter V of the report has recounted the military aspects of the conflict which was
precipitated by the renewed assault of Soviet forces on the city of Budapest and their
movement against other Hungarian cities in the early hours of the morning of Sunday, 4
November 1956. The explanation broadcast to the Hungarian people by Janos Kadar at 6 a.m.
(CET) that morning, to the effect that his newly formed Revolutionary Worker-Peasant
Government had requested the Soviet Army Command to help “in smashing the sinister forces
of reaction” was repeated the following day by the Army Command itself with the additional
comment that Mr. Nagy’s Government “had disintegrated and did not actually exist”.(1)
Whether the character of the uprising or the political achievements of Mr. Nagy’s Government
were such as to afford any justification for renewed recourse to armed action, either by
Hungarian or by Soviet authorities, are matters on which the evidence made available to the
Committee will be more fully set out in chapters IX and XII. While these aspects are touched
on in the present chapter, its essential purpose is to present the data assembled by the
Committee which bear on the establishment of a Government headed by Janos Kadar.

269. The legitimacy of the second Soviet intervention on 4 November has been asserted by
the Government of the USSR on the grounds of the invitation said to have been received from
the new Hungarian Government, while Mr. Nagy’s Government proclaimed that the real object
of the attack was in fact to overthrow the properly constituted Hungarian Government. Two
alternative readings of events are thus prominent in the descriptions of what took place on 4
November. One of these represents the Soviet action as a response to a request by a new
Hungarian Government unable to maintain order at home without such assistance. The other
reading sees a flagrant attack by Soviet troops on a people increasingly united behind its real
Government in an effort to reshape its political life.

270. In considering the situation obtaining in Hungary at the moment when Soviet troops
intervened for the second time, the role of Mr. Kédar is of crucial importance. It is alleged that
Mr. Kadar left the Nagy Government as early as 1 November, with the intention of forming the
Revolutionary Worker-Peasant Government. In its Interim Report,2) the Committee drew
attention to the significance of the problem of the circumstances surrounding the formation of
this Government and indicated that it would constitute a central element in the investigation.
The Committee is now in a position to report more fully on the facts. On this aspect of the
Committee’s investigation, however, the Governments of the USSR and of Mr. Kadar are
alone in a position to afford full and conclusive evidence; and the Committee regrets that, even
on this aspect, the Governments of the USSR and of Mr. Kadar have declined to respond in
any way to the request of the General Assembly for their co-operation. In this chapter, the
Committee is concerned with summarizing the evidence made available to it which throws light

81



on the formation of Mr. Kadar’s Cabinet and the invitation which is said to have been issued to
the Soviet forces.

B. The political position of Mr. Kadar prior to 4 November

271.  After the resignation of Mr. Rakosi as First Secretary of the Central Committee, Janos
Kadar, who had been persecuted under the outgoing leader, found himself in a position of
growing importance within the hierarchy of the Party. The meeting of the Central Committee
of the Hungarian Workers’ Party of 24 October re-elected Mr. Kadar as one of the thirteen
members of the new Politburo and as one of the three Secretaries of the Central Committee.
The Politburo, at its meeting on 25 October, appointed Mr. Kadar as the First Secretary of the
Central Committee, in succession to Erné Gerd.

272. Mr. Kadar had played an important role in the past. He had been an active member of
the Communist Party since 1929. His ascent to power commenced after the compulsory
merger of the Communist Party and part of the Social Democratic Party in June 1948. He
became a member of the Central Committee and of the Politburo, and when Lészl6 Rajk
became Foreign Minister, Mr. Kadar succeeded him as Minister of the Interior. According to
evidence received, Mr. Kadar played an important role in the Rajk case. It was stated by
witnesses that, some time before the trial, Mr. Kadar, in conversation with Rajk, asked him to
make a false statement against himself, promising that he would be permitted to live under a
different name. Nevertheless, as Minister of the Interior, Mr. Kadar was one of the four
persons who signed the order for the execution of Rajk.

273. Mr. Kadar served as Minister of the Interior until the summer of 1950, and was re-
elected to the Central Committee and the Politburo at the beginning of 1951. In April 1951, he
was arrested on charges of espionage, high treason, and national deviationism. He remained in
prison until August 1954, during which period he was subjected to severe tortures by order,
and under the direct supervision, of Vladimir Farkas, Lieutenant-Colonel of the AVH. On his
release, he was not permitted immediately to participate in political life, but he resumed
political activities in the spring of 1956, when he took part in the conversations on behalf of the
Hungarian Workers’ (Communist) Party with Imre Nagy and his associates, who earlier had
been denounced by the Rakosi régime. In these conversations, Mr. Kadar insisted that Imre
Nagy should engage in severe self-criticism before being readmitted to the Party. Rakosi
succeeded in delaying the readmission of Mr. Kadar to the Central Committee. According to a
witness, the conversation between Mr. Kédar and Rajk, to which reference was made above,
had been recorded, and the recording was played back by Rékosi in May 1956 before the
members of the Central Committee. On 18 July, however, after the fall of Rékosi, Mr. Kadar
was readmitted to the Central Committee as well as to the Politburo, and became Secretary of
the Central Committee. In this latter capacity, Mr. Kadar led a Hungarian delegation to the
Seventh Congress of the Chinese Communist Party, which opened in Peking on 15 September
1956, and was a member of the Hungarian delegation to Yugoslavia under the leadership of
Mr. Ger6 on 14 October.

274. In some of the statements emanating immediately before the revolution from the
League of Working Youth (DISZ) - the youth branch of the Hungarian Workers’ Party - the
demand was made that Janos Kéadar be given greater influence.(3) The apparent popularity of
Mr. Kadar could be explained by the fact that he had been on record as favouring certain
changes in the organization of the Party and was particularly emphatic in condemning the
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atrocities of the AVH. On the other hand, there could be no doubt of his continued devotion to
the Communist Party and its discipline and of his attachment to the maintenance of close ties
with the Soviet Union. Thus, his enhanced position in the political arena on 25 October could
be considered a tentative step by the Central Committee to meet the demands of the people of
Hungary regarding the abolition of the AVH and the need for reforming the Hungarian
Workers’ Party.

275.  On 24 October, at 8.45 p.m., Mr. Kadar, speaking over the radio, condemned the
uprising as an “attack by counter-revolutionary reactionary” elements, and supported the
Central Committee and the Government for having adopted “he only correct attitude”. More
than a month was to elapse before Mr. Kadar would speak again in such terms about the
uprising;(4) at that moment Mr. Gerd was, according to testimony given by a number of
witnesses, still effectively in power. The following day, when he succeeded Mr. Gerd as the
First Secretary of the Central Committee, Mr. Kéadar allied himself more closely with the
aspirations of the uprising. In a radio announcement that afternoon, he stated, with reference to
the “settlement of pending questions” between Hungary and the USSR, that the Central
Committee had proposed to the Government that, after the restoration of order, negotiations
should be undertaken with the USSR “in a spirit of complete equality, friendly co-operation
and internationalism”. He added that, after the restoration of order, the Party leadership was
ready to resolve all those “burning questions whose solution cannot be any more postponed”.

276. As the military situation developed in favour of the insurgents on 26 October, the
Central Committee, succumbing to the pressure of circumstances, presented proposals for the
formation of a new Government, under the leadership of Imre Nagy, which would be based on
the “broadest national foundations™.(5) It also approved the setting up of Workers’ Councils in
the factories “with the co-operation of the trade union organs”. Changes in the “management
of national economy, agrarian policy, and the policy of the People’s Patriotic Front and the
Party leadership” were to be put into effect for the sake of achieving a true socialist
democracy. The declaration ended: “In consultation with the entire people, we shall prepare
the great national programme of a democratic and socialist, independent and sovereign
Hungary ...”

277. By 28 October the Central Committee of the Party had lost its position of dominance.
Its acceptance of, and adaptation to, the outlook of the Hungarian people as a whole, was
carried further. The Government had been reorganized on the previous day, and the Central
Committee proceeded to make further basic adjustments to meet the pressing demands of the
successful insurrection. In a radio statement, the Committee announced that, “in view of the
exceptional situation”, the Committee had transferred the mandate which it had received from
the Third Congress of the Party to lead the Party, to a six-member Praesidium, with Janos
Kadar as Chairman, and Antal Aprd, Kéroly Kiss, Ferenc Miinnich, Imre Nagy and Zoltan
Szant6 as members. The mandate of this Praesidium was to remain valid until the Fourth
Congress, which was to be convened as soon as possible. The significance of this development
was pointed out in a commentary on Budapest Radio later in the evening, which declared that:

“...events not today, but for some time, had proved that the Central Committee was incapable
of conducting the affairs of the country in accordance with the wishes, efforts and interests of
the Hungarian people. The actions of the Central Committee did not even correspond to the
will and demands of the Communists, among them the Party officials. As a matter of fact, Party
workers had been for some time dissatisfied with the Central Committee ... they saw that
everything happened later than it should have happened, when the masses were ready to resort
to coercion ... But until now the Communists had no right even to express their opinion about
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developments in their own Party. This has changed and a new climate exists today in which it is
possible to live, to think, and to work freely, thus to realize Party democracy in the real
Leninist sense ... What happened taught us a sad lesson but ... the Stalinist methods belong
now to the past and we must approve the new six-member Party Praesidium composed of the
best and most honest members of the Central Committee ... At the Fourth Congress of the
Hungarian Workers’ Party, such a Central Committee should be elected which will decisively,
openly and consistently serve the interests of our people, the Hungarian people ...”

278. No less indicative of the changed attitude was an editorial in the Szabad Nép, the
central organ of the Party, on the same day; it attacked statements made during the past few
days that events in Hungary were nothing but a “counter-revolutionary fascist attempt at a
coup d’état” and declared the uprising to be “a great national democratic movement which
unites and welds together the whole people, suppressed by the despotism of the past years”.
The editorial continued:

“This movement expressed the workers’ claim to become genuine masters in the factories; it
also expressed the human claim of the peasantry to be freed from the constant uncertainty of
existence and unwarranted vexations, and to be able to live their lives as individual or co-
operative peasants according to their inclinations or desires. The struggle waged by
Communist and non-Party intellectuals for the freedom of constructive work and the moral
purity of our system has strengthened this movement. It was love of country which gave this
people’s movement its greatest strength, warmth and passion, which was willing to face even
death. The demand for the equality and independence of the country is as all-embracing as the
mother tongue which we speak.”

279. The breakdown of the Communist structure became complete by 30 October, when
Mr. Kadar, following Messrs. Nagy, Tildy and Erdei, stated over the radio that all members of
the Praesidium of the Hungarian Workers’ Party were in agreement with the Government’s
decision to abolish the one-party system. Addressing the people as “my fellow workers,
working brethren and dear comrades”, Mr. Kadar said that he personally was in wholehearted
agreement with the previous three speakers, his “acquaintances and friends, my esteemed
respected compatriots”. His appeal was addressed to “those Communists who joined the ranks
of the Party because they believed in the progressive ideal of mankind, socialism, and not
because they were in pursuit of individual interests; together with whom we represent our pure
and just ideals by pure and just means”. Mr. Kadar added: “The ranks of the Party may waver,
but I do not fear that pure, honest and well-meaning Communists will be disloyal to their
ideals. Those who joined us for selfish personal reasons, for a career or other motives will be
the ones to leave”. Mr. Kadar recognized that the Party might have to start afresh but that,
having freed itself of the burden of the crimes of some of its past leaders, it would now be in a
more favourable position for the tasks which lay ahead,() “to resume work and production,
and to lay the foundations of peace and order. It is with prestige won in this manner that they
will gain the respect of our fellow citizens”.(7) In the evening Mr. Kadar announced that the
reorganization of the Hungarian Workers’ Party was proceeding.

280. During this investigation, evidence has been placed before the Committee regarding
Mr. Kédar’s political outlook at this juncture. There is no doubt that Mr. Kadar continued to
remain a convinced adherent of basic Marxist-Leninist principles regarding the method to
achieve a new classless society of workers and peasants. He was faced with the fact, however,
that the insurrection was manned, in its vast majority, by workers who, according to all
reports, were fully supported by the peasants. It became apparent even to convinced
Communists that the uprising was a spontaneous and unorganized movement of a people
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united in protest against a situation which the Hungarian Workers’ Party had been unable to
remedy. It seemed therefore that in order to salvage the Communist Party in Hungary, major
adjustments in policy were urgent and essential. The Party itself needed to change its name,
and the Preparatory Committee decided to name it the “Hungarian Socialist Workers’
Party™.(8)

281. At around 9.50 p.m. on 1 November, one day after the evacuation of Soviet troops
from Budapest, Mr. Kadar read over Budapest Radio the message of the Preparatory
Committee addressed to the “Hungarian workers, peasants and intellectuals”. He admitted that
the Party had degenerated into despotism and had brought the whole nation to slavery through
the “blind and criminal policy” of the Hungarian representatives of Stalinism who had frittered
away the “moral and ideological heritage” accumulated in the past by honest struggle and the
sacrifice of blood. In the glorious uprising, “the Communist writers, journalists, university
students, the youth of the Pet6fi Club, thousands of workers and peasants, the veteran fighters
who had been imprisoned on false charges, fought in the front line against the Rakosi
despotism and political hooliganism”. However, affairs had now reached the crossroads
between stabilizing the achievements of the past and facing open counter-revolution. “We do
not fight so that the mines and factories should be snatched from the hands of the working
class, and the land from the hands of the peasantry ... foreign armed intervention may bring to
our country the tragic fate of Korea ... In these momentous hours the Communists who fought
against the despotism of Rakosi have decided, in accordance with the wish of many true
patriots and socialists, to form a new party which ‘on the basis of national independence’ ...
[would] build fraternal relations with every progressive socialist movement and party in the
world”. The new Party would defend such achievements as land reform and nationalization and
the cause of socialism and democracy, “not by slavishly imitating foreign examples, but by
taking a road suitable to the economic and historic characteristics of our country, the line of
the teachings of Marxism-Leninism, scientific socialism, changes free of Stalinism and any kind
of dogmatism, and taking into account the revolutionary and progressive traditions of
Hungarian history”. The Preparatory Committee, consisting of Ferenc Donat, Janos Kadar,
Sandor Kopacsi, Géza Losonczy, Gyorgy Lukécs, Imre Nagy and Zoltan Szantd, would start
to reorganize the Party and would convene as soon as possible a National Congress for the
foundation of the Party.(9) The Party, he said, would publish a central organ, Népszabadsag.
Mr. Kédar then appealed “to the newly-formed democratic parties and first of all to the other
Party of the workers, the Social Democratic Party”, with the request to “overcome the danger
of the menacing counter-revolution and intervention from abroad by consolidating the
Government”. The people of Hungary had proved their intention unflinchingly to support the
Government’s efforts aimed at the complete withdrawal of the Soviet forces. “We do not want
to be dependent any longer; we do not want our country to become a battlefield.”

282. This statement would seem to have reflected the feelings of the great majority of the
people. The evidence is, however, conclusive that Mr. Kadar’s apprehensions regarding the
danger of the uprising leading to a reactionary movement for the reinstatement of the political
and economic system existing in Hungary prior to 1945 were entirely without foundation; they
represented no more than the reiteration of a mental attitude inherited from the past and in no
way reflecting a considered judgment of the present. The grounds for asserting the illusory
character of Mr. Kadar’s belief in the danger of counter-revolution have been outlined in a
previous chapter.(10) At this stage Mr. Kadar’s apprehension of counter-revolution was but a
minor note of dissent in his broad acceptance and justification of the achievements of the
uprising - an attitude which he apparently shared with the other members of the Preparatory
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Committee of the Hungarian Socialist Workers’ Party who presumably represented on 1
November the ablest and most devoted Communists in Hungary.

283.  Evidence of Mr. Kéadar’s attitude at this time is also provided by an interview with Mr.
Kadar published by Igazsag, organ of the Revolutionary Hungarian Army and Youth on 1
November 1956. Mr. Kadar said that, within the Central Committee, the militant elements had
struggled against the criminal policy of Rékosi and his companions, who had dishonoured the
name of the Party. The members of the Party should regard as their fundamental task the
maintenance and development of the main achievements of the people, in unity with all the
workers, and particularly the socialist democratic workers. The Praesidium of the Party, he
said, condemned not only the political distortions of the former leadership, but also its
bureaucratic methods in the Party and the State. The quotation continues: “We consider that
this insurrection, which became a mighty movement of the people, was caused chiefly by the
indignation and embitterment of the masses with a harmful policy and ill-fated methods”.
Notable also are the views which continued to be expressed by the newly-founded newspaper
of Mr. Kéadar’s newly-founded Party. In its second issue, on 3 November, Népszabadsag stated
that the new Party would no longer be able to accept organization from above, but would have
to build from below. Party membership would no longer carry with it “a splendid post or any
lofty position ... We now stand before the country fewer in number, but purified ...
Nevertheless, let us not look now for what divides us from, but what unites us with, the newly-
formed parties and their programmes”. Another article in the same issue stated that “it was
under the pressure of opposition from within the Party that the leadership was forced to
celebrate the reinterment of the unjustly executed martyrs ... Now after the defeat of the
Rékosi-Gerd clique, the opportunity to drive away the criminals has been created. Let us not
allow new illegalities to be committed; let us see to it that after an objective trial by local
tribunals the criminals receive due punishment.” Népszabadsadg of 3 November also expressed
approval of the declaration of Imre Nagy regarding the neutrality of Hungary and the
withdrawal of Soviet troops.

284. Such were the considered and publicly expressed views of Mr. Kadar and his
reorganized party almost to the eve of the second intervention by Soviet armed forces; nor is
there known any contrary note sounded by him till his fateful message broadcast in the early
hours of 4 November.

C. Mr. Kadar’s relations with Mr. Nagy

285.  There is indeed evidence that Mr. Kadar was working in close collaboration with Mr.
Nagy during the days from 25 October to at least 1 November. He delivered a broadcast with
him on 25 October, recognized his leadership in a statement of 26 October, appeared again
with him before the microphone on 30 October, and, on the same day, became a member of
Mr. Nagy’s Government.(11) On the following days he took part in the discussions which Mr.
Nagy had with the representatives of Workers’ Councils and various Revolutionary
Committees which came to see him in the Parliament Building.(12) Though his participation
was not so prominent as in the case of Béla Kovacs or Zoltan Tildy, his attitude appeared to
indicate, according to all reports, agreement with the statements made by the Prime Minister
and his colleagues. It appears that, on 1 November, following Mr. Nagy’s abrogation of the
Warsaw Treaty, a meeting was held between Premier Nagy and the Soviet Ambassador, Mr.
Andropov, in the presence of Mr. Kadar. A discussion is said to have taken place between Mr.
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Nagy and the Ambassador, in the course of which the former indicated that his Government
stood firm regarding its declaration of foreign policy. In the discussion Mr. Kadar is reported
to have given support to Mr. Nagy, stating to the Ambassador that he realized that his future
was now obscure, but that as a Hungarian, he would be prepared personally to fight, if
necessity required it. He has been quoted as saying:

“I will come down into the streets and use my bare hands to fight against your tanks.”
Witnesses have testified that at the time he was visibly under great emotional strain and
demonstrably sincere in his statement. The Soviet Ambassador departed shortly after, and
those present shared the conviction that the Government had stood its ground and had shown
collective solidarity vis-f-vis the representative of the USSR.

286. According to Igazsdg of 1 November, Mr. Kadar conducted negotiations, in the
presence of Imre Nagy and Ferenc Miinnich, with Mr. Mikoyan and Mr. Suslov on the
withdrawal of the Soviet troops. These negotiations took place at the Headquarters of the
Hungarian Workers’ Party. Mr. Mikoyan and Mr. Suslov returned to Moscow immediately
afterwards.

287. After the broadcast announcement at about 9.50 p.m. on 1 November, in connexion
with the establishment of the Hungarian Socialist Workers’ Party, Mr. Kadar went to his home.
Witnesses stated that, some time before 10 p.m., Mr. Miinnich asked that a car be made
available to him from the car pool attached to the Parliament Building. He picked up Mr.
Kadar and together they proceeded to the Soviet Embassy. It was reported that outside the
Embassy, they entered another car, which was parked behind that in which they had arrived.
Thereafter, Mr. Kadar, though appearing at times in the Parliament Building on 2 November
and, seemingly, during the early hours of 3 November, took a less active part in the entourage
of Mr. Nagy than hitherto. In the main, the evidence indicated that Mr. Nagy and his
colleagues did not entertain suspicions of disloyalty on the part of Mr. Kédar at that time.
Witnesses have declared that Mr. Nagy, upon hearing in the early hours of the morning of 4

November that Mr. Kadar had established a government, showed astonishment and even
disbelief.

288. In considering the political change which formed the background of the second Soviet
intervention, account must be taken of the difficulty of reconciling Mr. Kadar’s attitude up to
the evening of 1 November and his subsequent conduct which amounted to the repudiation of
the principles to which he had subscribed as a member of Mr. Nagy’s Government. The
problem is of importance in assessing Mr. Kadar’s claim to have established a government on
or around 4 November. Mr. Miinnich’s statement of 4 November that he, Janos Kadar, Antal
Apro6 and Istvan Kossa had severed all their relations on 1 November with the Government of
Mr. Nagy in order to initiate the formation of the Hungarian Revolutionary Worker-Peasant
Government,(13) is at variance with the facts which became known to the Special Committee. It
is true that the Nagy Government of 27 October, as reconstituted on 30 October by the
establishment of an Inner (‘Narrower’) Cabinet, was the beginning of the elimination of many
Communist members such as Mr. Miinnich, Mr. Horvath, Mr. Apr6 and Mr. Kossa - all four of
them former adherents to the Rékosi-Gerd group. Their eventual elimination was due to the
fact that they were unacceptable to the Revolutionary Councils which pressed for the
reconstitution of the Government. As a first step, the Inner Cabinet of 30 October placed
power in the hands of Premier Nagy and his five immediate collaborators; one of these newly
appointed members was Mr. Kadar.(14) Moreover, the Government as further reconstituted on
3 November included Mr. Kadar.(15) So far as the Committee is aware, at no time did he
formally resign from the new Nagy Government.
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D. The overthrow of Mr. Nagy’s Government

289. Between 3 and 4 o’clock on the morning of 4 November, a representative in Budapest
of a provincial Revolutionary Council is reported to have gone to the Parliament Building to
inform Mr. Nagy that Soviet troops had entered the chief city of his province and that the
Council was urging that they be granted permission to fight. This representative is understood
to have been the first to inform Mr. Nagy that Mr. Kadar had established at Szolnok a new
pro-Soviet Government. Premier Nagy himself called up the Revolutionary Committee of the
Army and was told that the information appeared to be correct. A meeting of the Cabinet was
hastily called; Mr. Tildy, Mr. B. Szab6 and Mr. Bibd were, it would appear, the only members
immediately available at the Parliament Building; Mr. Losonczy arrived a little later. Mr. Nagy
briefly gave them the news, and it was decided forthwith that the Government should take
immediate action by announcing its stand and by alerting the Hungarian forces. The
announcement of the formation of a rival Government was made at 5.05 a.m. in an open letter
to the “Hungarian working nation” read over the radio, dated Budapest, 4 November, in which
Mr. Ferenc Miinnich said that Messrs. Antal Aprd, Janos Kadar, Istvan Kossa and he himself
had broken away from the Nagy Government on 1 November and had taken the initiative of
forming the Hungarian Revolutionary Worker-Peasant Government. They had taken this
action, he said, because “within the Government of Imre Nagy ...” they “could do nothing
against the counter-revolutionary danger”, that “respected champions of the working class
movement” and “many respected sons of the working class and peasantry have been
exterminated”; that “we could no longer watch idly” while “the entire nation came under the
yoke of counter-revolution for a long time to come”; they had “decided to fight ... Fascism
and reaction and its murderous gangs”. The statement concluded, “we appeal to every loyal
son of our People’s Democracy, every follower of Socialism - first of all the Communists ... to
support ... the Hungarian Revolutionary Worker-Peasant Government and its struggle for the
liberation of the People”.

290. Mr. Nagy would appear to have been first made aware of the change in the Soviet
attitude by the interruption of the negotiations which were being carried on regarding the
withdrawal of Soviet forces. These negotiations had been commenced during the afternoon of
3 November at the Parliament Building in the presence of Mr. Nagy.(16) The Hungarian
delegation was composed of Ferenc Erdei, Minister of State; General Pal Maléter, Minister of
Defence; and General Istvan Kovacs, Chief of the General Staff and Colonel Miklos Sziics.
The Soviet representatives were Generals Malinin, Cherbanin and Stepanov. The afternoon
discussions, which had proceeded in an atmosphere of mutual friendliness and trust, had
resulted in an agreement to meet again at Soviet Headquarters at Tokol, on Csepel Island, at
10 p.m. to continue discussion on technical questions regarding the withdrawal of the Soviet
forces. Discussion proceeded till about midnight on minor points, such as the ceremony of
withdrawal and the replacement of Soviet memorials. Regular reports were sent to Mr. Nagy
regarding the progress of these talks. Towards midnight, telephone contact with the Hungarian
delegation at Tokdl, was broken off. Reconnaissance parties sent towards Tokol by General
Kiraly also failed to return. The Committee has been informed that the discussions between the
Soviet military delegation and the Hungarian military delegation at Tokol were in fact
interrupted by the entry of a personage who bore no insignia of rank - General Serov, Chief of
the Soviet security police. Accompanied by Soviet officers, he announced that he was arresting
the Hungarian delegation. The head of the Soviet delegation, General Malinin, astonished by
the interruption, made a gesture of indignation. General Serov thereupon whispered to him; as
a result, General Malinin shrugged his shoulders and ordered the Soviet delegation to leave the
room. The Hungarian delegation was then arrested. In vain, therefore, did Mr. Nagy, at 5.56
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a.m., broadcast an appeal to Generals Maléter and Istvan Kovacs and other members of the
mission to return to their posts at once to take charge of their offices.

291. At 5.20 a.m., Premier Nagy made the following statement from Free Radio Kossuth,
Budapest: “This is Imre Nagy speaking, the President of the Council of Ministers of the
Hungarian People’s Republic. Today at daybreak Soviet troops attacked our capital with the
obvious intention of overthrowing the legal Hungarian democratic Government. Our troops are
in combat. The Government is at its post. I notify the people of our country and the entire
world of this fact.” By that time cannon could be heard at various points in the outskirts of the
city. The announcement was repeated in several languages and was followed by the Hungarian
Anthem. Mr. Nagy’s next act was, according to a witness, to dictate the following statement:

“This fight is the fight for freedom by the Hungarian people against the Russian intervention,
and it is possible that I shall only be able to stay at my post for one or two hours. The whole
world will see how the Russian armed forces, contrary to all treaties and conventions, are
crushing the resistance of the Hungarian people. They will also see how they are kidnapping
the Prime Minister of a country which is a Member of the United Nations, taking him from the
capital, and therefore it cannot be doubted at all that this is the most brutal form of
intervention. I should like in these last moments to ask the leaders of the revolution, if they
can, to leave the country. I ask that all that I have said in my broadcast, and what we have
agreed on with the revolutionary leaders during meetings in Parliament, should be put in a
memorandum, and the leaders should turn to all the peoples of the world for help and explain
that today it is Hungary and tomorrow, or the day after tomorrow, it will be the turn of other
countries because the imperialism of Moscow does not know borders, and is only trying to
play for time.”

292. Two hours later Free Radio Kossuth was still broadcasting on behalf of the Nagy
Government. At 7.14 a.m. it made the following announcement in Hungarian and Russian.
“The Hungarian Government requests officers and soldiers of the Soviet Army not to shoot.
Avoid bloodshed! The Russians are our friends and will remain our friends also in the future.”

293. News was then broadcast of the convening of the emergency meeting of the Security
Council. It was followed at 7.57 a.m. by the following appeal of the Hungarian Writers’ Union:
“This is the Hungarian Writers’ Union! We appeal for help to writers, scholars, writers’
associations, academies, scientific organizations and the leaders of intellectual life all over the
world. Our time is limited! You all know the facts, there is no need to explain them. Help
Hungary! Help the Hungarian people! Help the Hungarian writers, scholars, workers, peasants
and intellectuals! Help! Help! Help!” This appeal was repeated in English, German and
Russian.

294. At 8.07 Free Radio Kossuth went off the air, although a silent carrier wave could still
be detected until 9.45 a.m.

295. With the launching of the Soviet attack, the members of Imre Nagy’s Cabinet
dispersed. Mr. Nagy is understood himself to have left the Parliament Building with the
intention of proceeding to the Soviet Embassy to protest; but he is known to have arrived at
the Yugoslav Embassy with a request for asylum.(17) He was later followed by Mr. Losonczy.
Of the members of his Government, only Zoltdn Tildy, Istvan B. Szab6 and Istvan Bibd
remained at the Parliament Building when the Soviet troops surrounded it. Mr. Tildy is
understood to have made an agreement with the Soviet forces that to avoid bloodshed, they
should be allowed to occupy the building, while civilians should be permitted to leave freely.
After this agreement, Mr. Tildy left the building. Mr. Bib6 remained as the sole representative

89



of the Government. His last act - so the Committee has been informed - was to issue the
following declaration:

“Hungary has no intention of pursuing an anti-Soviet policy; in fact she wants to live fully in
that community of East-European free nations which wish to organize their lives in a society
where liberty, justice and freedom from exploitation exist. I also repudiate before the whole
world the slanderous statements that the glorious Hungarian revolution was stained by Fascist
or anti-Semitic excesses ... The Hungarian people turned only against the conquering foreign
army and against native hangman-units. The popular justice which we experienced for a few
days on the streets as well as the unarmed appearance of the old conservative forces could
have been stopped by the new Government in a very short time, and the assertion that for this
purpose a huge foreign army had to be called or rather recalled into the country, is cynical and
irresponsible. On the contrary, the presence of a foreign army in the country was the main
source of unrest and disturbance. I call on the Hungarian people not to recognize the
occupation forces or the puppet government which may be set up by them as a legal authority,
and I call upon you to use against them every means of passive resistance - with the exception
of the interruption of the public services and water supply of Budapest.”

E. The establishment of Mr. Kadar’s Government

296. At the time when Free Radio Kossuth was broadcasting the appeals of Premier Nagy,
Mr. Kadar, speaking on the same wave-length used previously by Ferenc Miinnich, announced
the formation of the Hungarian Revolutionary Worker-Peasant Government. This
announcement was made at 6 a.m. He said that he, with Ferenc Miinnich, Deputy Premier,
who would also hold the portfolio of Minister of the Armed Forces and Public Security Force,
Gyorgy Marosan as Minister of State, Istvan Kossa as Minister of Finance, Imre Horvath as
Foreign Minister, Antal Apr6 as Minister of Industry, Imre Dogei as Minister of Agriculture,
and Sandor Ronai as Minister of Commerce, would constitute the nucleus of the new
Government. As soon as national order had been restored, there would be added from outside
the Party other ministers who were ready to “defend the achievements of socialism”. Mr.
Kadar accused the Rakosi-Gerd clique of numerous mistakes committed over the past twelve
years. On the other hand, “reactionaries had sought to destroy the achievements of socialism
by aiming to return the factories and enterprises to the capitalists and the land to the big
landowners. Fascist elements had exploited the mistakes which had been committed in the past
and had misled the many honest workers and the youth who had risen against the People’s
Government out of honest and patriotic intentions.” He called upon one and all to put an end
to the excesses of the counter-revolutionary elements, for he had formed his Government to
protect the people and lead them out of the existing grave situation. He then proclaimed the
programme of the Hungarian Revolutionary Worker-Peasant Government. The programme
consisted of fifteen points. It concluded:

“The Hungarian Revolutionary Worker-Peasant Government, in the interest of our people,
working class and country, requested the Command of the Soviet Army to help our nation in
smashing the sinister forces of reaction and restoring order and calm in the country.”

“After the restoration of order and calm, the Hungarian Government will begin negotiations
with the Soviet Government and with the other participants to the Warsaw Treaty about the
withdrawal of Soviet troops from Hungary.”
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Mr. Kadér ended his announcement by asking the people to disarm the “counter-revolutionary
gangs” and to assist the new Government in fulfiling its programme. It may be noted that this
political declaration of fifteen points differed only on two major points from what had been
advocated by Premier Nagy - the non-inclusion of the question of neutrality and the holding of
free elections.(18)

297. The announcements of the formation of Mr. Kadar’s Government were broadcast on
1,187 kilocycles - the wavelength usually occupied by the Balatonszabadi transmitter and
normally used for the Hungarian Radio’s foreign services. They are said to have been made
from the town of Szolnok, some 100 kilometres southeast of Budapest, on the Tisza. The
Committee has no evidence of the presence of Mr. Kadar at Szolnok on the morning of 4
November, and assertions by witnesses that the broadcast was made from a tape recording may
well be correct. From evidence given to the Committee, it would indeed appear that, if Mr.
Kadér had not already proceeded to Moscow, he was in Moscow on the 4", in Prague on the
5™ or possibly the 6™, and in Budapest in the afternoon of the 6, or not later than the morning
of the 7. The Committee is not in a position to check Mr. Kadar’s movements.

298.  One notable feature of the new Kadar Government was indeed its absence from the
scene of action at the time of the second Soviet intervention. Not only did it not fill any
position of leadership in repressing the insurrection in these crucial moments, but the
Committee knows of no Hungarian who acted in such a capacity. For three days, even the
formal presence of any representative of the Revolutionary Worker-Peasant Government was
hardly noticeable to lead the fight which allegedly the Hungarian people and their army were
waging against the Government of Imre Nagy and the insurgents of 23 October. From the
information available to the Committee, it would follow that during these days of 4-6
November, if any Hungarians fought against the insurgents, they were only the few members of
the dissolved AVH attached and acting as guides to the Soviet troops in the various battles or
skirmishes which were taking place in Budapest and throughout the country. Mr. Kadar’s
Government does not appear to have taken any action or otherwise communicated with the
people of Hungary until noon of Tuesday, 6 November, when a statement was issued in the
name of Mr. Kadar to the effect that he hoped that the country would soon return to normal
life, and which made a general appeal for food, construction materials and medicines. Only of
the activity of the Soviet Army Command, of their edicts to the Hungarian people and of their
seizure of administrative control is record to be found from these days of the establishment of
the Revolutionary Worker-Peasant Government.(19)

299. Several witnesses have testified before the Committee that the Kadar Government was
unconstitutional, for it had come into being without regard to the formal requirements of the
Hungarian Constitution. They have contended that the provisions of article 23(2) had not been
observed. According to this article, the Council of Ministers or its single Members are elected
or relieved of office by Parliament, on the recommendation of the Praesidium of the People’s
Republic. Premier Nagy, they contended, was not relieved of office by the Presidential Council,
which in this case would have exercised the functions of Parliament, as this body was not in
session 20(4). Furthermore, Premier Nagy had not resigned from office. Therefore, they
concluded, the rightful government of the State remained that of Premier Nagy. The witnesses
felt that this argument was reinforced by the fact that Mr. Kadar and the other members of his
Government did not take the oath of office till the morning of 7 November - three days after
the assumption of power.(20) They stated that since, in Hungarian constitutional practice (as
confirmed by the communication of the Kadar Government to the Secretary-General of 4
February 1956(21) the oath is an essential prerequisite to the assumption of office, any action
taken by such a Government prior to the fulfilment of this formality must be null and void, and
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consequently the military action of the Soviet troops did not take place in response to a call
from the legally empowered Hungarian Government.(22)

300. The Committee examined this contention and considered that, though these views had
grounds for support, particularly if it could he shown that the Chair-man of the Praesidium had
not relieved Premier Nagy from office prior to the announcement of the formation of the Kadar
Government, it did not believe that it was of material significance for the purpose of this report
to pronounce on these considerations. It suffices to call attention to the clear evidence of the
circumstances in which the Government of Mr. Kadar came into being solely as the result of
the military intervention.

F. Conclusion

301. Certain conclusions regarding the second Soviet intervention emerge from the evidence
which the Committee has examined. In the first place, the Committee is satisfied that no well-
placed observer could conclude that the Nagy Government was losing control of the situation
during the first days of November. On the contrary, the formation of the Workers’ Councils
and the Revolutionary Councils all over the country was fast providing a substitute for the
discredited machinery of Communist control. In the second place, it was the conviction of the
Committee that no well-placed observer could conclude that Mr. Nagy’s Government was in
any serious danger from counter-revolutionary forces. The workers and students of Hungary
had successfully destroyed Russian tanks from the days immediately following the
demonstrations of 23 October. A week later they were in a stronger position than they had
been to challenge any attack. Several days of intensive fighting had caused the emergence of
popular leaders in many groups and had tested the hastily assembled formations of fighting
workers.

302. In the Committee’s view, the evidence leads to one conclusion: The Soviet withdrawal
during the last days of October was no more than a temporary measure, dictated by the desire
of the Soviet Army to be in a position to launch a more powerful intervention with the least
possible delay. Preparations for such an intervention had been going on continuously since the
last days of October.

303. It was suggested to the Committee that the Soviet Union feared the consequences to
Communism which would have followed the consolidation of Mr. Nagy’s reforms and were
therefore anxious to attack his régime before the world could see the spectacle of a whole
people united to maintain their socialist achievements without the terrors of Communist
dictatorship. The Soviet authorities, it was also suggested, knew very well that an unveiled
attack on the Hungarian people would call forth universal condemnation. They therefore
discovered a Hungarian spokesman who would lend some colour of legality to their
movements. This spokesman was Mr. Kédar. The Committee is in no position either to
substantiate or to refute this thesis regarding the motivation of Soviet action. It is, however,
significant that Mr. Kadar seemingly associated himself with Mr. Nagy until a late stage and
the Committee has no evidence that he gave any hint of his alleged intention to break away
from Mr. Nagy’s Government. When Mr. Kadar announced the formation of his own Cabinet
on the morning of 4 November, it is doubtful whether he had any backing among Hungarians
other than that of the handful of politicians mentioned in his radio broadcast and the
unquestioned loyalty of the security police. It would seem that the question of constitutional
propriety hardly arises in connexion with the manner in which Mr. Kadar’s Government was
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formed, since he himself, having taken the step he did, would alone be competent to supply the
facts justifying his claim that it was a Government at all. The Committee would again recall at
this point that its two requests to visit Hungary, when such important questions would no
doubt have been discussed, met with a point-blank refusal.

(1)Chapter I1I, paras. 106 and 109.
(2)Document A/3546.

(3)See annex C to chapter IX.
(4)Chapter X1V, para. 651.
(5)Chapter XII, paras. 562-571.
(6)Chapter XII, para. 573.
(7)Népszava, 31 October 1956.
(8)Magyar Szocialista Munkaspart. Chapter XIII, para. 625.
(9)Chapter XIII, para. 625.
(10)Chapter III, paras. 139-148.
(11)Chapter XII, paras. 573-575.
(12)Chapter XI, para. 537.

(13)See para. 296 below.
(14)Chapter XII, paras. 573-575.
(15)Ibid., para. 589.

(16)Magyar Fiiggetlenség, 3 November 1956.
(17)Chapter XIII, paras. 603-639.
(18)Chapter XIV, para. 642.
(19)Chapter XIII, paras. 597-600.
(20)Szabad Nép, 8 November 1956.
(21)A/3521.

(22)Between 20 October and 12 November, no issue of Magyar Kozlony - the official gazette of the Hungarian People’s
Republic - appeared. The issue of 12 November contained two decrees of the Praesidium of the People’s Republic. The
first was unnumbered; it relieved Imre Nagy and the ministers of his Government of their offices. The second, Decree No.
28 of 1956, elected Janos Kéadar Chairman of the Hungarian Revolutionary Worker-Peasant Government and also elected
seven members of the Government. Neither of the decrees was dated.
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Chapter VIII
THE QUESTION OF THE PRESENCE AND THE UTILIZATION
OF THE SOVIET ARMED FORCES IN THE LIGHT OF
HUNGARY'’S INTERNATIONAL COMMITMENTS

A. Introduction

304. It appears important to the Committee, at this point of its Report, to recall the basic
international instruments governing the present international status of Hungary and in
particular those provisions which have been made public and which bear on the conditions of
the presence and the use of Soviet armed forces on Hungarian territory. The intervention of
these forces - as has been admitted by all sides - and that of sizable Soviet reinforcements from
the Soviet Union and Romania, was necessary to quell the Hungarian uprising. The
justifications given by the Soviet Government and that of Mr. Kédar, to the extent they find
their basis in these international instruments, will also be recalled and, while no detailed legal
analysis will be undertaken, the General Assembly action at its second emergency special
session and at its eleventh regular session with regard to the Hungarian problem will be briefly
assessed in the light of the Committee’s findings as to the true character of the October-
November events.

305. The rest of the chapter will bear on the persistent demands for the complete withdrawal
of all Soviet armed forces from Hungary which came powerfully to public notice during the
uprising. The attempts by Mr. Nagy and his Cabinets to achieve this withdrawal by negotiation
with the Soviet Union will be described on the basis of all the facts at the Committee’s disposal
as well as the aspirations of the Hungarian Revolution as to Hungary’s future international
status. The positions taken with respect to these matters by the Kadar Government and the
Soviet Government since the overthrow of the Government of Mr. Nagy and the military
suppression of the uprising will then be restated on the basis of their official declarations and
will be followed by a few final observations.

B. Post-war international instruments governing Hungary’s international status

306. The Treaty of Peace with Hungary of 10 February 1947, which came into force on 15
September 1947, declared the legal cessation of the state of war between Hungary and “the
Allied and Associated Powers”. All Allied forces were to be withdrawn subject, however, “to
the right of the Soviet Union to keep on Hungarian territory such armed forces as it may need
for the maintenance of the lines of communication of the Soviet Army with the Soviet zone of
occupation in Austria” (article 22).

307. Close restrictions were placed in Part III of the Treaty on the armed forces and
armaments which Hungary was authorized to maintain to meet “tasks of an internal character
and local defence of frontiers”. The total strength of the Hungarian ground forces was to be of
not more than 65,000 personnel, and the air force was to consist of not more than ninety
aircraft, including reserves with a total personnel strength of 5,000 (article 12). These “Military
and Air Clauses” were to remain in force “until modified in whole or in part by agreement
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between the Allied and Associated Powers and Hungary, or after Hungary becomes a member
of the United Nations by agreement between the Security Council and Hungary” (article 20).

308. A reference to Hungary’s eventual membership in the United Nations was made in the
Preamble to the Treaty. The initial application for membership stating Hungary’s readiness to
accept the obligations contained in the Charter was made by the Hungarian Government on 22
April 1947. Hungary was admitted to membership in the United Nations on 14 December
1955.

309. By a “Treaty of Friendship, Co-operation and Mutual Assistance” of 18 February 1948,
which came into force on 22 April 1948, the Soviet and Hungarian Governments affirmed their
policy of strengthening their co-operation and their adherence to the Purposes and Principles
of the United Nations, as well as to those of mutual respect for independence and national
sovereignty and non-interference in their internal affairs. Each agreed not to enter into alliances
or take part in coalitions or in any acts or measures directed against the other. In addition, they
agreed immediately to extend to each other military and other assistance, with all the means at
their disposal, should they be “involved in hostilities with Germany or with any State
associated with Germany in acts of aggression in Europe which States might seek to renew
their policy of aggression, or with any other State which might be associated with Germany
directly or in any other way in a policy of aggression” (article 2).

310. The fact was confirmed in authoritative evidence submitted to the Committee that as
from 1948 the size of the Hungarian Army was increased beyond that authorized by the Peace
Treaty and that, as from that time, the Hungarian Army was furnished with equipment and
weapons prohibited by the Treaty.

311. In 1956 the Hungarian Army had nine infantry divisions, two armoured “mechanized”
divisions, four artillery brigades, one chemical battalion, one horse cavalry brigade, one signal
regiment, one communications brigade and three heavy armoured regiments. The total strength
of these forces amounted to 250,000 men. The continued formation of new units suggested
that the strength of the standing army was to be further increased. The air force consisted of
one fighter division composed of three regiments, each consisting of 120 planes, six single
echelons amounting to one regiment with 120 planes, one air regiment with 50 planes and one
fighter-bomber regiment with 37 planes. The strength of the air fighter division exceeded 500
planes. In addition to these forces, the Danube Fleet had two river brigades and the security
police comprised several armed infantry regiments and armoured units.

312.  In accordance with the Austrian State Treaty of 15 May 1955, which came into force
on 27 July 1955 and which brought to an end the occupation of Austria. The last Soviet units
left Vienna on 19 September 1955. On 14 May 1955, one day before the signing of the
Austrian State Treaty, the Governments of the Soviet Union and of Hungary, together with
those of Albania, Bulgaria, Czechoslovakia, the German Democratic Republic, Poland and
Romania, concluded the Warsaw Treaty of “Friendship, Co-operation and Mutual Assistance”.
This Treaty, which came into force on 6 June 1955 for a minimum period of twenty years, and
which in the wording of its preamble was said to have been motivated by the creation of the
“Western European Union” and the entry of a re-militarized Western Germany into the “North
Atlantic Bloc”, reiterates the fidelity of the parties to the Purposes and Principles of the United
Nations Charter and their desire to strengthen and promote their friendship, co-operation and
mutual assistance. Article 1 contains the undertaking of parties, in accordance with the Charter
of the United Nations, to refrain in their international relations from the threat or use of force.
Both the preamble and article 8 affirm the mutual respect of the parties for their independence
and sovereignty, and of non-intervention in their internal affairs. Article 3 provides for
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immediate consultations whenever, in the opinion of any of the parties, there has arisen the
threat of an armed attack on one or several of them, “with a view to providing for their joint
defence and maintaining peace and security”. Article 4 states that in the event of an armed
attack in Europe on one or several parties by any State or group of States each party “shall, in
the exercise of the right of individual or collective self-defence, in accordance with Article 51
of the United Nations Charter, afford the State or States so attacked immediate assistance,
individually and in agreement with the other States parties to the Treaty, by all the means it
considers necessary, including the use of armed force”. Consultations are provided for as to
“the joint measures necessary to restore and maintain international peace and security”, and
notification to the Security Council is prescribed of the measures taken, which are to be
stopped as soon as “the Security Council takes the necessary action to restore and maintain
international peace and security”. In article 7 the parties declare that their obligations under
existing international treaties are not at variance with the provisions of the Treaty.

313. By article 5 of the Warsaw Treaty, the parties agree on the establishment of a Joint
Command for certain elements of their armed forces which “shall be allocated by agreement
between the Parties, and which shall act in accordance with jointly established principles”. The
Article further states that the Parties “shall likewise take such other concerted action as may be
necessary to reinforce their defensive strength, in order to defend the peaceful labour of their
peoples, guarantee the inviolability of their frontiers and territories and afford protection
against possible aggression”.

314. Simultaneously with the conclusion of the Treaty, the contracting parties announced
their decision to appoint Marshal 1. S. Koniev of the Soviet Union as Commander-in-Chief of
the Joint Armed Forces and provided that “the Ministers of Defence and other military leaders
of the signatory States are to serve as Deputy Commanders-in-Chief of the Joint Armed
Forces, and shall command the armed forces assigned by their respective States to the Joint
Armed Forces”. The “decision” also stated that the “disposition of the Joint Armed Forces in
the territories of signatory States will be effected, by agreement among the States, in
accordance with the requirements of their mutual defence”.

315. Such were the legal provisions, made public and of which the Committee had
knowledge, on which was based the presence of USSR armed forces on Hungarian territory.(1)
The Committee was informed that before the October events the Second and Seventeenth
Soviet mechanized divisions were stationed in Hungary, with a strength of about 20,000 men
and 600 tanks.

316. In the course of the meetings of the Warsaw Conference immediately preceding the
signature of the Treaty, Mr. N. A. Bulganin, in a statement delivered on 11 May 1955,(2)
indicated that the conclusion of the Treaty was occasioned by “the heightened threat to the
security of our countries caused by the aggressive measures of the Western Powers”, and that
the “co-ordinated measures” envisaged for the parties were “necessary to strengthen their
defensive power, in order to guarantee the inviolability of their frontiers and territories and to
provide defence against possible aggression”. He stated:

“Blocs created by imperialist States are based on the principles of domination and sub-
ordination. Such is the nature of blocs which serve the interests of their sponsors - the big
imperialist Powers. These Powers drag small countries into the aggressive military alignments
they form in order to secure manpower and additional vantage grounds and military bases ...
The draft Treaty submitted for our consideration is based on entirely different principles. The
domination of one state or nation over another is a principle alien to our countries, our peoples
and our social system. Our draft Treaty proceeds from the principle of respect for the national
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sovereignty, and non-interference in the internal affairs of others, which forms the basis of the
foreign policy of all the states represented here ... The draft Treaty submitted to this
Conference fully accords with the objects and principles of the United Nations Charter”.

317. These ideas were fully echoed by Andras Hegedis, then Chairman of the Council of
Ministers of Hungary, who, speaking at the Conference, referred particularly to “the guarantee
given in the Treaty that in the event of aggression, the contracting parties will immediately
assist the parties attacked with all the means at their disposal”. He stated that “We shall be able
to defend, and shall defend, the treasure we so long lacked and therefore prize the more highly
- the liberty of our people and the independence of our country.”

C. Applicability of these international instruments to the Soviet military interventions

318. The announcement broadcast from Budapest at 9 a.m., on 24 October, stated that “The
dastardly armed attack of counter-revolutionary gangs during the night” has created an
extremely serious situation. The governmental organs were unprepared for these attacks and
“they have therefore applied for help to the Soviet formations stationed in Hungary under the
terms of the Warsaw Treaty. In compliance with the Government’s request, the Soviet
formations are taking part in the restoration of order ...”3) At the 582™ plenary meeting of the
General Assembly on 19 November 1956, the then Minister of Foreign Affairs of the USSR,
Mr. Shepilov, read the text of a telegram apparently received by the Council of Ministers of the
USSR on 24 October from the Prime Minister of the Hungarian People’s Republic - whose
name he did not mention - by which the Council of Ministers of the Hungarian People’s
Republic requested the Government of the Soviet Union to send troops to Budapest “to put an
end to the disturbances that have taken place in Budapest, restore order quickly and create
conditions favourable to peaceful and constructive work”. Mr. Shepilov then stated that the

“Soviet Union could not, of course, refuse to respond to the request of a friendly State for
help”.

319. As to the second intervention of Soviet troops, Mr. Janos Kadar declared on 4
November that “the Hungarian Revolutionary Workers-Peasant Government requested ... the
Soviet Army Command to help our nation in smashing the sinister forces of reaction and to
restore order and calm”. At the 582™ plenary meeting of the General Assembly, Mr. Shepilov
referred to this application to the Soviet Union “for assistance in beating off the attack by the
forces of fascism and in restoring order and normal life in the country”, and added “Let me
admit openly that this was not an easy problem for the Soviet Government to deal with. We
fully realized the difficulties which inevitably arise when the armies of one country are being
used in another. The Soviet Union, however, could not remain indifferent to the fate of friendly
Hungary.”

320. The official explanations formulated by the USSR and Kadar Governments for the
Soviet military interventions in Hungary have been summarized in their broader context and in
greater detail in chapter III of this Report. The basic points of their argument, as officially
stated in the United Nations and elsewhere, were that on 23 October (Mr. Kadar and his
spokesmen seldom refer to the exact nature of the first request of Soviet intervention), and
again on 4 November, “anti-democratic elements” brought about serious disturbances of public
order and created “the danger of a non-democratic fascist-type system opposed to social
progress coming into being”. Exercising the sovereign right of a State “to take through its
government any measures it considers necessary and proper in the interest of guaranteeing the
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State order and the peaceful life of the population”, the Hungarian Government has “called for
the assistance of Soviet troops stationed in Hungary under the Warsaw Defence Treaty so as
to avoid further bloodshed and disorder and to defend the democratic order and people’s
power. With this step the Government warded off anarchy in Hungary and the creating of a
situation which would have seriously imperilled peace and security”.(4) As to the Nagy
Government, it had collapsed and its communications to the United Nations had no legal force.
As these occurrences had no effect on international peace and security, and related to events
within Hungary, or only to the application of an international treaty “under the exclusive
purview of the Hungarian and Soviet Governments and of the other Member States of the
Warsaw Treaty”, the United Nations could not intervene or even consider the matter by virtue
of paragraph 7 of Article 2 of the Charter.

321. While the latter was the only provision of the United Nations Charter mentioned, two
provisions of other international instruments were referred to in the statement of the Soviet and
the Kadar Governments’ position. Firstly, that of article 4 of the Hungarian Peace Treaty
which created an obligation for Hungary not to permit in the future “the existence and
activities of organizations of a fascist-type on Hungarian territory, whether political, military or
paramilitary”; secondly, that of article 5 of the Warsaw Treaty providing for “concerted
action” by the contracting parties “necessary to reinforce their defensive strength, in order to
defend the peaceful labour of their people, guarantee the in violability of their frontiers and
territories and afford protection against possible aggression”.

322. In the course of the lengthy debates which the Security Council and the General
Assembly devoted to the Hungarian question, these and other arguments were abundantly
discussed by representatives of Member States. The provisions of article 2 of the Hungarian
Peace Treaty guaranteeing human rights and fundamental freedoms, including political rights,
to the Hungarian people; the principles and the character of the Warsaw Treaty as a defensive
arrangement against an external aggression; the unacceptability of the position that armed
forces stationed in a foreign country by virtue of a defensive alliance against outside aggression
might be used to quell popular movements aiming at a change of government or of régime; the
protests against the Soviet intervention and demands to the Soviet Union and to the United
Nations for the withdrawal of Soviet forces put forward by the properly constituted
Government of Imre Nagy; the doubtful constitutional nature of the Kddar Government at the
time of its call for Soviet military assistance - all these arguments were invoked against the
thesis of the Soviet Government and the Kadar Government, together with the Charter
provisions on sovereign equality of Member States, the principles of equal rights and self-
determination of peoples and those of paragraph 4 of Article 2 of the Charter prohibiting the
threat or use of force against the political independence of any State. All these considerations
led to the solemn declaration by the General Assembly in resolution 1131 (XI) of 12 December
1956 that “by using its armed force against the Hungarian people, the Government of the
Union of Soviet Socialist Republics is violating the political independence of Hungary”; and to
the condemnation by the same resolution of the “violation of the Charter of the United Nations
by the Government of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics in depriving Hungary of its
liberty and independence and the Hungarian people of the exercise of their fundamental rights”.

323. The Committee does not consider it necessary to review these arguments anew. It
wishes merely to refer to its findings and conclusions contained in other chapters of this Report
which directly bear on the assumption on which are built the Soviet and the Hungarian
Governments’ legal and political explanations namely, that the uprising was not of a fascist or
anti-democratic character as these terms are generally understood; that armed Soviet assistance
was sought in all probability before a peaceful demonstration had taken on a violent character
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and that whether the intervention took place in a regular or irregular manner under the terms of
Hungarian constitutional processes is a matter which the Committee was not able to ascertain;
that Imre Nagy’s Government, whose legitimacy during the events was uncontested, had taken
practical steps for re-establishing public order and conditions for a normal pursuit of peaceful
activities of the people, and was reconstituting a democratic and parliamentary régime which
would have given to all Hungarians the exercise of political and human rights; that the Nagy
Government was endeavouring to bring about the withdrawal and not the intervention of the
Soviet armed forces, the presence of which it did not find necessary to maintain itself in power;
and that Mr. Kadar’s Government, on the other hand, not only was established because of the
assistance of the Soviet armed forces, but could not under the terms of the Hungarian
Constitution claim any but the most doubtful element of legality at the time of its appeal to the
Soviet Command for intervention. The Committee’s conclusions support, therefore, the
assumptions on which were based the resolutions of the General Assembly on the question of
Hungary and, in particular, resolution 1131 (XI).

324.  As was pointed out to the Committee in a communication from an international group
of jurists, the Soviet action in Hungary, “seen in its true light”, would probably be open to
condemnation under the Soviet Government’s own definitions of aggression. The Committee
confines itself, in this respect, to recalling that, in a long series of proposals aimed at
establishing guiding principles with a view to determining which State would be guilty of
aggression, the latest of which were submitted to the United Nations 1956 Special Committee
on the Question of Defining Aggression,(5) the Government of the USSR sought to obtain a
declaration by the General Assembly that, in an international conflict, that State should be
declared the attacker which first committed the act of “Invasion by its armed forces, even
without a declaration of war, of the territory of another State”. A State would be declared to
have committed an act of aggression if it “promotes an internal upheaval in another State or a
change of policy in favour of the aggressor”. This proposal provides, in particular, that the
direct attack or indirect aggression may not be justified by “(A) The internal situation of any
State, as for example: ... (b) Alleged shortcomings of its administration; ... (d) Any
revolutionary or counter-revolutionary movement, civil war, disorders or strikes; (e)
Establishment or maintenance in any State of any political, economic or social system”.

325. Leaving aside arguments of a juridical nature, it appeared quite clear to the Committee
that the Soviet military intervention had its essential reason in the desire to save a political
régime, and retain a military ally within its area of economic dominance. As reported by the
Budapest Radio, on 15 November 1956, Mr. Kadar explained to a delegation of the Greater
Budapest Workers’ Council that “we were compelled to ask for the intervention of Soviet
troops ... It has been made clear by the events of the past weeks that we were threatened with
the immediate danger of the overthrow of the people’s power ... We realized that this whole
movement could not be described as a counter-revolution, but we would have been blind if we
had ignored that, apart from the deep indignation felt over grave mistakes and the just demands
of the workers, there were also counter-revolutionary demands ... It was in such a situation
that some of us reached the conclusion that, first of all and by all means, even with the help of
Soviet troops, the counter-revolution must be broken by the people’s power consolidated with
the help of armed workers ...”(6) At the sixth session of the USSR Supreme Soviet held in
February 1957, Mr. Shepilov stated that “By assisting the Hungarian people, the USSR did its
international duty to the working people of Hungary and other socialist countries, in keeping
with the interest of world peace”, and in the “Joint Declaration of the Government of the
Soviet Union and the Government of the Hungarian People’s Republic”, issued upon the
conclusion of the negotiations held between the two Governments in Moscow from 20 March
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to 28 March 1957, it was again stated that “The participation of Soviet Army units in crushing
the fascist rebels was a supreme act of proletarian solidarity”.(7) Gyorgy Marosan, former First
Deputy Chairman of the Council of Ministers in the Hegediis Government and at present
Minister of State in the Kaddar Government, speaking in Republic Square in Budapest on 29
March 1957 and recalling that during the night of 23-24 October 1956 he personally had
demanded that Soviet troops be called in, seems to have correctly summarized the situation
from the point of view of the present rulers of Hungary by saying: “We know but one legality:
the legality of the Revolution.”(8)

D. The demand for withdrawal of Soviet armed forces

326. It will be recalled that four main communications were received by the United Nations
from Hungary during the period between 23 October and 7 November 1956:

(a) On 28 October, a “Declaration of the Government of the Hungarian People’s
Republic”,9) distributed to the Security Council at the request of Dr. Péter Kos, then
Permanent Representative of Hungary, protested against the consideration by the Council of
the Hungarian Question and stated that “the events which took place on 22 October 1956 and
thereafter, and the measures taken in the course of these events are exclusively within the
domestic jurisdiction of the Hungarian People’s Republic and consequently do not fall within
the jurisdiction of the United Nations”.

(b) On 1 November 1956, a cablegram from Imre Nagy, as President of the Council of
Ministers and “designated Minister for Foreign Affairs”,(10) after referring to the demand for
the instant and immediate withdrawal of Soviet forces of which the “further” entry into
Hungary was reported, stated the decision of the Hungarian Government immediately to
repudiate the Warsaw Treaty and simultaneously to declare Hungary’s neutrality. It requested
that the “Question of Hungary’s neutrality and the defence of this neutrality by the four Great
Powers” be placed on the agenda of the “forthcoming session of the General Assembly”. The
Hungarian Government, said the cablegram, “turns to the United Nations and requests the help
of the four Great Powers in defending the country’s neutrality”.

(c) On 2 November, a letter from Imre Nagy circulated to the members of the Security
Council,(11) referred to “further and exact information” pointing inter alia to the fact that “large
Soviet military units crossed the border of the country, marching toward Budapest”, and to
communications between the Hungarian Government and the Embassy of the USSR and all the
other diplomatic missions in Budapest, “about these steps directed against our People’s
Republic”. It reported that “the Hungarian Government forwarded concrete proposals on the
withdrawal of Soviet troops stationed in Hungary as well as the place of negotiations
concerning the execution of the termination of the Warsaw Pact” and had designated members
of two Hungarian Government delegations. The Hungarian Government requested the
Secretary-General “to call upon the Great Powers to recognize the neutrality of Hungary” and
asked “the Security Council to instruct the Soviet and Hungarian Governments to start the
negotiations immediately”.

(d) On 7 November, a cablegram dated 4 November from Janos Kédar and Imre Horvath
was distributed to the Security Council and to the General Assembly meeting at its second
emergency special session.(12) The cablegram declared that “Imre Nagy’s requests to the
United Nations to have the Hungarian Question discussed in the United Nations have no legal
force and cannot be considered as requests emanating from Hungary as a State. The
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Revolutionary Worker-Peasant Government objects categorically to any discussion of the said
question either by the Security Council or by the General Assembly because that question is
within the exclusive jurisdiction of the Hungarian People’s Republic”. On this date the Kadar
Government had been sworn in.

The Committee has endeavoured to gather within the means at its disposal all available
information on the events in Hungary which led to the sending of these communications.

327. From the study undertaken by the Committee and the testimony it has received, no
doubt remains as to the intensity of the desire of the Hungarian people for the complete
withdrawal of Soviet armed forces from Hungary. All Hungarian leaders, whether on
ideological grounds or for reasons derived from the geographical situation of their country,
have stressed since the end of the Second World War, the necessity of friendly and confident
relations with the Soviet Union. The withdrawal of the Soviet divisions and the ending of the
long military occupation appeared, however, to the intellectuals, as well as to the people in
general, as the reflection of their particularly strong desire for the achievement of the ideals of
national independence and equality between States. For obvious reasons, this aspiration,
although frequently expressed in private, was seldom referred to in print or on the radio. Once
stated, however, it became one of the principal rallying points of the uprising and one of the
main items of the revolutionary platform.

328.  Other chapters of this Report(13) relate how voices were raised in October 1956 asking
publicly for the departure of Soviet units from Hungary.(14) The circumstances are also told
under which, at the momentous plenary meeting of the Building Industry Technological
University students on 22 October “at the dawn of a new era of Hungarian history”, the
demand “for the immediate withdrawal of all Soviet troops in accordance with the provisions
of the Peace Treaty” became the first of the points of what has now become a historic
resolution. Another demand of the meeting related to “a re-examination and re-adjustment of
the Hungarian-Soviet and Hungarian-Yugoslav political, economic and intellectual relations on
the basis of complete political equality and of non-interference in each other’s economic and
internal affairs”. Point 8 referred to the publication of foreign trade agreements and of
information concerning Soviet concessions, with particular reference to uranium ore. The
proclamation of the Hungarian Writers’ Union of 23 October, adopting a more prudent
language, presented as its first point “an independent national policy based on the principles of
socialism”. “Our relations with all countries, and with the USSR and the People’s Democracies
in the first place”, it stated, “should be regulated on the basis of the principle of equality. We
want a review of international treaties and economic agreements in the spirit of the equality of
rights.” The second point of the proclamation read in part: “We want true and sincere
friendship with our allies - the USSR and the People’s Democracies. This can be realized on
the basis of Leninist principles only.” “Withdrawal of Soviet troops from Hungary” printed on
thousands of leaflets and repeatedly shouted by the crowds, became, however, one of the most
popular and most insistent slogans of the demonstration of 23 October.(15)

329. The military intervention of the Soviet armed forces on 24 October and the following
days made this demand more acute and brought with it the concrete realization that the
continued presence of a Soviet army on Hungarian territory would make impossible the
achievement of the aims of the uprising and, in particular, the holding of free elections and the
re-establishment of fundamental freedoms. Insistent pleas for the immediate withdrawal of
Soviet forces from Budapest and their eventual departure from Hungary came to the seat of
the Government from every quarter and became a condition of support for Mr. Nagy and his
Government by the Revolutionary and Workers’ Councils,(16) by associations of writers, artists
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and youth, by political leaders and by the free Press and radio. It was a condition put by the
freedom fighters for ceasing the fighting and laying down their arms. Practically in every
document of the Workers’ Councils, the sentence appeared “Work will not be resumed until
the Russians leave the country”. As stated in the testimony of one of the principal
revolutionary leaders of Greater Budapest, the withdrawal of all Soviet troops from Hungary
came to be “the pre-requisite to all our other demands” including political and human rights.
The stand taken by the Social-Democratic Party that it would participate in the Hungarian
Government only if the demands concerning the withdrawal of Soviet forces were fulfiled, was
stated by Anna Kéthly as late as 3 November 1956.(17)

330. Mr. Nagy did not delay giving expression to these popular feelings and to the demands
made on him in the course of the incessant meetings he was holding with revolutionary leaders,
and representatives of all segments of public opinion. Already on 25 October he had
announced on the radio that negotiations would be initiated with the Soviet Union on the
withdrawal of the Soviet forces stationed in Hungary. On 28 October at 5.25 p.m. after
announcing an agreement with the Soviet Government for the withdrawal of Soviet troops
from Budapest,(18) he stated that “the Hungarian Government will initiate negotiations on
relations between the Hungarian People’s Republic and the Soviet Union, among which will be
the withdrawal of the Soviet armed forces stationed in Hungary, in the spirit of Hungarian-
Soviet friendship, on the basis of national independence and equality among the socialist
countries”. On 30 October, in announcing the formation of his new Cabinet, Mr. Nagy
repeated “that the Government will, without delay, begin negotiations with the USSR
Government about the withdrawal of Soviet troops from Hungary”. The same day, a note
concerning the withdrawal of Soviet troops, drafted by the Prime Minister with the assistance
of Zoltan Tildy, Géza Losonczy and Zoltan Vas, was sent to the Soviet Government.

331.  On 30 October, the Soviet Government issued an important Declaration on the
“Principles for Further Developing and Strengthening Friendship and Co-operation between
the Soviet Union and other socialist countries”,(19) referring to no small number of difficulties,
unsolved problems and outright mistakes, which extended also to relations between the
socialist countries. “These violations and mistakes tended to deprecate the principle of equality
in relations between the socialist countries.” The Declaration recalled that “the Twentieth
Congress of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union resolutely condemned these violations
and mistakes and declared that it would be the task of the Soviet Union in its relations with
other socialist countries consistently to apply the Leninist principles of equality of nations”, in
its relations with other socialist countries and had proclaimed in this connexion the necessity of
taking fully into account the “historical past and specific features of each country”. The Soviet
Government stated in the Declaration its readiness to enter into discussions with the
Governments of other “socialist countries” with a view to “eliminating any possibility whatever
of violation of the principles of national sovereignty, mutual benefit and equality in economic
relations”. It regarded as “urgent” to discuss with the other socialist countries the question of
the desirability of the further stay of Soviet advisers in those countries. It declared its readiness
“to examine with the other socialist countries signatory to the Warsaw Treaty the question of
the Soviet troops stationed in the territory of the above-mentioned countries”, and recalled
“the general principle that the troops of any Warsaw Power may be stationed in the territory of
another Warsaw Power by agreement of all the Treaty members and solely with the consent of
the country in whose territory the troops have been stationed at its request, or are proposed to
he stationed”.
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332. Referring in particular to the events in Hungary, the Declaration of 30 October stated:
“In view of the fact that the continued presence of Soviet military units in Hungary may serve
as a pretext for still further aggravation of the situation, the Soviet Government has ordered its
military command to withdraw the Soviet units from Budapest as soon as the Hungarian
Government considers this necessary. At the same time, the Soviet Government is prepared to
begin negotiations with the Government of the Hungarian People’s Republic and other parties
to the Warsaw Treaty on the question of Soviet troops in Hungarian territory”.

333. Hopes were high in Budapest governmental circles, as well as among private citizens,
after this announcement from the Soviet Government had become known. In the evening of 30
October, the orderly withdrawal of Soviet troops from Budapest had begun and the
announcement had been made that it would be completed by 31 October. On 31 October,
addressing a crowd of several thousand people gathered in front of the Parliament Building,
Mr. Nagy expressed the triumphantly confident feelings of the Hungarians.(20) “Our national
Government”, he said, “will fight for our people’s independence and freedom. We shall not
tolerate any intervention in Hungarian internal affairs. We stand on the basis of equality,
national sovereignty and national equality. We shall build our policy firmly on the will of the
Hungarian people ... we are living in the first days of our sovereignty and independence ... *
“Today”, he said, “we have started negotiations on the withdrawal of the Soviet troops and on
the abrogation of the obligations imposed on us by the Warsaw Treaty. I only ask you to be a
little patient. I think that the results are such that you can place this confidence in me ... *

Receiving, soon after this speech, several foreign journalists, Mr. Nagy said that there was a
possibility of Hungary withdrawing from the Warsaw alliance alone, that is to say, without the
general dissolution of the Warsaw Treaty, and it was that attitude that Hungary would
represent energetically during the Hungarian-Soviet negotiations. In answer to the question
whether Hungary would become the nucleus of an East European neutral area, the Prime
Minister replied “this problem will come up sooner or later”. The same evening, in a taped
interview broadcast by Radio Vienna, Mr. Nagy said that while Hungary was in the Warsaw
Treaty “at present”, negotiations had begun on the matter of leaving it.

334. A witness stated that Zoltdn .Tildy appeared to have found encouragement in a
conversation he had had, on the same day, with Mr. Mikoyan. Having raised the question of
Soviet troops which had arrived in Hungary since 23 October, Mr. Tildy had obtained the
assurance from Mr. Mikoyan that these troops, which were not in Hungary by virtue of the
Warsaw Treaty, would be withdrawn. There was also a newspaper report that, on the same
day, Janos Kédar “conducted negotiations” with Mr. Mikoyan and Mr. Suslov on the
withdrawal of the Soviet troops.

335. This atmosphere of optimism was, however, short-lived. The news given of the with-
drawal of the Soviet troops was contradictory as between Radio Budapest and broadcasting
stations which were closer to the frontiers. While certain parts of the Soviet Army seemed to
be moving away from the capital, other formations were pouring into the country. As time
went on, news of the return of Soviet forces in increasing strength was confirmed at the seat of
the Government by numerous military and private sources.

336.  On the morning of 1 November, Mr. Nagy took over direction of the Foreign Ministry.
He summoned the Soviet Ambassador, Mr. Andropov, and told him that the Hungarian
Government had received authoritative information on the entry of new Soviet military units
into Hungary; this entry had not been requested or agreed to by the Hungarian Government; it
was a violation of the Warsaw Treaty, and, if the new reinforcements were not withdrawn to
their former positions, the Hungarian Government would denounce the Treaty. The Soviet
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Ambassador acknowledged the protest and promised to ask his Government for an immediate
reply. A telegram was also sent that morning by Mr. Nagy to the President of the Praesidium
of the Supreme Soviet of the USSR confirming the Hungarian Government’s wish “to
undertake immediate negotiations concerning the withdrawal of Soviet troops from the entire
territory of Hungary”. It referred to the Declaration of 30 October by the USSR Government
and requested the Soviet Government to designate a delegation and name the place and date
for the negotiations.(21)

337. Around noon the same day, according to testimony received by the Committee, the
Soviet Ambassador informed Mr. Nagy on the telephone that the Soviet Government
maintained fully its Declaration of 30 October and was ready to negotiate a partial withdrawal
of Soviet troops. He suggested that two delegations be appointed: one to discuss political
questions, and the other technical questions connected with the withdrawal. Mr. Andropov
also stated that the Soviet troops had been coming in across the border only for the purpose of
relieving those troops who had been fighting and in order to protect the Russian civilian
population in Hungary. Mr. Nagy answered that he did not find the explanation of the Soviet
Government to be satisfactory. Since Soviet troops continued to come into Hungary despite
the Soviet Declaration of 30 October, the Hungarian Government would now turn to the
United Nations. At 2 p.m. Prime Minister Nagy again telephoned Ambassador Andropov and
informed him that military experts had determined as a fact that new Soviet troops had crossed
the border within the last three hours. The Soviet Government, continued Mr. Nagy, was
trying to reoccupy Hungary, belying its own Declaration; for this reason, effective immediately,
Hungary was withdrawing from the Warsaw Treaty. At 4 p.m., the Council of Ministers met
and adopted the Declaration of Neutrality of Hungary and approved the withdrawal from the
Warsaw Treaty. According to a witness, Janos Kéadar was present at this meeting and there
was no dissent in the Cabinet. At 5 p.m. the Soviet Ambassador was asked to come to the
Parliament Building where, in the presence of the Council of Ministers, he received the
Declaration of Neutrality of Hungary. In the course of these conversations, Mr. Andropov
assured Mr. Nagy that the Soviet troops would leave, and apparently requested that the
Hungarian Government should withdraw its complaint to the United Nations. Mr. Nagy agreed
in principle to take this action, if the Soviet troops were actually withdrawn.

338. In the evening of the same day, various heads of diplomatic missions in Budapest were
urgently called to the Ministry for Foreign Affairs and were given a note verbale informing
them of Mr. Nagy’s protest to the Soviet Ambassador, of the Declaration of Neutrality and of
the request to the United Nations through which the aid of the four Great Powers was being
requested in defence of Hungary’s neutrality.(22) In the evening, at 7.50 p.m., in a message
broadcast to the Hungarian people, Mr. Nagy read the Declaration of Neutrality, which had
been considered by the Praesidium of the Communist Party in the morning, without meeting
any opposition, and approved in the afternoon by the Council of Ministers. The text was as
follows:

“People of Hungary! The Hungarian National Government, imbued with profound
responsibility towards the Hungarian people and history, and giving expression to the
undivided will of the Hungarian millions, declares the neutrality of the Hungarian People’s
Republic. The Hungarian people, on the basis of independence and equality and in accordance
with the spirit of the United Nations Charter wish to live in true friendship with their
neighbours, the Soviet Union and all of the peoples of the world. The Hungarian people desire
the consolidation and further development of the achievements of their national revolution
without joining any power blocs. The century-old dream of the Hungarian people is being
fulfiled. The revolutionary struggle fought by the Hungarian people and heroes has at last
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carried the cause of freedom and independence to victory. This heroic struggle has made
possible the enforcement, in our people’s international relations, of their fundamental national
interest: neutrality. We appeal to our neighbours, countries near and far, to respect the
unalterable decision of our people. It is indeed true that our people are as united in this
decision as perhaps never before in their history. Working millions of Hungary! Protect and
strengthen - with revolutionary determination, sacrificial work and the consolidation of order -
our country, the free, independent, democratic and neutral Hungary.”(23)

339. The announcement of neutrality apparently did not come as a complete surprise to
those Hungarians who had been in contact with Mr. Nagy prior to the October events. It has
been reported to the Committee that during his retirement from active political life in 1955,
Mr. Nagy had in his writings referred to the possibility of Hungary adopting a neutral status on
the Austrian pattern and that he had informed the Hungarian Workers’ Party and the Soviet
leaders of his views in this respect. As from 27 October he seems to have discussed this
problem with his assistants and some of his visitors. As soon as the rumour of these intentions
spread in Budapest and in the country, strong support manifested itself on 29, 30 and 31
October from various Workers’ Councils and other revolutionary organs as well as from
political, military and religious leaders. After the announcement the new policy was warmly
supported by the Press. Igazsag of 2 November said: “Neutrality, independence! This is a holy
feast for our nation. It is the source of boundless prosperity and cultural improvement ... Long
live our dear, neutral and independent country!”

340. As of 1 November, however, the purpose of the Declaration of Neutrality appears to
have been twofold. Not only did it correspond clearly to the general wishes of Hungarians to
gain an international status similar to that of Austria or Switzerland, but it also represented in
all probability an attempt by Mr. Nagy and his advisers to give assurances to the Soviet Union,
that Hungary would not enter into any military or political alliance directed against the USSR
or serve as a base for the armed forces of any other foreign nation. It was hoped that with the
support which might be forthcoming from other major Powers for Hungarian neutrality, the
march of the Soviet troops on Budapest might be stopped.

341. In three notes verbales addressed to the Soviet Embassy on 2 November, the Hunga-
rian Government protested against the military movements of the Soviet troops in Hungary and
the taking over by the Soviet Army of railway lines, railway stations, etc.(24) It suggested that,
as had been earlier proposed by the Soviet Union, negotiations should be begun forthwith on
the denunciation of the Warsaw Treaty and the neutrality of Hungary, preferably in Warsaw,
the Hungarian delegation to comprise Géza Losonczy, Minister of State, Jozsef Kdvago,
General Andras Marton, Ferenc Farkas and Vilmos Zentai. It also proposed that the committee
dealing with the military aspects of the question of withdrawal should meet on the same day in
the building of the Hungarian Parliament, the Hungarian delegation to consist of the Minister
of State Ferenc Erdei, Major General P4l Maléter, Major General Istvan Kovacs and Colonel
Miklés Sziics.

342.  On 3 November, in a Budapest completely encircled by the Soviet Army, while the
provinces were full of Soviet troops, a new Nagy Government was formed including
representatives of the four major political parties. Minister of State Ferenc Farkas, in a
broadcast on 3 November, said that the members of the Government agreed, on the following
points among others: (1) “to retain the most sincere and warmest economic and cultural
relations with every socialist country, even after we have obtained neutrality;” (2) “to establish
economic and cultural relations with other peace-loving countries of the world, also;” (3) to
“continue our efforts and the negotiations” with the USSR in regard to Hungarian neutrality
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and independence and the withdrawal of Soviet troops; (4) “We consider it absolutely
necessary” to appeal to the USSR, to the Chinese People’s Republic, to Yugoslavia and
Poland “to support us in the peaceful establishment of our cause”.(25)

343. Mr. Andropov had informed Mr. Nagy in the morning of 3 November that the
Government of the USSR was accepting the proposals for negotiations. It was not yet in a
position to designate the members of the political delegation, but was ready to start
immediately negotiations on the military aspects of the withdrawal of the Soviet troops. These
latter negotiations began around noon, the Hungarian delegation consisting, in addition to Mr.
Nagy, of the four nominees mentioned above and the Soviet delegation comprising General
Malinin, Lieutenant-General Stepanov and Major-General Cherbanin. At the end of the
meeting, the Hungarian negotiators, in particular the Minister of National Defence, General
Maléter, and the Chief of the General Staff, General Kovacs, seemed pleased. The atmosphere
of the negotiations had been good and the Soviet Generals accommodating. A number of
technical points had been agreed to, on the assumption of a complete withdrawal of the Soviet
forces from Hungary. The only real point of difference was the date of the completion of the
withdrawal, the Hungarian negotiators asking that the full evacuation should be effective by
December and their Soviet opposite numbers insisting, for technical reasons, on 15 January. A
special committee was to be formed to direct the withdrawal of men and material. The
Hungarian negotiators accepted the Soviet demand that Soviet troops should leave the country
with full ceremonial, the last units leaving to the accompaniment of military music. The Soviet
war memorials, destroyed during the Revolution, were to be replaced and maintained (nothing,
however, seems to have been said about the Stalin statue in Budapest). The meeting was to be
continued at 10 p.m. at the Soviet Army Head quarters at Tokol, where the Soviet negotiators
would be in direct telephone communication with Moscow.

344. A temporary atmosphere of trust and confidence developed, therefore, during the
afternoon at the Parliament Building. An announcement was made on the radio that the Soviet
delegation had promised that several trains carrying Soviet troops would not cross the
Hungarian frontier. The feeling of optimism was not only based on the report of the
negotiators that the Soviet Army might withdraw, if it could save face by having the
withdrawal accompanied by military honours and gestures of Hungarian gratitude. Some
members of the Hungarian governmental circles felt that, whatever the preferences of the
Soviet Army might be, the Soviet political leadership may have come to realize that a partial
occupation of Hungary would not really be effective in the future, especially at a time of crisis,
and that a total occupation would be costly and would involve a considerable loss of prestige
in the outside world. In order to obtain a definite promise of withdrawal, the Hungarian leaders
were ready to make concessions as to the actual date of the completion of the movement of
Soviet troops and to comply with a demand formulated, according to a witness, by the Soviet
negotiators, that Hungarians should repay to the Soviet Union the cost of all weapons given to
the Hungarian Army since the end of the Second World War.

345.  Other chapters of this Report relate the events in the evening: the beginning of the
negotiations at the Soviet Headquarters, the intervention of Soviet officers, and the arrest of
the Hungarian representatives and their subsequent transfer to the Soviet Union.(26) Mr.
Nagy’s and his fellow Ministers’ last appeals during the night will also be recalled, as well as
the announcement on the Budapest Radio of the convening of the meeting of the United
Nations Security Council.(27)
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346. What did the Hungarian insurrection expect from the United Nations? Far from taking
the position that the situation in Hungary was of no concern to the United Nations, as soon as
doubts arose as to the willingness of the Soviet Union to withdraw its troops from Hungary,
the Nagy Government, with the full support of the revolutionary organizations, sought to
obtain the assistance of the United Nations in the achievement of the international aims of the
insurrection and, through the Organization, the support of the major Powers. On 28 or 29
October, it revoked Peter Kos, the Permanent Representative of Hungary and charged Janos
Szabd with the responsibility of transmitting its communications to the United Nations organs.
The Hungarian delegation composed of Imre Horvath, Endre Sik and Imre Vajda, which was
already in Vienna on its way to New York, had been instructed to return to Budapest. It was
reported to the Committee that the sending of a new delegation composed of leaders of the
parties represented in the Government was under active consideration. It was also reported
that Mr. Nagy himself gave thought to the possibility of personally coming to the United
Nations and making an appeal for the support of the Organization, and the name of Miss Anna
Kéthly was also mentioned in this connexion. The Government felt, however, that their
presence in Budapest was essential.

347. The Government as well as the people hoped for active support by the Organization in
their demand for Soviet withdrawal, as well as for the projected neutrality status. It was
thought that a visit by a delegation from the United Nations or by the Secretary-General might
stave off the Soviet armed advance and its final overthrow of the Government. There was
some hope among the public for United Nations moves similar to those which were then being
undertaken with respect to the Middle East situation, a call for a cease-fire and possibly the
sending of a United Nations Force. These expectations were not, however, very precise.
Undoubtedly, there was disappointment that the United Nations was not acting with greater
speed and determination. Except for isolated cases, none of the witnesses interrogated by the
Committee wished, however, for a military intervention from the outside which might have
started a general war. Most of them thought that such a military intervention would not be
necessary, as political action would be sufficient.(28)

E. Question of the withdrawal of Soviet armed forces after 4 November 1956(29)

348. The demand of the people of Hungary for the departure of Soviet troops did not abate
after the overthrow of the Nagy Government, the military reoccupation of Budapest and the
cessation of hostilities. Not only did posters and leaflets continue to appear in the names of
various Hungarian organizations including, among other demands, those for the withdrawal of
Soviet forces, an independent neutral Hungary and discussion of these matters, by the
Government with the Soviet Union and the United Nations, but Hungarian leaders did not
hesitate to express these demands publicly.

349. At a meeting between representatives of a Workers’ Council and the Soviet city
commander on 8 November, General Grebennik asked - so the Committee was informed by a
witness - why the workers were not returning to work. The President of the Workers’ Council
made four demands, among which were those for the withdrawal of Soviet forces from
Budapest and the rest of Hungary, a proclamation of neutrality on the model of Austria and the
denunciation of the Warsaw Treaty. The Soviet commander replied by an adaptation of a
Russian saying: “Soviet troops will leave the territory of Hungary only when crayfish whistle
and fishes sing.”
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350. At a meeting on 13 November at Ujpest, at a location encircled by Soviet tanks,
delegates of workers’ councils drafted a seven-point programme, the first of which was “the
immediate withdrawal of Russian troops from the territory of Hungary”, the fourth, the holding
of free elections at a definite date under the supervision of the United Nations; the fifth,
immediate withdrawal from the Warsaw Treaty; the sixth, an effort to secure recognition of
Hungary’s neutrality throughout the world; the seventh, the re-examination and publication of
all commercial agreements. On the same day, Sandor Géspar, Chairman of the National
Federation of Free Trade Unions, declared that the trade unions stood by the people’s demand
for the withdrawal of the Soviet troops from Budapest and the whole of the country.

351. On the same day also, two printed manifestos were widely distributed in the city of
Budapest; one proclamation issued by the Writers’ Union, the Academy of Science, the
Hungarian Telegraph Agency and other institutions demanded, among other things, the
withdrawal of Soviet troops and a neutral status for Hungary. The second, a resolution
presented by the Workers’ Council of the Budapest industrial areas, offered to resume work
only if certain demands were met. These included demands for the immediate withdrawal of
Soviet troops from Budapest and negotiations for their orderly withdrawal from Hungary. On
15 November, the delegates of the Greater Budapest Workers’ Council, reporting on their
interview with Mr. Kadar, stated that the Government had given “an earnest promise” in
connexion with the fulfilment, within the foreseeable future, of their revolutionary demands
formulated on 23 October, including “the gradual withdrawal” of Soviet troops from the
country’s territory. In case of non-fulfilment by the Government of its pledge, the strike
weapon would again be applied, stated the announcement of the Council. It was explained that
the delegates of the Council realized that the Government could not satisfy their demand for
the immediate withdrawal of Soviet troops in “the prevailing international situation”.

352. A document issued by the Revolutionary Council of Hungarian Intellectuals in
Budapest on 17 November stated the object of the revolutionaries in foreign affairs as the
repudiation of the Warsaw Treaty, the ending of participation by Hungary in the “Council of
Mutual Economic Aid”, the removal of all foreign military bases and the neutrality of Hungary.
The document advocated placing all uranium ore mined in Hungary at the disposal of “the
International Organization set up to utilize atomic energy for peaceful purposes” and inviting
troops from other States to replace those of the Soviet Union, and to take over for a limited
time, if necessary, frontier defence and other military functions. At a meeting of the Central
Workers’ Council of Csepel with the Soviet Commander on 23 November, one of the demands
was once again “that negotiations should start immediately for the withdrawal of Soviet
troops”.

353. The memorandum issued by the Pet6fi Party (formerly the National Peasant Party) on
26 November also contained a demand for talks with the Soviet Government and the Soviet
military commanders with a view to Soviet troop withdrawal, first to their bases and, secondly,
completely from Hungary. On 30 November, the League of Hungarian University and College
Student Associations (MEFESZ) issued a statement which included the following: “University
youth adheres to its programme issued on 23 October”; “We consider that order and calm and
the resumption of production and of transport are necessary in order that the demands of our
national democratic revolution - demands which were abused by the counter-revolution -
should be realized, such as the withdrawal of Soviet troops.” On 5 December, some 2,000
persons gathered outside the Legations of some of the Western Powers, singing the Hungarian
national anthem and chanting among their demands ‘“Russians, go home”, “We want United
Nations’ help”.
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354.  On 8 December, a memorandum containing an important foreign policy statement was
issued in the name of the Independent Smallholders’ Party, the Petdfi Party, the Greater
Budapest Workers” Council of Budapest, the Revolutionary Council of Hungarian
Intellectuals, the Hungarian Writers’ Union and the League of Hungarian University and
College Student Associations. Noting that “one of the main factors which has brought about
the present serious situation, has been the misleading information and analysis of the character
and objectives of the Hungarian revolution which has reached the leading statesmen of the
Soviet Union from those who stand for the evil regime destroyed on 23 October 1956, or who
want to restore it and its methods”, the memorandum stated that “the Soviet Government’s
decision not to enter into negotiations about the withdrawal of Soviet troops stationed in
Hungary and the adjustment of Hungarian-Soviet relations until order has finally been restored
is due to such misinterpretation of the facts”. “The very presence of Soviet troops”, the
memorandum continued, “prevents the realization of the condition demanded by the Soviet
Government for the withdrawal of their forces”. As the only escape from this impasse, the
memorandum suggested that the Soviet Government and a provisional Hungarian Government,
which would be set up on democratic principles, reach an agreement on a re-examination, in
conjunction with the other member States, of the obligations laid down in the Warsaw Treaty,
the method and date of the withdrawal of Soviet armed forces from Hungary, the repatriation
of Hungarian citizens arrested by Soviet authorities, and the adjustment of Hungarian-Soviet
economic relations in the spirit of the Polish-Soviet economic agreement. If the Soviet
Government considered it necessary to have further guarantees, prohibition of the stationing of
foreign armed units and foreign military bases on Hungarian territory, as well as the use of
fissile material exclusively for non-military purposes under the sole control of the International
Organization, would be prescribed by constitutional law, the memorandum added.

355.  Asto Mr. Kéadar, it will be recalled that in his broadcast of 4 November announcing the
formation of the Hungarian Revolutionary Worker-Peasant Government, he gave, as part of his
Government’s programme, point fifteen, which read as follows: “After the restoration of order
and calm the Hungarian Government will begin negotiations with the Soviet Government, and
with the other participants to the Warsaw Treaty, about the withdrawal of Soviet troops from
Hungary.” The policy of making the maintenance of order the condition for starting
negotiations on withdrawal was repeated by the Press and radio. An editorial in the
Népszabadsag of 14 November, stated: “As regards the departure of Soviet troops, this is
desired by all, with the exception of a few embittered Rakosi-ites. There is no Hungarian
patriot who can be pleased with the fact that Soviet tanks are rumbling through the Hungarian
capital. The Soviet Government has announced that the Soviet troops will not leave our capital
and the country until order is restored. This decision we cannot change; the strike would only
destroy us. Instead of hastening, it merely delays still longer the withdrawal of Soviet troops
and, in the final analysis it postpones the democratic political development that must take place
in our country.”

356. Mr. Kadar’s position as to the prospective negotiations with the Soviet Union on the
withdrawal of its troops from Hungary was restated by him in a radio address on 8§ November:
“The Government agrees with the demand that Soviet troops should leave Hungary as soon as
peace and order are restored and it will begin negotiations for this purpose.” On 11 November,
he stated that after the counter-revolution had been smashed and the People’s Republic
strengthened with the help of the Soviet forces, negotiations would be opened “concerning the
question of the withdrawal of Soviet forces from the country”. This was restated by Mr. Kadar
on 28 November.
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357. In his cablegram to the Secretary-General of the United Nations of 12 November, Mr.
Kadar, while asserting that the Hungarian Government and the Soviet Government were
“exclusively competent to carry on negotiations concerning the withdrawal of the Soviet
troops from Hungary”, stated “After the complete restoration of order, the Hungarian
Government will immediately begin negotiations with the Government of the Soviet Union for
the withdrawal of these troops from Hungary”.:30) On 19 November 1956, Mr. Shepilov said
in the General Assembly that “The question of the Soviet troops in Hungary will be settled in
accordance with that declaration {of the USSR Government of 30 October 1956. By
agreement with the Hungarian Government, the Soviet troops will be promptly withdrawn
from Budapest, once normal conditions are restored in the Hungarian capital. At the same
time, the Soviet Government will begin negotiations with the Government of the Hungarian
People’s Republic, as a party to the Warsaw Treaty, on the question of maintaining Soviet
troops on Hungarian territory.”

358. Imre Horvath, Minister of Foreign Affairs, stated in the General Assembly, on 3
December 1956:

“The Soviet forces were present in Hungary with the approval of the Hungarian Government;
even at the request of that Government. The moment the Hungarian Government so desires,
the Soviet forces will leave, just as they have already once evacuated Budapest.” On 10
December, in the General Assembly, Mr. Kuznetsov still referred to the 30 October
Declaration indicating the willingness of the Soviet Government to enter into negotiations with
the Government of Hungary and the Governments of other countries, parties to the Warsaw
Treaty, regarding the stationing of Soviet armed forces in Hungary. However, he brought this
problem into relationship with the presence of foreign armed forces on the territories of other
States.

359. A change from the previous position of the Kadar Government became apparent from
the middle of December onwards. The Militia force organized by Mr. Miinnich had by then
increased its strength and was taking over security duties from the Soviet forces. The Soviet
forces began to withdraw to barracks formerly occupied by the Hungarian Army and became
progressively less visible in the streets of Budapest.

360. A declaration of policy entitled “On Major Tasks” issued by the Kddar Government on
5 January 1957(31) referred to the Government’s reliance on the “international solidarity of the
workers and on a lasting alliance with the Soviet Union and every country in the socialist
camp”. As to “the Soviet Army in the present exacerbated situation”, it “is defending the
Hungarian people on Hungarian territory against a possible military attack from external
imperialist forces, and it ensures by this that our people may live in peace and devote their
powers to the great cause of building socialism and making the country prosperous”. After
noting that the disturbing factors in the Hungarian-Russian relationship had recently been
liquidated by full agreement, the Declaration of 5 January continued: “The Hungarian and
Soviet Governments are desirous of settling, in accordance with the two countries’ friendly and
brotherly relations of alliance, through friendly negotiations, all present and future questions, in
Hungarian-Soviet relations, including questions connected with the Soviet forces in Hungary.
The basis of the settlement is proletarian internationalism, respect for equality, sovereignty and
national independence, non-interference with each other’s internal affairs and mutual benefit, as
declared by the Soviet Union in her statement of 30 October on her relations with the People’s
Democracies”. There is no other reference in this Declaration to the question of the Soviet
forces in Hungary.
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361. The new attitude towards the presence of the Soviet Army in Hungary was reflected by
Mr. Kédar in a speech in Salgotarjan on 2 February 1957.

“ ... They say that there are foreign troops on Hungarian territory, meaning the Soviet troops.
Comrades, these soldiers are soldiers belonging to the troops of a friendly socialist country,
sons and daughters of the October Revolution, our brothers and helpers. For us they are not
foreign troops. What foreign troops mean would have been experienced by the duped students,
if 23 October had gone on for another two or three weeks and if really foreign troops - those
of imperialist countries and governments - had come here. They would have found what it
means to have foreign troops on the territory of a country.”

362. In its communication to the United Nations of 4 February 1957, the Kédar Government
stated, however, that “as far as the presence and the withdrawal of Soviet troops from
Hungarian territory are concerned, this question comes under the exclusive purview of the
Hungarian and Soviet Governments and of the other member States of the Warsaw Treaty.
The Hungarian Government, once again, stated on 6 January that it intended to settle questions
in connexion with Soviet troops stationed in Hungary by negotiations between the Hungarian
and Soviet Governments. The principles on which the settlement would be based were laid
down in the well-known statement made by the Soviet Union on 30 October”.

363. The Declaration of the Governments of the Hungarian People’s Republic and the
Soviet Union” of 28 March 1957 contains only the expression of the resolution of the two
Governments “to support and reinforce the Warsaw Treaty which is called upon to provide a
reliable safeguard against all the intrigues of the aggressive circles of the imperialist States”.
Referring to the presence of Soviet troops on Hungarian territory, the Declaration says: “The
presence of units of the Soviet Army on the territory of Hungary is a decisive factor protecting
the country from aggressive attempts of the imperialists as was shown by the October and
November events”. Both Governments declare that “the temporary presence of Soviet troops
under the terms of the Warsaw Treaty is dictated by the present international situation”. It is
further added that “the two sides will shortly hold talks on the presence of Soviet military units
in Hungary to determine their strength, composition and location, and will conclude an
agreement on the legal status of the Soviet troops temporarily stationed on the territory of the
Hungarian People’s Republic”.(32) There was no mention in the Declaration of withdrawal in
the immediate future. In implementation of the Declaration, an agreement was concluded on 27
May 1957 between the Government of the USSR and the Government of the Hungarian
People’s Republic “on the legal status of Soviet forces stationed temporarily on the territory of
the Hungarian People’s Republic”.(33)

364. The change of the initial position seems by now complete: as reported in the press, Mr.
Kadar said on 11 May 1957 in his speech to the Hungarian Parliament:

“We are supporters of the Warsaw Treaty and consequently we are also supporters of the
presence of Soviet troops in Hungary, as long as we are faced with the aggressive ambitions of
the imperialists and the gathering of the imperialists’ forces”.(34)

F. Final Observations

365. The foregoing paragraphs recall in a comprehensive manner the main provisions of
published international instruments bearing on Hungary’s commitments with respect to the
stationing and possible utilization of Soviet forces on Hungarian territory. They describe step
by step the efforts made by the Nagy Government, in response to the demands of the

111



Hungarian nation, to obtain the cessation of the Soviet intervention and the ultimate permanent
withdrawal of Soviet armed forces from Hungary.

366. It is incontrovertible that the Nagy Government, whose legality under the Hungarian
Constitution, until it was deposed, cannot be contested, protested against the entry and the use
of Soviet forces on Hungarian territory, and not only asked that these forces should not
intervene in Hungarian affairs, but negotiated and pressed for their ultimate withdrawal. The
actions of the Nagy Government give proof of the firm desire of the Hungarians, as long as
they could publicly express their aspirations, to achieve a genuinely independent international
status for their country.

367. It is no less incontrovertible that the Nagy Government was overthrown by force. Its
successor assumed power as a result of military aid by a foreign State. The Nagy Government
neither resigned nor transferred its powers to the Kadar Government. Noteworthy is the
acceptance by the Kadar Government, after initial declarations to the contrary, of the
continued presence of Soviet forces in Hungary.

368. There is no doubt as to the aspirations of the immense majority of the Hungarian
people. The presence of the Soviet Army on Hungarian territory is for Hungarians the visible
attestation of Hungarian subordination to an outside Power and of the impossibility for their
country to pursue its own ideals. The aspiration for the withdrawal of the Soviet armed forces
is based on the deep patriotic feelings of the Hungarians, having their source in their historic
past. Their will for regaining full international independence is powerful and has only been
strengthened by the role played by the Soviet military command in the post war years by the
establishment of a political régime patterned after that of the Soviet Union and more recently
by the Soviet military intervention to guarantee that régime’s continuance.

369. The Committee has not found that these feelings and aspirations were antagonistic to
the Soviet Union as a State or to the Soviet people as individuals or that they excluded
sympathy of a great many Hungarians for a number of features of the Soviet economic and
social system. Although the idea of neutrality has been put forward, the precise implications of
such an international status were not defined; it appeared to the Committee to be only one of
the expressions of the desire of the Hungarians for vindicating the sovereign independence of a
country virtually subject to military occupation. Hungarian leaders who appeared before the
Committee or whose statements have been examined have asserted the necessity for their
country to maintain with the Soviet Union correct, and even friendly, political, military and
economic relations and have indicated their readiness to give, in that connexion, all the
necessary guarantees.

Annex A

Agreement between the Government of the Hungarian People Republic, and the Government
of the USSR on the legal status of Soviet forces temporarily stationed on the territory of the
Hungarian People’s Republic concluded in Budapest, 27 May 1957(35)

The Government of the Hungarian People’s Republic and the Government of the Union of
Soviet Socialist Republics fully resolve to exert all their efforts to preserve and strengthen
peace and security in Europe and the world at large, taking into account that in the present
international situation - at a time when there exists the aggressive North Atlantic alliance, when
West Germany is being remilitarized and the revanchist forces are being increasingly activized
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in the country, at a time when the United States and other participants in the North Atlantic
alliance are maintaining their numerous forces and military bases in close proximity to socialist
States - a threat to the security of these States is developing; taking note of the fact that in
these conditions the temporary stationing of Soviet forces on the territory of the Hungarian
People’s Republic is expedient for the purpose of safeguarding joint defence against the
possibility of aggression and that it accords with international agreements, and desirous of
settling questions connected with the temporary presence of Soviet forces on the territory of
the Hungarian People’s Republic, the Government of the Hungarian People’s Republic and the
Government of the USSR have decided, in accordance with their declaration dated 28 March
1957, to conclude this a and have for this purpose appointed their plenipotentiaries:

The Government of the Hungarian People’s Republic: Imre Horvath, Minister of Foreign
Affairs of the Hungarian People’s Republic, Géza Révész, Minister of Defence of the
Hungarian People’s Republic; the Government of the USSR: A. A. Gromyko, Minister of
Foreign Affairs of the USSR, G. K. Zhukov, Minister of Defence of the USSR, who, after
exchanging their credentials, which were found to be in proper order and form, agreed on the
following:

Article [

The temporary presence of Soviet forces on the territory of the Hungarian People’s Republic in
no way affects the sovereignty of the Hungarian State; the Soviet forces do not interfere in the
internal affairs of the Hungarian People’s Republic.

Article 11

1. The numerical strength of Soviet forces temporarily on the territory of the Hungarian
People’s Republic, and the places of their stationing, are determined on the basis of special
agreements between the Government of the Hungarian People’s Republic and the Government
of the USSR.

2. Movements of Soviet forces on the territory of the Hungarian People’s Republic
outside the places of their stationing require in each case the agreement of the Government of
the Hungarian People’s Republic or of Hungarian organs authorized by the Hungarian
Government to act for it.

3. The training and manoeuvres of the Soviet troops on the territory of the Hungarian
People’s Republic outside their stationing areas are carried out either on the basis of the plans
agreed on with the proper Hungarian Government bodies, or with the approval in each case of
the Government of the Hungarian People’s Republic or the proper Hungarian authorities.

Article II1

The Soviet forces stationed on the territory of the Hungarian People’s Republic, their
dependants and members of the dependants’ families are in duty bound to respect and observe
the provisions of the Hungarian laws.

Article IV

1. The Soviet troops stationed on the territory of the Hungarian People’s Republic wear
their uniforms and have and carry arms in accordance with the rules established in the Soviet
Army.

2. The transport vehicles of the Soviet military units must have a clear registration number
which is fixed by the command of the Soviet troops and is reported to the competent
Hungarian organs.
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3. The competent Hungarian organs recognize the validity without a test or charge, of the
driver’s licence issued by the competent Soviet bodies to personnel of the Soviet forces
stationed on the territory of the Hungarian People’s Republic.

Article V

Questions of jurisdiction connected with the stationing of the Soviet troops on the territory of
the Hungarian People’s Republic are settled in the following way:

1. In criminal cases and in cases including offences committed by personnel of the Soviet
forces or members of their families on the territory of the Hungarian People’s Republic, the
Hungarian laws, as a general rule, apply, and Hungarian courts and prosecutor’s offices and
other Hungarian bodies competent to prosecute crimes and offences are effective. Crimes
committed by Soviet servicemen are investigated by courts martial and are tried by organs of
the military judiciary of the Hungarian People’s Republic.

2. The rules of item 1 of the above Article are not applied:

A. In cases where members of the Soviet forces or members of their families commit
crimes or offences only against the Soviet Union, personnel of the Soviet forces, or members
of their families;

B. In cases where the personnel of the Soviet forces commit crimes or offences while on
duty.

In the cases mentioned in A and B, Soviet laws apply and Soviet courts, prosecutor’s offices
and other Soviet organs competent to prosecute crimes and offences are effective.

3. Competent Soviet and Hungarian organs may ask each other to transfer or accept
jurisdiction in separate cases stipulated in this article. Such requests will have favourable
examination.

Article VI

When a crime has been committed against the Soviet troops present on the territory of the
Hungarian People’s Republic or against servicemen who are members of the Soviet forces,
persons who commit such crimes are to be prosecuted by the courts of the Hungarian People’s
Republic in the same way as for the crimes against Hungarian armed forces or Hungarian
servicemen.

Article VII

1. Competent Soviet and Hungarian organs will give each other every assistance,
including legal aid, in the prosecution of crimes and offences listed in articles V and VI of this
agreement.

2. Special agreement of the contracting parties will define the principles and the order of
rendering the aid mentioned in clause 1 of this article, as well as the aid involved in dealing
with civilian cases arising in connexion with the presence of the Soviet troops on the territory
of the Hungarian People’s Republic.

Article VIII

At the request of competent Hungarian organs of authority, a person who is a member of the
Soviet forces and is guilty of having violated Hungarian law will be recalled from the territory
of the Hungarian People’s Republic.
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Article IX

1. The Government of the USSR agrees to compensate the Government of the Hungarian
People’s Republic for material damage which may be inflicted upon the Hungarian State by the
actions or the neglect of Soviet military units or of individual servicemen; as well as for
damage which may be caused by Soviet troops, units, or servicemen in the course of their
duties, to Hungarian premises and citizens or to citizens of other States present on the territory
of the Hungarian People’s Republic; in both cases the sums involved will be those established
by a joint commission formed in accordance with article XVII of the present agreement, on the
basis of submitted claims and taking into consideration the decisions of Hungarian legislation.
Disputes which may arise as a result of the obligations of the Soviet military units are also to
be examined by the joint commission on the same basis.

2. The Government of the USSR also agrees to compensate the Government of the
Hungarian People’s Republic for the damage which may be caused to Hungarian premises and
citizens, or citizens of other States present on the territory of the Hungarian People’s Republic,
as a result of the action or neglect of persons who are members of the Soviet forces,
committed not during the execution of their service duties; and also as a result of actions or
neglect of the members of families of the servicemen of Soviet troops - in both cases the
amounts will be established by a competent Hungarian court on the basis of complaints against
the persons who caused the damage.

Article X

1. The Government of the Hungarian People’s Republic agrees to compensate the
Government of the USSR for damage which may be caused to the property of the Soviet
military units present on the territory of the Hungarian People’s Republic, and to persons who
are members of the Soviet forces, by the action or the neglect of Hungarian State offices to the
amounts established by the joint commission formed in accordance with article XVII of this
agreement, on the basis of the claims submitted and taking into consideration the decisions of
Hungarian legislation.

Disputes which may arise out of obligations of Hungarian State offices to Soviet military units
are also to be examined by the joint commission on the same basis.

2. The Government of the Hungarian People’s Republic also agrees to compensate the
Government of the USSR for damage which may be caused to Soviet military units present on
the territory of the Hungarian People’s Republic, to persons who are members of the Soviet
forces, and to members of their families, as a result of the actions or neglect of Hungarian
citizens - the amounts to be established by the Hungarian court on the basis of the complaints
made against the persons who caused the damage.

Article X1

1. Compensation for the damage stipulated in articles IX and X will be paid by the Soviet
side and by the Hungarian side respectively within three months of the date on which the
decision is taken by the joint commission or the date of the coming into force of the decision of
the court. The payment of the sums due to the persons or offices suffering damage in the cases
stipulated in article IX of the present agreement will be carried out by competent Hungarian
organs, and in the cases stipulated in article X of the present agreement by competent Soviet
organs.
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2. Claims for compensation for the damage mentioned in articles IX and X which have
arisen since the peace treaty with Hungary came into force, and which had not been satisfied be
fore the coming into force of the present agreement, are to be examined by the joint
commission.

Article XII

The construction in places where the Soviet forces are stationed of buildings, airfields, roads,
bridges, permanent radio communication installations, including the fixing of their frequencies
and power, require the approval of the competent Hungarian authorities. Similar approval is
also required for the setting up of establishments outside the places where the Soviet forces are
stationed, for the convenience of personnel of the Soviet forces.

Article XIII

Questions relating to the procedure and conditions for the use of Soviet forces of barrack and
administrative premises, store houses, airfields, training grounds, means of transport and
communication, electric power, communal and training services, connected with the temporary
stay of Soviet forces on the territory of the Hungarian People’s Republic, are settled by special
agreements of competent bodies of the signatory sides; the agreements in force on the
aforementioned questions will, if necessary, be re-examined for the purpose of defining them in
greater detail.

Article XIV

In case the property and facilities listed in article XIII used by the Soviet forces are
relinquished, such property and facilities will be returned to the Hungarian organs. Questions
connected with the transfer to Hungarian authorities of property relinquished by Soviet forces
on the territory of the Hungarian People’s Republic, including buildings erected by the Soviet
forces, will be settled by special agreements.

Article XV

For the purpose of settling current questions connected with the stationing of Soviet forces in
Hungary, the Government of the Hungarian People’s Republic and the Government of the
USSR appoint their plenipotentiaries to deal with matters pertaining to the stationing of the
Soviet forces in Hungary.

Article XVI

Within the meaning of the present agreement:

“A member of the personnel of the Soviet forces” is:
A. A serviceman of the Soviet Army;

B. A civilian who is a Soviet citizen and works in units of the Soviet forces in the
Hungarian People’s Republic.

“Place of stationing” is territory made available to Soviet forces, comprising places where
military units are quartered with training grounds, shooting grounds and ranges, and other
property used by these units.
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Article XVII

For the purpose of solving questions connected with the interpretation or application of this
agreement and supplementary agreements provided for by it, a Soviet-Hungarian mixed
commission, to which each of the signatories appoints three of its representatives, is being set
up. The mixed commission will act in accordance with rules which it will adopt.

Budapest will be the headquarters of the mixed commission. Should the mixed commission be
unable to solve a question submitted to it, the question will be solved through diplomatic
channels in the shortest possible time.

Article XVIII

This agreement is subject to ratification and will come into force on the day the instruments of
ratification are exchanged, the exchange to take place in Moscow.

Article XIX

This agreement remains in force for the duration of the stationing of Soviet forces on the
territory of the Hungarian People’s Republic, and can be modified with the approval of the
signatories.

This agreement has been drawn up in Budapest on 27 May 1957 in the Hungarian and Russian
languages; both texts have equal validity. In testimony whereof, the aforementioned authorized
representatives have signed this agreement and have thereto affixed their seals.

On behalf of the Government of the Hungarian People’s Republic: Imre Horvath, Minister of
Foreign Affairs; G. Révész, Minister of Defence.

On behalf of the Government of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics: A. A. Gromyko,
Minister of Foreign Affairs; G. K. Zhukov, Minister of Defence.

(1)Reference should now be made to the Agreement of 27 May 1957 between Hungary and the USSR, the text of which is
annexed to this chapter.

(2)New Times, No. 21, 21 May 1955 - “Documents”.
(3)Chapter VI, para. 226.

(4)Memorandum of 4 February 1956 transmitted by the Permanent Representative of Hungary to the Secretary-General for
distribution to Members of the United Nations (A/3521).

(5)A/3574, Report of the Special Committee on the Question of Defining Aggression, Annex II, document A/AC77/L.4.
(6)Népszabadsag, 16 November 1956.

(7)Ibid., 29 March 1957.

(8)Hungarian Telegraph Agency, broadcast over Radio Budapest in French, 29 March 1957, 11 p.m.

(9)S/3691.

(10)A/3251.

(11)S/3726.

(12)A/3311; S/3739.

(13)Chapters Ix and X.

(14)The first reported public demand for the withdrawal of Soviet troops from Hungary was made by a writer on 16
October, at a meeting held in Gy6r (Gyor-Sopronmegyei Hirlap, 19 October 1956).

(15)Chapter IX, para. 403 and chapter X, para. 442.
(16)Chapter XI, paras. 504, 506 and 548.
(17)Chapter XII, para. 580.

117



(18)The relevant paragraph in Mr. Nagy’s speech read: “The Hungarian Government has agreed with the Soviet Govern-
ment that the Soviet troops will immediately begin their withdrawal from Budapest and simultaneously with the
establishment of the new security forces, will leave the city’s territory.”

(19)New Times, No. 45, November 1956.
(20)Magyar Nemzet, 1 November 1956.
(21)Magyar Nemzet, 1 November 1956.
(22)Népszabadsag, 2 November 1956.
(23)Ibid.

(24)See Népakarat, 3 November 1956.
(25)Chapter XII, para. 591.

(26)Chapter VII, para. 290.

(27)Ibid., paras. 291-293.

(28)On 2 November the news spread in Budapest of the arrival of ““a United Nations delegation coming from Prague”, Géza
Losonczy confirmed this at his press conference held on 3 November stating that he “was informed this morning” about the
arrival of the delegation but he had not yet met it. (Népszabadsag, 3 November 1956; Radio Budapest, 3 November, 10.30

p.m.)

(29)Chapter X1V, paras. 644-646.

(30)A/3341.

(31)Népszabadsag, 6 January 1957.

(32)Népszabadsag, 19 March 1957.

(33)Népakarat, 29 May 1957. For the text of the Agreement, see annex A to this chapter.
(34)Népakarat, 12 May 1957.

(35)Translation from original Hungarian text which appeared in Népakarat, 29 May 1957, No. 123.

118



Part B
EFFECTS OF THE USE OR THREAT OF

USE OF FORCE ON THE POLITICAL
INDEPENDENCE OF HUNGARY

119



Chapter IX
BACKGROUND AND AIMS OF THE UPRISING

A. Introduction

370. “The Committee’s primary concern”, it was stated in the Interim Report, “is to
ascertain the extent and the impact of foreign intervention, by the threat or use of armed force
or other means, on the internal affairs and political independence of Hungary and the rights of
the Hungarian people”. The Committee has accordingly been concerned in the first instance
with the use of Soviet armed forces to suppress the Hungarian uprising. Various aspects of this
intervention have been examined in part A of the report. In part B, the Committee turns to
another aspect of the task laid upon it by the General Assembly resolution, namely the study of
the effect of Soviet intervention on the internal political development of Hungary.

371. According to the statements of spokesmen for the USSR and for the Government of
Mr. Kadar, as described in chapter 111, that intervention was required to crush a movement of
formidable strength. The Committee has rejected the allegation that this strength was drawn
from sources outside Hungary. An explanation is, therefore, needed to make it clear how, in a
small country, so irresistible an uprising could occur as to require the armed forces of a great
Power for its suppression. In this chapter attention is paid to the causes of the uprising and the
aims which it was intended to achieve. The following chapter is concerned with the actual
course of events during the first part of the uprising. In chapters XI and XII, the Committee
has sought to throw light on certain administrative and political changes which took place
during the brief period when the Hungarian people seemed about to be liberated from the
pressure of Soviet armed forces. These chapters are to be considered in relation to chapters
XIIT and XTIV, which deal with developments after 4 November. Together, they should help to
clarify those effects of foreign intervention on the autonomous political development of
Hungary, upon which the Committee was instructed to report.

372. In any study of the causes of the uprising, attention is necessarily focused on the
penetration of Hungary by strong Soviet influence over a period of years. This influence was
felt in the life of every Hungarian citizen. It dictated the foreign language he was to study at
school, it obliged Hungary to accept unfavourable trade agreements with the USSR which
adversely affected his standard of living, and it maintained, on the Soviet model, the apparatus
of a secret police under the shadow of which he lived. It was precisely against such conditions
that the Hungarian people fought. Resentment at alien influences was present in criticisms of
the régime voiced before October 1956. The first protest by Hungarian writers concerned the
Soviet doctrine of Party allegiance in literature. Similarly, one of the first demands of the
students was for the abolition of Russian as a compulsory language in schools. An
understanding of the Hungarian uprising calls for recognition of these political, economic and
cultural influences or pressures against which the demonstrators of 23 October protested.

373. This chapter is divided into three sections. The first section draws attention to certain
features of Hungarian life under Communist rule which evoked discontent and to the form
which that discontent assumed before October 1956. The second section depicts the general
character of the uprising and analyses its objectives in the light of the resolutions and
manifestos issued on the eve of the uprising. The chapter ends with a description of the
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institution - the AVH - which more than any other factor was responsible for the transition
from political demonstration to actual fighting.

374. It will be seen that the reforms demanded by various groups differed in points of detail.
The spontaneous nature of the uprising, its scattered character and its lack of leadership
worked against a predetermined pattern. Nevertheless, a broad identity of purpose underlay the
demands of different participants. It is not suggested that all of the grievances mentioned were
present as factors influencing the behaviour of every participant in the demonstrations or in the
fighting. Broadly speaking, however, those who took part in the Hungarian uprising did so
with a clear idea of what they were opposing at the risk of their lives. All of them refused to
tolerate the continued intervention of a foreign Power in Hungarian affairs.

B. The background of the uprising

375. No spokesman for the Hungarian Government has ever affirmed that all was well in
Hungary before 23 October. On the contrary, official sources have repeatedly stated that a
serious situation had been allowed to develop and that the Hungarian people had many reasons
for resentment. Attention has been drawn to the Hungarian White Book, The Counter-
Revolutionary Forces in the October Events in Hungary, which did not hesitate to describe
Rékosi’s policy as “criminal” and which declared that it had aroused “deep indignation and a
broad popular movement”.(1)

376. If arégime can be described as “criminal”, there cannot be much cause for surprise that
a people which has been obliged to live under it for years should eventually bring its
resentment into the open. Some of the leaders who subsequently condemned the aims of the
uprising were among those who voiced the bitterest criticism of Hungarian conditions. Thus,
speaking on 1 December 1956, Istvan Dobi, Chairman of the Praesidium, made the following
comment: “If in this country people have reason to complain against the inhuman character of
the régime which was swept away on 23 October - and everyone knows that there was cause
enough for bitterness - then the villages had many times more reason to complain than the
towns. It would be difficult to say which was bigger - the stupidity or the wickedness of the
Rékosi régime’s rural policy.”’(2) On 8 November, Sandor Roénai, Minister of Trade in Mr.
Kadar’s Government, was speaking of “the unscrupulous, sinful policy of Rakosi and his
clique”. Mr. Kadar himself was the author of a number of strongly worded criticisms of the
régime. “I can affirm, speaking from personal experience,” he said in a broadcast on 11
November, “there is not a single man or leader in Hungary today holding State or Party office,
who would wish to restore the old mistaken policy or methods of leadership. But, even if
anyone should still wish to restore the old methods, it is certain that there is no one capable of
doing this; for the masses do not want the return of the old mistakes, and would relentlessly
sweep from power any leader who might undertake such a task.”

377. Even by opponents of the uprising or by those who subsequently became opponents of
it, the situation before 23 October is therefore described as tense and potentially dangerous.
Some of the complaints voiced against the régime were associated with the Stalin cult. The
Twentieth Congress of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union held in Moscow early in
1956 had set in motion a trend away from this cult and towards a measure of liberalization of
the Communist system. The impact of these new slogans was at once felt in Hungary, as in
Poland and elsewhere in Eastern Europe. Efforts were made within the Central Committee of
the Hungarian Workers’ (Communist) Party to carry some of the new doctrine into effect. The
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process, however, was considerably slowed down through the influence of Matyas Rakosi,
First Secretary of the Central Committee and closely identified both with Soviet methods and
with the Stalinist cult. A resolution adopted by the Central Committee in March 1956(3)
denounced Stalin and hailed democratization, but re-emphasized the need for collectivization
of agriculture - an unpopular measure with the peasants - and for the priority of heavy industry
over the production of consumer goods - an unpopular measure with workers and Hungarians
generally. It also reiterated earlier condemnations of Imre Nagy, who had kept the sympathy of
large numbers of people and whose return to power was one of the first demands put forward
at the October meetings.(4)

378. While the Government showed no disposition to modify its attitude on Mr. Nagy,
Rékosi took a step on 27 March 1956 which was bound to have great repercussions
throughout the country. He announced that investigations had led the Supreme Court to
establish that the entire Rajk trial, as well as others connected with it, had been based upon
“fabricated charges” made by Lieutenant-General Gabor Péter and his associates in the AVH,
who were said to have abused their power.(5) This pronouncement by the Supreme Court was
followed by a re-examination process in the course of which some 300 “baselessly convicted”
people were released from prison, most of them having been members of the Party and some
having occupied leading positions in it. The statement about Rajk revealed how one of the
most publicized actions of the Rékosi régime had been a travesty of justice and of law. From
the mouth of its most powerful leader, the régime stood convicted of shedding innocent blood.
Three weeks later, Rakosi made his first public admission of “mistakes” committed under his
régime.(6)

379. These developments encouraged certain writers and other intellectuals to press
criticisms of the régime which they had been courageous enough to voice since the autumn of
1955. At that time, Communist writers like Gyula Hay and Tibor Déry had begun to speak out
against the Soviet doctrine of Party allegiance in literature and against continual interference by
Party bureaucrats in literature and in art. Many members resigned from the Executive
Committee of the Writers’” Union in protest against the “anti-democratic methods which
paralysed the cultural life of the country” - to quote Tibor Déry’s memorandum, which is said
to have been the first manifestation of organized opposition in Hungary. Reiteration by the
Central Committee of its “unquestionable right” to dictate to authors served only to widen the
breach.(7)

380. Hungarian writers have always wielded great influence with the people and these
literary protests were followed sympathetically by the reading public. It was not long before
the writers found themselves, by the very fact of protesting, drawn closer to the Hungarian
people as a whole. Moving from literary and artistic grievances, they began to express the
dissatisfaction and longings of the average citizen.

381. It was in this situation that the Polish workers in Poznan rose in revolt at the end of
June 1956. Repercussions were immediate in Hungary. Despite Party appeals, the workers
hurriedly organized manifestations to show their solidarity with the Poles, a solidarity which
can be traced through hundreds of years during which both peoples have struggled to preserve
their identity. Witnesses told the Special Committee that, in their opinion, developments in
Poland in 1956 had exercised a greater influence upon the Hungarian people than any other
external event since the death of Stalin.

382. The main organs for writers’ criticisms of the régime were the Hungarian Writers’
Union and its re view, the Irodalmi Ujsag (Literary Gazette). In April 1956 the General
Assembly of the Writers’ Union, meeting to elect its new executives, rejected the official list of
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candidates supplied by the Party and, by large majorities, chose others. Thus the official Party
candidate for the post of Secretary-General was defeated by 100 votes to 3, and in instead a
poet who formerly belonged to the National Peasant Party was elected. Other writers
unfavourable to the régime, including Pal Ignotus and Lajos Kassék, were elected members of
the Presidential Council of the Union.

383. While the Writers’ Union was becoming a forum to which anybody could bring his
grievances, it was not the only one of its kind. During the late spring of 1956, young
intellectuals, writers, journalists and composers belonging to the League of Working Youth
(DISZ), the Communist youth federation, established the Petdfi Club. This was destined to
play a great part in focusing the criticisms of Hungary’s young intellectuals. Discussions took
place at the Club on a wide variety of political, economic and social topics, and even cadets
from the Military Academies eagerly took part in them. The main purpose of the Petdéfi Club
was said to be to enlighten the Hungarian people on national affairs after the Twentieth
Congress of the Communist Party of the USSR. Although older Communists and intellectuals
belonged to the Petdfi Club, it was mainly a meeting place for the younger generation. On 24
June, the Party newspaper, Szabad Nép, called the Pet6fi Club a valuable forum and said that it
would be good for Hungary’s leaders to take part in its debates.

384. Two meetings of the Club are indicative of its interest in political questions and of the
growing emotional tension in Hungary. On 18 June, the Club discussed the rehabilitation of
Laszlé Rajk, and welcomed Rajk’s widow “with stormy applause”.(8)A week later, on 27 June
1956, between 5,000 and 6,000 people standing in the streets listened by loudspeaker to a
meeting at which the Club raised the question of Imre Nagy for the first time in public. This
meeting went on throughout the night and turned into an almost riotous demonstration against
Rékosi and his régime, criticisms being endorsed even by men hitherto regarded as reliable
Party members.(9)

385. It was not only in the towns that dissatisfaction was being expressed. In the periodical
Béke és Szabadsag (Peace and Freedom), the Stalin prize-winner, Tamas Aczél, described the
profound spirit of distrust of the régime which he encountered among the peasants.(10) One
witness told the Committee how the Irodalmi Ujsag containing critical articles was sold out
even in country districts. Peasants came by cart to one bookseller, gave him 100 forints a copy,
the normal price being one forint, and took the review away to their village to be handed from
one family to another.

386. Two other developments during the months preceding October created a great
emotional reaction in Hungary. These were the dismissal of Rékosi on 18 July, after a meeting
of the Central Committee attended by A. I. Mikoyan, Deputy Premier of the USSR, (11) and the
ceremonial reburial on 6 October of Laszl6 Rajk and other victims of the 1949 trials.

387. The departure of Rakosi was hailed as likely to portend a complete break with the old
regime and with its unpopular policies - a hope strengthened four days later by the news that
General Mihaly Farkas, former Minister of Defence, a highly unpopular figure, had been
expelled from the Party. These hopes were not, however, realized by the actions of Erné Gerd,
Raékosi’s successor as First Secretary of the Central Committee. Although he appointed an
anti-Rékosist, Janos Kédar, to the Politburo, Gerd also brought back Jozsef Révai, ideological
chief during the Rakosi era, and Imre Horvath, another friend of Rékosi, whom he made
Foreign Minister.
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388.  The reinterment of Laszl6 Rajk on 6 October took place when the Hungarian public
had had time to observe the Ger6 régime at work and to see how few of the hoped-for changes
had come about. Many thousands of people gathered for the ceremony, and there were
widespread demonstrations of sympathy for Rajk and the other victims. Less than a week later,
it was announced that General Farkas had been arrested, together with his son Vladimir,
Lieutenant-Colonel of the AVH, for having “violated socialist principles”.(12) A call for a
public trial of General Farkas was prominent among the students’ demands on the eve of the
demonstrations.(13)

389. This demand that Farkas should be called to account is typical of the lack of confidence
felt by students and others in the willingness of the Gerdé administration to take the steps for a
real break with the past which were felt to have become urgent. A glance backward over the
year 1956 in Hungary leaves the impression of an element of hopefulness, tending to
disappointment as the rehabilitation of Rajk and the dismissal of Rakosi both failed to bring
about far-reaching changes. Even the announcements on 14 October that Mr. Nagy had been
readmitted to the Party, and on 18 October that he would be reinstated in his University Chair,
failed to allay suspicions, since he was not invited to join the Government. The reburial of Rajk
had brought an emotional element into the situation and had already collected crowds around
the symbolic figure of his widow. The practice of mass demonstration had thus been effectively
started in Budapest.

390. Less than a fortnight later came the first news of Poland’s move towards greater
independence. This, more than any other single event, was the catalyst for which Hungarians
had been, half consciously, waiting. The developments on 22 October in Poland evoked great
enthusiasm among Hungarian students and kindled further hopes of liberalization. The official
radio broadcast messages of congratulations to Poland, and the Press did little to moderate the
general excitement. It was stressed that the trend towards democratization unmistakably
enjoyed the full support of the broad masses of the Polish people, and in particular that of the
workers.(14) Coming together to show their support for Poland as much as for any other
reason, the students found themselves demanding specific changes for which the nation had
hoped since July when Rékosi had lost power.

391. It remains to link these elements in the thinking of the students and the demonstrators
with two other facts which must be borne in mind, if the situation on 23 October is to be
understood. One of those facts is the continued presence in Hungary of Soviet troops, who
were not personally unpopular with the Hungarian people, but were nevertheless identified
with a foreign Power which had supported the régime against which they were protesting. The
second fact is that the protests and resolutions were largely the work of Communist
intellectuals and Communist students. It would, however, be misjudging the situation to
overlook other sections of the Hungarian people, in particular members of banned political
parties such as the Social Democrats, the Independent Smallholders and the National Peasant
Party. It is abundantly clear that one of the aims of the Hungarian uprising was to stabilize
friendly relations with the USSR. No less certain is the fact that at the last free elections in
1945, only 17 per cent of the seats in Parliament had been won by the Party which desired to
carry its admiration for Soviet methods to the point of transplanting them to Hungarian soil.
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C. The declared aims of the uprising

1. The nature of the uprising

392.  “We wanted freedom and not a good comfortable life”, an eighteen year-old girl
student told the Committee. “Even though we might lack bread and other necessities of life, we
wanted freedom. We, the young people, were particularly hampered because we were brought
up amidst lies. We continually had to lie. We could not have a healthy idea, because everything
was choked in us. We wanted freedom of thought ...”

393. It seemed to the Committee that this young student’s words expressed as concisely as
any the ideal which made possible a great uprising. The motives which brought together so
many sections of the population were essentially simple. It seemed no accident that such clear
expression should be given to them by a student not as part of a set speech, but simply and
spontaneously, in answer to an unexpected question.

394. In the same spirit, the crowds who assembled in Budapest on 23 October came
together with little preparation. There can be no doubt, that events in Poland, of which news
reached Budapest on or just after 19 October, played a major part in determining the date of
the Hungarian uprising. This was not merely because of a similarity of purpose at that moment
between the students and workers of Poland and of Hungary. Sympathetic links had united the
two peoples for centuries. In a poem known to every Hungarian schoolchild, Pet6fi had
written: “In our hearts, two peoples, the Polish and the Hungarian, are mingled. If both set
themselves the same objective, what destiny can prevail against them?”” It was inevitable that a
move for independence by the Polish people should recall Petéfi’s lines and should stir the
feelings of a deeply emotional people. To proclaim solidarity with Poland was one of the aims
of the student meetings and the feeling of solidarity with Poland’s demands helped to
crystallize those of Hungarians.

395. From all directions, the demonstrators converged. “They were joined”, said one
witness, “by young workers, passers-by, soldiers, old people, secondary school students and
motorists. The crowd grew to tens of thousands. The streets rang with slogans ... The national
colours fluttered in the air.”

396. “It was unique in history”, declared another witness, a Professor of Philosophy, “that
the Hungarian revolution had no leaders. It was not organized; it was not centrally directed.
The will for freedom was the moving force in every action. At the beginning of the revolution,
the leading role was played by Communists almost exclusively. There was, however, no
difference made among those fighting in the revolution as to their Party affiliations or social
origin. Everybody helped the fighters. When standing in line for food, they were given free
entry. ‘They are our sons’, was the slogan.”

397. The grievances which lay behind this national movement were at first expressed by
intellectuals and students, with reference to their own particular spheres of literary freedom
and academic studies. Soon, however, these protests against Communist Party interference in
literary creation and against the compulsory teaching of Russian were broadened to take
account of complaints which went far beyond the interests of writers and students. Among the
first written demands put forward by student organizations were demands for political changes
in Hungary, for real Hungarian independence, and for attention to the grievances of workers.
The students thus became, with the writers, a mouthpiece for the Hungarian people as a whole.
Their objective was not to criticize the principles of Communism as such. Rather, as Marxists,
they were anxious to show that the system of government obtaining in Hungary was a
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perversion of what they held to be true Marxism. The first protests of such writers against the
prevailing repression of thought brought them closer to the Hungarian people as a whole, since
they found them to be suffering in an inarticulate way from the same lack of freedom.

398. The influence of the students immediately before the uprising helped to give it an
emphasis on youth which was to remain characteristic of it. When the phase of protest
meetings and street demonstrations changed into that of actual fighting, it was still the younger
generation, this time the young workers, who played the most prominent part. Most of the
witnesses questioned by the Committee were under 35 years of age and many of them were
considerably younger. It was this same age group, which had been indoctrinated along Party
lines, whose enthusiasm made and sustained the Hungarian uprising. The fact that the aims of
that uprising were so simply, yet adequately, stated to the Committee by the girl student
quoted above was typical of the general impression received from so much varied testimony.

399. Strong as was the impulse that drew these different elements in the uprising together,
there was at first no thought of violence. It was the action of the AVH in opening fire on
defenceless crowds which stirred the anger of the people. Seizing what arms they could obtain,
the crowd retaliated in kind. In a matter of hours, the uprising had stripped away the apparatus
of terror by which the Communist Party, through the AVH, had maintained its control. In the
first flush of success, the insurgents realized that the Communist Party had had no popular
support outside the AVH.(15)

400. The change from a peaceable demonstration to revolutionary action was provoked by
two things, a resort to violence by the AVH and the intervention of Soviet force.(16) The action
of the Soviet authorities in using armed force to quell the uprising and the solidarity of the
AVH with them, strengthened the unity of the Hungarian people against both. How far that
unity was already a fact before fighting broke out, can be seen by studying the earliest
resolutions and manifestos.

2. The resolutions and manifestos of 19-23 October 1956

401. Nowhere can the aims of the Hungarian uprising be so clearly seen as in the various
resolutions and manifestos which appeared on the eve of that uprising and as long as it lasted.
The most important of these were issued by student and intellectual groups before the outbreak
of hostilities. These are the original source documents of the uprising and the latter cannot be
understood without a study of them. It has therefore been considered essential that the report
should contain specimens of these documents.

402. All but one of these programmes for action was issued before fighting broke out. This
is a point of some significance in the endeavour to establish what were the motives which
brought the original demonstrators together. The one exception, which is dated 28 October, is
included here because it was issued by an important Revolutionary Council of intellectuals,
representing a number of influential groups, with the object of summarizing significant
demands from various sources.

403. Two of the programmes are given in the succeeding pages. These are the celebrated
sixteen points adopted on 22 October by a plenary meeting of the students of the Building
Industry Technological University of Budapest. A description of the meeting and of the means
employed by the students to publicize these points will be found in chapter X.(17) The other
programme given in the body of this chapter is the Proclamation of the Hungarian Writers’
Union. It was this proclamation which was read aloud before the statue of General Bem on 23
October, by Péter Veres, President of the Writers’ Union, as described in chapter X.(18)
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404. The texts of other representative resolutions and manifestos are given in an annex to
this chapter. A brief analysis of the chief political, economic and cultural demands follows the
two resolutions given below.

A
Copy this and spread it among the Hungarian workers

The sixteen political, economic and ideological points of the resolution adopted at the plenary
meeting of the Building Industry Technological University

Students of Budapest!(*)

The following resolution was born on 22 October 1956, at the dawn of a new period in
Hungarian history, in the Hall of the Building Industry Technological University as a result of
the spontaneous movement of several thousand of the Hungarian youth who love their
Fatherland:

(D) We demand the immediate withdrawal of all Soviet troops in accordance with the
provisions of the Peace Treaty.

(2) We demand the election of new leaders in the Hungarian Workers’ Party on the low,
medium and high levels by secret ballot from the ranks upwards. These leaders should convene
the Party Congress within the shortest possible time and should elect a new central body of
leaders.

3) The Government should be reconstituted under the leadership of Comrade Imre Nagy;
all criminal leaders of the Stalinist-Rékosi era should be relieved of their posts at once.

4) We demand a public trial in the criminal case of Mihdly Farkas and his accomplices.
Matyas Rakosi, who is primarily responsible for all the crimes of the recent past and for the
ruin of this country, should be brought home and brought before a People’s Court of
Judgement.

(5)  We demand general elections in this country, with universal suffrage, secret ballot and
the participation of several Parties for the purpose of electing a new National Assembly. We
demand that the workers should have the right to strike.

(6) We demand a re-examination and re-adjustment of Hungarian-Soviet and Hungarian-
Yugoslav political, economic and intellectual relations on the basis of complete political and
economic equality and of non-intervention in each other’s internal affairs.

(7 We demand the re-organization of the entire economic life of Hungary, with the
assistance of specialists. Our whole economic system based on planned economy should be re
examined with an eye to Hungarian conditions and to the vital interests of the Hungarian
people.

(8) Our foreign trade agreements and the real figures in respect of reparations that can
never be paid should be made public. We demand frank and sincere information concerning the
country’s uranium deposits, their exploitation and the Russian concession. We demand that
Hungary should have the right to sell the uranium ore freely at world market prices in
exchange for hard currency.

(9)  We demand the complete revision of norms in industry and an urgent and radical
adjustment of wages to meet the demands of workers and intellectuals. We demand that
minimum living wages for workers should be fixed.
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(10) We demand that the delivery system should he placed on a new basis and that produce
should be used rationally. We demand equal treatment of peasants farming individually.

(11)  We demand the re-examination of all political and economic trials by independent
courts and the release and rehabilitation of innocent persons. We demand the immediate
repatriation of prisoners-of-war and of civilians deported to the Soviet Union, including
prisoners who have been condemned beyond the frontiers of Hungary.

(12)  We demand complete freedom of opinion and expression, freedom of the Press and a
free Radio, as well as a new daily newspaper of large circulation for the MEFESZ(19)
organization. We demand that the existing ‘screening material’ should be made public and
destroyed.

(13) We demand that the Stalin statue - the symbol of Stalinist tyranny and political
oppression - should be removed as quickly as possible and that a memorial worthy of the
freedom fighters and martyrs of 1848-49 should be erected on its site.

(14)  Inplace of the existing coat of arms, which is foreign to the Hungarian people, we wish
the re-introduction of the old Hungarian Kossuth arms. We demand for the Hungarian Army
new uniforms worthy of our national traditions. We demand that 15 March should he a
national holiday and a non-working day and that 6 October should be a day of national
mourning and a school holiday.

(15) The youth of the Technological University of Budapest unanimously express their
complete solidarity with the Polish and Warsaw workers and youth in connexion with the
Polish national independence movement.

(16)  The students of the Building Industry Technological University will organize local units
of MEFESZ as quickly as possible, and have resolved to convene a Youth Parliament in
Budapest for the 27" of this month (Saturday) at which the entire youth of this country will be
represented by their delegates. The students of the Technological University and of the various
other Universities will gather in the Gorkij Fasor before the Writers’ Union Headquarters
tomorrow, the 23" of this month, at 2.30 p.m., whence they will proceed to the Palffy Tér
(Bem Tér) to the Bem statue, on which they will lay wreaths in sign of their sympathy with the
Polish freedom movement. The workers of the factories are invited to join in this procession.

B
Proclamation of the Hungarian Writers” Union (23 October 1956)

We have arrived at a historic turning point. We shall not be able to acquit ourselves well in this
revolutionary situation, unless the entire Hungarian working people rallies in a disciplined
camp. The leaders of the Party and the State have so far failed to present a workable
programme. The people responsible for this are those who, instead of expanding socialist
democracy, are obstinately organizing themselves with the aim of restoring Stalin’s and
Rékosi’s régime of terror in Hungary. We Hungarian writers have formulated the demands of
the Hungarian nation in the following seven points:

(1) We want an independent national policy based on the principles of socialism. Our
relations with all countries and with the USSR and the People’s Democracies in the first place,
should be regulated on the basis of the principle of equality. We want a review of international
treaties and economic agreements in the spirit of equality of rights.
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(2) Minority policies which disturb friendship between the peoples must be abandoned. We
want true and sincere friendship with our allies - the USSR and the People’s Democracies. This
can be realized on the basis of Leninist principles only.

3) The country’s economic position must be clearly stated. We shall not be able to recover
after this crisis, unless all workers, peasants and intellectuals can play their proper part in the
political, social and economic administration of the country.

4) Factories must be run by workers and specialists. The present humiliating system of
wages, norms, and social security conditions must be reformed. The trade unions must truly
represent the interests of the Hungarian workers.

(%) Our peasant policy must be put on a new basis. Peasants must be given the right to
decide their own future freely. Political and economic conditions to make possible free
membership in co-operatives must at last be created. The present system of deliveries to the
State and of taxation must be gradually replaced by a system ensuring free socialist production
and ex change of goods.

(6)  Ifthese reforms are to be achieved, there must he changes of structure and of personnel
in the leadership of the Party and the State. The Rakosi clique, which is seeking restoration,
must be removed from our political life. Imre Nagy, a pure and brave Communist who enjoys
the confidence of the Hungarian people, and all those who have systematically fought for
socialist democracy in recent years, must he given the posts they deserve. At the same time, a
resolute stand must be made against all counter-revolutionary attempts and aspirations.

(7) The evolution of the situation demands that the PPF(20) should assume the political
representation of the working strata of Hungarian society. Our electoral system must
correspond to the demands of socialist democracy. The people must elect freely and by secret
ballot their representatives in Parliament, in the Councils and in all autonomous organs of
administration.

We believe that in our Proclamation the conscience of the nation has spoken.

3. Analysis of the demands stated at the outset of the uprising
(a) Political demands

405. The political demands were the most fundamental of those put forward in the students’
resolutions and similar manifestos.

406. Most political programmes called for friendly relations with the USSR, but always on a
new basis of equality. Hungary was first to become free to adopt an independent policy of her
own.(21) Then, as part of that policy, she would herself enter into a new, friendly relationship
with the USSR. So the manifestos call for independent relations with the peoples’ democracies
and Yugoslavia.

407. During the earliest meetings, the call for the complete withdrawal of Soviet troops from
Hungary was not expressed, but once uttered, it became one of the most insistently proclaimed
objectives of the uprising. When the uprising met with Soviet armed resistance, the departure
of Russian troops was felt to be a precondition to the achievement of freedom. Equality of
rights with the USSR was also claimed in the military field.

408. Closely connected with the demand for a genuinely independent Hungarian policy was
that for the restoration of certain Hungarian symbols and celebrations which had been
deliberately suppressed during the Communist régime. Chief among these demands was that to
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restore the national holiday on 15 March, the day when the leaders of Hungary’s War of
Independence in 1848 issued their twelve points. After the crushing of that earlier uprising by
Russian troops in 1849, thirteen generals who fought on the Hungarian side were executed by
the Austrians. The anniversary of this event, 6 October, had formerly been celebrated as a
national day of mourning and a school holiday. It was requested that this date also he again
honoured in the national calendar.

409. Visible symbols such as the Soviet-inspired hammer and wheat sheaf and the red star
were to be removed and replaced by the so-called Kossuth(22) coat of arms, as used during the
uprising of 1848-49; this was the ancient emblem of Hungary, without the Crown of St.
Stephen. It is significant that the Hungarians of 1956 used this Kossuth emblem and did not
demand that form of the Hungarian arms, surmounted by the Crown, which was officially
employed down to 1944, including the period of the Horthy régime.

410. All over Hungary, crowds took it into their own hands to carry these demands of the
students into effect by themselves removing the Soviet-inspired symbols from public buildings
and flags,(23) as did individual soldiers and police from their uniforms. A similar demand for the
removal of Stalin’s statue in Budapest was put into effect by a jubilant crowd on 23
October.(24) The widespread wearing of rosettes made of the three traditional Hungarian
colours, red, white and green, was in the beginning a spontaneous expression of Hungarian
national feeling. When the fighting began, however, the wearing of these colours became a
means of identifying participants in the uprising who, if they fought in Hungarian Army
uniform, could easily have been mistaken for Russian soldiers, whose uniform was very similar.

411. National pride also expressed itself in the demand for a new Hungarian Army uniform.
This was to be no longer an imitation of the Soviet uniform but would take account of the
traditions and history of the Hungarian Army.

412. Most of the demands put forward by students and other bodies also concerned reforms
urgently called for in Hungary’s internal life. Essentially, these internal political demands aimed
at the establishment of a democratic régime, without the secret police. To achieve this, various
changes in the personnel of the Government were called for. It was insisted that all former
collaborators of Rékosi be dismissed and that those responsible for past crimes, in particular
Mihély Farkas, should be tried in public. The return of Imre Nagy to the Government, or to
some leading position in the State, was a central demand in most of the manifestos. Various
demands concerned the revision of the electoral system, felt to be necessary as a preparation
for the expected free elections. The secret ballot was specified as one condition for holding
such elections. Another was the introduction of freedom of the press and radio and of
expression in general.(25) Demands were also put forward for the development of “Socialist
Democracy” and for a competent new national leadership.

413. Several of the demands under the political heading arose out of the widespread
detestation of the secret police and the practices of informing, intimidation, arrest without trial
and illegal sentences.(26) Some resolutions called for the release of political prisoners and the
re-examination of trials. There was also a call for the destruction of police “screening” records,
which enabled the authorities to control each individual citizen’s life and to subject him to
various forms of terror. The abolition of the death penalty for political crimes was some times
demanded.

(b) Economic demands

414. Economic demands put forward in the earliest resolutions and manifestos can be briefly
stated: publication of the facts about foreign trade and Hungary’s economic difficulties,
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publication of the facts about uranium, reforms in connexion with factory management and
trade unions, the “norm” system and other working conditions, and a revision of agrarian
policy, especially in regard to agricultural co-operatives and compulsory deliveries. The
economic grievances voiced in these manifestos are related to the dependent status of Hungary
as regards the USSR and the pressure exerted by the latter upon Hungary’s economic life. This
connexion was explicit in demands concerning trade relations between the two countries. It
was implicit in those relating to Hungary’s standard of living and to the conditions imposed on
her workers, since these were felt to be a result of Soviet influence. A demand for revision of
the country’s economic programme was often put forward. It was widely felt that the
Hungarian people had been kept in ignorance of important information regarding the way in
which Hungary’s economic life was carried on. Specific demands for publication of the facts
about Hungary’s economic difficulties were paralleled by a call for the facts about Hungary’s
foreign trade. A number of witnesses told the Committee of the discrimination which, they
said, was practised by the USSR in economic dealings with Hungary. Since 1948, Hungary had
become part of the economic hinterland of the USSR and successive changes in her economic
policy had reflected changes within the Soviet Union. Following the outbreak of hostilities in
Korea in 1950, the Hungarian Government had to reorient its efforts towards the rapid
development of heavy industries, even though Hungary lacked most of the raw materials
necessary to keep up with the pace of industrialization. In agriculture, this policy led to
intensified collectivization and in industry to increases in norms and decreases in the
production of consumer goods, with a consequent deterioration in the standard of living of
both peasants and workers.

415. After a milder phase between 1953 and 1955, the development of heavy industry once
more had to play a leading part in the Hungarian economy. Witnesses testified that, during the
whole of this period, production quotas and prices and conditions governing foreign trade
were established in accordance with Soviet directives and the terms of commercial treaties
were kept secret. The Committee was told that, whereas Hungary exported higher grade
industrial products and food to the USSR, the latter exported to Hungary mostly raw materials
for the Hungarian metallurgical industry which, in turn, produced for the USSR.

416. Several manifestos called in particular for information about Hungary’s uranium ore
deposits and their utilization. Hungary’s uranium deposits are said to be rich, but the Hunga-
rian public knew little of them, except that they were believed to be exploited for the benefit of
the USSR and not of Hungary.

417. A demand was also put forward for leading posts in economic life to be filled on
grounds of competence and professional or technical skill.

418. Those demands specifically concerned with the condition of workers related to the
system of norms, by which each worker was obliged to attain a certain level of output, a level
which was continually rising. The workers objected to these norms partly because they felt that
more and more was being demanded of them and that they were receiving relatively less in
return. A widespread objection was to the trade unions of the régime which, although
nominally existing to protect the workers’ rights and interests, actually served as an instrument
by which the Party maintained its control over them. Criticism of these trade unions was voiced
by various witnesses and the manifestos bear evidence of the widespread desire for a change in
this respect. The desire was also manifest to give the workers a genuine voice in management.
The rapid creation of Workers’ Councils, as soon as the uprising began, is evidence of the
extent of resentment against the former trade unions.(27)

131



419. The students and intellectuals also undertook to put forward certain demands on behalf
of Hungary’s peasants. These were, in the vast majority of cases, deeply opposed to the forced
collectivization of agriculture which had been Government policy and to the system by which
peasants were obliged to make deliveries of a substantial part of their produce to the State.
Peasants who resisted attempts to force them into the collective farms were subject to various
forms of discrimination. It would appear that no demand was ever put forward for the return of
estates to the former land owners. From evidence available, the peasants seemed to favour a
system of smallholdings farmed privately, but the Committee was informed that many had no
objection in principle to co-operatives, provided entry into them was entirely voluntary and
provided they were run for the benefit of participants.(28)

420. There is less documentary evidence on the attitude of Hungary’s peasants towards the
uprising than on that of other classes of the population. However, it is to be noted that those
living near Budapest provided the insurgents with food during the fighting, often at great
personal risk. Those peasants who lived in more distant areas co-operated in large numbers
with the Revolutionary Councils described in chapter XI.(29) One authoritative source,
describing the welcome given by Hungary’s peasants to the uprising, said that the only fixed
point in the chaos which existed during the first months of 1957 was the gratitude of
Hungary’s peasants towards Imre Nagy for his action in abolishing the forced collectives and
relaxing compulsory deliveries of farm produce.

(¢) Cultural demands

421. Demands put forward under this heading were those in which writers called for creative
freedom and others in which students emphasized their dissatisfaction with the curricula of
their studies and with other conditions of student life. The writers’ demands for artistic
freedom had been put forward on various platforms and in a number of articles and
memoranda to which reference has been made in the first section of this chapter; they do not
figure in the resolutions and manifestos now under discussion. It would, however, be a mistake
to underestimate the effect of these demands on a people as devoted to reading and literature
as the Hungarian.(30) Support for the writers’ grievances was to be seen in the eagerness with
which the reading public supported efforts to bring them examples of less constrained writing
than their own authors could offer them. Reprints of works published between the World Wars
enjoyed a remarkable vogue. Thus, a two-volume selection from the works of an uninhibited
humorist, Frigyes Karinthy, who died in 1938, was sold out in two hours, while people
struggled in the bookshops for a publication containing translations of foreign writers, mostly
from the Western world, offering many times the publication price.

422. Among students, specific demands were for educational travel to the West as to the
East, for university autonomy, which had been abolished by the Communist government, for
freedom to choose the foreign languages studied, for cheaper text-books and for changes in the
examination system. On 19 October it was announced that Russian would cease to be a
compulsory language and therefore this point no longer appears among the demands. The
medical students called specifically for a free exchange of information and of scientific views.
This demand for free communication with and travel to the outside world is significant of
prohibitions which were felt to be out of keeping with the democracy called for in these same
manifestos.
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D. Attitude of the Hungarian people to the State Security Police (AVH)(31)

423. A study of the demands which have been briefly examined above leaves no doubt as to
the extent and number of the grievances felt by the Hungarian people. All sections of the
population were dissatisfied. It may be well to recall the remark by Mr. Kadéar on 1 November,
reported in the newspaper Igazsag, when he called the uprising “a mighty movement of the
people”, and said that it had been called forth “chiefly by the indignation and embitterment of
the masses”. It has been shown that the workers resented the norm and wage systems and the
activities of the trade unions. Writers and artists protested against the lack of creative freedom.
The students asked for far-reaching changes in their curricula and facilities for study. The
peasants strongly objected to forced collectivization of agriculture and obligatory deliveries of
farm produce.

424. Over and above these sectional grievances were others shared by the Hungarian people
as a whole. They objected to Hungary’s unequal status as regards the USSR, to the abolition
of Hungarian national days and emblems and to trade agreements, the terms of which were
kept secret, but which were believed to be humiliating or unfair to Hungary. Fundamentally, all
classes wanted to see Hungary become free to adopt a policy and to live a life of her own, for
which purpose freedom of expression and genuinely free elections were considered essential.
There were two obstacles to the achievement of such desires - the presence of Soviet troops by
arrangement with the Government which had failed to meet the Hungarian people’s grievances
and the ubiquitous activities of the State security police, or AVH. These two facts explain the
frequency with which demands were put forward that Soviet armed forces should withdraw
from Hungary and that the AVH should be disbanded. It was the resistance offered by both
which transformed the demonstrations into an armed uprising, as described in chapter X. To
the Hungarians, the Soviet troops were merely foreign soldiers whom they desired to see leave
for home. Their greatest indignation was reserved for the AVH, which, through its network of
informers, had become virtually the real instrument by which the Party maintained itself in
power. Everything points to the key role played by the State security police in arousing the
anger of the Hungarian people and to the significant influence which this body exercised on
events.

425. All the evidence available to the Committee, both written and oral, left no doubt
regarding the universal detestation and fear inspired by the AVH for years before the uprising.
To participants in the up rising, the AVH had become a symbol of the rule by terror which they
were struggling to end.

426. The creation of the security police goes back to December 1944 when, in Debrecen,
the then provisional Government of Hungary sent 22 persons to a training course for the
setting up of a political police. It was a guiding principle that only Communist Party members
should he appointed to key positions in the AVH. According to witnesses, one of the most
serious consequences of Soviet interference in Hungarian internal affairs occurred after the
election in 1945, which left the Communist Party with only 17 per cent of the seats in
Parliament. The portfolio of the Ministry of the Interior, under which the AVH was placed at
that time, was taken out of the hands of the Independent Smallholders’ Party.

427.  After 1949, both the security police and the military frontier guards were placed under
the AVH and made directly responsible to the Council of Ministers, while the regular
Hungarian police remained under the Ministry of the Interior. The AVH had jurisdiction over
such matters as espionage, conspiracy and treason. From 1949 onwards, with an interruption
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during Mr. Nagy’s premiership (1953-55), the AVH was said to have adopted in full the
methods of the NKVD and to have been the real machinery of Party control.

428. In the second half of 1956, apparently under the impact of the Twentieth Congress of
the Communist Party of the Soviet Union and after the rehabilitation of Laszlo6 Rajk, the
Hungarian Government decided to subject the State’s security organ to more extensive
supervision. It was intended to “assert Socialist legality without fail and to ensure the free
exercise of citizens’ legal rights”. “Socialist legality” had been defined by one of Hungary’s
chief legal experts, Professor Imre Szabo, as “the absolute and complete adherence to Socialist
legal maxims, to the laws, ordinances and decisions expressing the will of the workers and of
the working class”.(32) On 26 June 1956, the Minister of Justice, Erik Molnar, complained that
his Ministry and the regular Hungarian courts had had no jurisdiction at all during the past few
years in cases of political offences which were of importance to the Party and that “this illegal
and harmful practice had to stop”.(33)

429.  On 31 July, speaking before the Hungarian National Assembly, Chief Public Prosecutor
Gyorgy Non criticized the special position enjoyed by the AVH. He asserted that many leaders
of that organization had abused their power and had extorted untrue confessions of guilt by the
use of “moral and physical pressure”. The Chief Public Prosecutor accused them of violating
Socialist legality “in the most callous manner” and drew attention once more to the fact that
the AVH was subject to no form of supervision. However, he claimed that infringements of
legality were now punished and that the AVH and the judiciary called for the support of all
genuine patriots.(34)

430. Witnesses reported that the AVH consisted mainly of Hungarians, but that about a
dozen advisers from the NKVD served at its Headquarters. One witness stated that an NKVD
officer was permanently stationed in each department of the AVH and that an NKVD
Lieutenant-Colonel and Major were always present in the investigation department. It was said
that many Hungarian members of the AVH were Soviet citizens and most of the Hungarians
serving with it had been trained in the Soviet Union.

431. A number of witnesses testified that the AVH functioned under direct Soviet control,
and gave as an example the Rajk trial, the preparation of which was, according to the
testimony, in the hands of General Bielkin of the Moscow Headquarters of the NKVD who,
from his headquarters at Baden near Vienna, was then serving as police chief for all the
countries under Soviet control. He was said to have come to Hungary early in 1950 and to
have established his headquarters in the AVH building at 60 Stalin (Andréassy) Street. Several
witnesses told the Committee that they had been visited by detectives between 1953 and 1955
and ordered to say nothing about the role performed by the NKVD during the Rajk case.

432.  AVH personnel were said to have been care fully screened, not only by the AVH itself,
but also by the NKVD. AVH members were paid salaries considerably higher than those of
ordinary Hungarian workers. In addition, they had pension rights and many privileges unknown
to the proletariat, such as free accommodation, clothing, cut prices for food, special private
schools for their children and all kinds of bonuses, including one for an arrest. On special
assignment, they received from a secret fund approximately five or six times the amount of
their salary in the form of a bonus, which, for bookkeeping purposes, was put down under the
heading of the construction of new buildings or expenditure on new furnishings.

433. All witnesses affirmed that the AVH maintained a very elaborate network of spies,
informers and agent provocateurs. It was said that members of the AVH or their informers
were present in all offices and all factories, so that no one knew, even when talking to friends,
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where his words would be repeated half an hour later. During the uprising, documents found in
the building of the Ministry of the Interior in Budapest were said to have supplied evidence of
the extent of this AVH spy network. The material found included six steel cabinets of tape
recordings, mostly of telephone conversations carried on with people outside Hungary. Diaries
were also found in which details of conversations were recorded. The material proved that the
spy network included a very important part of the Hungarian population from high government
officials to simple factory workers. Some of these had been anti-Communists before the war,
others were former members of the Hungarian National Socialist Party and others again had
something to hide in their private lives. By Law II of 1952 anyone discriminating against a
person who acted as informer for the AVH was punishable by up to six months in prison.

434. Much testimony was given to the Committee on the subject of inhuman treatment and
torture used by the AVH to secure confessions or denunciations.(35) This evidence agrees with
similar testimony gathered elsewhere and the Committee has every reason to accept it as true.
It has not, however, thought fit in this chapter to enter into a detailed description of the
barbarities of which many witnesses spoke. For its purpose, the Committee deems it more
important to draw attention in general terms to two factors in the situation. The first of these is
the infringement of human rights by Hungary which the existence of the AVH involves. The
second is the undoubted fact that the population of Hungary lived for years under the shadow
of the AVH terror and that no single factor had more influence in uniting the Hungarian people
against the form of Government which depended on it for survival

ANNEXES

Annex A

Appeal adopted by a meeting of Budapest Technological Students at the Andrés Hess
Students’ Hostel (the Central Students’ Hostel of the Building Industry Technological
University of Budapest) held on 19 October 1956

We know very well that recently serious changes took place in the political and economic life
of our country. Statements that delight one’s heart have been made concerning the revelation
of faults, but very little has been done for remedying wrongs.

The education of youth is on the wrong track too. We, the students of the Technological
University, disapprove of the role the DISZ played in the education of Hungarian youth. In our
university, the Technological University, the DISZ committee became an automatic machine of
superior organs. It should have been the duty of the DISZ to represent the views of youth, but
it failed to comply with this obligation. Our most important problems have not been adjusted
for years.

The students of the Technological University are sick and tired of the helplessness of the
central committee of the DISZ which has been unable to fight consistently for the interests of
university students.

The new students’ committee of the central students’ hostel of the Technological University,
together with the students, consider the position of students intolerable. As a result of the
demands set by our students, the students’ meeting convened for 19 October at 9 p.m.
demanded the execution of the following most urgent measures:
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1. We demand moral and material appreciation for engineers. Engineers should be
assigned to jobs for engineers, their pay should be about 1,500-1,600 forints and they should
also obtain premiums.

2. Leading posts and positions should depend on school training and professional
knowledge.
3. We demand the abolition of compulsory attendance at lectures, the optional teaching of

languages and non-professional subjects and the teaching of one obligatory language which can
be chosen freely.

4. University students must be offered possibilities to undertake journeys abroad in groups
with State subsidies and also undertake private journeys independent of the IBUSZ.(36)

5. It should be made possible for young engineers to find employment abroad which is not
subjected to either political or family conditions.

6. Overcrowding in students’ hostels must cease.

7. We demand the raising of the “forint-norms” of canteens to 15 forints a day.

8. Undertakings providing food for students should come under the supervision of
competent universities.

9. Restore the autonomy of the universities.

10.  We demand the reorganization of the university youth movement and the democratic
election of a new leading committee of students.

11.  We demand the restoration of travelling allowances of 50 per cent once a month.

12.  Reduce the prices of technological literature for students and grant textbook

allowances to each student.
13.  We demand the fixing of a realistic number of engineers to be trained every year.

14. Students should obtain higher scholarships for the period due to work out their final
theses, the “diploma plans”.

15. We demand a public trial in the case of Farkas and his associates.

The meeting passed a resolution that unless the points 3, 4, 7, 11, 14 and 15 are carried into
effect within a fortnight, students will arrange a demonstration to manifest their dissatisfaction.

We request the students of all universities to support us in fighting for and achieving our
demands. Simultaneously we are ready to support the demands of other universities.

Signed: The Meeting of the Central Students’ Hostel of the Technological University and their
Students” Committee.

Annex B

Appeal issued by DISZ Members of the Medical Faculty of the University of Budapest, 22
October 1956

Students of our university wish to support the realization of the demands of the students of
other universities as well as the justified demands of all Hungarian youth.

They think that the realization of their justified demands depends on two fundamental
conditions:
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1. The unity and “mass basis” of youth must be safeguarded as only a united youth
federation can fight consistently and energetically for the interests of all youth of our country.

2. We consider it necessary to hold new elections in all leading organs of the DISZ from
the lowest ones right up to the CC(37) as well as the convocation of the congress of the DISZ.

The conference of DISZ delegates of the Medical Faculty of the University of Budapest, fixed
the following objectives:

1. We demand that the progressive national traditions should be put into practice by
deeds, that 15 March and 6 October be declared as National Holidays and that the Kossuth
coats of arms should be restored.

2. We demand free, international information, exchange of opinions and sciences.

3. We demand the full assertion of parliamentary democratism, as well as the elaboration
and realization of a new, democratic election system.

4. Women students should be exempted from military training and military service and the
theoretical and practical military training of men reviewed.

5. We demand individual rules for examinations, instead or examination orders by groups.
6. Hungarian textbooks and notes should be available in time, adequate quantities and

under favourable conditions of payment by instalments.

7. We demand the reviewing of the scholarship system and demand that students who are
orphans, half-orphans or the breadwinners in a family should obtain at least 500 forints
scholarship a month.

(Points 8, 9 and 10 refer to housing problems.)

We express complete solidarity with the democratic evolution in Poland. We wish to play a
lion’s share in the sound and democratic development of our country by standing firmly on the
ground of Marxism-Leninism.

The Conference of DISZ Delegates
of the Medical Faculty of the
University of Budapest

Annex C

Resolution addressed to the participants of the DISZ mass meeting on 22 October 1956 by the
Executive Committee for the Building Industry Technological University of the League of
Working Youth (DISZ)

Following the resolution of the Central Committee in July, a new process of democratization
began. In our opinion, the decisions then taken have not been implemented quickly enough; in
many places, we notice delays and therefore the University youth proclaim the following just,
timely and resolute demands.

We welcome and support the resolutions of the University youth. We demand resolute and
quick action to solve national and University problems. The youth of the Building Industry
Technological University, having regard to the present political and economic situation of the
country, demand the most urgent implementation of the following points:
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I

1. We want to see competent leaders in the political and national leadership who have the
confidence of the people. For instance, Comrades Janos Kadar, Imre Nagy, Zoltan Vas, Géza
Losonczy, Gyorgy Lukécs. Also Arpad Kiss.

2. Open trial in the case of Mihaly Farkas and other criminals. Who were the people who
knew about the innocence of Rajk?

3. Hungarian-Soviet friendship, on the basis of complete equality.

4. The facts about the use of Hungary’s uranium ore.

5. In planning the new uniforms of the Hungarian National Army, our national traditions
should be taken into consideration. The old uniforms should be used up during training.

6. We demand that 15 March should be a red letter national holiday (with general
cessation of work) and that 6 October should become a school holiday.

7. We demand that Comrade Imre Nagy should be reinstated in his previous official post.
8. We demand that Istvan Friss, the representative of the University youth, should give an

account of his work to date and that, in particular he should explain his attitude regarding his
article in Szabad Nép.

II

9. The filling of leading posts in our economic life should depend on education and
professional skill.

10. The system of wages and norms in the building industry should he established by
experts.

11.  We ask that Parliament should investigate our foreign trade situation. Why is there a
deficit and who is responsible for it? For instance, what is the responsibility of Ferenc Bir6 in
this matter?

12.  We favour the reorganization of the delivery system on a completely new basis. The
peasants should be offered inducements to produce more.

111
13.  We demand moral and financial recognition for the technical profession. Young

engineers should he attached to technical projects. Their initial salary during the first three
months should not be less than 1,300 forints, plus premiums.

14.  Independently from IBUSZ, educational trips abroad should be organized. There
should be no discrimination between trips to the West and East. Anyone misusing such
freedom of travel and refusing to return is not needed at home.

15.  University autonomy should be restored. We should be trusted.

16.  The students’ identity card should entitle the holder to a 50 per cent discount on all
cultural and sports programmes. Sacrifices must be made to provide education for the people.

17.  Students’ cafeterias should be placed under the authority of the Universities. The
purchasing power of the forint should perhaps be raised.

18.  Students should receive five times a year a 50 per cent discount on the railways, as was
the case before 1951.
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19.  The price of University textbooks should be reduced.

20.  The accommodation of University students in students’ hostels is not satisfactory. We
ask for gradual improvements in this matter, as the present situation does not contribute to a
rise in standards. The preparation of drawings demands more space. We expect action in this
matter.

IV
21.  We ask for the introduction of a free examination system.
22.  The results of military exams should be taken into account only for promotions in rank.

23.  Students should be able to decide in the first semester of the first year which foreign
language they wish to study.

24.  We do not agree with the withdrawal of the University students of Szeged from DISZ
since such action would lead to a scattering of our forces. Their misgivings are not justified,
because recent experience has shown that, the Budapest and Central Committees of DISZ have
truly represented our interests. This was proved by the fighting stand taken by Szabad Ifjusag,
the daily paper of the Central Committee of DISZ. In the present situation there is a need for
the unity of youth within DISZ.

25.  We demand the reorganization of the University students’ movement within the
framework of DISZ. A Youth Parliament should be established. We ask that a DISZ Congress
be convened.

Should we not receive a definite answer to our demands defined in points 2, 7, 8, 14, 16, 18
and 19, we shall resort to the method of demonstration.

We consider our demands as just and realistic. We call upon the youth of our University to
fight for their fulfilment. At the same time, we definitely condemn all kinds of demagogy.

Our aim is not to make trouble, but to win recognition for the rights of University youth and to
ensure that the process of democratization which has already started will continue.

The Preparatory Committee for the Mass Meeting
Budapest, 22 October 1956 .

Annex D

First draft of the demands of the students of the Building Industry, Technological University of
Budapest,

22 October 1956
(Translation from Hungarian)(38)

Introduction: MEFESZ (League of Hungarian University and College Students Associations)
established. This organization is competent to solve the problems of the students.

1. New Central Committee for the Party.

2. Government under the leadership of Imre Nagy.

3. Hungarian-Soviet and Hungarian-Yugoslav friendship.
4. New elections.

5. New economic policy. Uranium, foreign trade, etc.

139



Readjustment of the norms of workers and workers’ autonomy in the factories.
The situation of agricultural workers and of peasants farming individually.
Revision of political and economic trials and granting of an amnesty.

15 March, 6 October. The old coat-of-arms.

N e

0.  Freedom of the Press and an official newspaper for MEFESZ. Destruction of
screening” material.

3

-~

Declaration: Full solidarity with Warsaw and with the Polish independence movement.

Annex E
The ten points of the Petéfi Club (22 October 1956)

1. We suggest the convocation of a meeting of the Central Committee(39) at the earliest
possible date, in view of the situation which has arisen in our country. Comrade Imre Nagy
should take part in the preparation of the meeting.

2. We consider it necessary that the Party and Government should publish the facts about
the economic situation of the country, review the guiding principles of our second Five Year
Plan and work out a concrete, constructive programme corresponding to conditions in our
country.

3. The Central Committee and the Government should use all available means to promote
the development of socialist democracy in Hungary, by developing the real role of the People’s
Front,(40) by satisfying the justified political demands of the workers and by establishing factory
autonomy and workers’ democracy.

4. In order to create prestige for Party and State leadership, we suggest that Comrade
Imre Nagy and other comrades fighting for socialist democracy and for Leninist principles
occupy a worthy place in the leadership of the Party and Government.

5. We propose the expulsion of Matyas Rékosi from the Central Committee of the Party
and his removal from the National Assembly and the Praesidium. In order to establish
tranquility in the country, the Central Committee must take a stand against current attempts at
a Stalinist or Rakosist restoration.

6. We suggest a public trial, corresponding with socialist legality, in the case of Mihaly
Farkas.
7. We propose a review of recent resolutions which have proved wrong and of a sectarian

nature, primarily of the resolution of March 1955, the resolution relating to literature of
December 1955 and the resolution of 30 June 1956 relating to the Petéfi Club.41) These
resolutions should be invalidated the Central Committee should draw the necessary personal
conclusions from them.

8. Let us expose to public opinion what have been called the highly delicate questions of
the economic balance of our foreign trade agreements and plans for the use of the country’s
uranium deposits.

9. In order further to strengthen Soviet-Hungarian friendship, let us develop even more
intimate connexions with the Party, State and people of the USSR, on the basis of the Leninist
principle of complete equality.
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10.  We request the Central Committee of the DISZ at its meeting of 23 October, to
pronounce itself on these points and to pass a resolution on the democratization of Hungarian
youth movements.

Annex F

The aims of the League of Working Youth (DISZ), the Youth Group of the Hungarian
Workers’ (Communist) Party

(23 October 1956)
General motto: Long live Hungarian freedom! Long live the Fatherland!
Sub-mottoes:
Polish-Hungarian friendship, welfare and freedom!
Soviet-Hungarian friendship - on the basis of equality!
Our youth demands that the Party should show us the way!

1
2
3
4. Enough of Rékosi! We are fed up with Rakosi; we need new party leadership!
5 This cause is our cause, we want new party leadership!

6

. The workers and students both want the same, all of those who act with us, who are
Hungarians!

7. Down with force! Long live the law!
8. We should not do everything late; let us get Imre Nagy into the leadership!
9. The dictatorship of the proletariat remains always the right path of our people!

10.  Long live the fighting Leninist party - it should safeguard the holy truth of our people!

Annex G
Appeal of the Revolutionary Committee of the Hungarian Intellectuals (28 October 1956)
Hungarians!

There may be differences of opinion among us but we agree on the main demands and we
suggest to the Government that it should adopt the following as its programme:

1. The Government should regulate our relations with the Soviet Union, without delay
and on the basis of equality. The Soviet forces should begin their withdrawal from the whole
territory of the country.

2. The Government should abrogate all foreign trade agreements which are
disadvantageous to the country. It should make public all foreign trade agreements concluded
in the past, including those relating to uranium ore and bauxite.

3. We demand general elections with secret ballot. The people should be able freely to
nominate their candidates.

4. Factories and mines should really become the property of the workers. We shall not
return the factories and the land to the capitalists and to the landowners. Our factories should
be managed by freely elected workers’ councils. The Government should guarantee the
functioning of small-scale private industry and private trade.

141



5. The Government should abolish the exploiting “norm” scheme. The Government
should raise low wages and pensions to the limit of economic possibilities.

6. The trade unions should become genuine workers’ organizations representing the
workers’ interests, with their leaders freely elected. The working peasants should form their
own organizations to safeguard their interests.

7. The Government should ensure the freedom and security of agricultural production by
supporting individual farmers and voluntary farm co-operatives. The hated delivery system, by
which the peasants have been robbed, should be abolished.

8. Justice should be done and material compensation paid to those peasants who were
harmed by regrouping of plots of land and by other unlawful measures.

9. We demand complete freedom of speech, of the press and of the right of assembly.

10.  The Government should declare 23 October, the day when our national liberation fight
began, a national holiday.

On behalf of the Revolutionary Committee of the Hungarian Intellectuals
The Students’ Revolutionary Council: Istvan Pozsar, Jozsef Molndr, Janos Varga.
The Hungarian Writers” Union: Sandor Erdei, Secretary-General.

The National Federation of Hungarian Journalists: Sandor Haraszti, Miklos Vésarhelyi, Ivan
Boldizsar, Sandor Fekete.

The Federation of Hungarian Artists: Laszl6 Bencze, Jozsef Somogyi.
The Hungarian Musicians’ Federation: Endre Szervanszky, Pal Jardanyi.

On behalf of the University Professors: Tamas Nagy, Maté Major, Ivan Kadar, Gyorgy
Markos.

The People’s Colleges: Laszlo Kardos, Ottd Tokés.
The Pet6fi Club: Gabor Ténczos, Baldzs Nagy.
MEFESZ: Gyorgy Liebik.

(1)Chapter I1I, para. 99.

(2)Népszabadsag, 2 December 1956.

(3)Szabad Nép, 13 March 1956.

(4)Chapter VI, paras. 218-220.

(5)Szabad Nép, 29 March 1956.

(6)Ibid., 19 May 1956.

(7)Pravda, 11 December 1956.

(8)Magyar Nemzet, 20 June 1956.

(9)Subsequently the Central Committee condemned the Pet6fi Club for “anti-Party views”. (Szabad Nép, 1 July 1956.)
(10)9 and 16 May 1956.

(11)Szabad Nép, 19 and 21 July 1956.

(12)Ibid., 12 October 1956.

(13)Chapter IX, para. 412.

(14)Hétfoi Hirlap (Monday News), 22 October 1956. Szabad Nép, 22 October 1956.
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(15)Chapter XI, para. 469.

(16)Ibid., para. 478.

(17)Ibid., paras. 439-449.

(18)Ibid., para. 460.

(*)One form of the Manifesto.

(19)MEFESz - Leage of Hungarian University and College Student Association.
(20)People’s Patriotic Front. Chapter XII, para. 565.

(21)An examination of the methods used to maintain the full discipline and uniformity in foreign policies between the
Hungarian Governments and that of the USSR as to their positions with respect to problems is an investigation which the
Committee could not undertake. Nevertheless, in assessing the significance of the relations of the two Governments in the
circumstances investigated by the Committee, the Committee has necessarily taken note of the consistent testimony it has
received showing that as from 1949, after the so-called “Rajk trial”, most of the officials of the Hungarian Ministry of
Foreign Affairs have been recruited from among the members of the security police; that holders of the higher diplomatic
posts were often ranking members of the AVH; that many of these officials had retained Soviet citizenship which they had
acquired before or during the Second World War; that there were at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs as well as at the
Ministry of Defence and the other government departments, a number of Soviet “advisers” and “technicians”, without the
approval of whom it was said that no significant decision could be taken; that the Hungarian Communist Party had a
determining influence on all important actions and decisions on questions of policy, and exercised, in fact, a complete
control over the Ministry of Foreign Affairs; finally, that on all important occasions Hungarian Ministers were called to
Moscow and that during the October-November events, there were frequent trips to Budapest by various members of the
Soviet leadership, in particular, Mr. Mikoyan and Mr. Suslov.

(22)Lajos Kossuth (1802-1894) was a leader in the War of Independence in 1848-9.
(23)Chapter XI, para. 497.

(24)Chapter X, para. 467.

(25)Chapter XII. Para. 587, footnote 3.

(26)Paras. 423-434 below and chapter XVI, paras. 768-777.

(27)Chapter XI, paras. 539-559.

(28)Ibid., para. 504.

(29)Ibid., para. 505.

(30)The trade union paper, Népszava, announcing Gerd’s dismissal on 25 October, quoted a line of Pet6fi in large print on
its front page as a comment. The page contains little but banner headlines and this prominent literary reference.

(31)See also chapter X VI, paras. 768-777.

(32)Tarsadalmi Szemle, September 1955.

(33)Szabad Nép, 26 June 1956.

(34)Szabad Nép, 1 August 1956.

(35)Chapter XVI, paras. 771-774.

(36)Hungarian State Travel Bureau.

(37)Central Committee of DISZ.

(38)See photocopied page.

(39)Central Committee of the Hungarian Workers’ (Communist) Party.
(40)People’s Patriotic Front. Chapter XII, para. 565.

(41)Chapter IX, paras. 379 and 384.
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Chapter X
STUDENT DEMONSTRATIONS AND THE ORIGINS
OF ARMED CONFLICT IN BUDAPEST

A. Introduction

435. The preceding chapter contained a summary of demands put forward by Hungarian
intellectuals and students on the eve of the demonstrations which marked the beginning of the
uprising. These demands were examined in the light of prevailing conditions in Hungary, with
the object of understanding the state of mind and motives of the demonstrators. The present
chapter is a narrative of events in Budapest from 22-25 October. Its purpose is to trace the
evolution that occurred during those days from students’ meetings through demonstrations by
students, workers., soldiers and others, to the outbreak of fighting with the AVH. Within
hours, the participation of Soviet tanks turned the hostilities into action on an international
scale, the military course of which has been studied in chapter I'V.

436. Chapters IX and X are thus intended to be read in conjunction with one another. It has
been thought preferable to separate the motives of the demonstrators from the actual narrative
of the events which were the expression of those motives in action. The rapidity with which
events happened was such that it is necessary for the sake of clarity to separate the account of
the actual events from the examination of the demands and attitudes of the insurgents. It is not
suggested that the present chapter contains anything like a complete history of these
momentous days in the life of the Hungarian people. The Committee heard vivid accounts from
many eyewitnesses, but it has made no attempt to use these for dramatic effect. It has preferred
to report on the evidence received in an unemotional tone, since its objective has been to
discover what actually happened.

B. The student meetings on 22 October

437. The earliest demands put forward by student groups(1) had achieved certain results by
19 October, when the Minister of Education announced plans for the discontinuance of
compulsory Russian study and other changes that had been called for. This announcement was
followed by student manifestations all over Hungary, particularly in Szeged, where on 20
October some 200 students decided to set up their own independent youth organization under
the name of League of Hungarian University and College Student Associations (MEFESZ).

438. News of the Szeged decision reached Budapest on Monday morning, 22 October, and
various University groups at the Faculty of Political Economy, the Faculty of Philosophy and
the Faculty of Medicine(2) decided to hold meetings during the day. At these meetings events in
Poland exercised considerable influence, and solidarity with the Polish workers and youth was
widely expressed.

439.  Probably the most decisive of all these student meetings was that held at the Building
Industry Technological University. A mass meeting, convened there on 22 October at 3.00
p.m. by the Executive Committee of DISZ, the Communist youth organization, was intended,
so the Committee was told, to “take the wind out of the sails of MEFESZ”. The meeting was
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to discuss a number of strictly student demands which were enumerated in the printed
invitation: rebates on public transport fares, cheaper text books, better food, improvement of
housing conditions for students, and similar demands.(3) In the Great Hall of the University, the
Professors, the Party Secretary and Party officials were present with the students. Between
4,000 and 5.000 people attended the meeting, which lasted for about eleven hours, until the
early morning of 23 October. A considerable number of workers joined the meeting during the
evening.

440. With little opposition, it was decided to set up a branch of MEFESZ to proclaim the
views of the students on the “grave political questions of the day” and to tackle student
problems so far unsolved. In the beginning, however, the discussion was restricted to practical
demands, for instance, that there should be less teaching of Marxist and Leninist subjects and
that English, French and German should be taught instead of only Russian.

441. Later during the meeting, voices from all over the Hall called for a discussion of
broader problems. One student voiced the opinion that Mr. Gomulka in Poland wanted an
evolution and not a revolution to take place, but that the Soviet Union had sought to prevent
this by surrounding Warsaw with armed units. The speech was greeted with immense
enthusiasm by the crowd, who all shouted that they wanted democracy to he established in
Hungary. It was then suggested that the students should formulate and adopt a programme for
the establishment of democracy in Hungary in the spirit of the 1848 revolution, and should
submit this programme to the Government. Demands were put forward that Imre Nagy should
take over the Government, and that the new Government should guarantee human rights to the
people of Hungary, as required by the United Nations Charter and the Universal Declaration of
Human Rights.

442. The students discussed their demands in informal conversation on the floor during the
meeting. One of them said: “Perhaps we could demand now that Soviet troops be withdrawn
from Hungary, but who should be the first to make such a statement?” It was agreed that it
should be a Communist Party official. One of the Communist youth leaders then went to the
microphone and declared that, while Soviet troops were stationed in Hungary, the wished-for
political evolution could not take place, as the country was ruled by an imperialist tyranny.
Other speakers added that the presence of Soviet troops made impossible free elections,
freedom of speech and religion and the enjoyment of human rights. These and other demands
were written down as a draft resolution.

443. Thus, by early evening on 22 October, the aims of the Hungarian uprising had been
more or less formulated by University students. The students who improvised this document
on a piece of paper torn out of a student’s notebook,4) came largely from working-class or
peasant homes; many of them were members of the Communist Party, and the demands were
formulated and adopted at a meeting convened by the communist youth organization itself.

444.  About 8.30 p.m., a student delegation went to the radio station, where the censor was
willing to pass for the 9.00 p.m. news bulletin five of the ten points but refused permission to
broadcast demands for the withdrawal of Soviet troops, free elections, a new economic policy,
freedom of the press and new elections within the Communist Party. Budapest Radio had
already given a first account of the meeting, which made no direct reference to most of the
political demands and said that the majority of the young people rejected certain “provocative
and demagogic voices”.
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445. The student delegation, unwilling that the ten points should be censored for the micro-
phone, returned to the University. The editors of Szabad Ifjusag (Free Youth), the organ of
DISZ, who had been present at the meeting, affirmed their support of the ten points; but,
fearing for their personal safety, they were unwilling to print the demand for the withdrawal of
Soviet troops. For some hours, efforts were made to devise other means by which these points
could be brought to the attention of the Hungarian people. Such means were rapidly devised.

446. The Jové Mérnoke (The Engineer of the Future), a periodical published by the students
of the Building Industry Technological University, published the ten points. To achieve this,
five students went to the printing shop and replaced the front page, which had already been set
up, by another which contained the ten points. About 2,000 copies of this paper were printed.

447. The students also asked the Rector of the University to authorize them to use the
official duplicating machine for reproduction of the ten points. The Rector did not dare to give
instructions to this effect; but, nevertheless, the students ran off several thousand copies of the
resolution on the machine.

448. The final text of the resolution had been read out to the meeting over the microphone,
and students and assistant professors worked throughout the night copying it on all the
typewriters available at the University.

449. In the resolution itself, it was stated that the radio and the Hungarian press had refused
to publish the full text, but that efforts to publicize it would continue.

450. During the evening, the original ten points became fourteen and later sixteen.(5) The
withdrawal of the Soviet troops had become a separate point, and others were inserted which
dealt with such matters as the removal of the statue of Stalin and of the Soviet-inspired
emblem from the Hungarian national flag.

451. The students also inserted in the resolution their decision to meet again on 24 October,
at which time it was proposed to start a nation-wide debate on the questions outlined in the
resolution. They asked that the Hungarian Radio should give a live broadcast of this meeting,
so that “the working people will hear, without distortion, the true voice of the Hungarian
youth”. In addition, the meeting decided to convene a Youth Parliament in Budapest on 27
October, at which the entire youth of Hungary would be represented.

C. How the demonstrations were initiated and organized

452. During the meeting at the Technological University, a representative of the Writers’
Union, Zoltan Zelk, announced that the Writers’ Union planned to hold a small memorial
ceremony next day at the statue of General Jozsef Bem, the national hero of Polish origin who
fought with the Hungarians against the Austrians and the Russians in 1848-9. Their intention
was simply to lay a wreath in honour of Poland’s struggle for independence. He added that the
Union planned no kind of demonstration. It was therefore decided by the students of the
Technological University that they would themselves organize a demonstration, and would
invite students of other universities and factory workers to join. In their resolution the students
of the Technological University called on all students to participate. Warned by their
professors to be cautious, they stated clearly: “We want a silent demonstration because it is
only by silent, peaceful, and orderly demonstrations that we can gain our ends.”
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453.  During the evening, the news of the meeting at the Technological University had spread
over the city. More and more people had kept coming in, not merely students from other
universities and academies, but also workers from Csepel and the Belojanis Factory and miners
from Dorog. The plan to hold a demonstration, therefore, became widely known during the
night and the next morning. Early on Tuesday, 23 October, the students’ sixteen points
appeared all over the city. “Work in Budapest stopped”, a participant told the Committee.
“Everyone went out on to the streets weeping. People read the points and then rushed home or
to their factories. Every stenographer and every typist did nothing but copy these things in all
the offices. The Communist Party forbade this in vain. Everyone was talking about it; in
conversation, over the telephone, the news spread in a few hours and within a short time all
Budapest became an ant-hill. People pinned the Hungarian national cockade to their clothes,
and a really fantastic miracle occurred, for I regard it as a miracle that the whole people
became unified. About 100,000 AVH spies, informers and stool-pigeons had been planted in
the national life of the nation and forced to supply information. On the morning of this day, for
the first time, someone had dared to say that the Russian troops should leave Hungary. We had
reached the point where we dared to say this publicly. This was what gave us unity, and the
point at which the chains were broken which had bound us until then; the point at which the
net in which the AVH spy system had been holding us was broken. Everyone became
convinced. No one asked in the street, ‘Who are you?‘, everyone used the familiar form of
address even in talking to strangers, everyone was on familiar terms, everyone could be
trusted, everyone had a feeling of complete unity, because the entire system based on lies
collapsed in a moment on the morning of 23 October.”

454. At 10 a.m. on Tuesday, 23 October, Radio Budapest reported that the students had
decided to hold “a silent demonstration before the Embassy of the Polish People’s Republic to
express the deep sympathy and solidarity of youth in connexion with the events in Poland”.
According to the testimony, the Politburo was convened around 12 noon to consider the
question of the demonstration. However, at 12.53 the Radio suddenly announced that the
Minister of the Interior, Laszl6é Piros, had issued a communiqué to prohibit the “public street
assemblies and marches”. Several deputations, including one from the Writers’ Union, went to
see him to point out the risk of serious consequences, since the students would no doubt
proceed with their plans in spite the ban. Mr. Piros stated that, in that case, he would fire on
the demonstrators.

455. The students were already beginning to assemble, when a delegation of five students
went to Mr. Piros and declared that the demonstration would go on, whether it was permitted
or not. After half an hour’s discussion he yielded, and Radio Budapest announced at 2.23 p.m.
that the ban had been lifted. Half an hour later the Radio even announced that the Central
Committee of DISZ, the communist youth organization, had decided to approve the
demonstration and to participate in it.

D. Demonstrations at the Petofi and Bem statues

456. The demonstration was, in fact, already well under way. One group of students
assembled around the Petofi Statue in Pest, on the eastern bank of the River Danube, and
marched, joined by other groups of students and by more and more workers who came in from
the outskirts of the city, to the statue of General Bem in Buda, on the western bank of the
river.(7)
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457.  According to all reports the crowd was unarmed, and orderly and disciplined. Before
long, it consisted of some 10,000 people, a number which steadily increased during the
afternoon, as students, workers, and many others joined in. It consisted mostly of young
people, boys and girls, in high spirits. Many soldiers in uniform were in the crowd including, as
Radio Budapest stated at midnight, 800 cadets from the Petdfi Military Academy. These were
mostly sons of high Government and Communist Party officials and AVH officers; they had led
a privileged life in the Military Academy and had been indoctrinated for years.

458. The demonstrators were carrying Hungarian flags, from which the Communist crest
was cut out in the course of the afternoon, some Polish flags, and placards with slogans: “Long
live the Youth of Poland” and “For Freedom under the Sign of the Friendship of Bem and
Kossuth”. The National Anthem was sung. In the evening, Radio Budapest - half an hour
before the shooting began at the Radio Building - described the afternoon demonstration as
follows:

“National flags, young people with rosettes of the national colours singing the Kossuth song,
the Marseillaise and the Internationale - this is how we can describe in colours and in the titles
of songs how Budapest today is bathed in the October sunshine and celebrates a new Ides of
March.

“ ... Scholars, students of technological faculties, students of philosophy, law, economics,
together with students from other university branches, took part in the march led by their
professors and leaders of the University Party organizations.”

459. At the Pet6fi statue, a well-known actor, Imre Sinkovits, recited Pet6fi’s poem “Up,
Hungarians!”, which contains the following lines:

Up, Hungarians! It’s your country calling.
Now’s the moment, now or never!

Shall we be slaves? Shall we be free?
That’s the question - what’s your answer?
In God’s great name we swear, we swear,
No more shall we be slaves - no more!

460. At General Bem’s statue the President of the Writers’ Union, Peter Veres, made a
speech and read out the seven points of the Writers’ Union. The crowd listened somewhat
coolly to this declaration, while the students’ sixteen points were received with great
enthusiasm.

E. Demonstration at the Parliament

461. From General Bem’s statue many of the students, as planned, marched in orderly
columns back to their Universities. Most of the crowd, however, proceeded across the Danube
to the Parliament Building about one and a half kilometres from the Bem statue. They were
joined there by people streaming into the centre from all over the city. The crowd at the
Parliament Building and in the adjoining streets about 6 p.m. was estimated to be at least
200,000, perhaps 300,000 strong. The number of people present varied, however, because the
proceedings were dull; few could hear what was going on and not much seemed to happen.
The crowd demanded that the light on a large red star on the top of the Parliament Building be
switched off. There were cheers when this was done. Later, the lights on the whole square
were twice turned off, apparently to make the people go home. Most of them stayed, however.
Some rolled up newspapers, set fire to them and held them aloft as torches.
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462. Again and again, the crowd shouted that they wanted Imre Nagy to be in the
Government and that they wanted to see him. The previous evening, at the meeting of the
Technological University, it had been decided that a group of students should go to his
apartment and ask him to address the people. The delegation had returned, unsuccessful, and
had reported to the meeting that AVH armed with machine-guns and automatic pistols had met
them outside Mr. Nagy’s apartment and had refused to let them go near.

463. For several hours, the crowd in front of the Parliament persisted in calling for Imre
Nagy. Finally, some writer friends of his went to his apartment and persuaded him to come to
the Parliament, in spite of the fact that he had no official position. He did so and was received
by Ferenc Erdei who asked him to go out on the balcony of the Parliament to appease the
crowd. Mr. Erdei first said a few words from the balcony, but the people refused to listen. Mr.
Nagy’s unprepared address was also very short. There were no microphones. Few in fact, seem
to have been able to hear him. Some say he addressed the demonstrators as “Comrades” and
that this irritated the crowd; others say that he began his few sentences by saying: “My friends,
there are no more comrades”. It appears that he just asked the crowd to go quietly home.
Whether the people could hear him or not, his words had no marked effect - possibly because
the crowd had been waiting for so many hours, possibly because they had become exhilarated
by a feeling of freedom and had expected some dramatic statement.(8)

464. These same factors might also in part explain the strong reaction to First Party
Secretary Gerd’s radio speech at 8 o’clock in the evening.(9) Mr. Gerd and Prime Minister
Hegediis had returned the same morning from a ten-day visit to the Yugoslav Government.
The time for the speech had been announced since noon by Radio Budapest. The crowd hoped
there would be some new concessions or relaxations in line with developments in Poland. It
was expected that Mr. Geré would at least make some reply to the demands of the students,
the writers and the demonstrating crowds. It was apparently the truculent tenor of Mr. Gerd’s
address, rather than specific phrases, that infuriated people all over Budapest. A witness has
described how he rushed out into the streets and felt that something had to be done. The
slogans: “Down with Ger¢”, and even “Death to Ger6” were heard everywhere. Some of the
demonstrators heard the speech from radios placed in open windows, hut the majority only
heard about it. People told each other that Gerd had referred to them as “fascist rabble”. The
Committee has looked in vain for any such expression in Mr. Gerd’s speech; he did, however,
in directly refer to the crowd as nationalist and chauvinist, and an appeal was made for the
utmost vigilance against such hostile elements.

465. Mr. Ger6 endorsed the resolution of the Central Committee of July 1956 which, he
said, had invited the Communist Party to act with unity for Socialist democracy. Socialist
democracy, contrary to bourgeois democracy, he explained, entailed increased participation of
the workers in the running of the factories, State farms and various economic bodies and
institutions. As to the producers’ co-operatives, the members of these must be fully in control.
Numerous measures had already been taken, but the July resolution could not be fully
implemented in a few months; moreover, mistakes had occurred in the process. The Party
leadership preferred to proceed more slowly. The next meeting of the Central Committee
would be held “within the next few days”. The achievements of “our People’s Democracy”
would be jealously guarded against the enemies of the people. The main purpose of these
enemies was to shake the people’s faith in their Party - the Hungarian Workers’ Party - and
loosen the ties with the USSR, on which they were heaping slanders and lies.
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466. In proclaiming that there was no conflict between “proletarian internationalism” and
Hungarian patriotism, Mr. Ger6 voiced the following appraisal of the events of the day: “While
we loftily proclaim that we are patriots, we also categorically make it plain that we are not
nationalists. We are waging a consistent fight against chauvinism, anti-Semitism and all other
reactionary, anti-social and inhuman trends and views. We therefore condemn those who strive
to spread the poison of chauvinism among our youth, and who have taken advantage of the
democratic freedom ensured by our State to the working people to carry out nationalist
demonstrations.”

F. Removal of Stalin’s statue

467. Already early in the evening of 23 October, crowds had assembled around the huge
Stalin statue. Some came from the demonstration at the Bem statue, some from the Parliament
Building. A demand for the removal of the statue was one of the students’ sixteen points, and
some enthusiastic young people climbed the huge monument and set to work on it. The AVH
police stationed in the neighbourhood did not interfere. The participants worked with added
gusto after Gerd’s speech at 8 o’clock, and the slogan “Russians go home” was blended with
“Down with Ger6” and “Down with Rakosi”. At 9.30 the statue fell from its pedestal.

G. The first shots

468. On the evening of 22 October the students from the Technological University had sent
a deputation to the Radio Building to have their ten points broadcast in the evening news
bulletin and to arrange for the broadcasting of their planned demonstration at the General Bem
statue on 24 October. Both requests had been refused. On Tuesday afternoon, 23 October,
after the demonstration, a group of students decided once more to demand the broadcasting of
their points, and a large crowd proceeded to the Radio Building. The narrow streets around
the building became very crowded and the demonstration spilled over into the adjacent streets.
The crowd consisted mostly of young people, both men and women, students and workers. No
one bore arms. The slogans were the same as earlier in the clay and the crowd was still good
natured. However, Gerd’s speech had an electrifying effect. A delegation had been sent into
the Radio Building to negotiate with the Director, Valéria Benke.(10) The demand of the
delegation to have all sixteen points broadcast - not just some of them - was refused. The
delegation remained in the building, possibly to negotiate further. However, a rumour spread
that they were being held captive.

469. The radio building was guarded by the AVH police, and the crowds saw
reinforcements, carrying rifles with fixed bayonets, arrive at about 7.30 p.m. and again at about
8.30. Some of the demonstrators set off fireworks from a truck standing in one of the streets.
Water was sprayed on to the crowd from a house. The excitement increased. A rumour spread
that one of the delegates had been shot inside the building. It has not been possible for the
Committee to ascertain whether this rumour was correct or not. Then, it is alleged, several
demonstrators attempted to force their way into the building. Some witnesses have denied this,
but only a few could see everything that happened in the narrow, crowded street. Shortly after
9 p.m. tear gas bombs were thrown from the upper floors. One or two minutes later, AVH men
rushed from the entrance and began shooting in all directions. At least three people were killed
- some say eight - and many wounded. For about twenty minutes the shooting continued from
the windows of the building, resulting in more casualties among the demonstrators. The crowd
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retreated. The bloody clothes of the first dead were carried through the city and people rallied
behind them in procession. The news spread speedily through Budapest. Many of the
demonstrators in front of the Parliament began to move towards the Radio Building, and the
crowd around the Stalin statue hurried there too, after the statue fell at 9.30 p.m.

470. Another incident further infuriated the demonstrators. White ambulances with Red
Cross licence plates drove through the crowd to the Radio Building - it was assumed to aid the
wounded; but the demonstrators discovered, according to eyewitnesses, that they contained
AVH police wearing doctors’ white coats over their uniforms and that they were transporting
arms. One witness described how he and his unarmed friends attacked the armed AVH men,
seized the ambulance and thus came into possession of the first weapons to be in the
demonstrators’ hands.

471. About 10.00 p.m. a force of soldiers of the Regular Army was sent as reinforcements.
They were stopped by the crowd. An old worker leaped upon a truck and recited a well-known
poem: “Shoot not, my son, for I shall also be in the crowd”. Hesitating a moment, the soldiers
looked at their officer, then jumped off the trucks and joined the fighters.

472.  Shortly afterwards, three tanks of the Hungarian Army arrived in front of the Radio
Station. From the top of their tanks, two Hungarian officers declared that they were not going
to shoot at the people. Fire was thereupon opened from the Radio Building, and the officers
and several of the demonstrators were killed.

473.  Workers in Csepel and Ujpest and other working class districts learned by telephone
that fighting had broken out. They immediately seized what trucks they could find and drove
into the centre of Budapest. Many of the workers received arms from soldiers or police they
met on their way, while others went to the military barracks where the stores were thrown
open, for instance at Angyalfold and Zugl6. About midnight a truckload of arms from a factory
in Soroksar Street arrived at the Radio Building. One witness, a truck driver, knew that a so-
called United Lamp Factory actually manufactured arms. He went there with twenty-five other
workers and with several trucks. They broke open the store rooms, and came into possession
of more than 1,000 rifles with ammunition. Another witness received three truckloads of arms
from the Kéroly barracks in Budadrs, where he went with some friends.

474.  Several AVH troop carriers were overturned and burned in the streets around the
Radio Building which, from about 11.00 p.m., was under severe attack with light arms. At
midnight, the radio announced that “clashes took place at various places in the city between
demonstrators and police forces”. Some time in the early morning hours, the demonstrators
seized the building, or at least part of it, but were driven out again. For the next few days,
there was intermittent fighting around the building until it was finally seized by the
revolutionaries; the AVH personnel were arrested and taken to barracks for trial.

475. Late on Tuesday evening, 23 October, part of the crowd went to the offices of the
Party paper, Szabad Nép, and demanded publication of the sixteen points. The AVH fired on
the crowd and some were killed, but later in the night, after they had obtained arms, the
demonstrators succeeded in occupying the whole building.
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H. Further developments

476. During the night, several book shops selling Russian books were broken into. Russian
books were thrown out into the streets in piles and burnt. No looting took place, however,
either this night or in the days that followed. Several witnesses, emphasizing the pure motives
of the uprising, described how many windows had been shattered in shops and department
stores, but the goods, even jewellery, were left untouched by the people.

477. During Wednesday, 24 October, the revolutionaries began to occupy district police
stations, usually without opposition, and district Communist Party Headquarters. In the latter
they found arms. Thus, more arms came into the hands of the people.

478. The witnesses maintained that, without the intervention of the Soviet troops, there
would have been order in the city in a day or two, since only the AVH were firing on the
crowds, and many members of the army and the police supported the uprising. There seems, in
fact, not to be a single report of any member of the Hungarian military forces or of the
ordinary police opening fire on the people.

479. The first Soviet tank patrol was seen in the city at 2.00 a.m. on Wednesday, 24
October. On the same day, fierce fighting developed between the Soviet troops and the
revolutionaries, supported by part of the regular Hungarian Army, particularly at the Kilidn
Barracks and at the Corvin Block.(11)

480. The population became increasingly embittered against the Russians, particularly
because several incidents were reported of Russian tanks opening fire without provocation on
unarmed crowds. Two such incidents were reported to the Committee by a former Member of
Parliament belonging to the Independent Smallholders Party who testified that he had
witnessed them personally. On Wednesday, 24 October, at 9.00 a.m. two Soviet tanks driving
to Marx Square opened fire without provocation on passers-by and killed two persons. At
11.00 a.m. a Soviet tank in front of the Western Railway Station shot an unarmed soldier,
about 20 years old, who was talking to a civilian. A young boy tried to approach the fallen
soldier to help him and was shot and wounded by a Russian soldier. Nevertheless, on the first
couple of days, there were also many cases of fraternization between the people and the Soviet
soldiers, many of whom had been stationed in the country for some time.

I. Parliament Building on 25 October

481. At about 8.30 on Thursday morning, 25 October, a group of about 800 people had
assembled near the Hotel Astoria. Waving Hungarian flags, they set out to go to the Parliament
Building. When the crowd was about 300 metres away, three Soviet tanks, drawn-up beside
the Western Railroad Station, opened fire. The crowd withdrew to the side streets, and some
of them went back to the Hotel Astoria, where six or eight Soviet tanks and troop-carriers
were standing. The crew of the tanks were in friendly conversation with people in the streets,
who had asked them why the Soviet forces were firing on peaceful demonstrators. After about
an hour’s discussion, the crew of a Soviet tank said they felt that the demands of the
demonstrators were justified and that they should all go to the Parliament Building together
and demand that Gerd and the other Stalinists be expelled from the Government. The tanks
were then decorated with the Hungarian colours and some of the demonstrators climbed up on
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them with the crew. One witness who testified before the Committee sat in the first tank to
show the way. Flags protruded from the turrets of the tanks. The crowd was unarmed.

482. There were many people at the Parliament Building waiting for Prime Minister Nagy to
appear, probably 20,000-25,000, perhaps more, half of them women and children, some even
with babies in arms. Between 11 a.m. and 12, when the demonstrators arrived at the square
with the Soviet tanks, AVH police, and possibly Soviet soldiers, stationed on the roof-tops of
the surrounding buildings, opened fire on the crowd with machine-guns. Other Soviet tanks
approached from the side streets, and, according to witnesses, fire was exchanged between
them and the Soviet tanks which had arrived at the square with the demonstrators. Several
witnesses described how it was impossible to come to the aid of the wounded for about an
hour. Everybody who tried to do so was shot at. One witness woman doctor and two nurses,
who attempted to the wounded, shot down before his eyes. Many casualties were women and
children. Estimates number killed vary from 300 to 800. A member of the staff of the British
Legation counted twelve truckloads of corpses being removed from the square later in the
afternoon.

483. The crowd had assembled before the Parliament Building in the hope of seeing Prime
Minister Nagy, whom they believed to be in his office there. They did not know that the Prime
Minister at that time was detained at Communist Party Headquarters in a neighbouring street.
A witness, present at Party Headquarters at that time, has described the panic which seized the
Communist leaders and the AVH officers in the building, since they apparently feared that the
crowd had come to attack the Party Headquarters. It so happened that Mr. Suslov and Mr.
Mikoyan had just arrived there for a conference with the Party leaders, a conference which was
to result in Mr. Gerd’s replacement by Mr. Kéadar as First Secretary of the Central Committee
of the Party.

484. Meanwhile, during these same days, events in Budapest had produced repercussions all
over Hungary. Revolutionary Councils and Workers’ Councils in factories were being
enthusiastically set up throughout the country and were discussing their programmes for
action. It will be the purpose of the following chapter to consider these developments.

(1)See annex A to chapter IX.
(2)See annex B to chapter IX.
(3)See annex C to chapter IX.
(4)See annex to chapter IX.
(5)Chapter IX, para. 404.

(7)Budapest consists of two cities, Buda, on the western side of the Danube containing the old sections, and Pest, on the
eastern side comprising of business section and the government offices. The Bem statue is in Buda, while practically all the
other places mentioned in this chapter are in Pest, including the Parliament, the Radio building, the Communist Party
Headquarters, the Hotel Astoria, the Kilian Barracks, the Corvin Cinema and, a little further from the city centre, the AVH
Headquarters and the Stalin statue, which was not on Stalin Square in the centre of the city.

(8)Chapter VI, para. 221.

(9)Szabolcs-Szatmari Néplap, 24 October 1956.

(10)An account of the “Siege of Radio Budapest” was published in Népszabadsag, 22-28 January 1957.
(11)Chapter IV, paras. 164-165.
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Chapter XI
REVOLUTIONARY AND WORKERS’ COUNCILS

I. Introduction

485. No aspect of the Hungarian uprising expressed its democratic tendencies or its reaction
to previous conditions more clearly than the creation of Revolutionary Councils in villages,
towns and on the county level, and of Workers’ Councils in factories. Within a few days, these
bodies came into existence all over Hungary and assumed important responsibilities. Their
chief purpose was to ensure for the Hungarian people real, and not merely nominal, control of
local government and of factories, mines, and other industrial enterprises. There was even a
suggestion that a National Revolutionary Committee might replace the National Assembly,(1)
while another proposal was that a Supreme National Council could exercise the prerogative of
Head of the State.(2) While nothing of the kind took place, the fact that such proposals could
be put forward at all suggests the degree to which they were felt to reflect the desires of the
people.

486. The first part of this chapter will deal with the Revolutionary Councils and the second
part with the Workers’ Councils in factories.

487. Before the end of October, the entire Communist-controlled Party apparatus had
collapsed in Hungary, leaving a vacuum in public administration. By article 30 of the
Constitution of the Hungarian People’s Republic of 18 August 1949, various Councils had
been established as local organs of the State administration; including County Councils,
District Councils, Town Councils, Borough Councils and Town Precinct Councils. Owing to
the one party system, these Councils came under the direct control of the Party and local
autonomy was destroyed. As soon as the Communist Party apparatus collapsed, the Hungarian
people demanded that democratic elections be held in autonomous communities and that the
Communist Party functionaries, police administrators and their associates be replaced by men
trusted by the people. In accordance with these demands, Revolutionary Councils were created
and took over the functions of the local administration in urban as well as rural areas.

488. In addition, and mostly after 27 October, Revolutionary Councils or Committees were
created within Government offices, many of which took over the actual running of
Departments; and in the Army, by students and other youth groups, as well as by groups of
intellectuals.

489. Just as these Revolutionary Councils appeared to be an expression of popular
dissatisfaction with the local councils of the régime, so the Workers’ Councils were an attempt
to establish control by the workers themselves in factories, mines and similar enterprises.
Under article 6 of the Constitution of 1949, the State and public bodies were to act as “trustees
for the whole people” for mines, large industrial enterprises and State-sponsored agricultural
undertakings. In practice, this meant rigid Party control and, during the Rakosi régime, as was
seen in chapter IX, the Hungarian economy was largely subjected to the interests of the Soviet
Union.(3) The Workers’ Councils in factories seem to have been an expression of popular
disapproval of this state of affairs, as well as the reaction of the workers to the Government-
controlled trade unions.
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490. Revolutionary and Workers’ Councils sprang up all over Hungary without any central
direction or co-ordinating plan, but, as the days passed, efforts were made to achieve some
degree of co-ordination. These efforts were still in a tentative stage when the second Soviet
intervention occurred on 4 November.

491.  On 28 October the Hungarian Workers’ (Communist) Party commended the establish-
ment of these Councils in an article in Szabad Nép, its official organ:

“News comes all the time from all parts of the country about the setting up of municipal and
county Councils, Workers’ Councils, National Councils or Revolutionary Socialist Committees
- many different names. All are alike, however, in being spontaneous, popular organs which
came into existence through the upsurge of a new democracy in this country. We do not know
who the members of the Councils are; we do know, however, that they are representatives of
the workers and that they are being elected in a democratic way. There is none among them
who would abuse the confidence of the people, who would misuse his power or think only of
his personal position. Among them are those Communists who are respected and loved by the
people. The good judgment and intelligence of the working masses are seen in the first
measures taken by these popular organs.”

492.  Official recognition was given to the Revolutionary Councils by Mr. Nagy “in the name
of the National Government” on 30 October. He referred to them as “autonomous, democratic
local organs formed during the Revolution,” and asked for “full support” from them. The
setting up of factory Workers’ Councils in all plants was recommended by the Central
Committee of the Hungarian Workers’ (Communist) Party in a statement issued on 26
October, and on the same day the Praesidium of the National Council of Trade Unions
published a similar appeal to all workers.

IL. Revolutionary Councils
A. Territorial Councils
1. The provinces

493.  As from 24 October, Revolutionary Councils were set up in many parts of Hungary in
villages, towns, at district level and in the counties. Whole areas were brought under their
control after successful bloodless shorter or longer fights with the AVH. They at once assumed
administrative responsibilities and began address demands to the Government, some of which
had considerable influence on the course of events.

494.  Various names were used by these Councils, such as Revolutionary Council, National
Revolutionary Council, Revolutionary Committee, Workers’ and Soldiers’ Council, Revolutio-
nary Workers’ Council, National Revolutionary Committee, National Council, National
Committee, Socialist Revolutionary Committee. Many of the Revolutionary Councils were
called Municipal Workers’ Council or Workers’ Council which sometimes made it difficult to
distinguish them from the Workers’ Councils in factories. In part II of this chapter, the term
“Revolutionary Council” will be used.

495.  Among the first provincial Revolutionary Councils set up immediately after 24 October
were those of Dunapentele and Miskolc. The Councils of Debrecen, Gydr and Jaszberény were
set up on 25 October; those of Mosonmagyardvar, Tatabanya and Veszprém on the 26"; Eger,
Nyiregyhaza, Szeged, Székesfehérvar, Szolnok and Zalaegerszeg on the 27™; Szombathely on
the 28" and Kaposvar on 30 October.
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496. The circumstances in which the Councils were elected varied from one place to
another. In many places they came into being after peaceful demonstrations, combined with the
liberation of political prisoners; elsewhere the population’s demands, among which the election
of a Revolutionary Council was prominent, were resisted by the AVH and resulted in a
massacre of the population before it was possible to proceed with the setting up of a Council.
The following are some examples.(4)

497.  In Debrecen in the course of a peaceful manifestation on 23 October, the AVH killed 2
persons. After this, power was taken over by a “Revolutionary Socialist Committee” which,
after two days’ negotiation, disarmed the AVH. In Gy&r the Council was set up on 25 October
after demonstrations which took place before the Headquarters of the Communist Party with
the participation of a crowd of more than 10,000. Demonstrators were originally led by
Communists, and were joined by factory workers; the crowd tore down the Soviet emblems
from public buildings and cut out the Soviet insignia from the flags. When the prison was
attacked and political prisoners liberated, the AVH intervened and killed four people. The
demonstrations continued during the night, and the day after, a notice was published in the
papers concerning the mode of election of the Revolutionary Councils, which eventually took
over power and disarmed the AVH. In Jaszberény, after the news of uprising in Budapest
arrived, workers and intellectuals went on strike, removed the Soviet insignia from official
buildings and hoisted national flags. The Revolutionary Council was established on 25 October
by 150 inhabitants of the town. By 29 October the Council had the support of the peasants of
the region. In Miskolc revolutionary demonstrations took place on 24 and 25 October and a
“Workers’ and Soldiers’ Council” was set up. Demonstrations went on the 26™ before Police
Headquarters and when demands were made for the release of demonstrators arrested earlier,
the AVH fired into the crowd. After this, the crowd, composed of miners and workers,
attacked Police Headquarters, blowing open the door with explosives and killing many
members of the AVH. By nightfall, the Council had taken over full control of the town. At
Mosonmagyardvar, on 26 October, students and workers joined by townspeople demonstrated
before the AVH Headquarters, asking that the Soviet star be removed from the building. AVH
officers opened fire with four machine-guns, others threw hand grenades at the defenceless
people; 101 people were killed and 150 wounded, many of them women and small children.
After these events, with the assistance of the local police, the population disarmed the AVH
formation and set up a National Committee.

498. In Sopron the local population, with the help of the workers of Gydr and Moson-
magyarovar, disarmed the AVH and formed the “Provisional National Council”. In Szeged on
26 October, a military administration took the place of the City Council. On 27 October a
demonstration took place in the course of which many people were wounded by AVH, and
during the day a “Workers’ Council” for the city was set up. In Szolnok there was fighting on
26 October to break down the Hungarian Communist organization and also against the Soviet
troops stationed there, followed by the setting up of a Revolutionary Council. In Veszprém
representatives of Workers’ Councils in factories met on 26 October at the University and
elected a Revolutionary Council for the city and the county. In Zalaegerszeg on 26 October a
crowd of several thousands demonstrated before the county building and requested the
resignation of the president of the County Council. The president resigned, and in agreement
with him a “Workers’ Council” was set up. In the course of the demonstrations, however,
shooting started and two persons were killed and many were wounded.

499. The procedure followed in establishing the Councils also varied from place to place.
The methods used included election by secret ballot at a general meeting, or at a meeting of
factory workers’ delegates, and election by representatives of peasants, factory workers and

156



professional organizations. Sometimes, members of the Council were appointed by
acclamation, sometimes by open election from those present at the meeting. In some cases, de
facto non-Communist leadership appears to have been established without previous election.

500. The Councils included representatives of all segments of the population. In Debrecen,
the Council had one hundred members of whom 60 per cent were workers, 20 per cent
University students and 20 per cent representatives of the armed forces. The Councils of Gy6r
and Eger consisted of workers, peasants, soldiers and intellectuals, while half of the twenty-
eight members of the Council of Jaszberény were peasants. Revolutionary Councils were fully
supported from the beginning by the armed forces (e.g., Debrecen, Eger, Gydr, Szeged,
Szolnok, Veszprém), and by the local police (e.g., Debrecen, Gyér, Mosonmagyarovar,
Szolnok, Tatabanya, Veszprém).

501. Some of the Revolutionary Councils were set up with the consent of the local
Committee of the Hungarian Workers’ (Communist) Party (e.g., Debrecen) many of them had
from the beginning to the end Communist members (e.g., Debrecen) ; others dropped their
Communist members after 1 November (e.g., Pécs). Most of them enjoyed almost at once the
editorial support of the local organ of the Hungarian Workers’ (Communist) Party. Regarding
the attitude taken by the Councils towards the Party, the following comments of Hétfoi Hirlap
of 29 October are significant:

“The demands [of the Revolutionary Councils] are, on the whole, identical and essentially
socialist and democratic(5) in their character, and do not intend to destroy the people’s power.
This is proved by the fact that wherever Party organizations endorsed the aims of the
democratic revolution, no action was taken against them.”

502. Some of the Revolutionary Councils had radio stations of their own, which broadcast
news and announcements during the whole period of the uprising. The main radio centre of the
Provinces was in Gydr, where Free Radio Gy6r and Free Radio Pet6fi functioned on medium
and short waves. Another important centre was the radio of the Workers’ Council of the
County Borsod in Miskolc which broadcast on medium wave. Other free stations were Radio
Damjanich (Szolnok), Free Radio Debrecen, Free Radio Dunapentele, Free Radio Eger, Free
Radio Rakoczi (Kaposvar), Free Radio Széchenyi (Szeged), Free Radio Szombathely, Radio
Vorosmarty (Székesfehérvar) and the Radio of the Workers’ Council of the County of
Szabolcs-Szatmar. Most of the latter stations broadcast on short wave.

503.  Of considerable political significance were the demands put forward by the Councils to
the Government on behalf of the people of their area. These demands varied greatly, in
accordance with the geographic location of the Councils. Those from the western parts of the
country submitted more extreme demands than the Councils in the east. Demands differed
further with the political trends which were represented within the Councils.

504. Some Councils gave qualified approval to the Government of Mr. Nagy, while making
conditions for full recognition. The great majority of Revolutionary Councils were unanimous
in calling for immediate cease-fire, the withdrawal of Soviet troops from Hungary and the
organization of free elections. Other demands amongst those put forward by the Revolutionary
Councils of twelve Hungarian cities and counties(6) which were examined, were for complete
independence and freedom for Hungary, for a protest to the United Nations against the
presence of Soviet troops in Hungary, for the United Nations to deal with the Hungarian
situation, for equality with the USSR, withdrawal from the Warsaw Treaty, recall of Péter
Ko6s, the representative of Hungary to the United Nations, and for a proclamation of neutrality.
Further demands included changes within the structure of the Government, the abolition of the
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AVH and the creation of new police, the establishment of the National Guard, liberation of
political prisoners, in particular, of Cardinal Mindszenty, freedom of speech, press, religion and
association, the setting up of Workers’ Councils in factories; new agrarian policies and, in
particular, abolition of compulsory delivery of produce by the peasants.(7) It was often
emphasized that a return of the landed estates to their former owners would not be tolerated.
“The people have already decided as far as the question of land, factories and mineral wealth is
concerned”, one Council delegate told the Government on 3 November. “The people will
never alter that decision.”

505. The Revolutionary Councils controlled the ad ministration of the cities in which they
were set up, dealing with all the major problems of local government and taking special
measures to restore and maintain order by setting up of local units of the National Guard.
Some collected medical supplies and food for the fighters and wounded in Budapest. Thus the
Revolutionary Council of Jaszberény, in co-operation with the local peasants, from 30 October
on provided the fighters in Budapest free of charge with nearly 10,000 kilogrammes of food on
a daily basis.

2. The Transdanubian National Council

506. Of all the Revolutionary Councils, that which appears to have wielded the greatest
political influence was the Transdanubian National Council. This Council was set up at a
conference in GyOr on 30 October, at tended by about 400 delegates, four from each county
and two from each city in the Transdanubian region, as well as by delegates of the
Revolutionary Councils of Borsod and Bacs-Kiskiin Counties and the Central Workers’
Council of Csepel. The conference was opened by the President of the “National Revolutionary
Council” of Gydr-Sopron County, Attila Szigethy. Demonstrations held in Gydr during the
previous days had demanded the formation of a “counter-Government” to that of Mr. Nagy
and had called for military help from the Western Powers and for war with the Soviet Union.
However, news reached the conference from Budapest about the “Inner-Cabinet” which Mr.
Nagy had just set up(8) and which included Béla Kovacs, the Independent Smallholder leader
from Pécs in the Transdanubian area, and about the opening of negotiations for the withdrawal
of Soviet troops. Under the impact of this news, the conference decisively rejected the
proposal for a “counter-Government” and declared that it would immediately open
negotiations with Mr. Nagy regarding the following points: (1) The Government must give
reliable guarantees for the fulfilment of promises regarding the demands of the people, above
all regarding the withdrawal of Soviet forces; (2) The Government must hold general elections
by secret ballot with the participation of several parties after the departure of the Soviet troops,
but not later than January 1957; (3) The Government must set up local organs for the
maintenance of order with the approval of the competent Revolutionary Councils; (4) Until a
new National Assembly could be convened, all appointments of colonels and other senior
officers must be approved by a “Central Council”, which is still to be set up; (5) Changes
within the Government are necessary and the freedom fighters must be represented adequately
in the new Government; (6) The Government must issue a neutrality declaration and
communicate it to the United Nations; (7) The Government must guarantee freedom of speech,
freedom of the Press, freedom of assembly and freedom of religion. The conference delegates
said that the Transdanubian Council would withdraw recognition from the Government if the
above demands were not satisfied and would start negotiations with Revolutionary Councils in
Budapest to set up a new Government. The declaration added that the Council took note of
the pledge given by Army units in four cities of western Hungary, including Gyodr, that they
would defend the people against all foreign attacks, even if they received orders to the
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contrary. The Conference declared that it was essential to establish a unified military command
for the whole territory of Hungary. The Transdanubian National Council stated at the outset of
the Conference that negotiations with the Government would be undertaken in 24 hours and
that, in the meantime, the strike would continue. During the night it was announced that the
Ninth Army Division in its entirety had associated itself with the Council. This was followed by
an appeal broadcast by the Council to all troops in the Transdanubian area calling upon them to
follow the example of the Ninth Division.(9)

507. Under the chairmanship of Mr. Szigethy, a delegation from the Transdanubian National
Council went to Budapest and met Mr. Nagy on 31 October at the Parliament Building. For
several days, Free Radio Gydr had been insistently broadcasting the Council demands,
including that for Hungarian neutrality. According to a broadcast, emanating from Free Radio
Petdfi, on 31 October at 10.30 p.m. Mr. Nagy took note of the creation of the Transdanubian
National Council and requested its assistance. Representatives of the Council stated that the
condition of their support to the Government was the acceptance of the demands of the
Council.

508. The Prime Minister in his reply asked representatives of the Council to give him their
confidence; he told them that he was taking steps to fulfil several of the Council’s demands. On
the following day at 7.45 p.m. Mr. Nagy made his broadcast proclaiming the neutrality of
Hungary and announcing his appeal to the United Nations.

509. Mr. Szigethy and his colleagues, on their return to Gyor, reported to the second
meeting of the Transdanubian National Council, which adjourned in the early hours of 1
November. The Council decided in favour of the continuation of the strike, pledging the
resumption of work after the withdrawal of Soviet troops “had been guaranteed diplomati-
cally”. According to testimony received by the Special Committee, at the above meeting of the
Council, a delegate of Jozsef Dudds, the Chairman of the Hungarian National Revolutionary
Committee, proposed once again the establishment of a “counter-Government” within the
framework of the Council. This proposal was rejected by the Council with an overwhelming
majority.

3. Budapest

510. Revolutionary Councils or National Committees were set up all over Budapest. As
early as the night of 23 October, individual fighting groups elected from among their members
the first temporary Councils to co-ordinate their forces and to present their demands to the
Government. These Councils received added responsibility after 28 October when they took
over public administration in their respective districts. The leaders of these Councils came
together at an early stage with those of the Workers’ Councils in the same area, and proceeded
to set up unified Revolutionary Councils, consisting of representatives of the freedom fighters,
Workers’ Council and political parties. Several of the Revolutionary Councils of Greater
Budapest were elected by democratic voting, but in many districts there had been no time to
organize mass meetings for a democratic election before the Soviet forces intervened again on
4 November.

511. Information is available on the Revolutionary Councils of South Budapest, Csepel and
Districts 11, V, VII, VIII, XII, XIV and XX. These Councils and Committees had an average
membership of twenty to twenty-five. Among the members were workers, soldiers, police,
students and other intellectuals, small artisans and small shopkeepers. They met every two or
three days and, like the provincial Councils, undertook various responsibilities of public
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administration, as well as emergency tasks rendered necessary by the fighting. Several
Budapest Councils, after adopting the sixteen demands of the students as a political
platform,(10) made other statements of their own concerning their recognition or conditional
recognition of the Nagy Government. The Councils expressed their views in a newspaper, Esti
Hirlap (Evening News) which appeared until 3 November. The following is a summary of the
major tasks outlined for themselves by these Councils:

(a) restoration of order and peace; (b) organization of National Guard; (c) reorganization
and democratization of public administration; (d) immediate tasks of daily public administra-
tion; (e) organization of supplies to hospitals, mainly from the hotel industry; (f) treatment of,
and supply to the sick; (g) just and equitable distribution of food and other gifts from the
Provinces and from abroad, in co-operation with the International Committee of the Red Cross
and the Hungarian Red Cross; (h) equitable distribution of available apartments; (i) repair of
apartments and the communications system; (j) the clearance of rubble. By 3 November
streetcars and buses had started, and on 5 November schools and normal work were to
resume. In addition, the Councils spent a great deal of time with political questions. Some of
the Councils suggested that the Government should be reorganized on a broader national,
democratic and coalition basis. General support was expressed for an independent, socialist
and democratic Hungary and for the three people who, in their opinion, stood for these ideals:
Imre Nagy, Janos Kadar and Béla Kovécs.

512. A National Committee and a Revolutionary Council, composed of representatives of
the different parties, took over on 30 October the “ideological and political administration of
the municipal authority” of Budapest, and pledged the restoration of full autonomy to the
capital. The Committee, at its meeting of 2 November, elected Jozsef Kévagd, Mayor, and
Péter Bechtler, Vice-Mayor of the city - the first a member of the Independent Smallholders’
Party, the other of the Social Democratic Party.(11)

B. Functional and representative councils
1. Students and Youth

513. The Students’ Revolutionary Council (Egyetemi Forradalmi Didkbizottsag) [of Greater
Budapest] was created early in the uprising. It seems that its members had participated in the
various University manifestations in Budapest.(12) Later, this Council was active in bringing
together the various groups of student fighters scattered about Budapest and, in many cases,
isolated from each other. The Council also attempted to co-ordinate and direct them, but
witnesses stated to the Special Committee that these attempts of the Council were not
completely successful. The Council was in constant liaison with the Commander of the units of
the Hungarian Army which joined the insurgents; it had a radio station of its own, and after 29
October a publication Egyetemi Ifjusdg (University Youth). Representatives of the Council had
several meetings with Imre Nagy and Zoltan Tildy after 28 October, in the course of which the
Prime Minister asked for their help in “the building of Hungary’s future”.

514. Later, the Council helped the Government in organizing the National Guard, a part of
which was to consist of students. Various leaflets are indicative of the Council’s attitude. One
leaflet expressed confidence in Imre Nagy, a confidence which was said to have been shaken
for two or three days but to have now become “stronger than ever”. In explanation of this
change in attitude, the leaflet described how Mr. Nagy had been detained by the AVH.(13) In
other leaflets the Council appealed to “Hungarians” urging them to resume work, but to be
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“ready for the fight” to safeguard the achievements of the revolution. In a further leaflet the
Council stated that “only Hungarian soldiers should be on Hungarian soil” and that no United
Nations troops should be sent to Hungary. The United Nations should, however, give
economic assistance to the country.

515. The Free Hungarian Revolutionary Youth Alliance (Szabad Forradalmi Magyar Ifjusag
Orszéagos Tanacsa) was founded on 27 October to include all revolutionary youth and student
organizations. The Students’ Revolutionary Council and various other new youth groups in
Budapest became members of this Alliance. Its publication was Szabad Ifjisag (Free Youth),
the former organ of the Central Committee of DISZ, the communist youth organization.(14)

516. The Alliance and some of its branches issued leaflets restating the sixteen demands of
the students, demanding the recall of Mr. Kos from the United Nations and calling for a strike
until Soviet troops left Hungarian territory. One of the leaflets of the Alliance stated that “the
revolution is in danger”, and informed National Committees and Revolutionary Councils all
over the country “that new Soviet troops have entered Hungary from the East” and that “the
shadow of tyranny is again over us”. It asked that the Revolutionary Military Council of the
Hungarian People’s Army should at once concentrate, for the defence of the capital, the
Hungarian Army units stationed in the east.

517.  On 28 October a preparatory committee was set up for the Fighting Organization of
Young Workers and Working Youth (Ifjamunkasok ¢és Fiatal Dolgozok Harcos Szervezete).
This was intended to co-operate with student and peasant youth groups, and was to help in the
strengthening of the National Guard. It had a newspaper, Magyar Ifjusag (Hungarian Youth)
from 1 November on.

2. Armed forces

518. The Revolutionary National Defense Committee (Forradalmi Honvédelmi Bizottmany)
was set up in the early hours of 31 October, at a meeting held at the Ministry of Defence, by
two hundred and fifty representatives of (a) The Revolutionary Insurgent Forces (Felkelt
Forradalmi Erdk); (b) The Revolutionary Military Council of the Hungarian People’s Army
(Magyar Néphadsereg Forradalmi Tanacsa); (c) The Revolutionary Council of the National
Police Command (Orszdgos Renddrkapitanysdg Forradalmi Tandcsa); and (d) The
Revolutionary Committee of the Frontier Guards (Hatarérségi Forradalmi Bizottmany). The
first three groups had been set up on 30 October and represented young freedom fighters -
including the Hungarian Revolutionary Youth Alliance - soldiers, non-commissioned officers,
officers, cadets and staff officers of the armed forces; and the central authority of the
Hungarian National Police. The Frontier Guards had been placed since 1949 under the
authority of the AVH. They were, nevertheless, considered in a different light by the
population of Hungary, and its officers and soldiers pledged loyalty on 29 October to the
Government of Mr. Nagy, stating that they sincerely agreed with the revolutionary changes.

519. The meeting of 31 October was convened by the Revolutionary Military Council of the
Hungarian People’s Army, which, in the invitation also summoned “the leaders of the
Revolutionary Army Committee of the units of the Third Motorized Army Group, which have
replaced the Soviet troops withdrawing from Budapest”, to report to it. Thus the terms of the
invitation to the above meeting implied that the power of disposition of the armed forces at
that date rested with the Revolutionary Military Council, in which leaders of all army branches
were represented, and not with the Minister of Defence - at that time Kéroly Janza. Local

161



revolutionary army committees and military councils had been set up about 28 October all over
the country, in different units, including the Air Force Commands and the military academies.

520. The meeting of 31 October set up the Revolutionary National Defence Committee of
twenty-one officers headed by General Béla Kiraly, formerly chief of the training centres of the
Ministry of Defence; Colonel Pal Maléter, Commander of the Kilidn Barracks; Major-General
Gyula Viaradi of the Tank Corps; Colonel Andras Marton of the Zrinyi Academy and Lt.-
Colonel Istvan Marian, leader of the freedom fighters of the Technological University. It also
adopted a resolution of eight points which demanded the withdrawal of Soviet troops from the
entire territory of Hungary, the repudiation of the Warsaw Treaty after the convocation of a
conference of the signatory Governments, and the occupation of the uranium mines by the
Hungarian Army. The Revolutionary National Defence Committee approved the dissolution of
the AVH, and at the same time demanded that former members of the AVH should not be
allowed, in the future, to join any armed formation or the National Guard. The Committee
stated that Hungarian armed formations would oppose, with arms, any external or internal
enemy which set foot on Hungarian soil and attacked its independence, and that, if Soviet
troops did not leave Hungary by 31 December 1956, the Hungarian armed forces would fight
with arms “for the cause of the country’s freedom and for the defence of the achievements of
the victorious revolution”.

521. A few hours before the constitutive meeting of the Revolutionary National Defence
Committee on 31 October, Mr. Nagy, acting on behalf of the Council of Ministers,
“acknowledged and confirmed” the formation of the Preparatory Committee of the
Revolutionary National Defence Committee which was, apparently, at that time, already in
existence. Mr. Nagy added that “the Revolutionary National Defence Committee, once
formally established, will form the new armed forces, made up of the units of the army, the
police, the revolutionary insurgent forces, and the workers and youth brigades. With their
assistance, the Revolutionary National Defence Committee will restore the internal peace of
our country and create the conditions for the implementation of the Government programmes
proclaimed on 28 and 30 October.(15) The Revolutionary National Defence Committee will
operate until the new Government has been formed, after general elections by secret ballot, and
has taken office”.

522.  Thus from 31 October, the Revolutionary National Defence Committee became the
supreme directing power of the Hungarian Army, of other semi-military formations and of the
freedom fighters. Between 1 and 3 November the Defence Committee took several decisions
of considerable importance and issued statements of policy with or without the Government’s
formal blessing. During the day of 31 October, the Committee proceeded to establish the
Revolutionary Committee of the Public Security Forces (Forradalmi Karhatalmi Bizottsag),
composed of the army, the police and the factory guards, which was charged with the co-
ordination of activities of all security forces; and also to develop further the National Guard
(Nemzetdrség), which was to be composed of members of armed formations of those fighters
who were not members of the army, police or factory guards. General Béla Kirdly was
appointed Commander-in-Chief of the National Guard, which was to enjoy equal status with
the regular army and police. General Kirdly made a statement in which he said that the National
Guard should do their utmost to separate themselves from “sporadic disturbers” and that, for
this purpose, they would be issued immediately with a special National Guard identity card,
they would also receive, as from that day, flags for their units similar to those used in 1848, to
which they would swear allegiance.
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3. The Revolutionary Committee of Hungarian Intellectuals (Magyar Ertelmiségi
Forradalmi Bizottsag)

523. This Committee was set up on 28 October at a meeting held at Lorand Eotvos
University in Budapest. It was originally composed of revolutionary organizations of students,
writers, journalists, artists and musicians, as well as representatives of the professors of
universities, of People’s Colleges, the Pet6fi Club and of MEFESZ, but it was joined later on
by the National Committee of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences, as well as by associations
of historians and medical workers.(16) Transforming itself after 4 November into the
Revolutionary Council of Hungarian Intellectuals (Magyar Ertelmiségi Forradalmi Tanacs), it
was to play a part in events after that date.(17) Several other Revolutionary Committees were
set up by or for specific professional groups.

C. Establishment of revolutionary committees within government departments

524. From 30 October, Revolutionary Committees were established in most of the
Government Departments - the Ministries of Construction, Education, Food, Foreign Affairs,
Internal Trade, Justice, Metallurgy and Machine Industry and State Economy. Similar
Committees were established in the National Bank, the Supreme Court, the Chief Public
Prosecutor’s Office, the General Directorate of the Railways and the Hungarian Radio.
Revolutionary Committees were also set up in the Hungarian Embassy in Belgrade and in the
Legation in Vienna. In some cases, the Minister was included on the Committee, as was Rezs6
Nyers, Minister of Food; while in others the Revolutionary Committees removed the Minister
from his post, sometimes with high officials serving under him. According to information
available to the Special Committee in the following Ministries and offices the Revolutionary
Committees took over the functions of the deposed Minister - the Ministries of Construction,
Internal Trade, Justice, Metallurgy and Machine Industry; the National Bank, the Chief Public
Prosecutor’s Office and the Radio. Thus, in many departments of Mr. Nagy’s Government, of
27 October, the Revolutionary Committees were in complete control after 30 October.(18) In
some cases there is evidence that the Prime Minister endorsed the changes.

525. Revolutionary Committees in several Ministries issued statements and demands on
important aspects of Government policy. The most important of these were the two statements
issued by the Revolutionary Committee of the Foreign Ministry, under the chairmanship of
Péter Mdd, the present Permanent Representative of Hungary to the United Nations, on 30
October and 1 November. The first declaration, after stating that the Committee identified
itself with the “Hungarian liberation”, condemned “the unwarranted interference of Soviet
troops and the blood-bath of the State Security authorities”; and demanded that “those
responsible for all this, the Rékosi-Ger6-Hegediis clique, should be brought to account and
that the Soviet troops should be withdrawn immediately from the country’s territory”. The
statement furthermore condemned the declaration of Péter Kos, the Hungarian representative
at the United Nations at that time, at the meeting of the Security Council on 28 October, and
demanded his immediate recall. The statement also declared that heads and members of the
Foreign Ministries abroad “who were alien to tile people and who represented and still
represent the policy of the Rakosi-Gerd clique”, should be recalled and replaced.(19)

526. In the statement of 1 November, the Revolutionary Committee of the Foreign Ministry
informed the “entire Hungarian people” of, and requested its support for, the proposal which it
made on the morning of 30 October in which it “elaborated the measures necessary for
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realizing the neutrality of Hungary for all time by the Great Powers and neighbouring States
... At the same time, the Committee expressed the opinion that the Government should turn
to the Great Powers and request material aid; and that the bauxite and uranium of Hungary
should be utilized for “creating national prosperity”. The Committee finally stated that “it had
taken measures” to ensure that the delegation already appointed to the General Assembly of
the United Nations, including Imre Horvath and Endre Sik, should not leave for New York.(20)

527. The Revolutionary Committee of the Ministry of Education on 1 November declared
that the teaching of Russian in primary schools must cease and that religious teaching must be
given in accordance with the wishes of parents. On 2 November, the Committee said that
“wherever possible, regular lessons should be resumed on 5 November”.

528. The Revolutionary Committee of the Ministry of Justice on 2 November said that a
draft decree providing for the release of political prisoners, except those convicted for illegal
executions, was ready for consideration by the Council of Ministers.

529. The Revolutionary Councils in the Supreme Court and in other Courts on 31 October
and 2 November called for the abolition of secret trials.

530. The Revolutionary Committee of the Chief Public Prosecutor’s Office reported on 3
November that it had begun to review cases of political crimes, and a hundred young people
were set free who had been charged with seeking to flee the country, “being no longer able to
endure the poverty and terror”.

531. The Revolutionary Committee of the Central Planning Board on 30 October demanded
the denunciation of all economic, political and military treaties.

532. The Revolutionary Committee of Radio Kossuth (Radio Budapest) said on 30 October:
“We are opening a new chapter in the history of the Hungarian radio at this hour. For long
years past, the radio was an instrument of lies; it merely carried out orders; it lied during the
night and in the daytime; it lied on all wavelengths. Not even in the hour of our country’s
rebirth did it cease its campaign of lies. But the struggle which succeeded in securing the
nation’s freedom and independence in the streets has spread to the radio, as well. Those who
were the mouthpieces of lies are, from this moment on, no longer on the staff of the Hungarian
radio which, henceforth, will be entitled to use the names of Kossuth and Pet6fi. We who are
before the microphone now are new men. In future you will hear new voices on the old
wavelengths. As the old saying has it, we shall tell ‘the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but
the truth’.” A similar statement was issued on the same day by the Hungarian Telegraph
Agency (MTI), on behalf of its staff, “members of the Independent Smallholders’, Communist,
Social-Democrat and Peasant Parties”.

D. Efforts for the co-ordination of revolutionary councils and committees

533. By the end of October, individual Councils felt the need to establish a central
organization to co-ordinate the work of the numerous Revolutionary Councils and
Committees. The second Soviet intervention prevented the establishment of such an
organization, but certain attempts were made along those lines. Witnesses stated that thought
was being given to the formation of a centralized National Revolutionary Council, on the lines
of the Transdanubian National Council to which reference has been made above.21) A similar
Council would have been established for the region between the Rivers Danube and Tisza.
Such a central organization of Revolutionary Councils would have been built from the bottom,
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and not from the top. It would have co-operated with the Government to prepare for the
holding of free elections. A specific proposal for such a central organization was made by a
delegation from the Workers” Council of County Borsod-Abatij-Zemplén, which called on Mr.
Nagy and Mr. Tildy on 2 November. The proposed central organization would have been
composed of democratically elected representatives of the Workers’ Councils in Budapest and
the provinces.

534. The Peoples’ Patriotic Front (PPF)22) set up on 28 October a Central National
Committee (Orszagos Nemzeti Bizottsdg), with the task of uniting and coordinating the
activities of locally elected revolutionary bodies. It was said that this Committee would keep
the people informed by press and radio on the activities of such bodies and on the scope of
their authority.

535.  On 2 November, the Central National Committee joined the Revolutionary Committee
of the Public Security Forces and the Revolutionary Committee of the Chief Public Pro-
secutor’s Office in an appeal to the National Guard and citizens, calling on them to “safeguard
the purity of our revolution”. The Committee appealed on 3 November to Committees and
Councils in counties, districts, cities and villages and urged them to use their influence with the
workers to resume work as soon as possible in all enterprises and factories. The Committee
added in its appeal that the Government had “fulfiled the demands of the insurgents”.

536. The Hungarian National Revolutionary Committee (Magyar Nemzeti Forradalmi
Bizottmany) was set up about 28 October by Jozsef Dudés, a former member of the National
Peasant Party. This was not the projected National Revolutionary Council mentioned in para.
533 above. The Committee had a newspaper of its own from 30 October, the Magyar
Fliggetlenség (Hungarian Independence). The first number of this newspaper published a
twenty-five point resolution adopted on 28 October which the Committee had at that time
submitted to the Government. The Committee declared that it would not recognize the
Government of Mr. Nagy until the latter included in his Cabinet the “elected representatives”
of the Hungarian National Revolutionary Committee and others. It called for repudiation of the
Warsaw Treaty, for Hungarian neutrality and for the immediate withdrawal of Soviet troops.
Mr. Dudas also issued a statement on 30 October inviting revolutionary organizations to send
delegates on 1 November to a National Congress of Revolutionary Delegates. He asked that
these delegates should be Hungarians with a clean conscience, who had never taken part in the
policies of the old régime or that of the régime Rakosi and Gerd, but had always been “on the
side of freedom and progress”. The next day, Magyar Filiggetlenség announced that this
Congress had had to be postponed indefinitely, because Budapest was surrounded by Soviet
forces which prevented delegates from the provinces from entering the city. On 2 November,
the newspaper stated that all the twenty-five points which had been submitted to the
Government on 28 October had been implemented, some of them “against the will of the
Government, and as a result of the defeat of the Soviet forces by the sacrifices of our sons and
daughters who have fallen”.

E. Contacts of Revolutionary Councils with the government

537. From 26 October on, Mr. Nagy and several of his associates, in particular Zoltan Tildy
and Ferenc Erdei, received many delegations of Revolutionary Councils and National
Committees from Budapest and the provinces. Practically all of these presented demands to the
Government, as has been described in the specific instance of the Transdanubian National
Council. On 30 October, Mr. Nagy had talks with representatives of the Hungarian National
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Revolutionary Committee, the Revolutionary Military Council of the Hungarian Army, the
Revolutionary Insurgent Forces, the Revolutionary Committee of Hungarian Intellectuals and
the Students’ Revolutionary Council, and was presented with proposals by Jozsef Dudas, in
this case acting for all these groups. According to Magyar Fiiggetlenség of 31 October, these
proposals were to be transmitted to the Government by Mr. Nagy. After 1 November at least
three further meetings were reportedly held between representatives of the Government and
several of the above-mentioned revolutionary bodies to discuss the “political and economic
situation of the national revolution”. They were joined by the provisional executive of the
National Council of Free Trade Unions, the Writers’ Union, and the representatives of the
Workers’ Councils of Budapest’s large industries.(23)

538. On various occasions, delegates met Zoltan Vas, Kéroly Janza, Ferenc Erdei, as well as
Janos Kadar. At the meeting held on 2 November in the Headquarters of the Builders’ Trade
Union, representatives of the Revolutionary Councils emphasized that Hungary wanted to live
in peace with all countries, but insisted on the withdrawal of Soviet troops because, as they
stated, “the country would not lay down arms while there was one Russian on Hungarian
territory”. They added “that Hungarian neutrality was worth no more than the paper it was
written on so long as armed Russian troops stayed on Hungarian soil”.

I11. Workers’ councils in factories

539. Since 1947, trade unions in Hungary had become instruments of the Government and
eventually agents of the Hungarian Workers’ (Communist) Party. From then on, they were
exclusively used to establish production standards, working conditions and wage scales in such
a way as to serve the interests of the State. Their leaders were appointed by the Government,
under the direction of the Party, and the chairman of the shop committee in each plant picked
the committee members from workers trusted politically by the Party. Only one candidate was
put up for election, and he was elected by show of hands. In these circumstances, as witnesses
stated, workers ceased to consider the trade unions as their true representatives, but looked
toward the establishment of genuine workers’ organizations which would not remain
indifferent to their complaints and their demands.(24) This criticism of the unions had become
widespread before the uprising, and Népszava, the central organ of the National Council of
Trade Unions, (Szakszervezetek Orszagos Tandcsa) (SZOT), declared on 9 September 1956 in
an editorial: “Trade union activities in Hungary became distorted and for years have been run
on the wrong lines. The time has come now for the trade union movement to become, once
again, a workers’ movement”.

540. Hungarian workers were aware that in neighbouring Yugoslavia, the economic and
social status of workers was superior to their own, and that Yugoslav workers had some say in
the running of factories through the agency of Workers’ Councils. Hungarian workers,
according to witnesses, were especially attracted by the Yugoslav system whereby the factory
manager was elected by the Workers’ Council and not imposed on them as was the case in
Hungary. For some time before the revolution questions relating to worker-management
relations in general and the Yugoslav Workers’ Councils in particular had been widely
discussed in the trade unions and in the Petdfi Club. Articles were published - including one by
the Deputy Secretary-General of the National Council of Trade Unions, Jend Fock -
suggesting changes in the status of trade unions and factory bodies. A well-known economist,
Janos Kornai, a convinced Communist, made a critical study of the “scientific Marxist-Leninist
planned economy” and, among the new methods which he proposed to help in solving the
problems of State-managed industry, he stressed the role of Workers’ Councils. During the
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summer and fall of 1956, leading economists and trade union leaders - among them Professor
Istvan Friss, Zoltan Vas and Sandor Géspar, the latter Secretary-General of the National
Council of Trade Unions - went to Yugoslavia to study the functioning of Workers’ Councils,
and reported on them at public lectures and in the press.

541. Some of the demands put forward by student organizations and other intellectual
bodies on the eve of the uprising related to the situation of workers and included proposals for
the setting up of Workers’ Councils. The Pet6fi Club of the Communist League of Working
Youth (DISZ), in a resolution adopted on 22 October, suggested that the Central Committee
of the Party and the Government should promote “the development of a socialist democracy in
Hungary... by satisfying the justified political demands of the workers, and by establishing
factory autonomy and workers democracy”.(25) A statement issued by the Hungarian Writers’
Union on 23 October included the following point: “Factories must be run by workers and
specialists. The present humiliating system of wages, working norms and social security
conditions must be reformed. The trade unions must truly represent the interests of the
Hungarian workers.”(26)

A. The establishment and functions of Workers’ Councils

542. The first Workers’ Council in Hungary, which was set up in the United Lamp Factory
in Budapest (Egyesiilt 1zz6), was constituted on 24 October,(27) some two days before the
authorization of the setting up of such Councils by the Central Committee of the Hungarian
Workers’ (Communist) Party. The first Workers’ Councils in the provinces were set up in
Debrecen and Dunapentele around 25 October. By 26 October, Workers’ Councils had been
set up in many factories both in Budapest and in the provinces. Workers’ Councils were
elected in enterprises of the most varied types - in industrial plants, mines, State-owned farms
and hospitals.

543.  Workers’ Councils in factories of a given area set up co-ordinating committees among
themselves. Such a committee, called the Central Workers’ Council of Csepel, was set up
about 30 October by the nineteen Workers’ Councils in that area. The Workers’ Councils in
the Greater Budapest area set up their co-ordinating body after the second Soviet attack; this
Greater Budapest Workers’ Council was to play a major political role during the month of
November and part of December 1956.(28)

544. Witnesses explained how the Workers’ Councils, in which they had participated, were
elected by the factory workers in free, democratic elections. In some cases, for lack of time, no
real elections were organized but, by forming a temporary Workers’ Council, de facto
leadership of the workers in the factory was assured. Few Communists were among those
elected to the Workers’ Councils. In the opinion of witnesses connected with various Councils,
the industrial workers no longer put their trust in Communist leaders. Many of the heads of
formerly Communist-controlled trade unions voluntarily relinquished their positions in favour
of the new leaders of the Workers’ Councils.

545. The tasks of Workers’ Councils varied during the different phases of the revolution.
However, the Councils were, above all, active political organs of the workers. In practice,
between 24 and 31 October, they were “strike committees” and insurrectionary centres for
combatant workers. After 31 October, and until the second Soviet intervention, the Councils
considered that their chief responsibility was to prepare for a resumption of work. From that
time on, the Workers’ Councils participated fully in the political aspects of the revolution.
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They were also active in the organization of food supplies for the people of Budapest,
especially for hospitals, and took part in the repair of damaged hospitals and factories and in
restoring means of transport and communication. A first step taken by the Councils was usually
the dismissal of the existing managerial staff of the factory or establishment. In many cases
Workers’ Councils dismissed the directors and personnel officers who were all members of the
Communist Party, but retained the business and technical managers, unless they were members
of the Party. Another step taken by the Workers” Councils was to withdraw money from the
bank account or to use other available funds of the undertaking concerned to pay the workers’
salaries. Workers’ Councils also sought to secure food for workers and their families. In some
cases, factory guards were set up to protect the plant. Many Workers’ Councils destroyed the
“white cards” on all workers which were held by the personnel officer. In many cases, they
removed photographs of Russian and Hungarian Communist leaders and Soviet insignia. In
some cases plans were drawn up to organize the work of the undertaking so as to increase
production and reduce costs.

546. The Workers’ Councils were also responsible for transmitting to Mr. Nagy’s
Government the political and economic demands of the workers. This function was of
considerable significance at the beginning of the uprising, but lost some of its importance later,
when major demands were put forward by the Revolutionary Councils. However, it regained
importance in the first days of November with the increased concentration of Russian troops
on Hungarian soil, and after 4 November it became of paramount importance.(29)

547. The Workers’ Councils and the Revolutionary Councils were closely related
phenomena of the Revolution. In many cities the Revolutionary Councils were elected by the
delegates of Workers’ Councils, and most of the Revolutionary Councils included many
workers in the membership. Witnesses described how, after the election of a Revolutionary
Council or a National Committee in such a way, a mutual link was created between a
Revolutionary Council and the Workers’ Councils which were to be set up in the area covered
by it. In one case, reported by the newspaper of the Hungarian National Revolutionary
Committee, the establishment of certain Workers’ Councils was not recognized, and a new
election was ordered “in accordance with the spirit of true democracy”.(30)

548. The demands put forward by the Workers’ Councils in most cases resembled those of
the Revolutionary Councils described in part II of this chapter.;31) In many cases, they were
coupled with the threat of a strike, should the demands not be met. Thus on 26 October, the
Workers’ Council of Miskolc demanded that the Soviet Army should leave Hungary at once,
that a new Hungarian Government should be constituted and that a complete amnesty should
be extended to all those who had participated in the uprising.(32) The Temporary Workers’
Council of the Hungarian Optical Workers demanded on 29 October the withdrawal of Soviet
troops from Hungary and the recall of Péter Ko6s from the United Nations. They added that the
factory would resume work only if the delegation which had been sent to the Government
received a satisfactory answer.(33) The representatives of Workers’ Councils from a number of
factories of Greater Budapest, which met at the Belojanis Factory on 31 October, demanded
free and secret elections with the participation of several parties, the trial of those responsible
for the AVH massacres, immediate dismissal of some Ministers and immediate withdrawal of
Hungary from the Warsaw Treaty.
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B. Authorization and encouragement of Workers’ Councils by Trade Unions, the party
and the government

549. The Workers’ Councils were a spontaneous creation of the factory and other workers
concerned to improve their conditions of work. The role of the Councils was recognized
without delay by the Trade Unions, the Communist Party and the Government.

550. Prime Minister Nagy received on 25 October a delegation of a group of workers from
Borsod County, who submitted to him twenty-one demands, several of which related to the
situation of workers.(34) On 26 October, at 12.58 p.m., Budapest radio announced that the
Prime Minister had accepted these demands and would embody them in the programme of the
new Government.

551.  On the morning of 26 October, the Praesidium of the National Council of Trade Unions
announced a new political and economic programme.(35) The first point in the economic part of
the programme read as follows:

“Constitution of Workers’ Councils in every factory with the participation of factory
intellectuals there. Installation of a worker-directorate parallel with the radical transformation
of the centralized planning system and of economic direction by the State; workers and
factory-intellectuals to take over the direction of factories. Immediate formation of workers’
councils, which should contact their trade union centres without delay to decide on tasks”. The
announcement continued that the Hungarian trade unions had to become active again as before
1948, and they would have to change their name to “Hungarian Free Trade Unions”. Later on
the Praesidium made the following appeal: “Workers! The desire of the working class has been
realized. Undertakings will be managed by Workers’ Councils. This will complete the process
by which the factories are taken over as the property of the people. Workers and technicians!
You can now regard the enterprises as being entirely your own. From now on, you will
manage these yourselves. The excessive central management of the factories, which has
prevailed hitherto, will now cease, together with the faults arising from it. A heavy
responsibility is laid upon the Workers’ Councils; therefore you must elect the members of
such Councils with great circumspection and from the most experienced and best workers. The
new Government will increase the pay of those earning low wages. The sooner you start
production in the factories and the better our Councils work, the more speedily can wages be
raised, and the higher will they rise. Therefore, support the new Hungarian Government in its
efforts for socialist construction and a free and democratic Hungary.”

552. Later on in the evening of 26 October, the Central Committee of the Communist Party
declared that it approved the election of Workers’ Councils “with the co-operation of the trade
union organs”.(36) It added that wages and salaries had to be increased to satisfy “the lawful
material demands of the working class”. In explanation of this decision of the Central
Committee, it was stated later that the Party had “perfect faith in our working class”, in which
it saw the leading force of socialism and on which it relied in all circumstances. Hope was
expressed that, by the organization of the Workers’ Councils, the working class would lend its
support to the new Politburo of the Communist Party and to the new Government.

553.  On 27 October, the Praesidium of the National Council of Trade Unions proposed that
Workers’ Councils should be set up “everywhere”, in factories, enterprises and mines, and
issued directives for their “election, functions and tasks”;37) “Members of the Workers’
Councils should be elected by all workers of the factory, workshop or mine in question. A
meeting called to carry out the election should decide the method of election.
Recommendations for Workers’ Council membership should be presented, as a general rule, by
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the shop committees or by a worker who commands respect. Depending on the size of the
undertaking, the Workers’ Councils should generally consist of from 21 to 71 members,
including proportional representation of every group of workers. In factories employing less
than 100 workers, all workers may be included in the Workers’ Council. The Workers’
Council shall take decisions on all questions connected with production, administration and
management of the plant. Therefore: (1) for the direction of the production and management of
the factory, it should elect from among its own members a Council of Direction with 5-15
members which, in accordance with the direct instructions of the Workers’ Council, will take
decisions on matters connected with the management of the factory, such as the engagement
and dismissal of workers, economic and technical leaders; (2) it will draw up the factory’s
production plan and define tasks connected with technical development; (3) the Workers’
Council will decide on the drawing up of the wage system best suited to the conditions peculiar
to the factory and on the introduction of that system, as well as on the development of social
and cultural amenities in the factory; (4) the Workers’ Council will decide on investments and
the utilization of profits; (5) the Workers” Council will determine the order of business of the
mine, factory, etc.; (6) the Workers’ Council will be responsible to all the workers and to the
State for correct management. The principal and immediate task of the Workers” Council is to
resume production and to establish and ensure order and discipline. The workers, through their
representatives, should protect their livelihood, the factory.”

554.  Additional directives were issued by urban and rural Revolutionary Councils in different
parts of the country. For example, the Praesidium of the Revolutionary Council of Borsod
County stated that the task of the Workers’ Councils was “to exercise control over the
manager, the chief engineer, factory foremen and the workers of the plant”, and requested
them to attend urgently to the maintenance of order at their respective places of work.(38)

555.  On 30 October, the National Council of Trade Unions became the National Council of
Free Trade Unions, and replaced its old leadership by a “temporary revolutionary committee”
composed of “old trade union leaders who had been dismissed and imprisoned in the past, and
new revolutionary trade union leaders”. One of the first actions of this committee was to
declare that the Hungarian Trade Unions would leave the World Federation of Trade Unions
(WFTU) and that, “for the sake of strengthening international workers’ solidarity”, they would
be “willing to establish relations with any international trade union organization”.(39) In
addition, the committee issued an appeal on 31 October in which it hailed the Workers’
Councils and “requested workers to return to their jobs and to create under the leadership of
the Workers” Councils, the conditions necessary to resume production”.(40)

556. The institution of the Workers’ Councils was enthusiastically supported by the
Hungarian press and radio and by professional and other organizations. Thus the People’s
Patriotic Front (PPF) declared, on 28 October, that this is “our revolution, because it abolishes
the inhuman production norms and entrusts the factories to Workers’ Councils”.(41) The
Revolutionary Committee of Hungarian Intellectuals stressed in its programme, on 28 October,
that “factories and mines should really become the property of the workers” and that they
should “not he returned to the capitalists”, but managed “by freely elected Workers’
Councils”.(42)

557. The institution of the Workers’ Councils, after having received the blessing of trade
unions and the Communist Party, found its way into the programme of Mr. Nagy’s new
Government. The Prime Minister stated on 28 October that the Government welcomed the
“initiative of factory workers as regards the extension of factory democracy and approved the
formation of Workers’ Councils”. He also said that the Government would take measures to
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settle, to the satisfaction of the working class, “long-standing and justified demands and to
remedy old complaints”.(43)

558. On 1 November, the Workers’ Councils of the large Budapest factories and delegates
of various revolutionary organizations and of the National Council of Free Trade Unions had
two meetings with representatives of the Government, to discuss the “grave situation” created
by the continuance of the nation-wide strike. At these meetings, speaking on behalf of Mr.
Nagy’s Government, Ferenc Erdei appealed, through the representatives of the Workers’
Councils and the trade unions, to the workers of Hungary, pleading with them to resume
work.(44) The next day seventeen large factories of Greater Budapest, among them the Csepel
Iron and Metal Works, MAVAG, Ganz Electric and Wagon Factories and the Lang Machine
Factory, as well as the transport workers and “all the workers” of Districts XIII, XIV and XV
of Budapest, appealed to all workers of Hungary to “take up work immediately”. They stated
that, in their opinion, the Government had fulfiled the main demands of the Hungarian people:
the repudiation of the Warsaw Treaty, and the declaration of neutrality. Furthermore, “there
are guarantees that in the near future elections with secret ballot will be held”. The appeal
stated that “continuous strikes would paralyse the economic life of the country” and that
“resumed production will provide the strength our political life needs at this moment”.(45)

559. Witnesses stated to the Committee that further negotiations between representatives of
the Government and the major Workers’ Councils of Greater Budapest had taken place on 2
and 3 November, and subsequently an agreement had been reached for the resumption of work
in all Hungarian industries and factories on Monday, 5 November.

C. Conclusions

560. The Committee concludes from its study of the Revolutionary Councils that they were
the result of a spontaneous, nation-wide movement to assert the right of the Hungarian people
to assume the direction of their affairs and lives. This movement took shape, as did the uprising
itself, at the local level and there was in the beginning little or no contact between the various
groups. Nevertheless, as in the case of the students and intellectuals, a broad identity of aim
underlies both the demands and the methods. It is clear that the formation of these Councils
met a need widely felt by the Hungarian people.

561. The same is true of the Workers’ Councils. All witnesses confirmed that dissatisfaction
with the trade unions of the régime was one of the most important grievances of the Hungarian
workers. In addition, they demanded a genuine voice in the control of the undertaking in which
they worked, and this they set out to obtain by electing Councils along democratic lines. These
Councils at once assumed important responsibilities in the factories, mines and other
undertakings, and they exerted a considerable influence upon the Government, with which
delegations from a number of them maintained direct contact. The overwhelming support given
by Hungarians to these Workers’ Councils confirms the impression that they were among the
most important achievements of the Hungarian people during their few days of freedom.

(1) See para. 533 below.
(2) Chapter XII, para. 585.
(3) Chapter IX, para. 414.

(4) Regarding developments at Pécs, Veszprém and Dunapentele, see chapter V, paras. 206-211.
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(5) In italics in the article.

(6) Debrecen, Gyor, Miskolc, Nograd County, Somogy County, Sopron, Szeged, Székesfehérvar, Szolnok, Szombathely,
Tatabanya and Veszprém.

(7) The Government of Mr. Nagy announced on 30 October the abolition of the system of compulsory delivery of
agricultural produce. A decree of 12 November maintained this measure (Magyar K6zlony, No. 93, 12 November 1956).

(8) Chapter XII, paras. 573-575.
(9) Szabad Dunantul, 1 November 1956.
(10) Chapter IX, para. 404.

(11) Magyar Nemzet, 3 November 1956. Though formally elected on 2 November, Mr. K6évagéd discharged the duties of
Mayor from 30 October.

(12) Chapter X, paras. 438-439.

(13) The DISZ ceased its activities around 29 October.
(14) Chapter VI, para. 244.

(15) Chapter XII, paras. 571-572, 573.

(16) The text of an appeal issued by this Committee on 28 October is given as annex G to chapter IX.
(17) Chapter X1V, paras. 693-695.

(18) Chapter XII, paras. 569-570.

(19) Radio Budapest, 8.30 p.m.., on 30 October 1956.
(20) Radio Budapest, 10.12 p.m., on 1 November 1956.
(21) Paras. 506-509.

(22) Chapter XII, para. 565.

(23) Paras. 558-559 below.

(24) Chapter IX, para. 418.

(25) Szabad Ifjusag, 23 October 1956.

(26) Budapest Radio, 23 October 1956, twelve midnight.

(27) Népakarat, 1 November 1956. The radio announcement on the setting up of this Council was made at 3.45 p.m., on 26
October in the following terms: “The workers of the United Lamp Factory have recognized the grave situation of our
country and have decided to set up a Workers’ Council.”

(28) Chapter X1V, paras. 645-653.

(29) Chapter X1V, paras. 641-662.

(30) Magyar Fiiggetlenség, 31 October 1956.

(31) Paras. 504, 506 above.

(32) Miskolc Radio, 1.10 a.m., 26 October 1956.
(33) Budapest Radio, 8.02 p.m., 29 October 1956.
(34) Népszava, 26 October 1956.

(35) Népszava, 26 October 1956.

(36) Szabad Nép, Special edition, 27 October 1956.
(37) Népszava, 30 October 1956.

(38) Eszakmagyarorszag, 27 October 1956.

(39) Népakarat, 1 November 1956.

(40) Népszava, 1 November 1956.

(41) Budapest Radio, 10.48 p.m., 28 October 1956.
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(42) Egyetemi Ifjusag, 29 October 1956.

(43) Népszava, 29 October 1956.

(44) Magyar Nemzet, 2 November 1956; Kis Ujsag, 2 November 1956.
(45) Népszava, 2 November 1956.
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Chapter XII
REASSERTION OF POLITICAL RIGHTS
(26 OCTOBER-3 NOVEMBER)

A. Introduction

562. In chapter VI, the circumstances have been described in which Mr. Nagy became Prime
Minister, and an account was given of his situation during the days immediately following 24
October. For almost three days, Mr. Nagy was detained in the Communist Party Headquarters.
Chapter VI has dealt with the movement of Mr. Nagy to the Parliament Building on 26
October. This chapter is concerned with developments in Hungarian domestic politics from 26
October, especially with regard to Mr. Nagy’s reconstructions of his Government.

B. The transitional period: the National Government of 27 October (26-29 October)

563. On 26 October the Council of Ministers announced the “beginning” of the mopping-up
of the remnants of the armed revolutionary groups, in the same phrases as had repeatedly been
used since the 24" (1) Under a new amnesty, which was to expire by 10 p.m., “Members of the
armed forces, soldiers, armed workers, comrades” were called upon to “treat those who lay
down their arms humanely” and to “let them go home after they have surrendered”.(2) Hardly a
word was said about Soviet forces; the fiction was maintained of a fight between Hungarian
forces on the one side, and, in the words of the Party newspaper Szabad Nép, “counter
revolutionary forces and other bad elements”.(3) The Government order instructed non-existent
Hungarian forces to “deal annihilating blows at all who continue the armed fight against the
people’s power” after the time limit had expired.

564. Such phrases were indicative of the continued use of the propaganda slogans of the
past years. Although the insurgents had been reported for two days as surrendering en masse,
they still refused to lay down their arms. A new approach was imperative. In the 26 October
issue of Szabad Nép, severe condemnation was expressed of “a clique of wicked leaders
estranged from the people, who cannot be identified with the Party”; it was acknowledged that
the people “led by their despair over the country’s situation, have taken part in the armed
rising”.

565. On Thursday, 25 October, Mr. Kadar had replaced Erné Gerd as First Secretary of the
Central Committee. The next afternoon, Mr. Geré and Mr. Hegediis had fled from Party
Headquarters, and Mr. Nagy had been able to move to the Parliament Building, where he
immediately sought contact by telephone and otherwise with a number of people regarding the
formation of a new Government. On Saturday morning, 27 October, at 11.18 a.m., the new
Council of Ministers was announced over the radio. It was stated that the Government “after
taking the oath ... had entered into office immediately”. The announcement explained that the
Government was “elected by the Praesidium of the Hungarian People’s Republic, which acted
on the recommendations of the Central Committee of the Party and the Praesidium of the
National Council of the People’s Patriotic Front”. The PPF(4) to which reference was made in
the announcement on the same level as the Communist Party, was created in August 1954 on
the initiative of Imre Nagy, when he was Prime Minister for the first time, with the purpose of
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obtaining the active support of intellectuals, bourgeois and other non-proletarian elements for
the building of Hungarian socialism.

566. By the careful selection of Communist members and the inclusion of non-Communists,
the composition of the new Council of Ministers went far towards meeting the insurgents’
viewpoint. Mr. Nagy had left out several Communists who had ordered Hungarians to fire at
Hungarians, or who were “Stalinists”. The Minister of the Interior, Laszl6 Piros, who, together
with the First Secretary of the Communist Party, had had some authority over the AVH, and
the Defence Minister, [stvan Bata, were removed from office. Mr. Nagy’s predecessor, Andras
Hegediis, who had been a Vice-Chairman of the Council of Ministers since 24 October, and
Jozsef Darvas, Minister for Propaganda, had also been omitted.

567. Excluding the Rakosi wing from power, Imre Nagy brought their opponents in the
Communist Party into the Government. Gyorgy Lukacs, the most eminent of Hungarian
Marxist philosophers and scholars, became the new Minister of People’s Culture. Radio
Budapest commented on this appointment on 27 October that “the dogmatism which prevailed
in Hungary in recent years had tried to push him into the background of the country’s scientific
life”. It added that Antal Gyenes, the new Minister for Produce Collection, a former Secretary-
General of the National Association of People’s Colleges (NEKOSZ), had similarly been thrust
aside, and although he had an economist’s diploma, he had had to take a position as an
unskilled worker, until he had been engaged by Mr. Nagy as his assistant at the University of
Agronomy. The key posts of the Interior and Defence were assigned to Ferenc Miinnich, a
lawyer in his seventies, who, though a former adherent of the Rékosi-Gerd group, was well
regarded by the surviving followers of Rajk, and to Kéroly Janza, who had a pro Nagy record.
Similarly, Arpad Kiss, the new head of the National Planning Office, had backed Mr. Nagy’s
campaign in favour of the promotion of light industry. Later in the day, Zoltan Vas, well
known to the Writers’ Union, was placed in charge of Budapest food supplies. He had
distinguished himself in this sort of work after the liberation of Budapest in 1945.

568. But the most striking feature of the new Government was that, in the spirit of the
revived People’s Patriotic Front, it contained three members who formerly held leading posts
in the two large Peasant Parties: Zoltan Tildy, Béla Kovacs and Ferenc Erdei. Tildy, who was
made a Minister of State, had been one of the founders of the Independent Smallholders’ Party
m 1930. He had been active in the wartime resistance movement, headed the Government in
November 1945 and had been President of the Hungarian Republic from 1946 to 1948. “The
Rékosi clique, however, forced him to resign”, the commentary recalled, “and kept him under
house arrest for a long period.” Béla Kovacs, the former Secretary-General of the Independent
Smallholders’ Party, who became the new Minister of Agriculture, had been attacked by the
“Rakosi clique”, accused of conspiracy and had been under house arrest for some time. Two
other former members of the Independent Smallholders’ Party became members of the
Government, Jozsef Bognar, Deputy Chairman of the Council and Miklos Ribianszki, Minister
of State Farms. A former co-founder of the National Peasant Party, Ferenc Erdei, became
Deputy Chairman of the Council.

569. The pressure still exercised by the old forces limited Nagy’s ability to form a Govern-
ment altogether acceptable to the fighters. Antal Apré became another Deputy Chairman of the
Council, in charge of Construction; several other unpopular Communists or Stalinists had been
carried over into the new administration. The appointments of Istvan Kossa, Lajos Bebrits,
Janos Csergd and Sandor Czottner, as Ministers of Finance, Post and Communications,
Metallurgy and Machine Industry and Mining and Electricity, respectively, specially irritated
the insurgents, as did the retention of Erik Molnar as Minister of Justice in the face of a
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campaign against him in the Irodalmi Ujsag. Moreover, the presence of members of two
peasant parties in the Government inevitably raised the question of the reason for not including
a Social Democrat - since the Social Democrats had been one of the non-Communist “big
three” at the 1945 elections. Witnesses told the Special Committee that Mr. Nagy, as well as
the Chairman of the Praesidium, Istvan Dobi, had indeed approached such Social Democrats as
Anna Kéthly, Gyula Kelemen and Agoston Valentini, but without success. The Government
had not as yet recognized even the peasant parties; the members of the latter joined the
Government only in a personal capacity - even though the public announcement referred to
their association with the peasant parties. The circumstances of Mr. Kovacs’ participation in
the Government were explained by him in a speech on 31 October. He said that he was
“astonished” to see on the new Government list the names of Communist leaders. He drafted a
letter of resignation, expressing disagreement with the composition of the Government, but his
friends persuaded him not to send the letter.(5)

570. The carefully balanced Government team of 27 October did not please the insurgents,
who cared little about political niceties and compromise. Generally speaking, they accepted
Imre Nagy without enthusiasm; nobody else more qualified was acceptable to the Soviet
authorities, with whom a Hungarian Prime Minister had to deal.

571. Mr. Nagy sought to placate the insurgents in other ways, by adopting a line
sympathetic to their views in a broadcast speech on 28 October, at 5.25 p.m., when he stated:
“The Government condemned those views according to which the present vast, popular
movement is a counter-revolution”. While “evil-doers seized the chance of committing
common crimes” and “reactionary counter-revolutionary elements joined in the movement”, it
was also a fact that a great national and democratic movement, all-embracing and unifying,
unfolded itself with elemental force.

572.  One more step was necessary before the one-party system could be discarded, namely
the disbanding of the political police. In his speech on 28 October, Mr. Nagy had dealt with the
question of the AVH in some what cautious terms: “After the restoration of order, we shall
organize a new unified State Police and abolish the State Security Authority.” In actual fact,
the decision was taken almost at once. At 5 p.m., on 29 October, it was announced in a news
bulletin that the Minister of the Interior had started on 28 October the organization of “the
new, democratic police”, and in that connexion he had abolished “all police organs invested
with special rights, as well as the State Security Authority (AVH)”, for which there was no
further need “in our democratic system”.

C. Abolition of the one-party system and establishment of the Inner Cabinet
of 30 October

573. It had been customary in the People’s Republics for the First Secretary and the Head of
Government to make joint broadcasts to the nation. A broadcast of 30 October at 2.28 p.m.,
was different. Four Hungarian leaders spoke in turn, each in his own mood or in that of his
party or group. Developing further his democratic programme, Imre Nagy, addressing himself
to the “working people of Hungary, workers, peasants, intellectuals”, announced a decision
which, he said, was “vital in the nation’s life. In the interests of the further democratization of
the country’s life, the Government, acting in full agreement with the Praesidium of the
Hungarian Workers Party, has abolished the one-party system. ... In accordance with this, it is
setting up an Inner Cabinet within the National Government”. It was clear that Mr. Nagy had
gone beyond his earlier position. From his address of three hundred words, two words were
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conspicuously absent, “Communist” and “Socialist”. Instead the new slogan was: “Long live
free, democratic and independent Hungary!” The relatively sober, brief address of Imre Nagy
was followed by a ringing declaration in patriotic terms from Zoltan Tildy: “Hungarian
brethren! The will of the nation and the national revolution have conquered. The represen-
tatives of this nation will have been the young people with their heroic struggle, the writers,
hundreds of thousands of workers, the peasants, the farmers - in short, the whole country. All
violence and all resistance against this will was in vain. I stand before the microphone deeply
moved. I haven’t written down my speech; it may therefore be disjointed. But I greet, I
embrace, Hungary’s dear youth, my heart overflowing with warmth.” It was left to Tildy to
draw the consequence of the abolition of the one-party system in the declaration that “we must
prepare for free elections”.

574. Ferenc Erdei, speaking for the other peasant party, the National Peasants, hailed “the
struggle of the rising nation”; hut the problem of reconciling the gains of the revolution with
the post-war achievements was stressed in his speech: “The creative force of the revolution
will ... still have to be carried to final triumph. The victory of the revolution must now be
defended with unmistakable determination, above all against those who would like to reverse
it. It also has to be defended against those who would like to drown it in anarchy or to turn it
against the vital interests of and rights attained by our people”. Lastly, Janos Kadar voiced the
pledge of the Communist Party to take its placed alongside, rather than above the other
parties: “I declare that every member of the Praesidium of the Hungarian Workers’ Party
agrees with today’s decisions by the Council of Ministers.”(6)

575. The “Inner Cabinet announced by Mr. Nagy was set up within the Council of Ministers
and was made up of the Chairman of the Council, Mr. Nagy (Communist), and three members
of the Government, Zoltan Tildy and Béla Kovécs (Independent Smallholders’), and Ferenc
Erdei (National Peasants). In addition, Janos Kadar and Géza Losonczy (Communists), not
previously in the Council of Ministers of 27 October, were made members of the Inner
Cabinet. To conform with constitutional requirements, Mr. Nagy stated in his speech of 30
October that he would submit a proposal to the Praesidium of the People’s Republic to elect
them Ministers of State. He added that the Inner Cabinet would also include a person to be
nominated by the Social Democratic Party. As against a proportion of non-Communists to
Communists of five twenty in the Council of Ministers as a whole, the Inner Cabinet ratio was
three to three, not taking into account the prospect of Social Democratic participation.
Moreover, the non-Communist members were no longer to serve in a personal capacity but, in
Mr. Nagy’s words, the Government of the country was now placed “on the basis of democratic
co-operation between the coalition parties reborn in 1945”.

D. The rebirth of political parties

576. After the spring of 1949, political parties in Hungary with the exception of the
Hungarian Workers’ (Communist) Party, which in June 1948 had absorbed part of the Social
Democratic Party, ceased in effect to exist, though no legislative text was published in the
Hungarian official Gazette, forbidding or dissolving them.

577. The introduction of a multiparty system which of course implied the revival of parties,
was among the most popular demands of the insurgents and it had re appeared constantly
among the demands voiced by different groups ever since the resolution of the students of the
Building Industry Technological University on 22 October. Thus it was quite natural that
almost within an hour of the announcement by Prime Minister Imre Nagy of the abolition of
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the one-party system,(7) political parties were being re-established in Budapest and in the
provinces. Messrs. Tildy and Erdei, who spoke after Mr. Nagy, appealed to the leaders and
members of their respective parties, the Independent Smallholders’ and the National Peasants,
to revive party organizations all over the country. These two parties, and the Social
Democratic Party were formally reconstituted on the afternoon of 30 October, and their
national headquarters were re-established in Budapest. Two of them, the Independent
Smallholders and the Social Democrats, had even reoccupied the former premises of their party
head quarters. Party newspapers appeared from 1 November and appeals had been issued
through the radio and the press and through leaflets for the setting up of local party groups. By
3 November these three major parties had groups reconstituted in most of the twenty-two
districts of Budapest, as well as in cities in the various provinces of Hungary. In addition other
smaller parties were set up.

578. Among the three major parties that were revived on 30 October, the Independent
Smallholders’ Party(8) had been the most powerful in the past. Founded in 1930 by the late
Gaston Gaal, Zoltan Tildy and Ferenc Nagy, its original programme included universal
suffrage, land reform, improvement of the economic and cultural status of the peasant
population, progressive taxation, simplified public administration and increased social benefits.
This party had polled at the general elections of 4 November 1945, 2,688,161 out of 4,717.256
votes (57.5 per cent), obtaining 245 of the 409 seats to be filled by election. Thus at that time
the Smallholders’ Party had represented a clear majority of the Hungarian people. On 30
October 1956 a provisional executive committee, which included Jozsef K6vagéd and Istvan B.
Szabd, was charged with the management of party affairs, and Béla Kovacs was elected
Secretary-General. Apart from local party groups which had been set up in a number of areas,
several specialized party organizations were established during the four or five days of the
party’s new existence: a party organization for the technical intelligentsia, another for
educators “who do not stand on the platform of Marxism and materialism” and who wish to
“re-establish the religious, moral, national and European basis of Hungarian education”.(9)
Groups were also set up of party members who had in the past occupied posts in the Ministry
of Foreign Affairs, as well as party organizations for railway men, doctors and artists.(10) The
Party had a daily paper between 1 and 3 November, the revived Kis Ujsag. By 3 November the
party had not drawn up a new programme, but its political outlook is known through
statements of witnesses, declarations of the party’s leaders, and resolutions of party meetings
between 30 October and 3 November. Witnesses explained to the Special Committee that
Smallholders basically opposed the forcing of workers into particular jobs or the drafting of
farmers into kolkhozes. They stood for free choice for the peasants to own their property or to
join a collective organization. They were, however, not really in doubt as to what the peasants
would decide, and believed that Hungarian peasants would never work well within the kolkhoz
system. Béla Kovacs, speaking on 30 October before a meeting of party members at Pécs, said
that the Independent Smallholders’ Party was the only Hungarian party which “since 1945 had
really wanted to build a Hungary on the basis of independence and liberty”.(11) As for the
future he added that members of the party had to change their way of thinking, not to think any
more on the lines of the past, but whatever new programme they would draw up, it “must be
based on the creation of a new, free, independent Hungary”. On foreign affairs Mr. Kovacs
stated: “When Hungarian freedom fighters fought against the Russian tanks, they fought for
the country’s independence. This does not mean that we regard the Russian people as our
enemies, but one cannot follow a unilateral policy. ... It is necessary to establish relations,
based on equal rights, with all nations and one cannot tie the country’s fate to one or another
military bloc. The Hungarian people want a neutral Hungary.” In an appeal issued on 2
November by the provisional executive committee, the Independent Smallholders’ Party called
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on all Hungarians to resume work; “Let us restore order and start work. The revolution now
needs ploughs, hammers and production. The revolution expressed our national demands:
freedom, independence and equality among nations. Every Magyar may fight for the realization
of these aims in our party.”’(12)

579. The Hungarian Social Democratic Party(13) founded in 1880, with a Marxist
programme, secured sixty-nine parliamentary seats at the 1945 elections, and ceased to exist as
an independent party three years later. In the years after, many of its leaders and members had
been imprisoned or interned in labour camps and tortured.

580.  On 30 October 1956, Anna Kéthly, who spent many years in jail during the Rakosi era,
became the President of the reorganized Party; Gyula Kelemen became its Secretary-General
and Dr. Andras Révész Deputy Secretary-General.(14) The executive committee of the party
stated that it would not take back former Social Democratic leaders (such as Arpad Szakasits,
the first Chairman of the Praesidium of the People’s Republic, elected in August 1949), who
had supported the “fusion” in 1948 between the Communists and Social Democrats. Mr.
Kelemen, who was charged with the rebuilding of the party, appealed on 1 November to the
Hungarian Social Democrats in the following terms: “Hungarians, brother workers ...
Hundreds of thousands of organized workers, who ... had suffered the bitterness of
oppression, are today rebuilding the Hungarian Social Democratic Party. Not even the most
cruel capitalism exploited them as have the masters [of our country] during the last eight years.
They lied when they said they were governing in the name of the workers!” He asked them to
support the Revolutionary Councils and National Councils in their tasks and stressed the need
to develop youth organizations and peasant groups within the party.(15) The same day, another
appeal was made to “young workers and students”, asking them to join the Social Democratic
Party to promote “the independence and full democratization of the country”. The convening
of a mass of Social Democratic youth was also announced.(16)

581.  On 30 October, an invitation was extended by Imre Nagy to the Social Democratic
Party to join the Inner Cabinet set up on that day. It was reported on 1 November that the
party was ‘“negotiating” concerning this matter.(17) It was known, however, that Socialist
leaders did not favour entering the Government at that time on account of the continued
presence of Soviet troops on Hungarian territory;(18) they contended that “in the Government
every key position is in the hands of the Communists” - a situation which, in their opinion,
corresponded “neither with justice nor the actual political situation.”(19)

582.  On 3 November, three Social Democrats were added to the Government, including
Anna Kéthly. The latter had been in Vienna since 1 November, attending an executive
committee meeting of the Socialist International, and was prevented from returning to Hungary
on 2 November by Soviet guards on the Austrian frontier.(20)

583. On 1 November, Népszava, the central organ of the Social Democratic Party for
seventy-six years, and the mouthpiece of the Communist-controlled trade unions between 1948
and 1956, reappeared as a Social Democratic paper; from the three issues of Népszava during
this period little information can be derived regarding the programme of the party in the new
circumstances. The first issue carried an editorial by Anna Kéthly in which she wrote that the
Social Democratic Party in the last eight years had been “a giant paralysed by dwarfs”, until it
had won its freedom “from a régime which called itself a popular democracy”, but which, in
form and in essence, was neither popular nor democratic. In later issues both Anna Kéthly and
Gyula Kelemen stressed that Hungary should become a socialist, democratic and neutral
country.(21)
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584. The National Peasant Party(22) had been founded in July 1939 by Imre Kovacs, Ferenc
Erdei and Péter Veres to represent the interests of the agricultural labourers; it had twenty-
three members in the 1945 Parliament. After 1948 many of its former members, among them
its last President, Péter Veres, collaborated with the Communists; some of them from 1955 on
be came active in the Writers’ Union and the Pet6fi Club.(23) The party was formally re-
established on 30 October, and the first local organizations were set up the following day. On 2
November, Uj Magyarorszag (New Hungary), the official party organ, appeared. The Party
spread rapidly in Budapest and in north-eastern and eastern Hungary. At its first public
meeting, held on 31 October, it decided to change its name to Petdfi Party; and elected a
provisional executive committee of eleven members, including Istvan Bibd, a professor of law,
and Attila Szigethy, the Chairman of the National Revolutionary Council of Gydr-Sopron
county. Ferenc Farkas was elected Secretary-General. Instead of a Chairman, a supervisory
committee of eleven members was set up, composed of well-known members of the Writers’
Union, such as Laszl6 Németh and Gyula Illyés.(24) While Ferenc Erdei, Minister of State, had
taken the initiative for the revival of the Party on 30 October, he was unpopular - owing to his
collaboration with the Hungarian Workers’ Party - with the rank and file of the National
Peasant Party, and was not included in the provisional leadership.(25)

585. The attitude of the Pet6fi Party was made clear in an article in the party paper by Mr.
Farkas. He stated that the party wished “to serve the cause of the peasantry” and of “Hunga-
rians in general”. Mr. Farkas announced that: “as long as Soviet troops were in Hungary”, his
party could not take part in the Government. He contended that, although the insurrection had
scored a military success, it had not so far been politically successful. In order to support Mr.
Nagy’s decision to terminate the Warsaw Treaty, he proposed that a referendum be held within
three days on the following points: immediate abrogation of the Treaty, neutrality and non-
adhesion to any particular group of interest. With regard to internal politics, he proposed that a
Supreme National Council be formed of representatives of the armed insurgents, the
democratic parties and the Writers’ Union, to be headed by the composer Zoltan Kodaly - one
of the ten personalities who, in 1945, had been selected to supplement the elected membership
of Parliament. This Council would be the supreme governmental power in the revolutionary
period and would also exercise the functions of head of State.(26)

586. Both the Independent Smallholders’ Party and the Petdfi Party supported the re-
establishment of the Hungarian Peasants’ Alliance (Magyar Parasztszovetség)(27) which was to
represent and protect the cultural and economic interests of the peasants.

587. An indication of the speedy revival of political freedom was the establishment of more
and more organizations(28) after 31 October as well as the establishment of several minor
political parties between 31 October and 3 November. Among these was the Christian
Democratic Party(29) which had been dissolved in June 1947; it appealed to “Christian
Hungarian brethren” and asked them to help in the building of a “new, happier, free and
independent Hungary under the sign of Christian morality”. Other parties re-established
included the Democratic People’s Party which stated its support for the Government “as far as
the maintenance of order and protection of life and property are concerned”; and the
Hungarian Independence Party. In addition, the Hungarian Revolutionary Youth Party was
established and the existence of the Hungarian Conservative Party, which functioned “for ten
years in illegality” was announced.(30)
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E The streamlined coalition Government of 3 November

588. The creation of the Inner Cabinet on 30 October had the effect of concentrating the
executive responsibilities of the Government within a small group of personalities acceptable to
the fighters, but the status of the other Ministers was not clear. Nominally, they remained in
office. In fact, several of them had been in conflict with the staff in their Ministries who had
formed Revolutionary Committees which, in some cases, refused to recognize them or admit
them to their offices. The question of the Social Democratic participation in the Cabinet, as
envisaged on 30 October, was yet to be solved.

589.  On 3 November, the Praesidium of the People’s Republic announced that three Deputy
Chairmen, Antal Apré, Jozsef Bognar and Ferenc Erdei, and twenty Ministers, including those
of the Interior (Ferenc Miinnich), Defence (Karoly Janza), Foreign Affairs (Imre Horvath), and
Justice (Erik Molnar), had been “relieved ... of their posts at their own request” but, “for the
purpose of complementing and consolidating the National Government” a small number of
appointments were made, including General Pal Maléter as Defence Minister. Imre Nagy
remained Chairman of the Council of Ministers and took over the portfolio of Foreign
Minister.(31) No other portfolios were assigned to individual members of the Government,
which now consisted mainly of Ministers of State. Four of them had been Ministers of State in
the Cabinet constituted on 30 October, namely, two Communists, Janos Kadar and Géza
Losonczy, and two Independent Smallholders, Béla Kovacs and Zoltan Tildy. Six new
Ministers of State were appointed, one Independent Smallholder, Istvan B. Szabo; three
Social-Democrats, Anna Kéthly, Gyula Kelemen and Jozsef Fischer; and two members of the
Petdfi Party, Ferenc Farkas and Istvan Bib6. Thus the Cabinet of 3 November consisted of
four Communists, three independent Smallholders, three Social-Democrats, and two Petdfi
Party members. The Praesidium had decided to leave all but two Ministerial portfolios - those
held by Mr. Nagy and General Maléter - vacant and to appoint Deputy Ministers - not
members of the Government - to be in charge of the Ministries concerned. The explanation
was given that it would be “the duty of these Deputy Ministers to exercise leadership over the
functioning of the Ministries and their governmental and economic activities, and to do so on
the basis of decisions and measures taken by the National Government”. Members of the
National Government, as Ministers of State, would be designated later by the National
Government to undertake responsibility for the Ministries through the Deputy Ministers.

590. A witness, who had been a leader of the Smallholders’ Party, emphasized the
significance of the entry of his Party into the four-Party coalition. Considering the clear
majority which the Smallholders had at the last free elections in 1945, their decision to
participate in the Government of 3 November on an equal footing with the Communists and
Social Democrats demonstrated, in the opinion of the witness, that his party had no intention
of eliminating genuine socialist achievements such as land reform.

591. Similar views had been expressed by Béla Kovacs, of the Independent Smallholders’
Party who stated on 31 October, before the constitutive meeting of his Party in Pécs: “No one
should dream of going back to the world of aristocrats, bankers and capitalists. That world is
definitely gone! A true member of the Independent Smallholders’ Party cannot think on the
lines of 1939 or 1945.”(32) These views largely coincided with opinions voiced by leading
members of the two other major parties. On 1 November, the President of the Social
Democratic Party, Anna Kéthly, said: “The factories, mines and the land should remain in the
hands of the people.”(33) Writing on the same day in the newspaper of the Pet6fi Party, Laszlo
Németh suggested that all four parties should issue a declaration in which they would confirm
their faith in some great principles of socialism, such as retention of factories in the hands of
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the State; no return of land properties larger than 25-40 hectares to their former owners; the
participation of the workers in the management of factories, and the support of smaller co-
operatives. In conclusion, Németh called for what he said would be “a political system of
historic importance; a multi-party system based on a common fundamental principle combining
the force of ideologically based social systems with the elasticity of the parliamentary
system”.(34)

592.  One of the last political statements broadcast over the Hungarian Radio before the
second attack by Soviet troops also dealt with the areas of agreement among the four political
parties in the coalition.(35) It was delivered by Ferenc Farkas, Minister of State and Secretary-
General of the Pet6fi Party. Mr. Farkas said that all parties in the coalition showed that “they
identified themselves with the activities of the National Government to achieve neutrality”. The
new Government was not separated by the differences which characterized the coalition of
1945, but had a “completely unified stand” on the following points:

“1) It will retain from the socialist achievements and results everything which can be, and must
be, used in a free, democratic and socialist country, in accordance with the wish of the people.

“2) We want to retain the most sincere and friendly economic and cultural relations with every
socialist country, even when we have achieved neutrality. We also want to establish economic
and cultural relations with the other peace-loving countries of the world.

“3) We, the parties participating in the National Government, feel that party interests must be
subordinated unconditionally to those of the nation.

“4) We must continue our efforts and the negotiations which we have started with the Soviet
Union as regards the recognition of our neutrality and independence and the withdrawal of
Soviet troops.”

“5) We consider it absolutely essential that an appeal be made to the great friendly socialist
empires, the Chinese People’s Republic, friendly Yugoslavia and neighbouring friendly Poland
to the effect that they support us in the peaceful settlement of our just cause.

“6) The National Government is completely at one in its stand for the resumption of work and
production as absolutely essential to the realization of our demands for independence through
peaceful means.

“7) The Government is also unanimous that it will proceed most severely against any kind of
anarchist or counter-revolutionary activities and, should such demonstrations take place, would
punish those concerned.”(36)

593. By the changes of 3 November, the Government of Hungary commanded the support
of all sections of the nation. The four parties now sharing power had received 4,632.972 of the
4,717.256 votes cast and had won 407 out of 409 seats in the free elections of 1945.:37)

594. Since the overthrow of Mr. Nagy’s Government was closely linked with the political
circumstances of the second Soviet intervention, the final phase of his Government has been
dealt with in chapter VII, which deals also with the establishment of a government by Mr.
Kadar.

(1) Radio Budapest, 26 October, 4.30 a.m., text reproduced in Szabad Nép, 26 October 1956.
(2) Radio Budapest, 26 October, 5.34 p.m. and 8.08 p.m.
(3) Szabad Nép, 26 October 1956.
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(4) The PPF had not been an active force in Hungary since the beginning of 1955; its re-activation was announced by the
resolution of the Central Committee of the Party of 21 July 1956.

(5) Kis Ujsag, 1 November 1956.

(6) Chapter VII, para. 279.

(7) Radio Budapest, 2.28 p.m., on 30 October.

(8) Fiiggetlen Kisgazda Part.

(9) Kis Ujsag, 1 November 1956.

(10) Ibid., 2 November 1956.

(11) Ibid., 1 November 1956.

(12) Magyar Nemzet, 2 November 1956.

(13) Magyar Szocialdemokrata Part.

(14) Népszava, 1 November 1956.

(15) Ibid., 2 November 1956.

(16) Ibid., 2 November 1956.

(17) Ibid., 1 November 1956.

(18) Ibid., 3 November 1956 (statement by Anna Kéthly in Vienna).
(19) Igazsag, 1 November 1956 (statement by Laszl6 Farago).
(20) Kis Ujsag, 3 November 1956.

(21) Népszava, 1, 2 and 3 November 1956.

(22) Nemzeti Paraszt Part.

(23) Chapter IX, paras. 382-383.

(24) Uj Magyarorszag, 2 November 1956.

(25) The following statement was issued by Mr. Erdei on 31 October: “Several fellow-members of the former Peasant Party
have criticized the fact that it was I who made the appeal for reorganization of the National Peasant Party. I feel it my duty
to state that my simple reason was that I took part in initiating and making this decision, and I alone was in a position to
make the relevant announcement. Of course, this does not mean that I intend in any way to influence the reorganization of
the National Peasant Party” (Szabad Sz6, 31 October 1956).

(26) Uj Magyarorszig, 2 November 1956. On 3 November the organizing Secretary of the Petéfi Party for the County of
Borsod, Sandor Varga, outlined the following programme over Radio Borsod County, Miskolc:

“The Peto6fi Peasant Party believes in private property and advocates free production and marketing. In the field of religion
we advocate the fullest freedom of conscience, freedom of religion and institutional protection of the activities of churches
true to the spirit of Christ. The Petdfi Peasant Party announced that it will not retreat from its demand to give to peasant
children and peasant youth more education. We declare that we accept fully the 1945 Land Reform Law, that we will not
return land now in the possession of our peasantry, that we will fight relentlessly against any attempt which would try to
challenge the rightfulness of that great national achievement, against anyone who would dare attack land reform measures.
But we deem it necessary to re-examine all illegalities in this field committed from 1948 until our national revolution.
While fully respecting the right of peasants to sell their products without restrictions, we consider it necessary to maintain
existing agricultural co-operatives until peasant co-operatives are set up on a sound basis ...”

(27) Magyar Nemzet, | November 1956; Uj Magyarorszag, 2 November 1956; Kis Ujsag, 1 November 1956.

(28) E.g., The Christian Youth Leage, the existence of which was reported by Budapest Radio on 31 October, with the aim
of rallying Hungarian Christian youth into a single camp “which would represent the ideals of youth on the basis of
Christian principles and within the forces guiding the country’s political life”.

(29) Magyar Vilag, 3 November 1956.
(30) The following note briefly summarizes changes in the Press:

In the days prior to the revolution of October 1956, the Hungarian Press mainly consisted of official Party papers. Besides
the Szabad Nép (Free People), the Party had an afternoon paper Esti Budapest (Evening Budapest), and the monthly
Tarsadalmi Szemle (Social Review), the scientific organ of the Party. The Communist-controlled National Council of Trade
Unions had also a daily paper Népszava (People’s Voice), and the League of Working Youth (DISZ), the Communist youth
organization, the Szabad Ifjusadg (Free Youth). The People’s Patriotic Front, which was given new importance by the
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resolution of the Central Committee of the Hungarian Workers’ (Communist) Party of July 1956, controlled the Magyar
Nemzet (Hungarian Nation), a newspaper of liberal tradition. The official gazette Magyar K6zlony was considered between
1950 and 1954 as a “confidential” publication with a very limited circulation. The Irodalmi Ujsag (Literary Gazette), the
weekly paper of the Hungarian Writers’ Union, was the only Press organ in Hungary which, since 1955, defied the Party
orders on uniformity.

The uprising had a great impact on the Hungarian Press and radio. The tone of the papers suddenly changed, and after 30
October more than twenty daily papers started to appear. Szabad Nép came out for the last time on 1 November, and was
then replaced by Népszabadsag (People’s Freedom) as “the newspaper of the Hungarian Socialist Workers’ Party”.
Népszava, the daily of the National Council of Trade Unions, from 1 November became the central organ of the Social
Democratic Party again. The reorganized National Council of Free Trade Unions brought out Népakarat (People’s Will) the
first issue of which appeared on 1 November. The Smallholders’ Party after six years, resurrected on 1 November Kis
Ujsag (Little Paper), and the Pet6fi Party (formerly National Peasants) launched on 2 November the Uj Magyarorszig (New
Hungary). The Magyar Nemzet continued to appear, but from 31 October it ceased to call itself the organ of the People’s
Patriotic Front.

The revolutionary organizations also had their own papers:

The Hungarian National Revolutionary Committee controlled Magyar Fiiggetlenség (Hungarian Independence); the
“Revolutionary Hungarian Army and Youth” produced on 28 October, Igazsag (Truth) ; the Students’ Revolutionary
Council on 29 October Egyetemi Ifjusag (University Youth) ; the Fighting Organization of Young Workers and Working
Youth launched, on 1 November, Magyar Ifjusag (Hungarian Youth). The youth had two other publications: the Szabad
Ifjusag, formerly the Press organ of the Central Committee of DISZ, which became on 30 October the newspaper of the
“Revolutionary Hungarian Youth”, and Magyar J6v6 (Hungarian Future), “the newspaper of the university youth”, of which
one issue appeared on 3 November. The Army and National Guard issued on 30 October the Magyar Honvéd (Hungarian
Soldier), replacing Néphadsereg (People’s Army), the central organ of the Ministry of National Defence. On 3 November,
two Catholic weeklies appeared: A Sziv (The Heart), the weekly of the Society of Jesus’ Heart, and the Uj Ember (New
Man). Also a Protestant weekly appeared dated 4-10 November, Reformacio, under the sponsorship of the Hungarian
Calvinist Church and with Bishop Lészl6 Ravasz as editor-in-chief.

(31) Mr. Nagy was reported as having assumed “the directions of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs” on 1 November.
(32) Kis Ujsag, 1 November 1956.

(33) Népszava, 1 November 1956.

(34) Uj Magyarorszag, 2 November 1956.

(35) Budapest Radio, 9.19 p.m. on 3 November 1956.

(36) Chapter VIII, para. 342.

(37) The two remaining seats had been secured by the Democratic Party.
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Chapter XIII
SOVIET INTERVENTION UNDER THE PRESENT REGIME

A. Introduction

595. The second intervention of the Soviet military forces has been described in chapter V.
The circumstances in which the Kadar Government was established have been given in chapter
VII. In the present chapter, the development of events in Hungary is examined with a view to
studying (1) the measure of Soviet action to undo the results of the Revolution, (2) the extent
of dependence of Mr. Kadar and his Government on Soviet support and (3) the specific
measures that were taken by the Soviet Government, following the cessation of the fighting, to
impose the Kadar Government and maintain it in power.

B. Soviet administration of Hungary

596. In the “Szolnok” broadcasts of 4 November announcing the establishment of the
Hungarian Revolutionary Worker-Peasant Government, it was explained that this drastic step
was taken by Mr. Kéadar and his colleagues for the purpose of saving the Hungarian workers
and peasants from the dangers of fascism and reaction. The statement read by Mr. Miinnich
declared:

“We have decided to fight with all our strength against the threatening danger of fascism ...”
Similarly, one hour later Mr. Kédar was heard to say: “We must put an end to the excesses of
the counter-revolutionary elements. The hour for action has sounded. We are going to defend
the interest of the workers and peasants and the achievements of the People’s Democracy”.

597. It has not been established whether Mr. Kadar or other members of his Government
actually prepared the other announcements which were heard over the Soviet-controlled radio
stations of Hungary between 4 and 7 November. In these announcements, the Hungarian
Revolutionary Worker-Peasant Government appealed to the Hungarian people, “to the
workers, peasants and soldiers”, and called upon them to fight against “the forces of reaction”.
However, there is no evidence that during the fighting from 4 to 11 November there were any
soldiers or groups of Hungarians, whether organized or unorganized, who fought against each
other. The evidence supports unequivocally the conclusion that all fighting occurred
exclusively between Hungarian nationals and the Soviet forces. Any Hungarian assistance that
the latter may have received came solely from persons who had been identified with the AVH
and persons closely associated with the past Rékosi leadership.

598. A striking feature in the period between 4 November and 11 November, when the
Soviet forces finally prevailed, was the use of radio stations by the Soviet military commanders
to transmit orders to the population. After the broadcasts of 4 November, the voices of Mr.
Kadar or his colleagues were not heard again until the morning of 8 November when Mr.
Marosan, Minister of State, made an appeal for a return to order. What was heard instead were
the appeals for outside help addressed from those stations still under the control of the
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Hungarian fighters, and, from the other stations, the orders of the commanders of the Soviet
troops to the Hungarian people. Thus at 10 a.m. on 4 November, Radio Szombathely trans-
mitted an order of the Soviet Military Commander of Vas County which stated that, “as the
local administrative organs have been unable to maintain order and to secure public safety ...,
the Commanding Officer of the city and country has ordered patrols of Soviet troops to guard
public buildings and enterprises”. The order further stated that all civilians should deliver all
weapons to the Soviet Military Command, otherwise they would be severely punished; it
established precise hours of curfew and regulated matters relating to the supply of food.

599.  Similar radio announcements from Szolnok, Pécs, Miskolc and Nyiregyhaza were heard
throughout the days of 4 and 5 November, transmitting the orders of Soviet Commanders for
the surrender of arms, the establishment of curfew hours and other administrative matters, or
appealing to the population to assist in the re-establishment of order and the resumption of
work.

600. Despite the appeal broadcast in the name of the Kadar Government by the Soviet-
controlled Budapest radio, in the evening of 4 November, calling upon “the faithful fighters of
the cause of socialism” to come out of hiding, the fighting which took place in Hungary had
nothing of the character of a civil war with one part of the population in armed opposition to
another. The military operations were essentially those of a well-equipped foreign army
crushing by overwhelming force a national movement and eliminating the Government through
which that movement was finding effective expression. The mere facade of a Government
installed by the Soviet authorities was no substitute for an effective administration.
Consequently, the Soviet Army was placed in the position of undertaking various
administrative functions, which were clearly of a civil nature, in addition to attaining its military
objectives by the use of arms.

601. It is difficult to determine the precise extent of Soviet military administration after 4
November; but that it involved far-reaching control of internal Hungarian affairs by foreign
military authorities is apparent from available texts of military orders. The following examples
may be cited:

“Order No. 1 of the Military Commander of Soviet military units in Budapest
Budapest, 6 November 1956

“At the request of the Hungarian Revolutionary Government of Workers and Peasants, the
Soviet troops have marched into Budapest temporarily in order to help the Hungarian people
to protect its socialist achievements, to suppress the counter-revolution and to eliminate the
menace of fascism.

“With a view to re-establishing order and normal life in Budapest, I issue the following
instructions:

“(1) Those persons who are in possession of arms should immediately, i.e., not later than 1700
hours on November 9, 1956, hand them to Soviet military units or to the Soviet Military
Command. Those persons who hand over their arms will not be called to account.

“Persons, who, by the dateline fixed above, have not handed over their arms or who hide arms,
will be severely punished.

“(2) From November 7, the public is allowed on the streets of the city of Budapest only
between 0700 hours and 1900 hours
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“Everyone must unconditionally obey the patrols of the Soviet Military Command and carry
out their instructions and orders without question.

“(3) We call upon the workers and employees of the factories, of the shops, of the transport
and municipal services and of other enterprises and offices to resume work.

“Persons who in any way hinder workers and employees in the resumption of work will be
called to account.

“(4) Local authorities must ensure food and fuel supplies for the people. The Soviet Military
Command will give all help in this matter to the local administrative organs.

“All food shops must be opened to ensure the people a continuous food supply. Shops must be
open from 0800 hours to 1800 hours. Railroad and motor vehicles delivering food and fuel can
- with special permission - operate both day and night.

“I call upon all Budapest workers to help local administrative organs and Soviet troops to re-
establish and maintain normal life and public order in the city.

“The Military Commander of the Soviet military units in Budapest.
“K. Grebennik
“Major-General of the Guards”

“Order of the Soviet Military Commander: (1)

“Today the Soviet Military Commander of Pécs has taken up his duties.
“I issue the following instructions:

“(1) The counter-revolutionary National Committees must be dissolved.

“(2) The population must hand over their arms to the Military Commandatura (AVH building)
by 1900 hours, November 5, 1956. Those who keep arms at home illegally will be called to
account in accordance with the emergency regulations.

“(3) In all factories and offices, work must be resumed on the 5" at the official hour.
“(4) Demonstrations and meetings are forbidden.

“Cultural institutions and places of amusement will remain closed until further notice. All
citizens will observe the laws and regulations of the Hungarian People’s Republic.

“(5) In the town, the public will be allowed on the streets from 7 a.m. to 7 p.m. Shops may
remain open between the same hours.

“(6) Should there be shooting at Soviet soldiers or at citizens in general, the fire will be
returned by Soviet armed forces with arms of all types.

“Major Kornusin
“Soviet Military Commander of Pécs”

602.  Such were the orders issued by Soviet military authorities at the time of their armed
attack on the Hungarian people. But even after the fighting had ceased there was no response
from the people, or even a segment of the people, showing that they would be prepared to
assist the Soviet-sponsored Government in the reconstruction work that lay ahead. News-
papers and radio broadcasts, for the next two weeks, repeatedly announced that order had
been restored throughout the country. Such reports, however, had to be discontinued, for it
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was clear to all that this was untrue and that large numbers of the people were actively devising
ways and means to oppose the Government. Thus the Soviet Military Command found itself
confronted by the problem of having to continue the administration of the country without the
necessary administrative machinery. The Revolutionary Councils had ousted those
administrators of the old régime who had not sided with the Revolution, but it had not yet been
possible to replace them effectively. Furthermore, members of the Revolutionary Councils
were participating in the armed resistance and at the end of the fighting were obliged to go into
hiding.(2) In many cases, even essential services in Greater Budapest were unable to function
effectively, because many of the key personnel were not available. Another factor, and
doubtless the most important one, was that, with the end of the fighting, the workers decided
on an organized campaign of passive resistance. This phase of the resistance, which was to
continue until January 1957 inflicted an additional burden upon the Soviet Union, which was
obliged to subsidize the Hungarian economy both in goods and services.

603. In some provincial centres, where the fighting had been limited, the Revolutionary
Councils were permitted to continue their functions, with certain changes in personnel, under
the over-all supervision of the Soviet Command. In other centres, however, all Revolutionary
Councils were abolished by military order. In many centres, the persons who had been ejected
from office by the Revolution reappeared at the Town Hall and, in the presence of Soviet
officers or NKVD or former AVH personnel, resumed the positions they had held prior to 23
October. According to the evidence, these persons were often unable to render any effective
service to the Soviet military authorities, as the local government or public utility staff had
either abandoned their posts or limited their work, so that only the consuming public would
benefit by their services, and not the country as a whole.

604. The Committee was told that, although all public services were disorganized or had
ceased to function, the population, particularly in Budapest, did not suffer directly as a result
of this situation. Peasants from the surrounding countryside continued, as at the outbreak of
the Revolution, to come daily to the capital with produce which they sold at little or no profit
or even gave away to those in need. Similarly, the coal miners, truck drivers, and power station
operators produced the minimum amount of goods and services for the needs of hospitals and
private homes, but far less than the requirements of industry or public services. The tenacity of
the workers had brought the economy to a complete standstill. On 28 November, Antal Apro,
Minister of Industry, speaking at a meeting held in the Parliament Building with representatives
of the Workers’ Councils, emphasized the gravity of the situation due to the abstention from
work by factory workers and miners. The factories were idle owing to the lack of raw
materials and fuel. The Communist countries, he said, had sent great quantities of raw
materials needed by Hungarian industry; these were now massed on the frontier and could not
reach the factories.

C. Soviet repressive measures

605. The only way by which order could be restored, short of acceding to the demands of
the Hungarian people, was first for the Soviet Military Command to initiate a policy of
repression and fear that would be pursued with equal tenacity by the Government of Mr. Kadar
and, secondly, to remove centres of political opposition through the reactivation of the Hunga-
rian Communist Party. The first policy was put into effect as soon as the fighting was over.
The second followed towards the end of November, and is dealt with later in this chapter.
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606. General Grebennik, the Soviet Military Commander in Hungary, in his appeal to the
Hungarian people on 5 November, emphasized that the Soviet forces were in Hungary, not
because they needed more land or more national resources, but because the Worker-Peasant
Government of Mr. Kadar had requested the Soviet Military Command “to give a helping hand
in the liquidation of the counter-revolutionary forces”. He called upon the Hungarian officers
and soldiers to fight on the side of the Soviet troops “for freedom and democracy against the
unbridled forces of reaction”. But this appeal, and many others, remained unheeded by the
Hungarian fighters. In the face of this opposition, the Soviet Military Command adopted
stringent measures - individual arrests of persons suspected of leadership in the resistance,
mass arrests and deportations. Occasionally, the Soviet troops resorted to summary
executions, to instill fear into the people. Simultaneously, the Soviet Command took over the
control of the nerve centres of the country, such as broadcasting stations, telephone exchanges,
road transport, and the principal railway lines, so as to maintain control within the country and
to suppress any opposition movements.

607. These controls were effectively maintained by the Soviet Military Command for a
number of months.(3) It is known that, after the battles outside the Central Telephone
Exchange of Budapest, the Exchange was immediately taken over by Soviet troops, who
apparently remained to monitor all official calls. The Committee was informed that an official
of a Foreign Ministry of a Western European Government, while calling up in December its
diplomatic representative in Budapest, was interrupted by a person speaking Russian, who
broke off the connexion. Similarly, it was reported that all cars, including those with diplomatic
licence plates, were obliged to receive a Soviet permit to circulate. The Committee was told
that diplomatic personnel leaving the country with exit visas issued by the Hungarian Foreign
Ministry were turned back at the frontier by the Soviet guards, if they had not also received an
exit clearance from the Soviet Military authorities.

608. The Soviet Command laid special emphasis on control of the railroads. During their
advance at the time of the second intervention, the Soviet troops commandeered the principal
lines leading to Budapest. This was first noted on the Zdhony-Nyiregyhaza-Szolnok line, which
was seized on 2 November after a skirmish with the Hungarian railway workers at Nyir-
egyhéaza. At the outset, the Soviet Command tried to get the railwaymen to operate the trains,
but this was affected only under duress, by seizing the men in their homes and taking them to
the marshalling yards. Eventually, on the main lines the railroads actually had to be operated by
Soviet personnel and the trains were protected against saboteurs and guerrillas by Soviet
armed guards. The secondary lines were apparently in a chaotic state.

609. While fighting was still going on, the Soviet troops used varying tactics to consolidate
their military gains. In some cases, if their objectives had been achieved easily, the Soviet
troops, after disarming the fighters, would allow them to go home. This was the case in the
smaller provincial centres during the days of 4 and 5 November. On the other hand, in
Budapest, or wherever the Hungarian fighters persisted in their resistance, the Soviet troops
showed severity. In some districts of Budapest, when the fighting began to die down, Soviet
troops, with the assistance of AVH men, affected mass arrests of persons suspected of having
taken part in the fighting. Witnesses testified that, at Gy0r, at the end of the fighting, they
seized sixty men, of whom eight were summarily executed. There is evidence that on numerous
occasions truckloads of men and women were driven to jail under Soviet armed guard, and
were kept in prison under the supervision of Soviet personnel. Some witnesses were emphatic
in their statements that these arrests often had no direct connexion with the fighting. One
witness stated that fifty prisoners had escaped from such a round-up, and Soviet troops
immediately collected an equal number of persons from the houses surrounding the area.
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610. The use of repression by the Soviet Military Command as a method of establishing
some pattern of order in Hungary is illustrated by the following cases which were reported to
the Committee:

611. Witnesses have testified that persons arrested by the Soviet Military Command were
not turned over to the Hungarian authorities, as officially reported in the press. The Chief
Public Prosecutor, Géza Sz¢énasi, stated that he had no competence to order the Soviet troops
to release anyone they had seized. Another witness stated before the Committee that when he,
with some of his colleagues, had approached the Soviet Military Command of Budapest,
asking for the return of a group of persons who had been deported to the Soviet Union, they
were told by a senior Soviet officer that this could be done, if the group would undertake to
persuade the workers to return to work.

612. The Soviet Military Command was particularly interested in bringing under its control
the Hungarian Officer Corps, as it had been demonstrated that pro-Soviet indoctrination had
not prevented many of the officers from siding with the nationalist uprising. There is evidence
that the Soviet Command, on the outbreak of hostilities, ordered certain Hungarian troops to
their barracks in garrison towns, demanding their surrender. In a number of cases there was no
opposition, as the barracks were denuded of troops except for a few pro-Soviet officers. There
were instances where Hungarian officers had already been seized by Soviet troops on 3 or even
2 November. In Budapest, Soviet armoured units, during the day of 4 November, surrounded
the Military Staff College and seized the few men they could find there. It has been reliably
reported that, even in the case of a Hungarian unit which had remained passive, Soviet troops
issued an ultimatum to vacate the barracks within thirty minutes. They then proceeded to
occupy the premises and take over all the military stores. In Budapest, former members of the
AVH attached to the Soviet troops assisted in identifying Hungarian officers who were
considered to be in sympathy with the uprising. According to witnesses, these officers were
immediately dispatched to the Soviet military base at Tokol and were put under arrest.
Witnesses, who had themselves been deported to the Soviet Union, told the Committee that a
proportion of the deportees were Hungarian officers.

613. Ferenc Miinnich, Minister of the Armed Forces and Public Security Affairs, in orders
and appeals addressed to the armed forces between 8§ and 10 November, asked the men to
report to their units. These orders, however, were soon to be countermanded by the issue of
other orders by which a considerable part of the standing army was demobilized. Apparently
the pro-Soviet Generals of the Hungarian Staff came to realize that the Army had
disintegrated, and that it was impossible to reassemble it by issuing orders and appeals. In
addition, according to witnesses in a position to know the facts, the Soviet Military Command
at this stage objected strongly to the re-establishment of any organization that would have the
status of a Hungarian Army, as recent experience had shown that Hungarian troops were liable
to turn their weapons against their Soviet allies. Instead, they demanded that State Security
Forces be so organized as to provide a more effective political control against the present
opposition and any subversive movements that might develop in the future.

614. Dr. Miinnich, in his Instruction for the implementation of the “Officers’ Declaration”
issued on 12 November, ordered all officers of the Hungarian Army who agreed with the
Declaration and desired to pursue their military career to sign the document. Those who
refused to sign or “disagree with the Declaration, or want to be disarmed for any other reason”
would cease within twenty-four hours to be part of the active Hungarian Army. The
Instruction further established committees of five to seven officers to decide doubtful cases of
officers who had signed the Declaration but who, having “participated with arms on the side of
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the enemy”, could not remain in the Army. Witnesses estimated that, as a result of this
Instruction, perhaps 80 per cent of the Hungarian officers have been separated from the forces.
Of the remaining 20 per cent who signed the Declaration, it is said that a considerable number
did so for family reasons.

615.  One of the first pronouncements of Mr. Kéadar, following the cessation of hostilities on
11 November, was that past mistakes would not be repeated. As a proof of his intentions, he
declared that the liquidation of the AVH would be completed. Just before, however, a new
security organization had been established, known as the “R”4) group which was to serve as
an adjunct of the regular police, ostensibly to protect the people from being “molested by
criminals”. “Security Forces Regiments” were also established, whose task would be to patrol
the cities, collect arms and prevent any disturbance of order. The Press also announced the
formation of various other security groups; thus in all there were the “Security Force
Regiments”, the “R” groups, “Mixed Action” groups, “Factory Guards”, the “Frontier Guard”,
the “Home Guard” and the “Militia”. These forces, with the exception of the factory guards,
became, and still continue to be, following certain mergers, the foundation upon which the
Kadar Government must rest. Witnesses have explained how these forces, under whatever title
they may have been known, were fostered by the Soviet Military Command, and worked
closely with Soviet troops in the repression of armed or passive resistance. There is evidence
that these security groups were staffed, at least to a considerable extent, by former members of
the AVH. In some cases, the groups also included members of the NKVD, who were seen on
duty wearing Soviet, and in other cases Hungarian, uniforms. The function of these groups was
to discover any centres of resistance, to make home arrests of individual suspects and to act as
guides and interpreters for the Soviet troops wherever it was necessary to exercise armed
force.(5)

616. The Soviet Military Command, having achieved its primary objective, which was the
overthrow by force of Premier Nagy’s Government, had, indeed, to rely on the personnel of
the disbanded AVH as the only group in Hungary whose loyalty and interests lay on the side of
the Soviet Union. Mr. Kéadar, who came to power as a result of the Soviet military
intervention, was presumably selected as Premier partly because his own imprisonment might
encourage the people to believe that there would be no return of Rékosi’s methods and of his
terror weapon, the AVH. It is possible that the Soviet authorities believed that the Hungarian
people, following their military defeat, would submit to the new order under Mr. Kadar, and
that through him a new equilibrium might be reached, that would satisfy certain minimum
political and strategic requirements of the Soviet Union. Developments, however, after 4
November showed that the Hungarian people were not prepared to co-operate with any
Government which would not, or could not, satisfy their two basic demands - the withdrawal
of the Soviet troops and free elections. Resistance continued in the form of persistent strikes,
deputations with demands that were ab initio unacceptable, passive demonstrations,
manifestoes and the intermittent appearance of guerrillas. In consequence, the mopping up
operations of the Soviet troops at the end of the fighting became an organized system of armed
repression.
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D. Relationship of Workers’ Councils and Soviet authorities

617. The most significant evidence of the reality of Soviet control is to be found in the
dealings of Soviet Military Commanders with the Workers’ Councils. An essential element of
the Soviet Military Commander’s Order No. 1 issued on 6 November was his call to the
workers to resume work. In the weeks following the revolution, negotiations between the
Workers’ Council and the Soviet Command centered mostly around this question. In some
instances, however, specific incidents occurring in the city were taken up by the Workers’
Councils with the Soviet Commander, who was asked to intervene. The Greater Budapest
Workers’ Council was in continuous communication with the Soviet Commander of Budapest.

618. On several occasions, leaders of the Workers’ Councils were summoned to Soviet
headquarters and called to account for the failure of the workers to resume work. A meeting
between the Soviet Military Commander and leaders of the Workers’ Councils of the 11"
District of Budapest took place on 8 November, and a number of witnesses testified that this
conversation took place in a strained atmosphere. The workers’ delegates declared that they
had certain demands to make before work would be resumed; these demands, which reflected
the sixteen-point programme of 23 October, were read out. The answers of the Soviet
Commander were, according to a witness, given an obdurate tone: in so far as workers had not
resumed work in the factories, the members of Workers’ Councils and other fascist
revolutionaries would be taught a lesson; workers who did not report for work would be
locked out of factories and removed to a place “where they would have ample time to think
about starting work again”; Mr. Nagy and Mr. Maléter would not be taken back into the
Government, because they were imperialist agents. They would go elsewhere, but not into the
Government; there would be no secret elections, and Hungarians would never again have an
opportunity to put the revolutionaries back into power; things would be done differently, as in
the Soviet Union. The Soviet Commander then stated that he expected the Workers’ Councils
to use their influence to encourage the resumption of work within two or three days; otherwise
members of Workers” and Revolutionary Councils would be put to work themselves.

619. On another occasion, according to testimony, the Soviet Commander summoned the
representatives of the Central Workers’ Council of Csepel to his headquarters and told them
that workers who refused to resume work would be “removed”. The workers’ delegation
answered, however, that work would not be resumed “in the shadow of arms or in the
presence of foreign troops”, and demanded that Soviet troops be withdrawn from the factory.
After a certain amount of discussion, the Soviet Commander agreed that the armoured troops
should leave the factory, but that if work was not resumed within twenty-four hours after their
leaving, the factory would be reoccupied. After the withdrawal of Soviet troops, about 20 per
cent of the workers resumed work.

620. Witnesses have testified about a considerable number of interventions by Soviet armed
forces in the proceedings of the Workers’ Councils. The meeting place at Ujpest, where
delegates of the Workers’ Councils were to meet on 13 November to set up the Greater
Budapest Workers’ Council, was surrounded by twenty Soviet tanks, and it was only after
lengthy conversations with the Soviet Commander that the meeting was authorized to take
place elsewhere. On 15 November, at another meeting of workers’ delegates held at the
headquarters of the Tramcar Workers’ Union at Akacfa Street, Soviet troops surrounded the
building, entering during the proceedings from both sides of the room. The meeting continued,
and after three hours the Soviet officer in charge announced that it had been a mis-
understanding, and the troops left. On 16 November, at a meeting of workers’ representatives
of twenty-eight of the largest factories in Budapest at the Iron Workers’ headquarters, six
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Soviet soldiers, armed with sub machine guns, surrounded the place; the meeting then broke
up. It was reported by witnesses that one or two Soviet officers were continuously present at
meetings of the Central Workers’ Council of Csepel. The first time they appeared, the Council
protested, but was told that the Soviets were there only as observers, as they wished to learn
how these councils functioned, not having similar councils in the Soviet Union. Later, the
officers said that their intention had been to protect the workers against “ill-intentioned fascist
imperialist agents”. The presence of the Soviet officers was then debated, and the workers
answered that, as a matter of principle, they did not wish outsiders to be present at their
meetings; nevertheless, if the officers wanted to attend, the Council would be happy to tell
them of the problems which faced the workers. On occasion, the Soviet observers were asked
questions in the course of such meetings. Thus, when the Council was discussing the
withdrawal of Russian troops, they turned to the Soviet colonel present and asked him about it.
The colonel answered that his information was that the moment work was resumed, troops
would be withdrawn from the territory of Hungary.

621. Numerous clashes between factory workers, Soviet forces and the militia were reported
to the Committee. Russian troops participated in the attempted arrest of the workers’ leaders
in the Danubia factory and in the actual arrest of the Chairman of the Workers’ Council of the
Ganz and MAVAG factories. At the mining centre of Salgotarjan, in the course of a miners’
demonstration, Soviet troops and militia opened fire. Those among the demonstrators who
were armed returned the fire, and there was a large number of casualties. For a time after the
dissolution of the Greater Budapest Workers” Council on 9 December, Soviet pressure on the
Workers’ Councils seems to have continued. At Csepel and in other places, the Soviet
authorities did not refrain from open threats and demanded to know the names and addresses
of members of the Council.

E. Attitude towards the Government of Hungary

622.  When Soviet troops reached the Parliament Building on the morning of 4 November,
the Soviet Commander-in-Chief and his Staff established their headquarters in the very offices
that had been vacated earlier that same morning by Premier Nagy. Various witnesses who
visited Mr. Kadar at different times after 11 November have reported that the Parliament
Building, both outside and inside, looked like a Soviet military stronghold. Soviet tanks
protected the entrances to the buildings; at the entrances themselves, Soviet Army and NKVD
personnel checked the credentials of all who sought admittance, while inside, in the halls and
corridors, many Soviet officers were to be seen. Witnesses explained that, during the meetings
they held with Mr. Kédar, there were usually one or two people present, who apparently acted
as observers, while remaining silent throughout the proceedings. Witnesses also told the
Committee that around 17 November, when the Greater Budapest Workers’ Council was
pressing Mr. Kadar for the withdrawal of Soviet troops as a condition for the resumption of
work, General Grebennik enlightened them on the situation as follows: “You have to
understand that it is not the Kadar Government which is in control here, but the Soviet Military
Command, and it has the power to force the Hungarian workers to return to work.” When a
delegation from the Kébanya district of Budapest visited Mr. Kadar to ask him to intervene
with the Soviet Military Commander to stop the deportation of workers, Mr. Kadar is reported
to have said to them in private: “Don’t you see there are machine-guns at my back?”
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623. Evidence given to the Committee has illustrated the dependence of Mr. Kadar’s
Government on Soviet support and the limitations on the exercise by it of in dependent power.
Upon Mr. Kadar’s return on 6 or 7 November after his visit to Moscow, he held a meeting
with Zoltan Tildy and certain other non-Communist political personalities to discuss the
possibility of their joining his Government. The Committee received testimony to the effect
that they accepted but that, when the question was submitted to the Soviet Military
Commander, the latter immediately replied with a categorical refusal.

624.  One of the many difficulties confronting Mr. Kadar at the time of his appointment was
that the various elected bodies, such as Revolutionary Councils, Workers’ Councils, trade
unions, student unions and professional societies that visited him in Parliament made a point of
stating that they did not consider him and his Government as being legally in power. There
were numerous reports in the Hungarian Press and on the Budapest radio between 16 and 23
November indicating that the representatives of these groups were pressing for the return to
power of Premier Nagy. On one occasion, Mr. Kadar was forced to state that, as soon as
Premier Nagy left the Yugoslav Embassy, negotiations would be undertaken to change the
structure of the Government.

625. The degree to which the Government of Hungary reflects autonomous political
evolution within the country is also seen in the somewhat abortive efforts towards the
reactivation of the Hungarian Communist Party. When Mr. Kadar came to power, his
Government represented a political Party that had disintegrated the previous week. The
Central Committee of the Party - the Hungarian Workers’ (Communist) Party - dissolved itself
on 28 October. Following Mr. Kédar’s declaration on 30 October that the Party had failed, the
more prominent Hungarian Communists whose faith was still unshaken decided to make a
fresh start. For this purpose, they established the Preparatory Committee of the Hungarian
Socialist Workers’ Party. The seven members of this Committee, which was intended to link
past practice with the future reformed Communist movement, have all, with the exception of
Mr. Kadar, been considered enemies of the State following the second Soviet intervention.

626. Many witnesses declared that Mr. Kadar had difficulty in finding people who would
join his Government. They testified that many leading Communists had trusted Premier Nagy
and had accepted his stand on the major political issues, while others again, during the
uprising, had undergone a change of heart and refused to be associated with the Communist
movement any longer. Mr. Kadar thus found himself with only a few associates and with a
party machinery that could not operate.

627. Mr. Kadar’s Government had to try and reassemble the rank and file of the Party and to
deploy it in key positions. In the provinces and, to some extent, in the capital, this was done by
using former members of the AVH who came out of hiding or were liberated from prison by
the advancing Soviet troops. The various local administrators, Government officials and trade
union leaders who had not sided with the uprising and had consequently been ejected from
office by the Revolutionary Councils, were reinstated in their former positions. Witnesses
testified, however, that this was no solution, as so many of the former officials had broken
away from the Party during the uprising that many essential posts had to remain vacant. In the
industrial town of Dunapentele, for example, with the exception of the AVH and one or two
Army officers, everyone had sided with the uprising. A similar situation existed in a number of
other towns. The Government was therefore often unable immediately to remove from office
even its declared enemies. Evidence has been received that Borsod County (Miskolc area) was
administered independently up to January 1957 with few, if any, ties with the central
Government.
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628. Repressive measures by the Soviet Military Command helped to solve this problem. By
17 November when underproduction by factory workers and miners amounted to a sit-down
strike, the Soviet Military Command, with the AVH, arrested many of the leaders in the
factories and mines. As vacancies were created in the Workers’ Councils, they were filled by
persons designated by the Government.(6)

629. Witnesses maintained that, among the 200,000(77 who are now claimed by the
Government to be members of the Party, a considerable proportion joined solely for pecuniary
reasons and could not be relied upon by the Government in an emergency. It was stated before
the Committee that, in certain cases, a factory or group of factories was told that it had to
increase its quota of Party members. For the purpose of avoiding the imposition of persons
from outside, the workers decided that they would fill the quota by drawing lots from among
the staff in the factory.

F. The abduction of Premier Imre Nagy

630. A most conclusive sign of the inability of the Hungarian Government to maintain its
sovereign independence against Soviet intervention was the abduction of Mr. Nagy. When
Premier Nagy left the Parliament Building on the morning of 4 November, he told other
members of his Cabinet that he was going to the Soviet Embassy to protest personally against
the Soviet military attack. However, instead he sought asylum at the Yugoslav Embassy in the
company of his son-in-law, Dr. Ferenc Janosi, and was followed by the other Communist
member of his Government, Géza Losonczy. Within a few hours Messrs. Ferenc Donat, Gabor
Tancos, Sandor Haraszti, Gyorgy Fazekas, Janos Szilagyi, Szilard Ujhelyi, Miklés Vasarhelyi
and Mrs. Jalia Rajk, together with fifteen other women and seventeen children, came to the
Yugoslav Embassy seeking asylum.

631. According to a report issued by the Yugoslav News Agency Tanjug, dated 25
November, certain negotiations had taken place on 2 November between Zoltan Szantd, one of
the Members of the Provisional Committee of the new Socialist Workers’ Party of Hungary,
and a member of the Yugoslav Embassy, with regard to the possibility for him and some other
Hungarian Communists to seek refuge in the Yugoslav Embassy, should this prove to be
necessary. The next day the Yugoslav Ambassador stated that in principle he would grant
asylum, if this were requested.

632. Negotiations were under way between 11 and 22 November in which the Yugoslav
Government and Mr. Kadar sought to settle the problem connected with the granting of
asylum to Premier Nagy and his group. The Yugoslav Government proposed that (a) the
Government of Mr. Kadar should provide a written guarantee that Premier Nagy and his group
would be allowed to return freely to their homes or, if this were not possible, that (b) the
persons in question would be permitted to proceed freely to Yugoslavia, where they would be
granted asylum.

633. In the course of the conversations that were held in Budapest between Mr. Dobrivoje
Vidic, Under-Secretary for Foreign Affairs of the Federal People’s Republic of Yugoslavia,
and Mr. Kadar, the latter, while accepting the above proposals of the Yugoslav Government
had also suggested as an alternative solution that Premier Nagy and his group should seek
refuge in Romania. This proposal was communicated by Mr. Vidic to Premier Nagy and his
group, who ruled it out as unacceptable. The question was again submitted to Mr. Kadar on
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the basis of the original alternative proposals. Mr. Kadar seems to have agreed to this orally on
16 November. However, the next day he set new conditions. These were that Premier Nagy
and Mr. Losonczy should resign from their positions in the Government, that they should
declare themselves in sympathy with the efforts of the Hungarian Worker-Peasant
Government, that they should offer a self-criticism of their earlier activities, and that they
should guarantee not to undertake any steps against the activity of the Hungarian Government.
Mr. Kédar also requested that Premier Nagy and Mr. Losonczy should seek asylum in one of
the socialist countries, until conditions in Hungary became normal. These proposals were
refused both by Premier Nagy and by the Yugoslav Government, which declared that it could
not agree to release the group in question on the basis of special terms which were exclusively
of domestic concern to Hungary. Witnesses who had been in contact with Premier Nagy while
he was in the Yugoslav Embassy have testified that they learned from him that he had rejected
an offer to go to Romania.

634. In the letter of the Yugoslav Government dated 18 November addressed to Mr. Kadar,
it was specifically stated that the Yugoslav Embassy would agree to the departure of the group
from the premises only upon the receipt of the written guarantee of Mr. Kéadar, in his capacity
as President of the Government of the Hungarian People’s Republic, that Premier Nagy and his
party would be granted safe conduct to proceed freely to their respective homes. Mr. Kédar, in
his reply to the Government of the Federal People’s Republic of Yugoslavia dated 21
November, stated:

“In the interest of terminating the matter, the Hungarian Government, agreeing to the
proposals contained on page 3, section 8§ of the letter of 18 November 1956 addressed to me
by the Yugoslav Government, hereby confirms in writing its verbal declaration that it does not
desire to apply sanctions against Imre Nagy and the members of his group for their past
activities. We take note that the asylum extended to the group will hereby come to an end and
that they themselves will leave the Yugoslav Embassy and proceed freely to their homes.”

635. The next day, 22 November, at 6.30 p.m., a bus arrived at the Yugoslav Embassy. This
bus had been placed at the disposal of the refugees by Mr. Miinnich, Minister of the Armed
Forces and of Public Security Affairs. As the group was boarding the bus, Soviet military
personnel arrived and insisted on entering it. Thereupon, the Yugoslav Ambassador asked two
Embassy officials also to accompany the group, to make certain that Premier Nagy and the
party reached their homes as agreed. The bus was driven to the city Headquarters of the Soviet
Military Command, where the two Yugoslav officials were ordered by a Soviet lieutenant-
colonel to leave. Under an escort of Soviet armoured cars, the bus then drove away to an
unknown destination.

636. The above incident caused the Yugoslav Government to issue a note verbale
condemning the action of the Hungarian Government in severe terms. It described the action of
the Hungarian Government as “a flagrant breach of the agreement reached. The very fact that
it was committed immediately after the agreement was concluded sheds a peculiar light on the
breach”. The note categorically denied the version that Premier Nagy and his party voluntarily
left for Romania, for they had made it quite clear while they were at the Yugoslav Embassy
that they would refuse to go to Romania. The note then stated that this violation of the
agreement would have a negative effect on Yugoslav-Hungarian relations and declared it to be
completely contrary to the generally accepted practices of international law.

637. On 24 November Mr. Vidic received in Belgrade Mr. Graznov, Counsellor of the
Soviet Embassy, to whom he transmitted a note setting forth the contents of the note
addressed to the Hungarian Government. The note in addition stated: “In informing the
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Government of the USSR about the foregoing, the Government of the Federal People’s
Republic of Yugoslavia is obliged to express its surprise to the Government of the USSR over
the fact that Soviet authorities in the Hungarian People’s Republic prevented implementation
of the above-mentioned agreement which was to have provided a friendly settlement of a
disputed issue between the Government of the Federal People’s Republic of Yugoslavia and
the Hungarian People’s Republic.”

638. The Népakarat, organ of the Hungarian trade unions, in its issue of 23 November,
mentioned that the “Cabinet” sat until 1.30 a.m., after which Mr. Kadar assumed full
responsibility for Mr. Nagy’s journey to Romania. In a Government communiqué issued in the
evening of 23 November, it was announced that Premier Nagy and some of his colleagues who
had sought refuge in the Yugoslav Embassy had left the premises of the Embassy on 22
November and had gone to Romania, in accordance with a request they had submitted
previously to be permitted to go to the territory of another socialist country.

639. From the evidence at its disposal and the testimony of witnesses, the Committee is
convinced that Premier Nagy and his party did not proceed of their own free will to Romania,
as declared in the Hungarian communiqué, but that they were forced to do so as a result of
Soviet action. It has evidence that, when they were forced to board a plane, they did not even
know where they were being taken. From other testimony, it appears that the group is still held
in Romania and that some of them are living under prison conditions.

G. Conclusions

640. The data in this chapter should be considered in conjunction with the information in
chapter VII regarding the establishment of Mr. Kédar’s Government, and that in chapter V
regarding Soviet military operations at the time. During the early days of the Kadar
Government, the administration of the country was, in fact, in the hands of the Soviet Military
Command. Soviet military force was the effective backing of the Government installed in
power, and the political changes described in the next chapter can be explained only against the
background of such intervention.

(1) From the special edition of the Dunantuli Naplo6 published in Pécs on 5 November 1956.
(2) Chapter V, paras. 199-203.

(3) Chapter XVI, para. 761.

(4) “R*’ from the Hungarian word riadé = alarm.

(5) Chapter X VI, paras. 762-763.

(6) Chapter XIV, para. 664.

(7) Chapter XIV, para. 665.
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Chapter XIV
POLITICAL RIGHTS AFTER THE REVOLUTION

I. Workers’ Councils

A. Relationship of the Workers’ Councils and the government

641. After the second Soviet attack on 4 November, the only political organs that remained
were the Revolutionary Councils and the Workers’ Councils. The Workers’ Councils were the
most important by virtue of the number of people they represented, the advanced state of their
organization and their economic bases in the factories. The Workers’ Councils emerged from
the Revolution as the only organizations commanding the support of the overwhelming
majority of the people and in a position to require the Government to negotiate with them,
because they constituted a force able to bring about the resumption of work. In the weeks
following Soviet suppression of the Revolution, the Councils sought to fortify their position as
masters of the factories by taking over managerial functions in relation to the organization of
production as well as the direction of work itself (1)

642. In announcing on 4 November the formation of his Government, Mr. Kadar outlined its
programme in fifteen points.

(1) The securing of our national independence and our country’s sovereignty.

(2) The protection of our people’s democratic and socialist system against all attacks. The
protection of our socialist achievements and the guaranteeing of our progress through the
building of socialism.

3) The ending of fratricidal fighting and the restoration of internal order and peace. The
Government will not tolerate the persecution of workers, on any pretext, for having taken part
in recent events.

4) The establishment of close fraternal relations with every socialist country on the basis
of complete equality and mutual non-interference. The same principle governs those of our
economic relations which are mutually advantageous as well as our mutual assistance relation-
ships.

(5)  Peaceful co-operation with every country, irrespective of its social organization and
form of state.

(6) Rapid and substantial raising of living standard of workers, particularly of the working
class. There must be more houses for the workers. Factories and enterprises must be enabled
to build apartments for their workers and employees.

(7)  Modification of the Five-Year Plan, changing of the methods of economic
management, taking into consideration the economic characteristics of the country, so as to
raise the population’s living standard as quickly as possible.

(8) Elimination of bureaucracy and broad development of democracy in the interest of the
workers.
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9) On the basis of the broadest democracy, worker-management must be put into effect in
factories, enterprises and undertakings.

(10)  The development of agricultural production, the abolition of compulsory deliveries (of
agricultural produce) and the assisting of individual farmers. The Government will firmly
revoke all acts which have in fringed the law in the field of co-operatives and the re grouping
of plots of land [commassation].

(11)  Ensuring the democratic election of existing(2) administrative bodies and revolutionary
councils.

(12)  Support for retail trade and artisans.

(13) The systematic development of Hungarian national culture in the spirit of our
progressive traditions.

(14) The Hungarian Revolutionary Worker-Peasant Government, in the interest of our
people, working class and country, requested the Command of the Soviet Army to help our
nation in smashing the sinister forces of reaction and restoring order and calm in the country.

(15) After the restoration of order and calm, the Hungarian Government will begin
negotiations with the Soviet Government and with the other participants to the Warsaw Treaty
about the withdrawal of Soviet troops from Hungary.

643. This declaration contained several points which were meant to reassure the workers.
However, the programme failed to win their confidence or to induce the Workers’ Councils to
recognize the authority of the new Government. The demands which the Councils made in the
negotiations which they undertook with the Kadar Government were based on the students’
sixteen-point revolutionary programme of 22 October.(3) The following is a summary of their
demands:

(1) The immediate withdrawal of Soviet troops from the territory of Hungary;

(i1) Free elections at a definite date under the supervision of the United Nations, with the
participation of all democratic parties, and an immediate announcement by the Government
that United Nations observers would be allowed into Hungary;

(iii)  Pending the holding of such elections, formation of a new coalition Government in
which members of the Kadar Government would not participate; the return of Mr. Nagy into
this new Government and his appointment as Minister of State;

(iv)  Immediate withdrawal from the Warsaw Treaty;
(v)  An effort to secure recognition of Hungary’s neutrality;

(vi)  Liberation of those imprisoned for participating in the fighting and assurances that they
would not be prosecuted;

(vii)  Recognition of the right to strike;
(viii) Re-examination and publication of all commercial agreements.

In addition, demands were made pertaining to the status of the Workers’ Councils, and to the
organization of armed guards in factories and the banning of Party organizing within the
factories.

644. In the weeks that followed the second Soviet intervention, Workers’ Councils from
different factories sent delegations to the Parliament Building to discuss their demands with
representatives of the Government. Despite variations, all these demands were based on the
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position outlined above. There was also tacit agreement among the Workers’ Councils that the
strike would continue until such time as the Government signified its intention to satisfy, or at
least try to satisfy, the essential demands. According to a witness, one of the first negotiations
was between Mr. Miinnich as Minister of the Armed Forces and Public Security Affairs and
representatives of the Workers’ Council of the Eleventh District of Budapest in the Parliament
Building. It was reported that a man in Soviet military uniform was in the room during the
negotiations, but did not intervene in the discussions. Agreement was reached on one point
only, namely the question of establishing a workers’ armed guard. But the next day, Mr.
Miinnich is said to have retracted even this permission by telephone. The Eleventh District
Workers’ Council therefore continued the strike. A succession of delegations from Workers’
Councils appeared at the Parliament Building. They included delegations from the Tata and
Oroszlanyvaros mines, the Central Transdanubian industrial area, the Klement Gottwald
factory, the Ganz Wagon and Engineering Works, MAVAG) Workers’ Councils from
factories in Baja, and others.

645. During the first part of November, individual Workers’ Councils discussed the possi-
bility of co-ordinating their activities by establishing an organ on a broader geographical basis,
which would be a more effective means of negotiation with the Government. At meetings
which took place on 13 and 14 November in Ujpest(s) and in which 500 delegates of Workers’
Councils participated, the Greater Budapest Workers’ Council was established, and Sandor
Récz was elected Chairman. From that time onwards, negotiations with the Government were
carried out mostly through the Executive Committee of the Greater Budapest Workers’
Council, even though representatives of particular Workers’ Councils did, in some instances,
continue to negotiate directly with the Government as, for example, the Central Workers’
Council of Csepel, the biggest industrial combine in Hungary. Much the most important
question which the Greater Budapest Workers’ Council had to consider was the resumption of
work. Delegates from individual Workers’ Councils reported that workers insisted on
continuing the strike because they considered that this was their last weapon until such time as
the Government gave them guarantees to meet their demands. At the meeting on 14 Nov-
ember, a delegation from the Greater Budapest Workers” Council was formed and requested to
go to the Parliament Building and present the demands of the workers to Mr. Kadar.

646. Important meetings occurred on 15 and 17 November between representatives of the
Greater Budapest Workers’ Council and Mr. Kadar. Several witnesses have testified before the
Committee on what happened at these meetings. At the first meeting, the Council
representatives made it clear that the Workers” Councils adhered strictly to socialism and the
social ownership of the means of production. They then put forward their demands.
Concerning Mr. Nagy, Mr. Kadar said that, as he was then on the premises of the Embassy of
a foreign State where he had asked for political asylum, there was no opportunity to confer
with him. Should Mr. Nagy decide to return to Hungarian soil, it would be possible to consult
and possibly to reach an agreement with him. In answer to the demand for the establishment of
a multi-party system and free elections, Mr. Kadar stated: “We surrender the Party’s
monopoly: we want a multi-party system and clean and honest elections. We know that this
will not be easy, because the workers’ power can be destroyed not only by bullets but also by
ballots. We must reckon with the fact that we might be thoroughly beaten at the elections, but
we undertake the election fight because the Communist Party will have the strength to gain
once more the confidence of the working masses.” He declared that if the Communists were
crowded out of Parliament, the overthrow of socialism would necessarily follow. Of the Soviet
troops, he stated that “We were compelled to ask for the intervention of Soviet troops ...we
were threatened with the immediate danger of the overthrow of the people’s power ... First,
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the counter-revolution must be broken by the people’s power consolidated with the help of
armed workers and, after that, Soviet troops will be withdrawn from Budapest and we shall
negotiate with a view to their withdrawal from Hungary.” The composition of the present
Government, Mr. Kadar stated, was not to be regarded as final; it would be broadened.
Referring to the question of neutrality, he said: “it is a highly understandable demand ... but in
vain de we demand neutrality, when the counter-revolutionary imperialists spit on our
neutrality”. Touching the Workers” Council demands bearing on Soviet-Hungarian economic
relations, Mr. Kadar assured the delegation that, in future, all trade agreements would be made
public. He said that Hungarian uranium ore was being sold to the Soviet Union at world
market prices, “but we do not possess the extremely expensive equipment needed for uranium
processing”. Mr. Kadar’s reply to the demand of the delegation that there should be no re-
establishment of Party cells in the factories was that he considered Party organization in the
factories essential.(6) However, he renewed the promise that no one would be harmed for
having taken part in the great popular movement of the last few weeks. In the course of the
meeting, Mr. Ké&dar is said to have told the delegation that the Greater Budapest Workers’
Council, for which they spoke, should prove that it truly represented the workers of Hungary
by seeing to it that work was resumed.

647. The conciliatory attitude of the Government towards a number of the workers’
demands and the realization that a successful appeal to resume work would be a show of
strength led the Greater Budapest Workers’ Council to exercise a moderating influence on the
Workers’ Councils, which agreed to resume work, but reserved the right to strike should the
Government fail to carry out its promises. The Workers’ Councils therefore agreed that the
Greater Budapest Workers’ Council should issue an appeal on 16 November asking for a
return to work at the latest at 8 a.m. on 19 November. The proclamation stated that work was
to be resumed in view of the Government’s recognition of the competence of the Workers’
Councils in the field of economic management of the factories and its earnest promise to fulfil
within the foreseeable future the revolutionary demands formulated on 23 October 1956,
including the gradual withdrawal of Soviet troops from Hungary.

648. The second meeting between delegates of the Greater Budapest Workers” Council and
Mr. Kadar took place between midnight and 4 a.m. on 17 November. Mr. Kadéar was informed
that, as a token of goodwill to the Government, the Greater Budapest Work Council had asked
the Workers’ Councils to resume work. The delegates then asked for the establishment of a
supreme national organ of Workers’ Councils to be regulated by decree-law of the Presidential
Council. Mr. Kadar replied that he did not consider the creation of such a controlling organ
necessary, as there was a workers’ Government in Hungary. He was, however, ready to
recognize the Workers’ Councils of individual factories and even to agree to the establishment
of workers’ guards in such factories. He then repeated his plea to delegates to exert their
influence for the resumption of work; if they would do so, he would use his influence to effect
the withdrawal of Russian troops from Budapest and, together with representatives of
Workers’ Councils, would start negotiations with the parties to the Warsaw Treaty about the
possibility of declaring the neutrality of Hungary. The delegation is then said to have asked Mr.
Kadar for a written statement, which they could show to the Workers’ Councils, in which the
Revolution would be declared lawful and in which it would be stated that Mr. Kadar would do
all he could to secure the withdrawal of Russian troops and the release of freedom fighters
who had been made prisoners. Mr. Kadar answered that his word should be enough.

649. The relationship between the Kadar régime and the workers took a turn for the worse
when a meeting called on 21 November by the Greater Budapest Workers’ Council to discuss
the decree-law(7) on the establishment and competence of Workers’ Councils promulgated the
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same day was forbidden and disbanded. The workers objected to certain aspects of this law,
especially to the clause which gave Ministries the right to appoint directors; this was felt to be
an invasion of their sphere of authority. Moreover, the decree failed to provide for the setting
up of Workers’ Councils in the transport and telecommunications industries and implied the
abolition of existing Workers’ Councils in those industries. In protest against the banning of
the meeting, the Greater Budapest Workers’ Council called a 48-hour strike. The situation was
aggravated by a Government decree at about the same time for the appointment of
Government commissioners to certain enterprises.(8) This measure was justified on the ground
of the “extraordinary difficulties in certain enterprises in connexion with the resumption of
work and the ensuring of its smooth continuance”. The commissioner was to decide disputes
between Workers” Councils and Ministers. New discussions therefore took place between the
Greater Budapest Workers’ Council and Mr. Kadéar on 22 and 23 November, in the course of
which Mr. Kadar promised that he would propose to the Council of Ministers that the
paragraph of the decree law concerning the appointment of directors would be changed. The
Government is understood to have stated that it recognized the Greater Budapest Workers’
Council as a consultative body, whose recommendations would be given careful examination
and consideration. On 23 November, as a result of this talk, the Greater Budapest Workers’
Council issued an appeal for a return to work, but also declared the results of the conversations
unsatisfactory, renewed its original demands and held it necessary to continue negotiations
without delay.(9)

650. Further negotiations took place on 25 November, when the issues at stake were
reviewed by the representatives of the Greater Budapest Workers’ Council and leading
members of the Government in the Parliament Building. In their demands, the representatives
of the workers continued to cling to the programme of 23 October, and they reproached the
régime for its unyielding attitude and for other unfulfiled demands, such as the inclusion of
workers in the public security forces and the organization of factory guards. They refuted
Minister Aprd’s allegation that many Workers’ Councils were not led by workers, by stating
that technicians and engineers directly engaged in production were workers; one of the
representatives declared “we shall not permit a wedge to be driven between the progressive
intelligentsia and the workers”. Concerning the right to strike, they stated that if, in principle,
this was within the competence of the trade unions, nevertheless the trade unions could not
speak for the workers, until such time as the workers had built the unions up from below. Until
then, the Workers’ Councils considered themselves to be the competent organ to decide on
matters pertaining to strikes.

651. The attitude of the Government on specific issues was expressed by several Ministers,
after which Mr. Kadar made a general statement which showed a reversal of his previous
declarations. For the first time, Mr. Kadar stated flatly that the Nagy Government had been a
camouflage for counter-revolutionaries;(10) only when the People’s Democratic State had been
strengthened, order restored and life normalized, and when the last vestiges of the counter-
revolution had disappeared, would the Government start negotiations with the Soviet Govern-
ment on the question of withdrawal of Soviet troops. Then and then only would the Govern-
ment be enlarged to include non-members of the Party. Mr. Kadar justified the abduction of
Mr. Nagy on the ground that had he been allowed to return home, counter-revolutionary
elements might have murdered him and placed the blame on the Government in order to create
unrest in the country. The first task of the Government was to crush what remained of the
counter revolution; Mr. Kadar considered that inciting to strike was a counter-revolutionary
act. The following day, even stronger words were used; referring to those responsible for the
strikes, he added that “a tiger cannot be tamed by baits, it can be tamed and forced to peace
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only by beating it to death. ... Every worker, instead of drawing up and scribbling demands,
must immediately and unconditionally begin to work to the best of his ability.”(11)

652. Meanwhile, tension increased; the Revolutionary Councils were abolished(12) and there
were clashes between factory workers on one side and Russian forces and the militia on the
other, and on 6 December, the chairmen of the Workers’ Councils of the Ganz and MAVAG
factories were arrested.(13) In a proclamation of the same day, the Greater Budapest Workers’
Council warned the Government that the policy of arresting workers’ leaders would lead to a
general strike, fresh bloodshed and a new national tragedy. “The Government does not build its
power on the Workers’ Councils, in spite of the promises by Comrade Kadar. Leaders and
members of Workers’ Councils are being arrested, ... dragged from their homes during the
night without investigation or hearing, ... peaceful meetings of Workers’ Councils are
interrupted or prevented by armed forces.” A reply to the proclamation was demanded by 8
p.m. on 7 December. As no answer to their proclamation was received, on 9 December the
Greater Budapest Workers’ Council called a 48-hour strike to take place on 11 and 12
December “in protest against the repression of workers and their chosen representatives”. The
Government thereupon declared illegal both the Greater Budapest Workers’ Council and all
Workers’ Councils above the factory level and issued a decree abolishing them. At the same
time, a series of decrees was issued: one required all factory guards to inform the competent
police authorities of any arms they might have in their possession or be subject to summary
jurisdiction.(14) It made the specific crimes of murder, homicide, robbery, looting, arson and
concealing of weapons punishable before courts of summary justice empowered to pass death
sentences.(15) On 11 December, the Chairman of the Greater Budapest Workers’ Council,
Sandor Racz, and its executive secretary, Sandor Bali, were arrested. In the following days,
further arrests of workers’ leaders were made, and further decrees were issued banning
meetings without police permission(16) and authorizing detention by the police for a period of
six months of those endangering public order, in particular those hindering the resumption of
work.(17)

653. On the whole, the Greater Budapest Workers’ Council appears to have been more
willing to conciliate Mr. Kadar than the rank and file of the workers. In November, as a token
of good faith, the Council called for a return to work, at a time when many workers wanted to
remain, and did remain, on strike because their demands were not met. In December, the
Council seemed rather disposed to compromise, and it appears that it was Mr. Kadar’s
intransigence or, rather, as the Council put it, his powerlessness, that finally drove the Greater
Budapest Workers’ Council to call a strike.(18) With the dissolution of this Council, the
Workers’ Councils lost much of their power as a political institution, and it became clear that
their functions were to be restricted to certain limited internal problems of individual
enterprises.

654. Some negotiations were still taking place towards the end of December between
representatives of Workers’ Councils and the Government. Delegations from mining centres
came to see Mr. Kadar and expressed their willingness to resume production gradually, should
the Government accede to their demands on the 27", Mr. Kadar also received representatives
of the Central Workers’ Council of Csepel, who had wanted to see him for some time. On this
occasion, according to testimony, there was considerable tension between Mr. Kadar and the
workers. The delegates protested against the fact that former AVH members were being
recruited into the militia, as well as into the workers’ factory guard. Mr. Kadar is said to have
answered: “What do you think? Do you really think that we will reinforce the militia with
fascists? These people are all victims of the counter-revolution and are supporting the
Government. It is clear that it is on them that we rely.” To the workers’ request that they be
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allowed to have a newspaper in the factory, Mr. Kéadar is said to have answered: “Everyone
wants to have permission to start newspapers. I can tell you what the headline of your front
page will be: ‘The Heroic October Revolution of the Hungarian People’. We have already had
great experience in that line, and it is for this reason that we banned all the other newspapers,
because they contained such provocative articles.” The delegation left the Parliament Building
outraged.

655. In an interview over Radio Budapest on 28 December, the Chairman of the Workers’
Council of Csepel further described the causes of dissatisfaction. In spite of the official
assignment of certain functions to Workers’ Councils, the former system of management was
renewed. “The Ministries are exerting their tutelage over us, just as they did before; moreover,
they would not let us even remove from the factory certain leading officials whom we wish to
replace by experts. On what socialist principles do you imagine the country’s future is to be
built?”

656. On 5 January 1957, a declaration on “Major Tasks” was made by Mr. Kadar, which
throws some light on the attitude of the Government towards the political issues for which the
Workers’ Councils had fought so hard. The declaration reviewed the situation in Hungary from
4 November and, after stating that “the treachery of Imre Nagy had opened the road to counter
revolution”, declared that the task of the Hungarian Worker-Peasant Government was to crush
it. This had been effected with the assistance of the Soviet Army, which came in “at the request
of the Government on the basis of contractual obligations”. No mention was made of
negotiations for their withdrawal. It was declared that the purpose of the Government was the
furtherance of “the proletarian dictatorship”; political activity, therefore, was to be confined to
Communists and to persons who, although not belonging to the Party, accepted its policy and
direction. The leading forces in Hungary were the Hungarian Socialist Workers’ (Communist)
Party and the People’s Patriotic Front which “unites all democratic forces and is guided by the
Party”. The Government’s aim was to ensure freedom and democracy for workers, peasants
and the intelligentsia loyal to the people. However, elements opposing the Government’s aims
would not share in these freedoms; “their lot will always be the severest punishment the law
can decree”. The establishment of Workers’ Councils was held up as one of the achievements
of the régime. Their scope, however, was redefined and, contrary to the often reiterated wishes
of the Workers’ Councils, it was stated that the directors of enterprises were to be appointed
by the State and to be personally responsible for the economic management of the factories.
The director was bound “to prevent and refuse to implement any Workers’ Council resolution
which clashes with a law or a decree, should such a resolution be passed”. Workers’ Councils
should lend a helping hand in the socialist State leadership and industry. Together with
Government authorities and trade unions, they were “to elaborate the wage and bonus system
... and see that workers adhere strictly to Government resolutions”.(19)

657. The uncompromising tone of the statement, the failure of the Government to abide by
its promises, the belief that the Government did not seek co-operation with them but rather
wanted to whittle away their powers, the increased police and Party activities, prompted a
number of Workers’ Councils to resign. In “Red” Csepel, where two former directors had been
reinstated over the protests of the workers, there was a mood of discouragement, and the
workers, whose attitude had been branded over and over again as “counter-revolutionary”,
greeted each other ironically as “Baron” and “Count”. On 8 January, the Central Workers’
Council of Csepel, which had been elected in mid-November and was composed of fifty-eight
members, forty of whom were labourers, resigned and issued the following proclamation:
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“It was the hallowed events of the 23 October Revolution of the Hungarian people that
brought us into being so that we could build an independent, free and democratic Hungary, and
establish the basis for a way of life free from fear.

“The events that have taken place in the meantime, however, prove that we are unable, in
present circumstances, to fulfil our mandate. We have no other role but to carry out orders of
the Government. We cannot, however, carry out orders that are against our convictions and
we cannot sit by passively when members of Workers’ Councils are being arrested and
harassed without any reason and when the entire work of the Workers’ Council is, in fact,
branded as ‘counter revolutionary’. We have finally come to the conclusion that we cannot
realize the wishes of the workers and, regardless of our personal fate, we are unanimously
resigning our Workers’ Council mandate.

“Our decision does not mean that we are trying to evade responsibility, but it is our opinion
that since we are not in a position, in the present situation, to fulfil the wishes of the workers,
we should not mislead our comrades by our existence. For this reason, we are returning our
mandate to the workers.”

658.  With the removal of the Workers’ Council buffer between the régime and the workers,
labour troubles flared up even more violently. In Csepel, for instance, a demonstration was
organized on 11 January to protest against the confirmation of the Government commissioner
and the director in their positions. The militia tried to stop demonstrators from entering the
administration building. The militia was reinforced, Soviet troops surrounded the factory and,
after three hours’ fight the crowd was forced to scatter. The disorders at Csepel were such
that, on 12 January, the Government issued an order forbidding newsmen to visit the island.

659. It was announced on 13 January that, in view of the strikes and disorders, the existing
powers of summary jurisdiction had proved “inadequate” and that “expedited procedure had
now been introduced”.(20) The decree enlarged the power of courts of summary justice and
made the death penalty applicable to the crime of “causing wilful damage to factories of public
interest” or of “intentionally disturbing the functioning of such factories by inciting others or
calling upon others to strike”. Persons accused of such crimes could be charged orally, no bill
of indictment being necessary.(21)

660. In the meantime, a new set of rules is said to have been issued to cover the activities of
Workers’ Councils. They stated that activities of the Workers’ Councils had to be directed so
that the enterprises might achieve as great economic results as possible; workers of enterprises
working economically were to receive a share, amounting to half a week’s wages. However, if
an enterprise was working uneconomically, the workers concerned were not to get their full
wages. In these cases, the State guarantees only 75 per cent of their full wage. In case of
bankruptcy of an enterprise, all decisions as to its future belonged to the Ministries. Complaints
were again voiced concerning the Government’s refusal of permission to organize Workers’
Councils in railway and postal communication enterprises and in internal trade. Mr. Kadar
declared in a statement to the Trade Union Council at the end of January that he considered
the demand for establishment of Workers’ Councils in the Hungarian State Railway as
prompted more by military considerations than by a desire to obtain representation of the
interests of the workers.

661. During February, the membership of the remaining Workers’ Councils seems to have
changed sufficiently for the Government to issue decrees on the use of workers in the militia
and the authorizing of armed factory guards. There was more and more talk about returning to
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the piece-rate system and output norms; the Minister of Finance, Mr. Kossa, described pay by
the hour as “wage demagogy”.

662. At the meetings of the National Assembly on 10 and 11 May, Mr. Kadar summarized
the situation in Hungary. He made no reference to the role of the Workers’ Councils, but he
did make certain remarks recognizing the dissatisfaction of the workers. In this connexion, he
called for a closer relationship between the masses and the leadership. He went on to make the
following statement:

“In my opinion, the task of the leaders is not to put into effect the wishes and will of the
masses ... In my opinion, the leaders’ task is to realize the interest of the masses ... In the
recent past, we have encountered the phenomenon that certain categories of workers acted
against their own interests and, in this case, the duty of the leader is to represent the interest of
the masses and not to implement mechanically their incorrect ideas. If the wish of the masses
does not coincide with progress, then one must lead the masses in another direction.”(22)

B. The role of the Communist Party in the Workers’ Councils

663. The dissolution of Party cells was one of the first acts of the Workers’ Councils during
the Revolution, and the workers were anxious to receive assurances from the Government that
no Party organization whatsoever would again be authorized in factories. However, official
declarations on this subject from 4 November onward were uniformly opposed to this demand.
“To call for the abolition of Party organs within the factories”, Mr. Kadar declared at his first
meeting with representatives of the Greater Budapest Workers’ Council, “is clearly a counter-
revolutionary objective ... There is no Communist Party in the world without its factory
organization ... The Communist Party cannot give up its organization within the factories,
even if some misguided workers are now clamouring for it.”

664. During November, a campaign was launched to reactivate the Party movement.(23) At a
meeting of the activists of the Communist Party which took place on 27 November, Karoly
Kiss, member of the provisional executive committee of the Hungarian Socialist Workers’
(Communist) Party announced that the formation of Party cells in the factories was part of the
plan, as was “the winning over of the working classes, the elimination of confusion of ideas,
the combating of still strong nationalism and the strengthening of the armed forces”. He
stressed the importance of the Press and radio as a means “to win over the passive layers, and
first and foremost the workers”. In the first resolution passed by the Socialist Workers’
(Communist) Party on 8 December, it was stated that Workers’ Councils were “to be taken
over by the Communists and cleansed of unsuitable demagogues”.

665. In the meantime, Communist infiltration into the factories had begun and Party organi-
zations, often with the help of the militia, were able to secure office space in the factories.
When the Csepel Workers” Council delegates raised the question at their meeting with Mr.
Kadar on 27 December, he answered: “You will see, the time will come when the workers
themselves will demand that the Hungarian Socialist Workers’ Party should function within the
factory”. Official sources admitted, however, that workers were opposed to the setting up of
Party organizations within factories. For example, at the end of December, the Hungarian
Telegraph Agency reported that Communist activists had met at the Lenin Metallurgical Works
“to inform workers that the Socialist Workers® Party will begin its activities in the factory”.
Many workers opposed the formation of a Party organization in the factory, but the
Communists and workers who supported the Party pronounced themselves in favour of it.
According to the same source, the total Party membership in Hungary towards the end of
December amounted to 103,000 out of a population of little less than 10 million. Membership
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was particularly low in the working-class areas of Budapest. There were only 500 Party
members in the Csepel Iron Works; total membership in Budapest was 21,000.

666. A tone of greater urgency was evident in the official statements in the first months of
1957. In the declaration speech on “Major Tasks” of 5 January, Mr. Ké&dar stated that the
Government “regards the party of the Hungarian working class, namely the Hungarian
Socialist Workers’ Party and the People’s Patriotic Front, as the leading forces in the country”.
In another speech at the end of the month, Mr. Kadar expressed the opinion that the
functioning of the Workers” Councils could be really useful and fruitful only if they were
guided by the Communist Party, the party of the working class. More and more Workers’
Councils found themselves, therefore, in a position where they had to negotiate on all major
issues with the delegates of the factory Party cell; witnesses reported such negotiations in
Csepel, and in Dunapentele, where a joint statement by the Party Branch Chairman and the
Workers’ Council Chairman asserted that “the Workers’ Council needs the Party’s help and
will co-operate in plans of a social character calculated to permit the building of socialism”.

667. Although Party cells were established by force, workers could not be compelled to co-
operate with them and, at the beginning of the year, Communists remained isolated. On 24
January, the Hungarian Press reported that “there was no proper contact” between Party
officials and the workers, whereas “there should be friendly and fraternal relations between the
worker and his brother, the Party organizer”. Even offers to protect worker Party members
against dismissal did little to attract members. In a speech in the first part of February, Mr. Kiss
acknowledged the existence of difficulties in organizing Party cells in factories. He said that “in
coal mines, the strength of the Party organizations is growing, parallel with the output
achievements. As for the large factories, the consolidation of Party organizations in these
enterprises is hampered by the continued internal confusion in many places ... Though it is not
the case today, Party organizations in the large factories will again be our strongest organiza-
tions.”

668. One witness testified that although in some factories where the Workers’ Council had
not carried out Government or Party instructions, the Government had intervened directly and
dissolved the whole Council; in most cases, “the Workers’ Councils have not been stopped, but
their form, their activities and their personnel have been changed and they are carrying out
work which is completely foreign to the purposes for which they were established; whereas in
former times, workers discussed whom they wanted to elect openly and from every angle,
nowadays the only question that is raised about candidates to the Workers’ Councils is
whether or not they are in conformity with the system.” As the Communist Party grew
stronger, in each factory it dominated the elections to the Workers’ Councils. “A Party
member asked to be recognized and proceeded to make derogatory statements about the
nominees of the other workers: ‘one was a counter-revolutionary, a second was a murderer, a
third had left the country, a fourth had committed some other misdeed, therefore they are not
worthy of representing the workers. However, we, the Party, recommend this able man here,
that worthy man there, and so on, who are all reliable Party men and will represent the workers
satisfactorily’. Then he would add ‘Of course, you are in full agreement, Comrades, with their
election? Say ‘yes’ or ‘no’!” When reporting this mode of election to the Committee, the
witness added “I should like to ask the Committee whether they think that, under the form of
government that exists in the country presently, there would be a worker who would say ‘I do
not like this’. He has to earn his living because of his family, he wants to sleep peacefully at
night without being woken up by the police, he has to work next day, so he cannot but agree.”
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669. By the end of April, the campaign to entrench the Party cells within the factories was
well under way. On 20 April, an article in Népszabadsag, entitled “Communist Leadership for
the Workers’ Councils”, referred to heated discussions in factories about Workers’ Councils.
“Let us speak frankly, is there a need for the very existence of Workers’ Councils?”” The article
stated that it was not surprising that the need for the existence of these Councils should be
questioned as the Workers’ Councils were born during the counter-revolution and bore the
marks of their origin for a long time in their objectives and activities.(24) “It is now our task to
instill a socialist substance into them. Of late, process of purification has been speeded up in
the Workers” Councils. Workers themselves are beginning to demand the removal of class,
alien and other demagogic elements. Speaking on their behalf ... the events of recent months
show convincingly that the Workers’ Councils cannot function without Communist leadership.
In a dictatorship of the proletariat, the working class cannot have an organization independent
of the Party. It has been proved that, whenever they tried to represent the workers’ interests by
opposing the Party or by emphasising their independence from it, they actually harmed the
people. Let us remember in this connexion the counter revolutionary strikes, which did severe
damage. The Communist activists in the Workers’ Council will be the ones who will have to
carry out the policy of the Government.”

670. “The Party must organize, unite and lead the people,” said Mr. Kédar in his speech to
the National Assembly on 11 May. Nevertheless, an article in Népszabadsag of 4 May
complains that, even at that date, Communists were working under a handicap in certain
factories and were not promoted because of discrimination against Party members. The
complaint was also made that many Communists removed from their posts by the counter-
revolution had not yet been reinstated. Justice demanded that the Communist leaders and the
leaders who, even though not Communist, were faithful to the People’s Republic, should be
reinstated, and those who sympathized with or did not fight against the counter-revolutionaries
should not be allowed to remain in their positions.

C. Workers’ Councils and trade unions

671. After 4 November, the former Praesidium of the National Council of Trade Unions
resumed its functions; Sandor Géspar remained the Secretary-General, but the organization
maintained the name National Council of Free Trade Unions, acquired during the
Revolution.(25) Some independence of spirit persisted; in a speech from which extracts
appeared in the British Communist Daily Worker of 15 November 1956, Mr. Géspar stated
that it was “unthinkable that any one political party should in the future take over alone the
government of the country”, and added that representatives of other parties and men belonging
to no political party should be given responsible posts. Adopting certain principles laid down
by the provisional organizing Committee, he declared: “We are for the freedom of the trade
unions and their independence from the Government and political parties.” Nevertheless, he
advised the workers to trust the Kadar Government and called upon them to stop the general
strike. Similar declarations in favour of non-interference by the State were made by the
individual trade unions, such as the Teachers’ Trade Union, the Hungarian Telegraph Agency
Trade Union, the local industry of music workers and of trade and finance workers.

672.  On 24 November, the trade union daily, Népakarat, published an article entitled “The
Workers’ Councils, the Workers’ Democracies and the Right to Strike”, in which it criticized
the decree of the Workers” Councils promulgated by the Kadar régime on the 21%, and sided
with the Workers’ Councils on the question of the appointment and removal of factory
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directors. The article even reproached the Government that it had not published the Workers’
Councils’ proposal, which differed on several points from the decree and which, in some
respects, was substantially broader. The disagreement of the trade unions with the
Government’s social programme was further pointed out in the same article, which stated the
principle that should guide trade unions regarding the right to strike. “Ever since the idea of
strikes has been in existence - whenever and in what ever country in the world - it has been
connected with the trade unions. That applies even to instances where the strike has been used
as a political factor. We want the workers, through the Workers’ Councils, to be masters of
the enterprises in actual practice. We want them to be better, more careful and more competent
managers than the capitalists were in their time. The world, however, has never seen a master
who has ensured the right to strike - whether a capitalist master or any other kind. However, it
is important that the master, the owner of the enterprise, even if it be the workers themselves,
be controlled by an organ whose primary task is to protect the workers’ interests. This is the
mission of the trade union.”

673. In view of the foregoing, the Trade Union Council showed an astonishing pliancy in the
joint statement issued with the World Federation of Trade Unions delegation which visited
Budapest between 23 and 26 November. This declared that, following a study of various
aspects of the Hungarian trade union movement and the recent events in Hungary, both
delegations had arrived at the conclusion that “certain reactionary and fascist elements, taking
advantage of the discontent of the workers and of youth ... sought to achieve their counter-
revolutionary aims”. By the end of the month, a proposal was made in the trade union organ,
Népakarat, that “trade unions should be the sole representatives of the workers’ interests in
their dealings with the Government”.

674. By the time the Workers’ Councils’ representatives of Csepel resigned in January, the
Trade Union Council was critical of Workers” Councils, which it charged with having “heeded
the provocative voice of alien elements who have infiltrated into these Workers’ Councils”.
They condemned the Csepel Council resignation as a provocative step. At the end of January,
at a three-day meeting, the Trade Union Council officially revoked the withdrawal from the
World Federation of Trade Unions and other measures taken during the Revolution. The
communiqués issued made it clear that the status of the trade union organization was to be
superior to that of the factory Workers’ Councils. A resolution on current problems and tasks
adopted by the Provisional Central Committee of the Hungarian Socialist Workers’ Party on
26 February 1957 made the official attitude towards trade unions clear. “We have rejected the
reactionary demands that the trade unions should be ‘independent’ from both the Party and the
Worker-Peasant Government and for the right to strike in defiance of the workers’ State.”(26)

675. In the past few months, new trade union statutes have been drafted. At the meeting of
the Hungarian National Assembly on 11 May, Sandor Gaspar, the Secretary-General of the
National Council of Free Trade Unions, came out strongly against the counter-revolution of
October, and added that the previous half-year had shown that the trade unions were able to
maintain their unity and withstand the attacks of the counter revolution. He supported the
reintroduction of the workers’ competitions, the norm system and piece-rates. He also stated
that the Praesidium of the Trade Unions would submit proposals for the improvement of
workers’ competitions and would propose the reintroduction of the title of Stakhanovite
worker. These efforts to conciliate the Government won from Mr. Kadar in his answering
speech, only a reproach against the trade unions for their lack of adequate contact with the
workers.(27)
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I1. Post-revolutionary status of political organizations

A. Negotiations with political parties

676. Parallel with the negotiations between the Workers’ Councils and the Kéadar régime
were the political dealings between Mr. Kadar and the leaders of the three principal non-
Communist parties. Evidence on these negotiations is much less abundant and less direct. The
Committee is, therefore, unable to set forth exactly the course of their dealings. Its in
formation is principally derived from the public statements of the parties to the negotiations.
There were some noteworthy differences between Workers’ Council dealings with the
Government and the transactions of the régime with the political parties. The Workers’
Councils had, in the stoppage of work, an instrument of pressure which gave the Kadar régime
much concern. Although the Workers’ Councils put forward a comprehensive political
programme, their pressure on the Government was effective principally to obtain temporary
recognition of their own position in the factories. The political parties had no such lever to
employ in seeking to move the Government to accept them. The régime therefore seems to
have found it easier to put off the representatives of parties with vague declarations. Finally, it
should be noted that, while there was a fairly complete coincidence of political views between
the Workers’ Councils and the party leaders, they appear to have had little organizational
connexion. The Government could therefore negotiate with each separately. The following
paragraphs contain a review of the principal facts concerning negotiations with party leaders,
and of the eventual disappointment of the hopes which they had entertained for compromise
with the régime.

677. For a brief interval, after the military phase of the suppression of the Revolution was
substantially completed, there appear to have been political dealings between Mr. Kadar and
the leaders of the three principal non-Communist parties. These concerned the possibility of
what was called by some “a broadening of the Government” and by others a “coalition
Government”. Evidence concerning the details of these negotiations is incomplete and does not
enable the Committee to set forth exactly the course of events or the reasons for the
disappointment of hopes which were entertained for compromise.

678. Witnesses have reported that, immediately upon his return to the Parliament Building as
head of the Hungarian Worker-Peasant Government on or about 6 November, Mr. Kadar
started negotiations with representatives of the Independent Smallholders’ Party, the Social
Democratic Party and with other personalities, with a view to forming a coalition Government.
These negotiations were unsuccessful.(28)

679. During the discussions between Mr. Kadar and the representatives of the Greater
Budapest Workers’ Council on 15 November, Mr. Kadar said that while a multi-party régime
and free and honest elections might be desirable, one should bear in mind that “not only by
bullets, but also by the ballots” can workers’ powers be destroyed. He also said that one must
guard against a situation where the Communists would be crowded out of Parliament, as this
would necessarily “lead to the overthrow of socialism and the people’s power”. However, Mr.
Kadar conceded that the composition of the Government was not final and should be
broadened, and declared himself willing to start negotiations with Mr. Nagy, should the latter
consent to leave the Yugoslav Embassy. This stand encouraged hopes for an eventual inclusion
of non-Communists in the Government.

680. It has also been reported by witnesses that Mr. Kadar again discussed the possible
formation of a coalition Government in the second part of November, and expressed the
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conviction that his original view had been correct and pointed to the only possibility of
solution. These ideas and hopes were again disappointed by the opposition of Soviet officials,
both civil and military, among them - according to one witness - the Soviet Commander-in-
Chief, Marshal Koniev, who came to Budapest at this time. Following the visit of the Soviet
officials, the attitude of Mr. Kédar towards the formation of a coalition Government changed.
His statement on 26 November still contained allusions to the possible broadening of the
Government, if not to include representatives of other parties, at least to include non-
Communists who “recognized the socialist order and were prepared to work for the defence of
the socialist achievements and the building of socialism™.(29) A broadcast statement on 1
December by Mr. Dobi, Chairman of the Praesidium, still moved within this order of ideas in
its declaration that “We will build socialism in our specific Hungarian way according ... to our
national traditions”, and that the Government would be enlarged by giving place to the leaders
of the former democratic parties who agreed with the principles of socialism.

681. In a memorandum of 8 December, the non-Communist parties and other organizations
outlined a ten-point programme and conditions for their participation in a Government.(30) This
memorandum showed how far the non-Communist parties were willing to go “to defend the
socialist achievements” on which Mr. Kéadar insisted as a condition of participation in his
Government. The memorandum declared their objective to be “to protect the freedom and
independence of the country, ensure the results obtained by socialism to date, consolidate and
institutionalize the democratic achievements of the Revolution (among them, the Workers’
Councils and their autonomy, the right to strike, freedom of the farmers’ way of life, abolition
of crop deliveries) and, finally, to put an end to the one-party system”. The memorandum
recognized that the Communist Party must play an important role. It asserted that “the
Hungarian Communist Party, based on a democratic socialism, was necessary for the political
life of the country, as the Revolution had proved that the great masses of Hungarian
Communists agreed to the principles mentioned above”.

682.  Among the basic principles stated in the memorandum were the following:

(a) The social and economic order was to rest on public ownership of the means of
production; mines, factories, banks and other enterprises owned or con trolled by the State on
23 October 1956 should remain so.

(b) Land was to be distributed on the basis of the land reform of 1945, private ownership
of land being limited to what a family could cultivate without help. Peasants and small
industries were to be permitted to join co-operatives on a voluntary basis; a limited freedom of
private enterprise was to be recognized; the trade unions were to be free and independent;
State employees were to be guaranteed the right to participate in the management of State
enterprises through the Workers’ Councils; and the death penalty was to be abolished. Political
parties seeking the overthrow of the existing political, social and economic order should not be
allowed to function.

(c) As an immediate step, formation of a Provisional National Governing Council of seven
representing the democratic political parties to exercise the principal functions of Government
was recommended. The memorandum called for enactment of a new electoral law under which
national elections to Parliament should take place in the autumn of 1957.

683. The principles enunciated in the memorandum concerning the bearing of Soviet-
Hungarian relations on co-operation between the parties were the following: It was necessary
to win the confidence and support of the Government of the Soviet Union, for which Hungary
felt true friendship. Many of the existing difficulties arose from misinformation concerning the
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character and purposes of the Hungarian Revolution given by former Hungarian leaders to the
leaders of the Soviet Union. The latter thus did not realize that the Revolutionary forces were
unanimously on the side of socialism and stood ready to protect the achievements of socialism
against reactionary attack. This misunderstanding was the reason for the decision not to initiate
negotiations for the withdrawal of Soviet troops until after the complete restoration of internal
order. However, it was precisely the presence of Soviet troops that prevented the consoli-
dation of order and the resumption of production. It was proposed in the memorandum that
the Soviet Government authorize its publication, together with a statement of the Soviet
Union’s willingness to negotiate with the proposed provisional Hungarian Government on a
number of problems including the Warsaw Treaty, the modalities and time-table for the
withdrawal of Soviet troops, the return to Hungarian jurisdiction of Hungarian citizens held by
the Soviet authorities and finally, establishment of Hungarian-Soviet economic relations on the
lines of those between Poland and the USSR. On this basis, the democratic parties and
organizations and the Government could achieve a return to order without external help.
Hungary was ready to give far-reaching legal guarantees against use of her territory as a base
by countries or forces antagonistic to the Soviet Union, and against the stationing of foreign
armed units of any kind in Hungary. The manufacture of fissionable materials for military
purposes would also be forbidden.(31)

684.  On the same day, 8 December, it was reported that the Hungarian Socialist Workers’
(Communist) Party had adopted a resolution making it clear that it had no intention of sharing
power with any other party and reaffirming the merger of the Communist and Social
Democratic parties in 1948 as a basis of present policy.

685. During December, it still appeared, to outside observers, that a coalition Government
might be possible. Western news services repeatedly reported the imminent inclusion of non-
Communists in the Government and negotiations between Mr. Kédar and representatives of
Imre Nagy. Members of the Independent Smallholders’ Party were reported to be active, and
there were rumours of change in the leadership of the Government, which were not denied.
Hope was expressed that the programme of major tasks to be published by the Government
early in January would include at least some of the principles in the memorandum of the
democratic parties, and that their representatives would be included in the governmental
committees to draw up programmes for individual sectors of the country’s life.

686. The Government statement of 5 January on major tasks facing the country did not rule
out the possibility of a governmental change. It stated that the Government proposed to start
negotiations to admit to a share in the direction of affairs various prominent persons with or
without party connexions, who were willing to support the Government’s policy of “furthering
proletarian dictatorship”. These political conditions in effect limited the field to Communists
and persons who, though not members of the Communist Party, accepted its policy and
direction. The statement caused disappointment to those who had hoped that a coalition
Government was imminent.

687. Since the beginning of this year, the non-Communist political organizations have in
effect been excluded from any role in public life. Speaking of the Social Democratic Party,
Minister Marosén, a former Social Democrat, said in a speech in Koml6 on 5 January that the
working-class “has and will have only one Party. To ask for the reorganization of the Social
Democratic Party today is a hostile act, because it would divide the working-class”. On 15
January, he repeated this idea, saying that “the Party will never allow disruption of the unity of
the working-class by allowing political competition”. This statement by Mr. Marosdn came
within twenty-four hours of the news that Béla Kovacs, leader of the Independent
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Smallholders’ Party, had decided to retire from politics because of ill health. The third party,
with which Mr. Kédar negotiated, the Pet6fi Party, had virtually dissolved itself.

688. In spite of this, in a speech made at Ujpest on 9 February, Mr. Kadar stated that
negotiations would be initiated with the Independent Smallholders’ and the Pet6fi Party at an
unspecified future date, in order to broaden the present Government. The Social Democratic
Party, however, would be “liquidated”, Mr. Kadar repeated, because it was illegal and because
there was no need for such a party in Hungary.

689. The National Assembly at the beginning of May approved an amendment to the
Constitution prolonging the mandate of the National Assembly, which was to expire on 17
May, by two years. In support of this postponement of elections for two years, it was asserted
that elections would hamper the rallying of forces for the task of reconstruction. “At this time
we must not do anything which would take our attention away from the much more important
tasks before us.” It was denied that the leaders of the Government feared that the Communist
Party might lose an election. The best interests of the people, it was asserted, would not be
served by elections. Time to draft the necessary electoral law had also not been available
because of the events of the Revolution, it was said.

690. Several facts emerge from the foregoing account. No coalition Government has been
established nor have non-Communist personalities of standing been included in the Kadar
Government. Mr. Kadar’s policy in the matter of collaboration with those outside the
Hungarian Socialist Workers’ (Communist) Party appears to have been decisively influenced, if
it was not directed, by Soviet military and civil authorities. The chief condition put by him for
their participation in his Government, namely, the defence of post-war socialist achievements,
was expressly accepted by the non-Communist parties. It appears that the fact which more than
any other disqualified the non-Communists as collaborators in the Kadar Government was their
insistence on the restoration of Hungarian national independence and on the withdrawal of
Soviet troops as the necessary objective conditions for a restoration of order within the
country. That those urging such a programme should now be dubbed counter-revolutio-
naries(32) is a measure of Soviet determination of the policies of the Kadar Government. It
appears not unreasonable to hazard the suggestion that the repeated Communist hints of
coalition and collaboration reflected no intention to broaden the foundation of Government.
The necessities of Mr. Kadar’s own situation in November, the lack of support when he sought
to seize the reins of Government, a lack with which he reproached his colleagues in the
National Assembly on 11 May of this year, required him to propitiate those whom the people
supported, until he should have sufficient organizational strength of his own to demand a
transfer of allegiance to his own régime.

D. The fate of other organizations and the press

1. Revolutionary Councils

691. In the days following 4 November, the Kadar Government had dealings with the
territorial Revolutionary Councils. Witnesses have reported that, on several occasions,
members of Mr. Kadar’s staff telephoned the territorial Councils to ask them to lay down their
arms, rid themselves of ‘“counter-revolutionaries” and co-operate with the Government.
Witnesses have also described how the Revolutionary Councils of given localities were treated;
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when the Soviet troops took over the locality, the Soviet Military Commander, accompanied
by members of the AVH, would call on the Revolutionary Council and ask them to continue
their work. The following day, former Hungarian Communist leaders would arrive and give
orders, disregarding the fact that the Chairman and members of the Revolutionary Council
were present. Arrests of members of the Council, mostly at night, followed. The Revolutionary
Committees and Councils were dissolved by a decree of 8 December.(33)

692. Long before the dissolution decree, the territorial Revolutionary Councils had lost
much of their importance and the burden of negotiating with the Government on behalf of the
Hungarian people fell on other Councils.(34) In the days following the Revolution, workers and
peasants alike once more found spokesmen in the Writers’ Union to whom they took their
grievances, and whose members were in close touch with the Workers’ Councils, attended
their meetings and advised them on the position to be adopted in negotiations with the
Government. The sympathy of the Writers’ Union with the cause of the workers was well
expressed in an open letter addressed to the Greater Budapest Workers’ Council in which they
wrote: “We, the Hungarian writers, can think only in Hungarian, we can write only in
Hungarian, and our fate is, therefore, tied to the Hungarian people. Without Hungarian
workers, without Hungarian peasants, there can be no Hungarian literature.” Accordingly, the
Presidential Council of the Writers’ Union extended its role to cover questions touching the
Hungarian people as a whole, rather than problems peculiar to the practice of their own
profession.

693. On 12 November, the organizations composing the Revolutionary Committee of
Hungarian Intellectuals, which had ceased to function on 4 November,(35) issued a joint appeal
“to the Hungarian intellectuals and the people of the country”. They declared that until such
time as the Hungarian people were given the opportunity of expressing their will by peaceful
means, the writers, artists, scientists and intellectuals would make no demands for themselves.
Acting as spokesmen for the people as a whole, they outlined a six-point programme for
Hungary based on the achievements of the Revolution. The points pertained to the
independence of Hungary, including withdrawal of Soviet troops, fulfilment by Hungary of all
her obligations as a Member of the United Nations, re-organization of the social and economic
order of Hungary on a basis of democratic socialism, and guarantees that the former régime
would not be re-established and that lawful justice would prevail. It was expressly stated that
the organizations would co-operate not only with the political parties but, in the first place,
with the workers, peasants and youth, and with their organizations.

694. On the initiative of the Writers’ Union, the Revolutionary Committee of the
Intellectuals was formally re-established as Revolutionary Council of Hungarian Intellectuals
on 21 November under the chairmanship of the composer Zoltan Kodaly. The appeal issued by
the Hungarian Writers’ Union in this connexion read as follows: “The most sacred right of
literature and arts which has been achieved in the Revolution is freedom and the right to tell
the truth. We shall protect this right and, led by a sense of responsibility towards our people,
we will avail ourselves of it and will take part in the future in press work, including the radio,
only if its guiding principle is truthfulness and the service of the people. We shall submit this
resolution to those organizations of the intelligentsia which signed the joint declaration of 12
November and we will call on them to join us.”

695. Representatives of the Revolutionary Council of Hungarian Intellectuals held
discussions with the Government about the general situation in Hungary the following day and,
on 24 November, issued a new manifesto signed by 110 leading personalities in the cultural life
of Hungary, who associated themselves with the “heroes who are pursuing the battle for the
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freedom of Hungary. We accept all the consequences that our acts or our words may bring
upon us: prison, deportation and, if necessary, death”. They protested against deportations, re-
affirming that they did not seek a restoration of the old social order and would not tolerate a
counter-revolution. In conclusion they stated: “Conscious of the truth of our ideals, we appeal
to the writers, artists and scientists of the Soviet Union and of the entire world.”

696. After the dissolution of this organization, the Writers’ Union still carried on. On 12
December, a protest was made against the arrest of several writers and journalists, among them
Gyula Obersovszky, who during the uprising had edited the newspaper Igazsag. In a closed
session on 28 December, the Writers’ Union, by a vote of 150 to 8, condemned the Soviet
intervention in Hungary as “a historic mistake”. On that occasion, it was noted that a number
of writers were still in prison. The Minister of the Interior answered this appeal in the
Christmas issue of Népszabadsdg with the declaration that: “There exist no privileges for
counter-revolutionaries whose profession happens to be writing.” The silence of the Hungarian
writers was considered by the Government to be an act of provocation. In a speech made in
Pécs, Minister of State Marosan declared that the Government would break every form of
resistance by writers and journalists without the slightest hesitation; the Government had
waited long and patiently in the hope that some writers might modify their opinions; the
Government’s patience was interpreted by some as weakness and the administration would
now resort to harsher measures. “All counter-revolutionary, bourgeois, nationalistic and
anarchistic tendencies in Hungarian publications would be ruthlessly repressed.” The writers
should at long last free themselves from the “spiritual terror” of their counter-revolutionary
colleagues who were now under arrest.

697. On 17 January, Minister Miinnich announced the temporary suspension of the Writers’
Union. On 20 January, the inaugural meeting of the Tancsics Circle took place at the former
meeting place of the Petéfi Club and was addressed by Mr. Miinnich. More writers were
arrested and threatened with martial law penalties. In a speech, the Minister of Agriculture
declared: “The majority of Hungarian writers have chosen the path of treason.” Finally, on 21
April, the Hungarian radio broadcast an announcement by the Minister of the Interior
disbanding the Hungarian Writers’ Union on the ground that “it has been found that an active
group of the Union has used the Writers’ Union as a tool for attacking the social order of the
Hungarian People’s Republic. The Minister of the Interior has therefore disbanded the Writers’
Union. Tibor Déry, a resident of Budapest, has been taken into custody by the police on a well-
founded suspicion of having committed a crime against the State.”

2. The Press

698. Most Hungarian newspaper men who worked for papers of the régime before the
Revolution had taken an active part in its psychological preparation and had worked for the
Revolutionary press. Consequently, the Kadar Government had radically to reorganize the
press. In the first months of the Kadar régime, only a few newspapers were permitted to be
published, and therefore most newspapermen were out of work. Those who still had jobs were
reluctant to sign their names, and their articles appeared anonymously. A number of
newspapermen were arrested for articles written during the Revolution or for participating in
discussions afterwards on ways of ensuring an honest and free press. The new official organ of
the Communist Party, Népszabadsag, which replaced Szabad Nép, seemed somewhat more
promising and more colourful than the latter at the start, but it was not well received and its
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issues were said to have been systematically burned at certain points in Budapest. Népakarat
continued to appear as the official organ of the National Council of Free Trade Unions.

699. Even the limited freedom granted the newspapers and newsmen in the first weeks after
the Revolution did not last. Step by step, Government pressure on the press increased. On 20
December, the Government announced the creation of a State Information Office to control
the press and information services.(36) Newspapermen were assured that they would still be
free to discuss so-called delicate questions, such as the role of Soviet troops in Hungary, free
elections, etc., because the Government wanted to have the opinion of the press and wanted
colourful papers. Discussions were even held about the possibility of establishing a Workers’
Council newspaper; it was only when all arrangements for this had been settled that the State
Office of Information announced that it could not be published. It was suggested that delays in
issuing authorizations to start new newspapers or resume the publication of old ones were used
as instruments for bringing newspapermen, in need of employment, round to the Government’s
point of view.

700. At the end of December, authorization was obtained for the publication of a non-
political family illustrated called Erdekes Ujsag; in the beginning it published interesting
pictures from Budapest and even from the West, but later its main concern seemed to be the
rebirth of producers’ co-operatives and the enthusiasm of the miners for their work. Permission
was also obtained for the publication of Esti Hirlap, a daily paper, which was instructed to
publish lively information on everyday life, the theatre and interesting information about the
West. On the masthead it was described as an independent political paper, and the first issues
were received with great enthusiasm. Gradually the tone of the paper changed, until it be came
a mere copy of Népszabadsag. Several of its editors and correspondents fled, and were
replaced by reliable Party members.

701. By the middle of February, all semblance of independence of the Press was over.
Newspapermen were ordered to sign their articles and to pay heed to Minister Marosan’s
declaration to several correspondents that “Newspapermen should be mindful of the fact that,
even while they are writing, they can be arrested.” On 19 January, the Journalists’ Association,
which had expressed solidarity with the Writers’ Union, was temporarily suspended.

3. Youth Organizations

702.  After the Revolution, the League of Hungarian University and College Students
Associations (MEFESZ), which continued to meet and to follow an independent line was
strongly attacked by the official press for its attitude during the October events. Attempts were
made to neutralize the organization’s independence, to intimidate the students by arresting
them temporarily and to obtain control of the organization by infiltration. In spite of this, the
newspaper Esti Hirlap reported on 6 January that MEFESZ had drafted a new programme in
which the students endorsed the “socialist order”, but were loyal to the Revolutionary ideals of
the university students of 23 October; “it is imperative to create conditions for the withdrawal
of the Soviet troops from our country as soon as possible; furthermore, parties resting on the
ideological basis of socialism should be formed”.

703. It was in order to balance the influence of the MEFESZ that the League of Communist
Youth (KISZ) was established on 26 February 1957 by the Provisional Central Committee of
the Hungarian Socialist Workers’ (Communist) Party. The resolution considered the
establishment of such an organization necessary in the interest of unity, the furtherance of the
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education of Hungarian youth and the ensuring of new reserves for the Party. KISZ began to
function on 21 March. One of its first acts was to issue an appeal attacking the League of
Working Youth (DISZ), as unable to unite the different sectors of Hungarian youth. The
appeal added that, before the Revolution, a rather nihilistic and cynical mood had prevailed
among the university students. “We must now create a new youth organization which will
utilize the experience of DISZ and other Hungarian youth organizations, but will not repeat
their mistakes. The main task of KISZ is to serve the cause of building a socialist society in
Hungary.”

704. Inrecent months repeated press references have been made to the importance of KISZ,
an organization devoted to Communist ideals and reaching both the Hungarian University
youth and the working youth. The April issues of Népszabadsag stated that KISZ was an
organization of the dictatorship of the proletariat. In the future, Hungarian youth would be led
by Communist youth. Efforts must be made to establish branches of KISZ in factories and
universities. Activist meetings of Communist students were held at which emphasis was placed
on co-operation between MEFESZ and KISZ. “The most important task of KISZ is to take a
unified, disciplined and bold stand among the university students, and to organize debates.”
More attention should be paid to university students and the university council of KISZ should
be set up. It was the duty of the young Communists to engage in lively, political activities
within the MEFESZ organization. The task of KISZ was to educate true young Communists
who would remain loyal to the Party and the people in all circumstances.

705. KISZ, however, seems not to have won much popularity. An article in Népszabadsag at
the end of March discussed the platform of the organization. The author asked “What is worth
more - to provide the League with a clear-cut Communist programme, or with a generally
worded, non-Communist platform and a name that would conceal our aims, in order to attract
to our League both the politically practising and non practising youth?” The author answered
this question by recalling that, since the October events, the Communist name-plate outside the
League’s headquarters, instead of attracting, had repelled a large proportion of the masses of
youth. In spite of that, however, he advised candour and a frank admission of Communist aims,
even though this slowed down recruiting.

706. In a speech reported in the press on 29 January, Mr. Marosan stated that the univer-
sities were being exploited by counter-revolutionary elements to spread reactionary views.
“Youth must be brought up in a spirit of Marxism-Leninism and therefore Marxist-Leninist
education will go on in universities.” The University of Budapest opened its doors again in
February, and the Minister of Education broadcast an appeal concerning the re-opening of all
Hungarian universities. The Deputy Minister for Education, who, at the same time, was a
member of the Executive Committee of the Communist Party, added another declaration to the
effect that universities would be closed again at the first sign of any disturbance. Students who
had caused difficulties would be dismissed immediately and those who instigated disturbances
in the future would no longer be considered merely to have been led astray. He added that
there had been no decision to abolish the teaching of Russian, which would continue to be
compulsory in schools.

707. There is evidence that the Government is not satisfied with the attitude of the young
people of Hungary. In his speech to the National Assembly of 11 May, Mr. Kadar commented
on the behaviour of the youth of the country during the October events. The lesson to be
drawn according to him was, that life must be pictured for the young people in all its grimness
and not in idealized terms. Young people were too inclined to be idealistic, anyhow. Their faith
in popular democracy and socialism was emotional and sentimental, rather than intellectual. No
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one told them the truth that the true socialist society did not exist and that it was only in the
process of being born with much pain amidst great struggles, trials and tribulations; the result
was that the youth of Hungary had suffered an overwhelming disillusionment. For the future,
their elders should refrain from using superlatives, in order to ensure against a repetition of
what had happened in October, when the children of the working class had gone over to the
side of the counter-revolution and fascism. Mr. Kadar was not insensitive to the appeals to
show patience and humanity, such as one member of Parliament had mentioned. He stressed
the necessity for tempering patience with severity toward the guilty. Not all of the 170,00037)
who had emigrated from Hungary in the confused days after October were enemies of the
people; still, in view of the great number of dead on both sides, those who were guilty must be
dealt with severely “because the life of the nation is dearer to us than anything else”.

I11. Conclusions

708. Representative government does not exist for the time being in Hungary. In the interval
between 23 October and 4 November 1956, the voice of the Hungarian people was heard in
organizations which appeared or reappeared in the climate of freedom which spread through
the country in those ten days. Contrary to what might have been expected, the voice that spoke
through these organizations was harmonious, rather than discordant. The Committee has no
doubt that this was the expression of the will of the Hungarian people and that the
organizations of workers, of farmers, of writers and of youth were representative of the
Hungarian people.

709. After the installation of Mr. Kadar as Prime Minister, the workers, the peasants, the
intellectuals, and the young people continued to speak through the organizations which had
spoken for them during the Revolution. The Kéadar régime was hostile to the recognition of
these organizations as representative of the people. The gestures of conciliation, the
discussions of enlargement of the Government, the seeming concessions to demands in various
fields, appear in retrospect as a sparring for time to grow in strength and to pick off these
organizations one by one. In earlier pages it has been shown how the Government cut back the
scope of activity and the powers of the Workers’ Councils step by step, how it provoked them
by arresting their chairmen and many of their members, and how there followed a protest strike
which the Government utilized to outlaw the Greater Budapest Workers’ Council and all
Workers’” Councils above the factory level. Worker guards in the factories were disarmed.

710.  The workers were co-ordinated politically in the factories themselves, when the role of
their Councils was progressively reduced, while Communist Party functionaries came in to
organize Party cells over workers’ protests. Capital punishment has been made applicable to
strike activities.

711. The same methods were used against the non-Communist political parties and their
representatives. The Social Democratic Party, which had emerged again at the end of October
for a few days of independence, was liquidated by the Communist Party, whose spokesman
declared its existence to be a danger to the Hungarian State. The press has regressed to the pre
revolutionary level. Newspapermen have been officially reminded that the Minister of the
Interior is looking over their shoulder as they write. Yet the allegiance which the Government
is able to command from the intellectuals is so meagre that it has had to disband their
organizations.
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712.  In early November, according to Mr. Kéadar, there were few candidates for the
portfolios in his Government. The political victories of the Kadar régime since then have not
succeeded in restoring even its Communist support to the pre-revolutionary level. Despite this,
the Government has put off for two years a national election and continues with a pre-
revolutionary legislature. At the National Assembly which was held on 10-11 May, speaker
after speaker, with hardly an exception, rose to echo the official line of the Government and
brand the October events as a “counter revolution”. Each promised to follow the
Government’s policy in the future. The prolongation of the National Assembly mandate for
two years has deprived the Hungarian people of the exercise of their political right, that of
participating in the function of government through elected representatives of their own
choice. Parliament has played a central role in the political history of the Hungarian people. It
is significant that during the events of October 1956, the Government of Hungary was carried
on from the Parliament Building. The Parliament is now being made a subordinate agency of
the Government and the Communist Party.

(1) Chapter XI, para. 418.

(2) Hungarian: eddigi.

(3) Chapter IX, para. 404.

(4) Hungarian State Railways Machine Factory.
(5) Chapter XIII, para. 620.

(6) Chapter XIII, para. 627.
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(8) Magyar Kozlony, No. 95, 24 November 1956.
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Councils.”
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Councils. Lenin had the courage to voice the slogan “All power to the Soviets”, although the Bolsheviks were not in the
majority in the Soviets. However, as a Marxist, Lenin rightly expected that the working masses, once they became
responsible for power, must act in their own interests, that is in a Socialist way. And he was not deceived. In Hungary
nobody had the courage, not even the Workers’ Councils which were too much under the influence of petit-bourgeois,
abstract-liberalistic slogans, to make such a demand. But however they might have been, these Workers’ Councils were the
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Part C
SPECIFIC ACTS IN VIOLATION OF OTHER
RIGHTS OF THE HUNGARIAN PEOPLE
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Chapter XV
DEPORTATIONS

A. Introduction

713.  Few aspects of the uprising have been the subject of more conflicting reports than that
of the deportation of Hungarians to the USSR. The attitude of Mr. Kadar’s Government in this
matter has been equivocal. On 18 November, the Government issued a communiqué which was
broadcast by Radio Budapest stating that false and “provocative” panic rumours were being
spread by hostile counter-revolutionary elements that arrests were taking place in Hungary and
that young people and others were being deported to the Soviet Union. The communiqué
explained that in the interests of the working people, the authorities had been obliged to render
harmless counter-revolutionaries, terrorists, antisocial instigators, armed bandits, thieves, and
other common criminals. Arrests were being made, the communiqué added, but none of those
arrested had been deported from Hungary.(1)

714.  Other stations subject to Soviet control also broadcast statements denying the reports
of deportations. Thus on 21 November, Radio Pécs called on the population not to believe the
rumours of deportations. It assured the people that no one was being taken out of the country.
The following day, Radio Szombathely, after mentioning that students had refused to go to
school on account of the reports of deportations, asserted that such rumours had been proved
untrue and that the students had nothing to fear.

715.  On 19 November, at the 582™ meeting of the General Assembly, the communiqué was
read aloud by a Hungarian delegate, and distributed on the same day to delegations,
announcing that no deportations had taken place.(2) On 22 November, the official newspaper
Népszabadsag reported a similar statement which was said to have been made by Ferenc
Miinnich, Minister of the Armed Forces and Public Security Affairs, who added that the
Hungarian Government had asked the Soviet Military Command to turn over all arrested
persons to the Hungarian authorities.

716.  These assurances did not prove sufficient to calm popular fears and indignation. There
is evidence that delegations from Workers’ Councils and Revolutionary Councils protested
against the deportations both to Mr. Kéadar and to the Soviet Military Command. Thus, on 15
November, Radio Budapest announced negotiations between a delegation of the Central
Workers’ Council of Greater Budapest and Mr. Kadar. In reply to questions by the workers,
Mr. Kadar was said to have declared that “agreement had been reached with the competent
Soviet authorities that no one would be taken out of the country”. Similarly, a statement by the
Hungarian Writers’ Union read over Radio Budapest on 22 November disclosed that on 20
November a delegation of the Writers’ Union had called on the Soviet Military Headquarters
to discuss the question of arrests and deportations; representatives of the Hungarian police had
also attended the meeting. According to the statement, the Soviet and Hungarian authorities
had assured the delegation that no one had been taken out of the country or persecuted for
taking part in the uprising.

717.  On 3 December, Western correspondents reported that, in the course of an interview in
Budapest, Istvan Szirmai, Chief of the Hungarian Government Press Department, had admitted
that “there were isolated cases in the first days of chaos after 4 November when the Russian
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authorities arrested and deported young people. However, when the Government was
stabilized, it intervened and all persons deported were returned”.(3) However, on 4 December,
the East Berlin Radio ADN announced that Mr. Szirmai had denied having told the Western
correspondents that there had been cases of deportation of Hungarians to the USSR. “In
stating the correct facts”, the broadcast said, “Mr. Szirmai pointed out that, when he was
asked by the correspondents whether there had been deportations, he had replied: “There have
been no deportations from Hungary, and consequently your previous reports do not
correspond to the facts.”

718. Meanwhile, leaflets issued by the resistance groups and newspaper articles published in
Hungary had continued to make reference to deportations that were alleged to be going on. On
16 November, the Debrecen paper, Naplo, published an article stating that public opinion had
been agitated by the news that people were being carried through Debrecen in closed wagons
towards Zahony, on the Russian frontier. It added that it had been announced “officially” that
such occurrences would not take place in the future and that measures had been taken for the
immediate return of the wagons in question. On 18 November the newspaper Szabolcs-
Szatmarmegye Népe reported that a special commission set up by the Committee of the
Socialist Workers’ (Communist) Party of the County of Szabolcs to investigate deportations,
had established that “on 14 November at 3 p.m. a train composed of six wagons had carried
Hungarian prisoners across the Hungarian frontier”. The article continued that the Committee
immediately contacted Janos Kadar and told him that no Hungarian, not even those who had
participated in the uprising, should be deported from Hungary.

719. Leaflets were circulated in Budapest containing what purported to be accounts of
deportations. One such publication entitled Magyar Oktober (Hungarian October) dated 15
November 1956 declared that people living near the Western Railway Station in Budapest
could hear hammering on the freight cars and that freedom fighters who escaped said that
hundreds of captured fighters had been packed into freight cars. Near the Soviet frontier, a
wallet was said to have been thrown from a train bound for the USSR. The wallet was alleged
to have contained a list of names of Budapest youths who were being deported to the Soviet
Union.

B. Investigation by the Committee

720. Faced by this conflicting evidence, the Committee set out to make an objective and
dispassionate study of the facts of the case. On 14 January 1957, the International Commission
Against Concentration Camp Practices transmitted twenty-two signed depositions regarding
deportations. While none of the refugees who had signed these statements had actually been
taken to the USSR, several declared that they had been liberated from trains moving eastwards
and, as they assumed, to the Soviet Union. Neither these statements nor any other written
evidence in the Committee’s possession at the outset was felt to justify it in adopting the
attitude either that deportations had, or had not, occurred. As the Committee proceeded with
its investigation, it found that the witnesses questioned on the subject seemed convinced that
deportations had taken place. Some told of relatives or friends who had allegedly been
deported. It was said that lists of names and addresses and appeals for help by those being
deported had been thrown from trains moving eastwards and picked up. Students were
declared to have visited the addresses in question and to have confirmed that members of the
household had disappeared. Other witnesses claimed to have some first-hand knowledge of the
deportations, such as seeing sealed trains on their way towards the frontier. None of these first
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witnesses, however, had themselves been deported and the Committee was still not prepared to
voice an opinion based on hearsay only.

721.  After a while, however, the Committee had the opportunity to hear several witnesses -
seven men and boys, and one young girl, a first-aid nurse - who had actually been deported to
the Soviet Union after the events of 4 November 1956. One of these witnesses had succeeded
in escaping from a Russian prison. The others, for various reasons, had been returned to
Hungary. Several other refugees offered to testify before the Committee about their depor-
tation to the USSR, but the Committee was unable to hear them. The Committee also heard a
number of witnesses who had been placed in deportation trains or trucks moving towards the
Hungarian-Soviet frontier, but who had been liberated by Hungarian railway workers or
freedom fighters. Other witnesses had participated in such liberation activities, and described
how they had stopped trains or trucks and freed the prisoners.

722. The Committee subjected all these witnesses to searching cross-examination. As a
result of its study of their testimony, and other evidence confirming it, it reached the
conclusion that, beyond doubt, deportations to the USSR had indeed taken place, and had
taken place in considerable numbers. It was satisfied that the circumstances in which these
deportations had occurred were, in general, as described by the witnesses. The official
statements denying that any deportations had occurred in Hungary are therefore not in
accordance with the facts. These deportations may be regarded as an effort to undermine
potential opposition within Hungary.

C. Seizure of deportees

723.  According to the evidence, deportations of Hungarian citizens to the Soviet Union
began in the period following the second armed intervention by Soviet forces. The number of
such deportations appears to have been particularly large during the three weeks following 4
November. Witnesses said that, on some days, in the middle of November, several trainloads of
deportees left Budapest. Deportation trains are said to have arrived in Russia as late as mid-
December, and some Hungarians are alleged to have been deported even in January 1957. The
largest number of deportees seems to have come from the provinces, especially from the
eastern part of Hungary. Witnesses testified that they had seen deportees in Soviet prisons
from such towns as Karcag, Szombathely, Gyor, Kecskemét, Miskolc, Debrecen, Nyiregyhdza
and Veszprém.

724.  In Budapest itself, most of the early arrests were made in a haphazard manner. People
were rounded up in the streets in groups that ran into hundreds and sometimes included elderly
people and children. According to witnesses, the general practice was to close off part of a
street by stationing a tank at each end. Anyone found within the area was taken away. One
case was reported where fifty people were liberated from a number of trucks, after which the
Russian soldiers immediately arrested fifty other people in their place.4) Some people were
seized in centres of resistance, such as the revolutionary barracks taken over by Soviet troops.
Others were taken in house-to-house searches by teams of Russian soldiers and former AVH
agents, after the fighting had subsided. In the provinces, few were arrested in the streets, but
large groups of students, workers or freedom fighters were sometimes arrested together. In
some cases, the entire Revolutionary Council in a town or the whole Workers” Council in a
factory would be seized.
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725.  The prisoners were collected in trucks or Soviet armoured cars and generally taken to
political prisons or to other assembly places. Witnesses described how, in Budapest, groups of
400-500 people were assembled in underground halls at the Eastern and Western Railway
Stations. On 6 November, according to a witness, ninety men and eight women were kept in a
Budapest church for three days before being taken to a deportation train. Some prisoners were
held captive in the military barracks, such as the Kilian and Pet6fi Barracks in Budapest, and
then transported to Vecsés, a railway station south-east of Budapest. Prisoners were searched
for weapons, questioned and any valuables or papers in their possession were confiscated. In
some cases, it appeared that their shoes and top clothing were taken away. Sometimes,
prisoners remained at the places of detention up to four days or longer, after which they were
taken to heavily guarded trains or trucks.

726. Most of the trains bearing deportees to the Soviet Union went through Zahony, the
frontier station between Hungary and the Soviet Union, but deportation trains are also
reported to have crossed into Romania. The Committee, however, has no conclusive proof that
any Hungarians were taken to Romania, apart from those who accompanied Mr. Nagy.(5)
Trains bound for the USSR took either the Cegléd-Szolnok-Debrecen Nyiregyhaza line, or that
through Godolld-Hatvan Miskole. Witnesses testified that these trains consisted of sealed
freight cars or cattle trucks. There were usually from 20 to 35 wagons on each train, although
sometimes there were less. These trains carried nothing but deportees, from 30 to 70 in each
wagon. During the journey, the captives received scant supplies of food and there were no
adequate sanitary facilities. Men and women all travelled together. Each wagon was guarded
by Soviet troops and the engine-drivers were Russian.(6)

727. Many of the prisoners threw from the trains hastily-scribbled notes appealing for help
and giving their names and addresses, so that their families could be notified. These messages
were picked up by railway workers and other Hungarians, who arranged that as many as
possible reached their destinations. One witness told the Committee that, out of seventeen
messages thrown out of a train by himself, no fewer than eight reached his family.

728.  After a while, the Soviet authorities experienced difficulty in running deportation trains
as far as the frontier, since railway workers went on strike and freedom fighters were some-
times able to stop the trains and liberate prisoners. In some places, as happened on 15
November outside the frontier station at Zahony, the rails were removed from the track. To an
increasing extent, therefore, the Russians began to make use of trucks. One witness testified
that he and 150 other people had been taken from the town of Veszprém in western Hungary
to the USSR in seven trucks, each guarded by four Russian soldiers. Another witness reported
that he, together with eight others, had been taken to the Soviet Union from the city jail at
Nyiregyhdza, near the Russian border, in two Russian Red Cross cars. In one case a witness
stated that the deportees were forced to travel, in bitterly cold weather, without coats in open
trucks.

729.  When the freedom fighters stopped a deportation train, by removing the rails or by
setting the signals, heavy fighting usually took place before the captives were liberated. In one
case, however, the Russian guards fled without fighting. One of these liberation exploits took
place while the train was still in a Budapest station, while the Committee also heard reports of
the liberation of deportees close to the Russian and Romanian frontiers.

730. Most of the deportees were captured by Soviet troops, but some were seized by former
members of the AVH. Some witnesses stated that, while being held in Hungary, they had been
physically maltreated on a few occasions by Russian soldiers, but particularly by members of
the AVH. Some were submitted to lengthy interrogation by AVH agents during which they
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received harsh and inhuman treatment. One witness reported that, before being taken to the
USSR, he had been beaten by an AVH officer, until he signed a confession that he was a
counter-revolutionary. Those who were found to be carrying arms were beaten; often they
were not given food and were threatened with execution. In some cases, a pretence was made
that execution was imminent. One witness was placed against a wall by soldiers, who then fired
all round him. Witnesses testified about several cases in which women were abused. One
witness was told by the soldiers that he would be sent to forced labour in the USSR, while
others were told that they would be sent to Siberia. It is noteworthy that witnesses stated that,
with a few exceptions, they had been much better treated by Soviet officers and soldiers after
they arrived in the USSR, where there were fewer troops of Mongolian origin.

D. Experience of deportees in the USSR

731. The eight witnesses who stated that they had actually been deported were all taken at
first to a prison in the town of Uzgorod, in the Transcarpathian region, about 25 kilometres
from Zahony, the frontier town. Other deportees were reportedly taken to the prisons of
Mukacevo and Kolomea in the same district. The prison in Uzgorod had been built at the time
when the area was part of Czechoslovakia. It had been emptied of its former prisoners to
accommodate the deportees, the first of whom seem to have arrived on 7 November. One
witness said that it was already crowded by 10 November. One said that forty-two people were
confined in a room large enough for about fourteen and one witness was locked in a room with
other people, in which there was not enough space to lie down. According to the guards,
Uzgorod was a place of assembly, and trains carrying deportees went further eastwards, while
more deportees arrived from Hungary. It was estimated that the prison, after it was filled up,
held at least 2,000 persons, all of whom were believed to be Hungarian.

732. In general, the treatment given to deportees in the Soviet prisons was better than that in
the Hungarian prisons. The building used for their detention at Uzgorod is of modern
construction. Food and general conditions improved, and were much better at the end than in
the beginning. Deportees were not tortured, nor were they obliged to do forced labour. Some
of the prisoners were confined to individual cells. One witness said that many of these were
students and other intellectuals, who were considered to be a dangerous influence. Others were
divided into groups and placed in collective cells, men and women being separated. They were
taken from the cells only for interrogation or for exercise in the prison yard. Witnesses testified
that the Russian guards, many of whom spoke Hungarian, showed sympathy and friendliness
towards the prisoners. The Committee was told that Russian people employed in the prisons of
Uzgorod and Stryj smuggled messages into the prisoners’ cells, which gave them
encouragement and news of what was happening in Hungary. Some of them also forwarded
letters from the prisoners to relatives and friends. The guards and prison personnel also gave
them news about the situation in Hungary and in the USSR. Thus, they learnt that students had
been demonstrating in Leningrad and Kiev. According to witnesses, some of the deportees
who were sent to the prison at Stryj were told by the guards that a large number of Polish
prisoners had recently passed through the prison, and one witness stated that he had seen the
words “Poznan 1956” carved on a bench in one of the cells.

733.  Witnesses testified that teams of Russian officers and members of the Russian secret
police, NKVD, interrogated the prisoners both at Uzgorod and Stryj. In some cases, the
interrogation was conducted only by members of the secret police. Apart from routine
questions on their personal history, the prisoners were repeatedly asked about their activities
during the uprising. In the opinion of the witnesses, the principal purpose of the interrogations
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was to obtain information about the causes and organization of the uprising, about foreign
assistance the Hungarians were thought to have received and about conditions in Hungary
before the uprising. It was the impression of the witnesses that the interrogations were not
aimed at determining the guilt or innocence of individual prisoners, but rather at finding out
why the Hungarian people rose in arms and how they had succeeded in doing so. Prisoners
asked several times why they had been deported and under what law they had been brought to
the Soviet Union. The answer was always that the Kadar Government had asked the Soviet
authorities to take this step.

734. There were women among the prisoners. The majority of deportees were young
people, many of them not more than sixteen and some even younger. There were also some
elderly persons, one a sixty-two-year-old farmer, who did not know why he had been
deported, another, a sixty-seven-year-old leader of the Independent Smallholders’ Party. The
majority of the deportees in the prison seem to have been soldiers or freedom fighters. There
were said to be a number of high-ranking officers and, among these, some members of the
delegation which had been arrested with General Maléter, the Minister of Defence, at the
Soviet Army Headquarters, at Tokol, on the night of 3 November. These officers had been
brought to Uzgorod by plane. Many of the prisoners were workers and some witnesses
estimated that about 20 per cent were students. The Committee received the names of a
number of Hungarians whom witnesses declared that they had seen personally in Russian
prisons, but the Committee feels obliged not to make these names public. Among them were
members of Parliament, high-ranking officers, professors and members of Revolutionary and
Workers’ Councils from various parts of Hungary. Included among these names submitted to
the Committee was that of the station-master of one of the Hungarian frontier towns.

735.  According to the witnesses, when the deportees arrived at Uzgorod they were usually
photographed, full face, and profile, and they underwent preliminary interrogation. They also
received various injections and, in some cases, all hair was shaved from head and body. The
guards told them that this was in preparation for their journey eastwards. One witness
explained that his group was placed in a train heated by stoves. The group was told that they
were going to an extremely cold area and that they would receive food and water only every
second day. However, this train went no further than Stryj, some 136 kilometres from
Uzgorod, and the Committee has no evidence that deportees were taken beyond this point.
Russian guards told the deportees that they were held up because the students in Kiev were
demonstrating; other trains carrying prisoners, they declared, had already passed through to the
east. Some of the other witnesses were also taken to the prison at Stry;j.

736. Of the eight deported witnesses questioned by the Committee, one had succeeded in
escaping with five friends. The other seven witnesses had been returned to Hungary between
19 November 1956 and 5 January 1957. It was not always clear why these particular prisoners
had been repatriated. One, however, was returned in a group of thirty young people all, with
one exception, under sixteen. Another witness was a member of a Revolutionary Council in a
town of Eastern Hungary. He was sent back with all the members of the Council, because the
workers in that area went on strike, demanding their return. Some witnesses believed that their
release was connected with the protests against deportations in Hungary itself and the
discussion of this matter in the United Nations. The witnesses were sent home in small groups
and mostly by truck. After their return to Hungary, they were kept in Hungarian prisons for
periods varying from a few days to several weeks. They were interrogated by the recreated
state security police9) and, in some cases, roughly handled before being released. Their
decision to escape from Hungary arose from the fear of further arrest.
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E. Admission of deportations by Soviet authorities

737. It has been seen that rumours of the deportations were current in Hungary soon after
the second Soviet intervention. During November, reports of such deportations became very
numerous and a demand that deportations should cease was one of the conditions made by the
workers for ending the strike. As was mentioned above, on 20 November the Hungarian
Writers” Union sent a delegation both to the Ministry of the Interior and to the Russian
Command in Budapest. One of the members of this delegation testified to the Committee that
the Soviet Military Commander, after admitting that one trainload of deportees had been sent
to the Soviet Union, tried to persuade the delegation to have the Writers’ Union intervene with
the workers to end the strike.(10) The witness stated that the Writers” Union decided to give in
to what he described as “blackmailing tactics”, since the writers felt that everything should be
done to help those already deported and to put an end to deportations. An agreement was,
therefore, made by which the Writers’ Union was to try to persuade the workers to end the
strike, while the Soviet authorities promised to seek the repatriation of individual deportees
about whom the Writers” Union could give information.

738. One witness, a professor in Budapest, testified that he and his colleagues had made
several efforts to secure the repatriation of a number of students. According to this witness,
Lieutenant-Colonel Sidorenko, of the Soviet Central Military Command, at first denied that the
Russian authorities had given orders to deport anyone. If such a thing had happened, it must
have been an individual action. The witness then handed him a list of names thrown from a
deportation train and also told him of several fourteen- and fifteen-year-old children who had
recently been brought back with heads shaven from Uzgorod and Kolomea in the Soviet
Union. Lieutenant-Colonel Sidorenko then admitted that deportations had taken place, but he
said that their object was to get the students away from the scene of fighting and that, once
order had been restored, they would be sent home. This same witness told the Committee that
he had pleaded the cause of his students almost daily in the Chief Public Prosecutor’s Office.
On 21 January, during his last visit before he left Hungary, he was told by the Chief Public
Prosecutor that he had himself discussed the matter with the Chief Officer of the NKVD in
Hungary, who said that the captives would be handed back to the Hungarian authorities, as
soon as their interrogation was finished.

739. Evidence from another quarter laid before the Committee came from an Assistant
Prosecutor, who testified that, in November and December, the Chief Prosecutor’s Office
received hundreds of complaints and a list of names of people seized by the Soviet authorities.
The witness and a colleague went to a town in Southern Hungary to negotiate, on behalf of the
Chief Public Prosecutor, with the Soviet Commander. The latter at first denied that Hungarian
citizens had been captured by Soviet armed forces, until a list of names was put before him. He
then said that these people were counter-revolutionaries and that the amnesty announced by
the Kadar Government did not apply to them. He refused to hand the people over to the
Hungarian authorities, and suggested that the witness and his colleagues were themselves
counter-revolutionaries.

740. From the testimony of witnesses and from other evidence received, the Committee has
reached the conclusion that, since 4 November 1956, deportations of Hungarian citizens to the
USSR have taken place in considerable numbers, which cannot be accurately assessed, but
which run into thousands. The Committee has no proof that more than a part of the deportees
has been returned to Hungary.
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(1) For the text of the communiqué, see A/3367.
(2) A/3367.

(3) A text of this report appeared in the following newspapers: Manchester Guardian, 4 December; The Times of London,
4 December; News Chronicle, 4 December; Daily Telegraph, 4 December; Daily Mail, 4 December; Daily Mail, 4
December; New York Times, 4 December and Le Monde, 4 December.

(4) Chapter XIII, para. 609.
(5)Chapter XIII, paras. 630-639.
(6)Ibid., 608.

(7)Hungarian: Ungvar.
(8)Hungarian: Munkaécs.
(9)Chapter X VI, paras. 762-763.
(10)Chapter XIII, para. 611.
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Chapter XVI
OTHER VIOLATIONS OF HUMAN RIGHTS AND
FUNDAMENTAL FREEDOMS

A. Preliminary remarks

741.  Entrusted with the task of studying “the situation created by the intervention of the
Union of Soviet Socialist Republics ... in the internal affairs of Hungary”, the Special
Committee, as an organ of the United Nations, directed its attention during its investigations to
the effect which the Soviet intervention has had on the rights of the individual. Its examination
of the decisive role played by the Soviet armed forces in Hungary in the overthrow of a régime
which intended to re-establish political rights and fundamental freedoms has inevitably led the
Committee to consider the effects of that foreign intervention on human rights.

742. It will be recalled in this connexion that, so far as Hungary is concerned, an
uncontested contractual obligation arising from the Treaty of Peace imposes on that country,
without any time limit and without any conditions, the duty to take “all measures necessary to
secure to all persons under Hungarian jurisdiction, without distinction as to race, sex, language
or religion, the enjoyment of human rights and of the fundamental freedoms, including freedom
of expression, of press and publication, of religious worship, of political opinion and of public
meetings”.(1) The General Assembly has already had occasion to be concerned with the
application of these provisions. It has, by resolutions adopted in 1949 and 1950 (resolutions
272 (I1II), 294 (IV) and 385 (V)), noted the accusations made against Hungary by certain
countries parties to the Peace Treaty and has, in particular, expressed “the hope that measures
will be diligently applied, in accordance with the Treaties in order to ensure respect (both in
Hungary and in Bulgaria) for human rights and fundamental freedoms” (resolution 272 (III)).

743. In most of the evidence it has collected, and in a large number of official documents,
both legislative and other, which it has examined, the Committee has learned of individual
cases and situations which can only be regarded as contrary to that obligation and to the
meaning, even in a narrow sense, of what can be understood by “the enjoyment of human
rights and of the fundamental freedoms”. The Committee cannot, however, re late all the
violations of rights and freedoms which came to its attention during its investigation. This
would in crease the volume of the report out of all proportion. Some of these violations have
already been mentioned in the recital of incidents given in other chapters. The Committee will
therefore deal in the following paragraphs with some of the problems affecting individual rights
which could not be examined earlier or which seem to it to be especially serious and
significant.
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B. Hostilities

744. The war waged by the Soviet Army in Hungary was a war carried on in the towns.
During October the fighting was in the form of street battles between garrison troops, using
tanks and artillery almost exclusively, and the unprepared revolutionaries, armed with whatever
light weapons they could find.(2) Roving through Budapest, or guarding strategic points, the
Soviet tank crews had little respite and appeared to be running out of food. On 4 November,
there poured into Budapest and other Hungarian towns a better prepared force which came
almost entirely from outside the country. By following carefully conceived plans and by using
the massive superiority of its numbers and weapons, this force at tempted to suppress, quickly
and absolutely, all resistance to its aims. During the first intervention, the Soviet Army had
shown a certain hesitation and uneasiness and some of its units had not concealed their
sympathy for the rebels. In the second intervention, the Soviet units were better disciplined and
were composed of less educated troops who were unaware of the aspirations, and sometimes
even of the identity, of their enemies. In both cases, however, the evidence collected by the
Committee points to many instances of brutality and of cruelty.(3)

745. It would be difficult for the Committee to undertake a detailed analysis of the hostilities
in Hungary from the point of view of the limitations with which combatants have to comply in
virtue of internationally recognized norms of conduct and, in particular, of conventions such as
those concluded at Geneva on 12 August 1949. Regardless of the character attributed to the
Soviet military intervention in Hungary, these Conventions, to which both the Soviet Union
and Hungary are parties, contain numerous humanitarian provisions for improving the lot of
the wounded and sick of land and sea forces and for the protection of prisoners of war and
civilians. Each of the four Geneva Conventions contains many provisions relating to declared
war and to other armed conflicts between the signatory States and also certain provisions
applicable to “armed conflicts not of an international character”. Even with regard to the latter
type of conflict, the Conventions specifically provide as a minimum that:

“(1) Persons taking no active part in the hostilities, including members of armed forces who
have laid down their arms and those placed hors de combat by sickness, wounds, detention, or
any other cause, shall in all circumstances be treated humanely, without any adverse distinction
founded on race, colour, religion or faith, sex, birth or wealth, or any other similar criteria.

“To this end the following acts are and shall re main prohibited at any time and in any place
whatsoever with respect to the above-mentioned persons:

“(a) Violence to life and person, in particular murder of all kinds, mutilation, cruel treatment
and torture;

“(b) Taking of hostages;
“(c) Outrage upon personal dignity, in particular humiliating and degrading treatment;

“(d) The passing of sentences and the carrying out of executions without previous judgment
pronounced by a regularly constituted court, affording all the judicial guarantees which are
recognized as indispensable by civilized peoples.

“(2) The wounded and sick shall be collected and cared for.”

746. The accounts and information collected by the Committee concur in the fact that for
the purpose of crushing the Revolution, Soviet tanks moved along the streets of Hungarian
towns shooting indiscriminately at armed groups or individuals and at every building from
which they believed they were being attacked.(4) In addition to operations of this kind, which
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could be described as military, there are numerous instances of mortar fire across the Danube
from Pest to Buda on inhabited quarters, of artillery fire on buildings from which there was no
return fire and of haphazard shooting at defenceless passers-by. By way of example, it was
reported to the Committee that twenty to thirty tanks went up and down one Budapest street
for about an hour, firing at the buildings until they were completely destroyed. Another
incident as told to the Committee was as follows: “On 4 November ten armoured cars came
towards our positions at Széna Square by way of the Margit Bridge over the Danube. Their
guns were pointed at each side of the street in turn. For one and a half kilometres they fired at
each house, destroying a large number and killing many people, including women and children.
When they arrived at Széna Square they fired at everything within a radius of one kilometre for
several hours, although their fire was not returned.”

747. Many witnesses have Soviet soldiers shot at queues outside bakeries or other food
shops. These incidents, in most of which the victims were women and children, contributed in a
special way to arouse public indignation, as did the many cases of shooting at ambulances, Red
Cross vehicles and the doctors and nurses in those vehicles.

748. It therefore appears to the Committee that, especially after 4 November, Soviet orders
were to crush all resistance by every means that would prove effective. Thus, even at Csepel,
the number of “civilian” victims was said to be definitely higher than that of “military”
victims. In December, the authorities of the city of Budapest estimated that, in the course of
the revolt, 40,000 buildings were damaged, 23,000 seriously, while 4,000 had been completely
destroyed. The damage in Budapest was estimated at 700 million forints and business losses at
200 million forints. These estimates were, however, later denied by a report to the Budapest
City Council which stated that “the number of partially or completely destroyed dwellings at
40,000 appears to be exaggerated, and a figure of 20,000 appears nearer to reality.” On 1
February, the official Central Statistical Office reported that about 20,000 flats were damaged
in Budapest, which represents 4.1 per cent of the total number of flats in the capital. Some
2,217 were completely destroyed. About 260 million forints were needed for reconstruction of
these flats.(5)

749. Among the witnesses questioned by the Committee were doctors, nurses and hospital
staff, who complained of having been prevented by Soviet gunfire from assisting the wounded
in the streets of Budapest. They did not conceal their indignation in recalling certain cases
where Soviet soldiers had entered hospitals and carried off wounded persons whom they
suspected of being “freedom fighters”.

750.  Witnesses also complained of the improper use of the Red Cross emblem by the AVH
and the Soviet Army, the lack of respect for the white flag and hands raised in token of
surrender. One incident reported related to young boys of thirteen or fourteen years of age
who, on meeting Soviet tanks, tore up their shirts to make white flags - a gesture which did not
have any effect on the soldiers determined to massacre them. During the first days of the
Revolution, many cases were reported where weapons were transported by the AVH in
ambulances and other vehicles marked with the Red Cross.

751.  With regard to the dispatch of medical supplies and of assistance from other countries,
the information which the Committee was able to collect does not enable it to arrive at any
definite conclusions. Some of the supplies reached their destination and were welcomed with
the greatest satisfaction by the medical corps. Later, when the airports were surrounded by
Soviet troops and the frontiers closed, the delivery of these medical supplies was delayed.
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C. The repression

752. In his broadcast of 4 November 1956, Mr. Kadar stated that “the Government will not
tolerate the persecution of workers on any pretext, for having taken part in recent events”.
Other indications were also given by Mr. Kédar and his associates of their intention to follow a
lenient policy towards those who had taken part in what was then still called the “popular
uprising”. But, as related elsewhere in this report,6) the Kéddar Government had neither
effective power nor organization and the Soviet Army was in full control. Shortly after armed
resistance had ended, house to house searches were conducted for those suspected of having
borne arms, by parties consisting of Soviet soldiers accompanied by members of the Hungarian
police or by former AVH members; many of those suspected were seized; some shot, some
deported, some detained in prison. On 23 November, Géza Széndsi, who had become Chief
Public Prosecutor on 16 November, announced, according to Radio Budapest that the transfer
to the Hungarian authorities of persons detained by the Soviet armed forces had begun. A
number of protests were formulated during this period by Workers’ Councils, the Hungarian
Writers” Union, student associations and other organizations, against the detention of civilians
in complete disregard of Hungarian law.(7)

753.  With a view to the “restoration of order ... and ... personal safety and ... safety of
property ... endangered by the fact that large quantities of firearms are in the possession of
counter-revolutionary elements, professional criminals, ...”(8) a series of decree-laws and
decrees was enacted by the Praesidium and the Government, in November and December, to
“simplify criminal procedure”9) and to establish a new régime of “summary jurisdiction”
directed against “counter-revolutionary elements, professional criminals, irresponsible trouble-
makers and other persons not entitled to possess arms”.(10) The offences subject to “summary
jurisdiction” were at first “murder, wilful homicide, arson, robbery or looting and any kind of
crime committed by the unlawful use of firearms, including the attempt to commit the aforesaid
crimes”.(11) Then other offences, such as “intentional damage to public utility enterprises or to
public enterprises serving the population’s vital requirements” and the “unlicensed possession
of firearms, ammunition, explosives or explosive material”, were added. Failure to report to the
authorities the unlicensed possession of firearms by other persons except next of kin was also
declared to be a crime to be tried summarily.(12) For the implementation of the decree-law of
11 December, rules were promulgated by decree of 11 December 1956. By article 12 of these
rules, “legal redress” (perorvoslat) against decisions of the courts which had jurisdiction in
these cases was excluded.(13)

754.  With the enactment of the decree-law of 13 January,(14) the list of offences was further
enlarged to include such vaguely defined offences as: “organization against the People’s
Republic, or against the People’s democratic order and associating for this purpose”, as well as
“revolt” and “treason”. The sentence for all such crimes is death, although under this decree-
law, the Court, in lieu of the death sentence, may, “having regard to all circumstances of the
case”, impose a sentence of life imprisonment or imprisonment for five to fifteen years. The
decree-law authorizes summary trial before “Special Councils” attached to the Budapest City
Court, to county courts, military courts and the Supreme Court. The “Special Councils” are
composed of a President, appointed by the President of the Court to which the Council is
attached, and “people’s assessors”,(15) elected for one year by the Praesidium of the People’s
Republic. Appeals against the decision of Special Councils set up in connexion with county
courts are decided by a Special Council of the Supreme Court, composed of two professional
judges and three people’s assessors.
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755.  Under the summary procedures for trying offenders, the Public Prosecutor has the
power to bring the accused before the Special Council without presenting the charge in writing
or in advance. The charge is to be made by the Prosecutor orally at the hearing. The rights of
the accused to prepare an adequate defence are therefore very greatly jeopardized. Summary
procedures can also be employed in the Supreme Court at the request of the Chief Public
Prosecutor. It is provided in para. 8 (i) of the decree-law of 13 January 1957 that its provisions
will apply retroactively to crimes committed prior to the date of its coming into force, although
the death penalty cannot be imposed with respect to crimes committed before that date.

756. On 6 April 1957, the establishment was announced, for the purpose of unifying
“jurisdiction over counter-revolutionary crimes, as well as crimes committed against public
order and public security”, of a special “People’s Judicial Council”’(16) which functions within
the framework of the Supreme Court. It consists of a President, who is a judge designated by
the President of the Supreme Court, and of four “people’s judges” elected by the Praesidium of
the People’s Republic. The jurisdiction of the “People’s Judicial Council” extends to all
criminal cases which may normally fall within the jurisdiction of military or non-military
tribunals. The Council acts as a tribunal of first degree, if a case is submitted to it by the
President of the Supreme Court or if it is brought to it by the Chief Public Prosecutor. It may
also be an appellate tribunal for any case decided upon by any other tribunal, if the President of
the Supreme Court brings the case before it or if the Chief Public Prosecutor submits an
appeal. It is also possible to submit to the People’s Judicial Council a request for a re-opening
of a case already tried by a court.(17)

757. It should be reported at this point that indications can be found of the reluctance of
Hungarian judges and local prosecutors to apply these decrees with the desired severity.
Newspapers have complained that in many cases, judges have acquitted offenders who should
have been punished. A conference of law court presidents was called in Budapest on 15
February 1957, in the course of which Ferenc Miinnich, Minister of the Armed Forces and
Public Security Affairs, admitted: “Some judges and courts have been very reluctant to resume
work. They are evidently under the influence of the principle of the independence of judges,
which arises out of the traditions of the legal profession and which was misinterpreted by many
people ...” He threatened: “In the field of jurisdiction I have seen symptoms which, in the
circumstances have been neither extraordinary nor surprising, but which I want to be changed
as soon as possible. Where we see goodwill, we shall give enlightenment and assistance. But
where we encounter an enemy, we shall resort to administrative means.” Ferenc Nezval,
Government Commissioner to the Ministry of Justice defined the official position: “The most
important task of the court is to defend and strengthen the People’s democratic State order, to
pass sentence in the spirit of the class struggle - both in summary and accelerated proceedings
as well as in ordinary criminal jurisdiction - against subversive counter-revolutionary elements.
The courts must take particular care that cases concerning counter-revolutionary crimes are
heard before all others.” He added: “Correct political orientation is a basic condition of good
jurisdiction ... In dealing with counter-revolutionary offences, our jurisdiction must be tough,
quick and merciless” but judges were fully to observe the principles of “socialist legality” in the
discharge of their duties. Géza Szénéasi, the Chief Public Prosecutor, said, “Legality must fully
correspond to the interest of the dictatorship of the proletariat.”

758.  Other decree-laws enacted in December and January instituted “public security
detention™.(18) Under these decree-laws, “any person whose activities or behaviour endanger
public order, or public security, and in particular the undisturbed continuity of productive work
and transport, may be placed in public security detention”, for a period not exceeding six
months. Detention is ordered by the chief police authority of the county concerned or of the
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city of Budapest and is subject to the approval of the Public Prosecutor. A “complaint” may be
made to the Chief Public Prosecutor against a decision ordering detention. Article 6 of the
decree of 13 January 1957 of the Minister of the Armed Forces and Public Security Affairs
states: “A person placed under public security detention may be given permission for
conversation, he may receive parcels and letters, and may write letters, at least once in every
month” subject to supervision by police authority. Article 7 states that “A person under public
security detention may(19) be employed for work™; he is to receive, in such a case, adequate
remuneration but “the cost of public security detention shall be deducted from his
remuneration’’(20)

759. A decree published on 19 March 1957 provides that certain “harmful persons
dangerous to the State and public security or to socialist social coexistence, or for economic
reasons or causing concern from the point of view of other important State interests” may, by
order of the head of the county or the Budapest police, be placed under police supervision or
removed from their place of residence to another location, while being placed under police
supervision or without such supervision having been ordered. Persons under police supervision
may not change their residence without police permission, they must report to the police as
prescribed and abide by other restrictions. They may be precluded from (a) leaving their
domicile at a certain period of the day; (b) visiting certain public places; (c) using a telephone
in their place of domicile. These administrative measures may be taken for periods not
exceeding two years and are subject to review every six months. Appeals may be lodged with
the National Police Headquarters of the Ministry of the Interior.(21)

760. Efforts were made in the official Press and radio to justify these measures and to
explain their necessity for the protection of the “people’s democracy”, public order and
economic life against the hidden action of the “counter-revolutionaries”. It was indicated that
they were temporary and would be applied with moderation. Stress was laid on the exceptions
contained in some of the decrees, in cases where minors, sick persons and pregnant women
were involved, and on the role of the public prosecutors in their fair application. Radio appeals
were also made by several personalities to those who had fled the country. A decree-law of 29
November provided that criminal proceedings on the charge of illegally crossing the frontier
between 23 October and the date of the decree-law would not be instituted provided the
refugees returned voluntarily to Hungary not later than 31 March 1957.(22) Nevertheless,
newspapers regularly carried reports of trials and death sentences and of some executions, the
best known being that of Jozsef Dudds, the former Chairman of the Hungarian National
Revolutionary Committee and of Janos Szabd, the former Commander of the armed
revolutionary groups of Széna Square. Official statistics of arrests, convictions and executions
suggested an attitude of relative mildness. It was announced that by 21 December only six
death sentences had been carried out. On 28 January, Dr. Sz¢énési, the Chief Public Prosecutor,
declared that up to then there had been only 148 cases of summary trial involving 193 accused,
of whom 29 were sentenced to death, 9 executed immediately and 5 executed after their appeal
for mercy had been rejected. On 15 February, Mr. Nezval, Government Commissioner to the
Ministry of Justice, stated that since the introduction of summary proceedings, 254 persons
had been tried and 208 sentenced, of whom 31 were sentenced to death. The death sentence
had been carried out in only 21 cases.

761. However, this official picture of relative leniency and the official data of arrests and
executions since 4 November are entirely at odds with the accounts given the Committee by
several witnesses, of whom some had left Hungary only recently and others had maintained
regular, and apparently reliable, contacts in Hungary. It was reported to the Committee as late
as April that Soviet Army and security organs were still conducting their investigations and
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arrests independently of the Hungarian authorities, although, in some cases, with the assistance
of Hungarians. It was said that a large number of persons were still being arrested throughout
Hungary. Workers’ Council members and other leaders of the revolution had been seized.
Executions were reported throughout the country and many pre-printed notices that persons
“had been sentenced to death for counter-revolutionary activities and that the sentence was
duly carried out” were being sent to relatives of executed persons, whose names were inserted
in the printed forms by hand. The Committee has not been able to check this information.

762. A few days after the Soviet occupation of Budapest, measures were taken to
reconstitute the police and to create new security organs. On 8§ November, the Commander of
the National Police issued an order that all regular policemen were to report for duty, and a
decree was issued for the creation of special armed groups, the “R” police and others, to assist
in the restoration of order.(23) District police headquarters were given instructions to organize
armed guards composed of workers, whose task was to restore law and order in factories and
in the districts in which those factories were located. Later, the object of the workers’ armed
guards was declared to be “to support armed forces which may have to guarantee
uninterrupted production and prevent attempts by counter-revolutionaries to regain power”.(24)
Reports appeared in the Press, however, indicating that there were very few volunteers, and
testimony was received of the reluctance shown by the workers to co-operate with the Kadar
Government in this respect.

763. A permanent security police was organized under the leadership of Colonel Laszlo
Matyas, a former cellmate of Mr. Kadar in AVH prisons, and stress was laid officially on the
significance of this change of leadership. But many of the other members of the new secret
police were recruited among former AVH personnel.(25)

764. Early in February, branches of the police responsible for defending “public order and
security”, as well as “State security”, were unified. As stated on the radio, “the new unified
police has to deal not only with common criminal cases, but also with subversive activities
directed from abroad, and all criminal deeds directed against People’s Democracies”. Efforts
were made officially to stress the differences between the new secret police and the AVH. It
was stated that “the new police had broken with the methods used by the notorious State
security police investigations having a political character”. The new guarantees, in this respect,
were said to be the powers of the public prosecutors who “regularly supervise” the activities of
all police bodies, including all investigations. It was recalled that the independence of the Chief
Public Prosecutor was stipulated by the Constitution and that he had the power to examine
complaints directed against the work of the investigating authorities, to re-examine all cases
and to take legal measures against police officers suspected of violating the law. It was pointed
out that detentions, which in common criminal cases could not exceed thirty days and in
political cases sixty days, could be prolonged only in very special cases with the consent of the
public prosecutors.

765. On 21 April, the Népszabadsdg announced that the Praesidium of the People’s
Republic had expressed its appreciation and thanks to all members and officers of the police for
“defeating the counter-revolution, for the liquidation of the counter-revolutionary bands and
for a heroic and devoted stand in the defence of socialism”. A new medal was struck “for the
power of the workers and peasants” and awarded to those members of the police who had
“served with distinction”.
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766. There is no evidence, however, in the possession of the Committee, which would show
that these explanations and assurances have found credence among the Hungarian people or
that the Kadar Government’s efforts to present itself as different in its methods from its
predecessors before 23 October, have met with any degree of success.

767. Thus, the authorities have made every effort to trace and punish severely those who
played an active part in the revolutionary events. Searches and arrests are continuing. No one
may publicly express an opinion which might be construed as opposed to the régime or to the
Soviet occupation. The speeded-up trials do not allow the accused to make adequate
presentation of their defence. People are distrustful of judges elected upon the nomination of
the Communist Party. They are aware, too, of the re-establishment of camps for political
prisoners. They must take into account the threat of eviction from their normal place of
residence. Aware of the police surveillance and perturbed by reports of executions, the
Hungarian people have a real fear and hatred of the new security police, which they identify
with the AVH. Many of the witnesses who appeared before the Committee appealed to the
United Nations to exert every effort to have the repression stopped.

D. The spectre of the AVH

768. The Committee was deeply shocked by what it learned from witnesses who told of the
sufferings inflicted on the Hungarian people by the AVH. It was struck by the extent of the
abuses that could be perpetrated by a police force without control and thus all-powerful,
pitiless and unabashed by any shameful act. It realized that the existence of such a body, whose
secret power affected every phase of public and private life, prevented the enjoyment of all
human rights and perverted the functioning of every independent institution.

769.  Some information on the origins of the AVH has been given earlier in this report.(26) Its
links with the Communist Party, its recruiting methods and some of the ways in which it
operated have been mentioned. Nominally entrusted with the investigation of offences against
the security of the State, the AVH devoted itself to the defence of the régime and more
particularly of those who were in power. Granted unlimited freedom of action by the régime, it
increased the number of its officers and planted its spies and informers everywhere. Through
them it penetrated into offices and factories, into apartment houses and schools, into
diplomatic posts and into the courts. Its uniformed police guarded important public buildings,
and its plain clothes police mingled with the crowds. Acting without any outside supervision of
any kind, its members be came a privileged group with important material advantages.
Separated from the rest of the population by a wall of hate, they became a state within the
State and a group apart, dedicated to control of the people by terrorism and oppression.
During the days of October and November, the horrified revolutionaries discovered in the
AVH headquarters files containing “blacklists” with information and reports on almost every
inhabitant of the country, countless recordings of telephone and private conversations, and
“perfected” types of torture chambers.

770. Many witnesses who appeared before the Committee had at one time or another been
victims of the AVH. A good number of the Communist leaders themselves were, as is well
known, the victims of AVH brutality, at times when doctrinal disputes or personal rivalries cut
them off from those in power. What was the meaning of the word “torture”, which runs
through out the evidence? The verbatim records of the Committee’s meetings contain appalling
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descriptions which the Committee would have hesitated to publish in their entirety, even if the
necessity of protecting the families of the witnesses had not been an obstacle.

771. Besides the examples of brutality and degrading forms of treatment causing
unspeakable physical suffering, numerous “psychological” methods were used, such as mock
executions, threats to families, interminable waiting by prisoners in inhuman conditions aimed
at crushing their spirit and drawing a confession from them. The following extracts of
testimony given to the Committee will throw some light on this subject.

772.  The chairman of one of the Workers’ Councils gave the following testimony:

“... they took me to a prison, chained my right hand to my left foot, and left me in a dark cell
about three metres square. There was no heating, and this was in the middle of the winter of
1950. For clothing I had nothing but a shirt, an undershirt, a pair of shorts and a pair of shoes,
and I was left in chains in that hole. I was there for twenty-four hours when I was given a little
piece of bread, about twenty decagrams. It was so dark I did not know what the time was and
I could not move because, if I did so, my wrists and ankles bled. I had to freeze and starve.
Then they took me up to a solitary cell on an upper floor, where I got the regular prison fare
and it was not dark and I was not in chains. After twenty-four hours of that, they took me
down again and the whole performance was repeated ...”

773. A mechanic reported as follows:

“When I was interrogated in the AVH prison and during the hearings I was subjected to two
kinds of torture. One was physical and consisted of knocking out all my teeth. I was also
starved. For six and a half months I was in a concrete cell, where I had no opportunity to wash
myself or keep myself clean. I had one thin coverlet. While the accusations against me were
being prepared, I was left there and their psychological weapon was the continual threatening
of my family. They tried to use hypnosis on me and they staged a mock execution in the
courtyard, using blank shot. This was done in an attempt to break down my resistance and
make me sign a false confession. Under this treatment I lost weight and in the middle of
December weighed only forty-six kilos.”

774. A former university professor, an official and a member of the Communist Party
declared:

“... During the first three days I was left completely alone. Everything was taken away from
me and I was put in a cellar. For three days I was banging at the door and was shouting “What
is this? What do they want of me?” A colonel whom I had known called me out (he had
returned from Moscow in 1946). He told me to confess that I was a traitor. He did not at that
time detail the accusation ... From 1949 until October of the next year, for almost eighteen
months, I was completely alone in a cell one and a half or two storeys below the ground and
about 1.50 to 2 metres in size. Sometimes there was water up to my ankles in the cell. When
my health became very bad, they put me in a somewhat better cell and they gave me a little
more to eat but, with one exception, I was continuously in solitary confinement. At one time
they did put someone in with me for a few days, I think to report and spy on me. Meanwhile
hearings proceeded, especially in the first months of my confinement. I was in this cell day and
night. There was a light burning in it and I could not tell when it was day and when it was
night, except that I assumed that it was daytime when they gave me food to eat ...

“Later on, it was sometimes during the night that the hearings took place - that is to say when I
thought it might be night, as they were not giving me anything to eat, but later it turned out I
was mistaken. These hearings from the first moment had a definite tendency. They tried to
force me to confess firstly, that I had been the agent of the English. The second accusation was
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that I was an agent of the Yugoslavs ...The third accusation was that I was an agent of the
French Intelligence ... The fourth was that the American Intelligence had given me
instructions ...

“It was not physically, but morally, that they were trying to force me to confess to these things.
I was not willing to sign such statements. I went through tortures which were milder than the
usual physical tortures; this was after the period of great physical tortures. Rajk was arrested in
June or July, and by the time they got to my case they had already got no confessions out of
most of the people so, as far as physical force went they did not insist too much on it. I would
say - and others of my comrades who were also accused would agree with me - that it was not
the physical torture which was the most terrible thing at these times, but the solitary
confinement - being alone. It sounds somewhat paradoxical, I do not want to say I was glad,
but it seemed better for them to take me up and slap me around, because then I could see
people, I had some contact with people and I tried to hit back.

“I could live; down below it was a crypt in which I was entombed; there was no life. It is very
interesting; several years later I met other people who had gone through the same thing, and
who said the same. The beatings were not too important, they did not bother us too much, in a
way we could be amused, it was a diversion. I must say they did not achieve any real results
with physical beatings. They admitted later at the hearing of several so-called criminals that this
was not a fruitful way of proceeding ... If I am a true Communist, they said, I must accept this
sacrifice for the future. They told me I had joined the Party when it was an illegal movement, a
resistance movement at the time of the German occupation, to sacrifice even my life in order to
achieve the freedom of my country. This freedom, they said, could be ensured only by the
Communist Party, which was having some difficulties at this time, as there were traitors in its
midst and even though I might not be one of these, here was my opportunity to help it. At the
same time, they said that naturally there was no question of sacrificing my life; they said we
would talk this over amongst ourselves and would decide together what the judge would say,
and after the sentence they would put me in a villa somewhere without any publicity, and there
I could communicate with my family, read, study and, apart from freedom of movement, I
could have practically everything.

“If I was not willing to sign this confession I would thereby have admitted that I was not
willing to follow the orders of the Party, which was my first duty. I would really prove that I
was an enemy of the Party and, against an enemy the Party was entitled to use strong
measures. They said if I did not sign, there were worse prisons and in a week I could be a
corpse; but if I did sign nothing bad would happen to me. So that briefly it came to this: after a
year and a half I signed the confessions, not thinking whether they were true or untrue. This
experience was enough for me to wake up; I finally signed. I did it quite cynically. I thought I
could not bear this any more. I did not think I would be put in any very good circumstances or
that I could see my family regularly, but maybe they would let me write a letter now and then -
after all, they even promised me that. It did not make any difference to me; it was quite
possible that, even if I signed, I might perish, they might hang me or sentence me, but, on the
other hand, maybe it would be better. I would at least see human beings, if not else where, then
at the hearing. So I declared, as I say, with some cynicism at that time, that if the Party wished
I would be glad to sign.

“So it happened I was put in much better confinement, I got very good food. There were two
weeks to the hearing and they started to fatten me up. They gave me books to read; they
promised me that after the hearing I could write to my family. We discussed what kind of
sentence the judge was going to give me and what kind of questions he would ask, also what I
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should answer. They showed me the script and warned me that the judge was a man of poor
quality and would probably mix up the questions, but they told me not to bother about that,
but just to answer the questions in the way I had been told, that we had agreed upon, and in
the proper order, and I should not pay attention to what the judge asked me. It became a
burlesque, the whole trial and hearing. The judge really asked other things, and it was quite
embarrassing to me sometimes to have to suppress my laughter. He asked one thing, and I
answered another. For example, he asked how old I was and I replied that ‘Yes, I was an
English agent.” This was what had been agreed upon beforehand, and this was the way the
whole thing happened.”

775.  Of what value are confessions obtained under these circumstances? The Party doubtless
thought it useful to obtain these confessions by any means available. In the same way, at other
times, it had been necessary to obtain confessions from peasants that they had acted as kulaks,
or from students that they had conspired with foreign nations or from workers saying that they
had sabotaged production in their factories.

776.  AVH methods were most brutal between 1948 and 1953, and the experiences described
above relate primarily to that period. This policy was somewhat relaxed under Prime Minister
Nagy between 1953 and 1955. From that time on, it had been difficult to go back entirely to
the past. The régime itself had appeared to understand the damage it was sustaining from the
uncurbed activities of the AVH. The families of victims and certain prisoners released as a
result of political changes, demanded safeguards and wanted revenge. Speaking before the
National Assembly on 30 July 1956, the then Prime Minister Hegediis recognized the need to
put the police and security agencies of the State “under close surveillance™.(27) Gyorgy Non,
the Chief Public Prosecutor, pointed out at that time that the responsibilities of his post, which
was that of “supreme guardian of socialist law and order” included the security of the State.
He had admitted publicly that “several directors of State agencies had misused their powers
and had had recourse to moral and physical pressures by means of which they had extorted
false confessions of guilt”. He referred to their “illegal methods” and to “large-scale
squandering of communal property to satisfy their boundless greed”.(28)

777. But despite these statements and declared intentions of reforms, and in spite of
relaxations after the autumn of 1955, the Hungarian people continued to be afraid and to
nourish feelings of hatred. At the beginning of the October Revolution, it was the members of
the AVH who first tried to put down the insurrection with machine-guns and their usual
methods of terror and torture. The people’s vengeance was turned against them, and it knew
no bounds. Their former victims and the children of their victims committed atrocities in their
turn. There were lynchings, hangings and shootings, and the pleas of the provisional leaders,
who were trying to restore law and order, were often ignored. Many members of the AVH
found sanctuary in refuges offered them by the revolutionary organizations pending trial
according to regular judicial procedure.

E. Human rights

778. The Hungarian people’s need for liberty manifested itself with an extraordinary burst of
fervour during the brief revolution in October and November. Witnesses noted the joy shown
by students on the after noon of 23 October when they could march in a procession,
undoubtedly for the first time in their lives, without their demonstration being compulsory and
without having slogans imposed upon them. Their joyous shouts proclaimed their sixteen-point
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programme, which called for general elections by secret ballot, recognition of the right to
strike, and complete freedom of opinion, expression, press and radio. During the days which
followed, this long-suppressed desire to throw off restrictions spread to all ranks of society.
Budapest and the rest of Hungary gave expression to this through spontaneous demonstra-
tions, through the newspapers, the tone of which had changed completely, and through the
radio stations, which promised henceforward to report “the truth and nothing but the truth”.
The revolutionary organizations included in their programme the establishing of human rights,
and several of them referred to the Charter of the United Nations and some to the Universal
Declaration of Human Rights.

779. The Government quickly responded to these expectations. Mr. Nagy stated that his
goal was to “carry out the systematic democratization of the country in all aspects, both
political and economic, of the life of the Party and the State”. Amnesties were proclaimed on
24 and 26 October. On 29 October, the AVH was abolished. On 30 October the one-party
system came to an end. On the same day Cardinal Mindszenty was released from prison, and
on the next day he was once more granted full freedom to discharge his ecclesiastical duties
without any restriction. On 31 October, the new organization of free trade unions proclaimed
its independence from the Government and from all political parties and demanded free
elections and the recognition of the right to strike. Political parties began to organize and
requested free elections as a condition for their participation in the Government. On 2
November, the Ministry of Education ordered that the history books in use in schools should
be withdrawn, abolished compulsory study of the Russian language and authorized the
reinstatement of religious teaching. There was no doubt that the success of the popular
revolution could have restored to the Hungarians the enjoyment of the political rights and
fundamental freedoms which the Peace Treaty had been intended to guarantee.

780. The Soviet Army’s suppression of the Revolution by force of arms put an end to these
hopes. Al though Mr. Kadar’s initial statements still showed traces of a revolutionary
programme,(29) the positions adopted subsequently bore witness to the régime’s determination
to make no concessions to the demands of the “counter-revolutionaries”, for, to use the words
of Gyula Kallai, a member of the Central Committee of the Hungarian Socialist Workers’
(Communist) Party, “small concessions would inevitably lead to larger ones”. This brings to
mind the official attitude with regard to free elections and the multi-party system, as well as
Mr. Kéadar’s statement on 15 November that the workers’ power can be destroyed “not only
by bullets, but also by ballots”.(30)

781.  Certain legislative and police measures by the Kddar Government here may be recalled.
A decree of 8 December abolished the revolutionary committees and councils. A decree-law
dated 12 December prohibited public meetings and parades unless authorized by the police.(31)
On 20 December the Government announced the establishment of a state Information Bureau,
which was to exercise supervision over the press and information services.(32) The arrest of
members of the executive committee of the Students’ Association, of several young university
professors and of a large number of journalists and writers was followed by suspension of the
activities of the Writers’ Union on 17 January and of the activities of the Journalists’
Association on 19 January.(33) At the end of January, the National Council of Free Trade
Unions met and revoked the decision taken by the Hungarian unions during the revolutionary
period to withdraw from the World Federation of Trade Unions. On 29 January Mr. Kadar
declared that under the dictatorship of the proletariat the right to strike served no useful
purpose.(34) At about the same time, students were deprived of freedom to choose the
language which they wished to study, and later on the right to receive religious instruction was
limited to those students whose parents had already entered them in such courses at the

241



beginning of the school year.35) A decree-law of 24 March provided that all appointments,
transfers or dismissals affecting posts of any importance in the Roman Catholic Church and the
Presbyterian and Lutheran Churches, as well as those concerning dignitaries of the Jewish
faith, would be subject to approval by the Praesidium. This decree-law was made retroactive to
1 October 1956. On 6 February a decree-law was issued which increased the penalties for
encouraging or assisting persons attempting to cross the frontier illegally. Persons failing to
inform the authorities of such offences were themselves made liable to imprisonment for terms
of as much as two years.(36)

782. The state of affairs which existed before the events of October is thus being reimposed
on the Hungarian people step by step: impossibility of expressing opinions differing from those
of the régime; a controlled press and radio, which are forced to carry official propaganda
justifying the actions of the Government; denial of the right of assembly and association and of
choosing for political, administrative or economic posts candidates other than those proposed
by the single Party; control of all artistic expression by injunction and by economic pressure;
prevention of any personal scientific contact with the West; prohibition of free organization for
the defence of economic and social interests; an educational system steeped in an imposed
doctrine and oriented towards adulation of a foreign country; interference with the work of
representatives of religious faiths; and measures to prevent Hungarians from seeking asylum
abroad. Any infringement of these restrictions and prohibitions is punished by new penal
measures. The Hungarians whom the Committee heard are firmly convinced that their
compatriots once more find themselves living under the threat of the concentration camp,
forced residence or police surveillance and in fear of losing their means of earning a living.

783. A survey of the situation which prevailed in Hungary before the popular uprising of
October 1956 and of conditions in that country since the Soviet intervention makes clear the
futility of trying to establish an applicable criterion on the basis of the Universal Declaration of
Human Rights. The “common standard of achievement for all peoples and all nations” which
the Universal Declaration proposes to hold up before the contemporary world is too far
removed from the situation in Hungary today. It is rather in the following paragraphs of the
Preamble that the Declaration reveals itself:

“Whereas disregard and contempt for human rights have resulted in barbarous acts which have
outraged the conscience of mankind, and the advent of a world in which human beings shall
enjoy freedom of speech and belief and freedom from fear and want has been proclaimed as the
highest aspiration of the common people,

“Whereas it is essential, if man is not to be compelled to have recourse, as a last resort, to
rebellion against tyranny and oppression, that human rights should be protected by the rule of
the law, ...”.

(1) Article 2.

(2) Chapter 1V, paras. 161-166.

(3) Chapter VIII, paras. 309-313.

(4) Chapter V, para. 297.

(5) Népszabadsag, 22 December 1956. Népakarat 1 February 1957.
(6) Chapter XIII, paras. 600-602.

(7) Chapter XIV, para. 696.

(8) Magyar Kozlony, No. 100, 11 December 1956.
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(9) Magyar Ko6zlony, No. 93, 12 November 1956.
(10) Magyar Ko6z16ny, No. 100, 11 December 1956.
(11) Magyar K6z16ny, No. 93, 12 November 1956.
(12) Magyar Ko6z16ny, No. 100, 11 December 1956.
(13) Magyar Ko6z16ny, No. 101, 12 December 1956.

(14) Magyar Ko6zlony, No. 5, 15 January 1957. Regarding the provisions of this decree-law in relation to certain industrial
offences, see Chapter XIV, paragraph 659.

(15) Népi Ulnokok.

(16) Népbirosagi Tanacs.

(17) Magyar K6z1ony, no. 40, 6 April 1957.

(18) Magyar Ko6z16ny, No. 102, 13 December 1956; No. 4, 13 January 1957.
(19) Italicizing of the word “may” by the Committee.

(20) Magyar K6zl6ny, No. 4, 13 January 1957.

(21) Magyar Ko6zlony, No. 32, 19 March 1957.

(22) Magyar K6z16ny, No. 98, 1 December 1956.

(23) Chapter XIII, para. 615.

(24) Magyar Ko6z16ny, No. 21, 19 February 1957.

(25) No formal revocation was made of the decision of 29 October 1956 abolishing “all police organs invested with special
rights”, as well as AVH. In various declarations to the public, however, it was stated that the AVH would be disbanded and
that political investigations would be handled henceforth by a special department set up within the regular police. It was
even stated by Mr. Miinnich that past activities of the members of the AVH would be investigated by the public
prosecutor’s offices and special committees were said to have started functioning for this purpose throughout the country in
the beginning of December. The results of these investigations have not yet been made public. There are indications that
many of the former AVH personnel have been rehabilitated for lack of evidence against them.

(26) Chapter IX, paras. 425-434.

(27) Szabad Nép, 31 July 1956.

(28) Szabad Nép, 1 August 1956.

(29) Chapter X1V, para. 642.

(30) Ibid., para. 679.

(31) Magyar Kozlony, No. 101, 12 December 1956; No. 36, 27 March 1957.
(32) Chapter XIV, para. 699.

(33) Ibid., para. 701.

(34) Népszabadsag, 29 January 1057; chapter XIV, para. 659.
(35) Magyar Ko6zlony, No. 35, 24 March 1957.

(36) Ibid., No. 18, 8 February 1957.
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Chapter XVII
CONCLUSIONS

784. The terms of reference of the Special Committee covered a broad field, namely to
report to the General Assembly of the United Nations after full and objective investigation, its
findings on all aspects of the question of Soviet intervention in Hungary by armed force and by
other means and the effects of such intervention on the political development of Hungary. The
Committee’s investigation, as has been explained, involved the study of copious documentation
from various sources and in several languages, as well as the questioning of more than a
hundred witnesses, whose testimony fills two thousand pages in the verbatim record. The
Committee regrets that the attitude of the Hungarian Government has prevented it from basing
its investigation on direct observation in Hungary, as required by the General Assembly
resolution.

785. The Committee’s findings relate to many aspects of the events in Hungary and are
concerned with numerous points of detail that have a bearing on the origin and nature of those
events. The report itself embodies the conclusions of the Committee, and these conclusions
cannot be readily dissociated from the evidence which is there assembled. A summary of the
Committee’s findings on individual aspects of the situation in Hungary has been appended to
certain of the chapters. It would, however, seem appropriate at this stage to summarize a
number of conclusions drawn by the Committee from its study of the evidence as a whole. To
the best of the Committee’s belief, these conclusions represent the essential facts about the
Hungarian uprising which are necessary to an understanding of its nature and out come. They
are as follows:

(1) What took place in Hungary in October and November 1956 was a spontaneous
national uprising, due to long-standing grievances which had caused resentment among the
people. One of these grievances was the inferior status of Hungary with regard to the USSR;
the system of government was in part maintained by the weapon of terror, wielded by the AVH
or political police, whose influence was exercised at least until the end of 1955, through a
complex network of agents and informers permeating the whole of Hungarian society. In other
respects also, Soviet pressure was resented. From the stifling of free speech to the adoption of
a Soviet-style uniform for the Hungarian army, an alien influence existed in all walks of life.
Hungarians felt no personal animosity towards the individual Soviet soldiers on Hungarian soil,
but these armed forces were symbols of something which annoyed a proud people and fed the
desire to be free;

(i1) The thesis that the uprising was fomented by reactionary circles in Hungary and that it
drew its strength from such circles and from Western “Imperialists” failed to survive the
Committee’s examination. From start to finish, the uprising was led by students, workers,
soldiers and intellectuals, many of whom were Communists or former Communists. The
majority of political demands put forward during the revolution included a stipulation that
democratic socialism should be the basis of the Hungarian political structure and that such
social achievements as the land reform should be safeguarded. At no time was any proposal
made for the return to power, or to the Government, of any figure associated with pre-war
days. “Fascists” and ‘“saboteurs”, heavily armed, could not have succeeded in landing on
Hungarian airfields which were under Soviet supervision, or in crossing the Austrian frontier,
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where a closed zone was shown by the Austrian authorities to the military attaches of France,
the United Kingdom, the United States of America and the USSR;

(iii)  The uprising was not planned in advance. It was the universal testimony of witnesses
examined by the Committee that events took participants by surprise. No single explanation
can determine exactly why the outbreak occurred just when it did. Communist spokesmen,
including Mr. Kédar and the members of his present Government, have recognized the bitter
grievances of the Hungarian people before 23 October. They have spoken of a “broad, popular
movement” caused by the “bitterness and indignation” of the masses. Two factors would seem
to have brought this resentment to a head. The first of these was the news received on 19
October of a successful move by Poland for greater independence from the USSR. This news
was largely instrumental in bringing the Hungarian students together in the meetings of 22
October. The second factor was the acute disappointment felt by the people when Ernd Gerd,
First Secretary of the Central Committee of the Hungarian Workers’ (Communist) Party, in his
speech on the evening of 23 October failed to meet any of the popular demands and adopted
what was considered a truculent tone towards his hearers;

(iv)  Although no evidence exists of advance planning, and although the whole course of the
uprising bears the hallmark of continuous improvisation, it would appear that the Soviet
authorities had taken steps as early as 20 October to make armed intervention in Hungary
possible. Evidence exists of troop movements, or projected troop movements, from that date
on. It would appear that plans for action had therefore been laid some time before the students
met to discuss their demands. The Committee is not in a position to say whether the Soviet
authorities anticipated that the grievances of the Hungarian people, stimulated by events in
Poland, could no longer be contained. Signs of opposition were evident before the 23™; the
Hungarian Government had reason to foresee that trouble was brewing. While the evidence
shows that Soviet troops from outside Hungary were used even in the first intervention, no
clause of the Warsaw Treaty provides for intervention by armed forces of the Soviet Union to
dictate political developments within any signatory’s frontiers;

(V) The demonstrations on 23 October were at first entirely peaceable. None of the
demonstrators appear to have carried arms, and no evidence has been discovered that any of
those who voiced the political demands or joined the demonstrators had any intention to resort
to force. While disappointment at Mr. Gerd’s speech may have angered the crowds, it would
hardly of itself have sufficed to turn the demonstration into an armed uprising. That this
happened was due to the action of the AVH in opening fire on the people outside the radio
building. Within a few hours, Soviet tanks were in action against the Hungarians. This
appearance of Russian soldiers in their midst not as friendly allies, but as enemies in combat,
had the effect of still further uniting the people;

(vi)  Obscurity surrounds the invitation alleged to have been issued by the Hungarian
Government to the Soviet authorities to assist in quelling the uprising by force. Mr. Nagy has
denied, with every appearance of truth, that he issued this invitation or was even aware of it.
Since Soviet tanks appeared on the streets of Budapest at about 2 a.m. on 24 October, it
would have been impossible for him to have addressed any official message to the Soviet
authorities, since he held no government post at the time when the tanks must have received
their orders. An invitation may have been made privately by Mr. Gerd, First Secretary of the
Central Committee of the Communist Party, or Mr. Hegediis, the Prime Minister. The
Committee, however, has had no opportunity of seeing a text of such an invitation, or of
considering the exact circumstances in which it may have been issued. Until further information
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comes to light, it would be wise to suspend judgement as to whether such an invitation was
issued at all.

Similar considerations apply to the invitation which is alleged to have been addressed to the
Soviet authorities before the second intervention on 4 November. Mr. Kadar had remained a
member of Mr. Nagy’s Government when the latter was reconstituted on 3 November and the
Committee is unaware of his having given any recorded indication of his disapproval of Mr.
Nagy’s policies. Mr. Kédar’s movements at this time are not fully known, and he cannot be
considered to have substantiated his own claim to have called, in the name of the Government,
for Soviet help. In any event, there is abundant evidence that Soviet preparations for a further
intervention, including the movement of troops and armour from abroad, had been under way
since the last days of October. Mr. Kadar and his Ministers were absent from Budapest during
the first few days after he formed his Government, and administrative instructions to the people
of Hungary were issued by the commanders of the Soviet troops;

(vi)  When Mr. Nagy became Prime Minister, he was not at first able to exercise the full
powers of that office. Only when the grip of the AVH was loosened by the victory of the
insurgents was he able to take an independent stand. By this time, the real power in Hungary
lay with the Revolutionary and Workers’ Councils, which had sprung up spontaneously in
different parts of the country and had replaced the collapsing structure of the Communist
Party. Mr. Nagy, though himself a Communist of long standing who had lived for many years
in the USSR, invited non-Communists into his new Government, and listened to the demands
of various Revolutionary and Workers’ Councils. It would appear that Mr. Nagy himself, like
the country at large, was somewhat taken aback by the pace of developments. However, seeing
that his countrymen were united in their desire for other forms of government and the
departure of Soviet troops, he threw in his lot with the insurgents. By this action, he
obliterated the impression which he had created while still under the domination of the AVH,
and he became a symbolic figure in the uprising, although he had not instigated it, and was
never its actual leader;

(viii) The few days of freedom enjoyed by the Hungarian people provided abundant evidence
of the popular nature of the uprising. A free press and radio came to life all over Hungary, and
the disbanding of the AVH was the signal for general rejoicing, which revealed the degree of
unity achieved by the people, once the burden of fear had been lifted from them,;

(ix)  There were a number of lynchings and beatings by the crowds. These were, in almost
all cases, confined to members of the AVH or those who were believed to have co-operated
with them;

(%) Steps were taken by the Workers” Councils during this period to give the workers real
control of nationalized industrial undertakings and to abolish unpopular institutions, such as the
production norms. These were widely resented as being unfair to workers and also a reflection
of popularly suspected secret trade agreements with the USSR, which were said to make heavy
demands on the Hungarian economy for the benefit of the Soviet Union. During the days of
freedom, while negotiations continued with the Soviet authorities for the withdrawal of
Russian troops, attempts were made to clear up the streets of Budapest and life was beginning
to return to normal. The insurgents had agreed to amalgamate, while maintaining their identity,
in a National Guard, which would have been responsible, with the Army and Police, for
maintaining order;
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(xi)  In contrast to the demands for the re-establishment of political rights put forward
during the uprising, is the fact that basic human rights of the Hungarian people were violated
by the Hungarian Governments prior to 23 October, especially up to the autumn of 1955, and
that such violations have been resumed since 4 November. The Committee is convinced that
the numerous accounts of inhuman treatment and torture by the AVH are to be accepted as
true. On the evidence, it is also convinced that numbers of Hungarians, including some women,
were deported to the Soviet Union and that some may not have been returned to their homes.
These deportations were designed to break the back of the revolution. Action taken by the
Hungarian people in their spontaneous uprising succeeded in ridding them for a few days of the
apparatus of police terror. This democratic achievement of a united people was indeed,
threatened by a form of “counter-revolution” and it was to this that it succumbed. However,
the “counter-revolution” consisted in the setting up by Soviet armed forces of Mr. Kadar and
his colleagues in opposition to a Government which enjoyed the overwhelming support of the
people of Hungary;

(xii)  Following the second Soviet intervention on 4 November, there has been no evidence
of popular support for Mr. Kadar’s Government. Mr. Kadar has successively abandoned most
of the points from the revolutionary programme which he had at first promised to the
Hungarian people. On the central question of the withdrawal of Soviet troops, he has moved
from complete acceptance of the nation’s wishes to a refusal to discuss the subject in present
circumstances. Against the workers, he has proceeded step by step to destroy their power and
that of the Workers’ Councils. Capital punishment is applicable to strike activities. The
processes of justice have been distorted by the institution of special police and special courts
and by the ignoring of the rights of the accused. The Social Democratic Party has again been
forcibly liquidated. General elections have been postponed for two years. Writers and
intellectuals are subjected to repressive measures. The Hungarian workers have shown no sign
of support for Mr. Kadar’s Government or for the prospect of continuous Soviet occupation.
Only a small fraction of the 190,000 Hungarians, mostly young people, who fled the country
have accepted his invitation to return. The peasants have reason to be grateful to Mr. Nagy for
his attitude towards collectivization of agriculture and forced deliveries of farm produce;

(xiii) In the light of the extent of foreign intervention, consideration of the Hungarian
question by the United Nations was legally proper and, moreover, it was requested by a legal
Government of Hungary. In the matter of human rights, Hungary has accepted specific
international obligations in the Treaty of Peace. Accordingly, the Committee does not regard
objections based on paragraph 7 of Article 2 of the Charter as having validity in the present
case. A massive armed intervention by one Power on the territory of another, with the avowed
intention of interfering with the internal affairs of the country must, by the Soviet’s own
definition of aggression, be a matter of international concern.
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Annex

LIST OF MATERIAL RELATING TO THE PROBLEM OF HUNGARY*

* Note: This is not a bibliography of the Hungarian Revolution but a list of documentation
made available to the Special Committee on the problem of Hungary.

A United Nations documentation

1. Documentation of the Security Council and the General Assembly.

2. Proceedings of the Security Council and the General Assembly.

3. Documentation of the Special Committee on the Problem of Hungary:
(a) Records of the proceedings;

(b) Classified extracts from hearings of witnesses. Nos. 1-2;

(c) Documentation prepared for the Committee.

4, United Nations - Monthly Bulletin of Statistics, April 1957, Vol. XI, No. 4.
5. Publications of the Economic Commission for Europe:

(a) Economic Survey of Europe in 1955 (E/ECE/235)

(b) Economic Survey of Europe in 1956 (E/ECE/278);

(c) Economic Bulletin for Europe, Vol. 8, Nos. 1-3, May, August and November 1956;
Vol.9, No. 1, May 1957.

B. Documents of Hungarian origin
6. Documents issued before the uprising:

(a) Magyar KozIlony (Hungarian Gazette). The Official Gazette of the Hungarian People’s
Republic. Index for Nos. 1-57, 4 January-29 June 1956; 1 June-20 October 1956, Nos. 48-
92;

(b) Budapest Statisztikai Zsebkonyve (Statistical Handbook of Budapest) 1956, published
by the Central Statistical Office of Hungary, 1956.

7. Documents issued by the Kddar Government:

(a) Magyar KozIony: 12 November-29 December 1956, Nos. 93-106; 5 January-8 May
1957, Nos. 1-53;

(b) Some official Hungarian statements (4 November 1956-9 May 1957)

(1) Programme of the Revolutionary Worker-Peasant Government, as announced by Mr.
Janos Kadar on 4 November 1956;(1)

(i1) Declaration of the Revolutionary Worker-Peasant Government of the Hungarian
People’s Republic, 5 January 1957 (“Major Tasks”);
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(iii)  Current Problems and Tasks. Resolution adopted by the Provisional Central
Committee, Hungarian Socialist Workers’ Party, 26 February 1957,

(iv)  Speech by Mr. Istvan Dobi, Chairman of the Praesidium of the Hungarian People’s
Republic, before the Hungarian National Assembly, 9 May 1957;

(c) Publications of the Central Statistical Office (Kozponti Statisztikai Hivatal) of
Hungary:

(1) Fontosabb adatok az 1956 oktober-decemberi idoszakrol (More important data relating
to the period of October-December 1956) Budapest, 15 January 1957, 81 pages;

(i1) Statisztikai Szemle (Statistical Review) Vol. XXXIV, November-December 1956, Nos.
11-12;

(d) The Counter-Revolutionary Forces in the October Events in Hungary. Published by the
Information Bureau of the Council of Ministers of the Hungarian People’s Republic (“White
Book”) (Vols. I and 1I);

(e) “Siege of Radio Budapest: 23 October 1956.” Articles in Népszabadsag, 22-28 January
1957 (translated from Hungarian);

() Hungarian Review. Published by the Publishing House Akadémia Kiad6, Budapest.
March 1957; April 1957.

8. Hungarian newspapers:
(a) Published before the uprising:
(1) Hétfoéi Hirlap (Monday News) 22 October 1956;

(i1) Irodalmi Ujsag (Literary Gazette). The organ of the Hungarian Writers’ Union. 1955:
July 23, 30; August 6; September 3, 10; October 8, 23; November 2; December 24, 31. 1956:
January 7, 14, 21; February 4, 25; March 3, 10, 17, 24, 31; April 7, 14, 21, 28; May 5; June 2,
9, 16; August 25; September 1, 8, 15, 29; October 6; November 2;

(i)  Magyar Nemzet (Hungarian Nation). The organ of the People’s Patriotic Front. 20
June 1956;

(iv)  Népszava (People’s Voice). The organ of the National Council of Hungarian Trade
Unions. 9 September 1956;

(v) Szabad Ifjisag (Free Youth). The organ of the League of Working Youth (DISZ). 18
October 1956;

(vi)  Szabad Nép (Free People). The organ of the Hungarian Workers’ Party. 30 June-31
December 1955; 1 January-22 October 1956;

(vil)  Téarsadalmi Szemle (Social Review). The scientific organ of the Hungarian Workers’
Party. September 1955.

(b) Published during the uprising (2)

A Sziv 3 November

Az En Ujsagom 31 October

Egyetemi Ifjusag 29, 31 October; 2 November
Esti Budapest 27 October

Esti Hirlap 30 October
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Gyor-Sopron-Megyei Hirlap 1, 3 November

Hétfoi Hirlap 30 October

Igazsag 30 October; 1, 2, 3 November

Irodalmi Ujsag 23 October; 2 November

(also French and English translations)

Kis Ujsag 1, 2, 3 November

Magyar Fiiggetlenség 30, 31, October; 1, 2, 3 November

Magyar Honvéd 31 October; 1, 2, 3 November

Magyar Ifjusag 3 November

Magyar Jovo 3 November

Magyar Nemzet 26, 31 October; 1, 2, 3 November

Magyar Szabadsag 30 October; 1 November

Magyar Vilag 1, 2, 3 November

Népakarat 1, 2, 3 November

Néphadsereg 29 October

Népszabadsag 2, 3 November

Népszava 25, 26, 29, 30, 31 October; 1, 2, 3 November

Reformacid 1, 2 November

Szabad Dunantal 1, 2 November

Szabad Ifjusag 23,27, 29, 30 October

Szabad Magyar Radio 31 October

Szabad Nép 22,23, 26,27, 28, 29 October

Szabad Sz6 31 October

Szabolcs-Szatmari Néplap 23, 24, 25 October

U Ember 4 November

Uj Magyarorszag 2, 3 November

Valosag 1, 2 November

Vasi Hirlap 1 November

Veszprémmegyei Népujsag 30 October

(c) Published after 4 November 1956: (3)

Dunantuali Naplo 5 November; 28-31 December 1956;
13-16, 19-20 January 1957

Erdekes Ujsag 19 January 1957

Esti Hirlap 28-30 December 1956;

3-11, 13-17 January 1957
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Eszakmagyarorszag

29-31 December 1956;
3-6, 9-20 January 1957

Fejér Megyei Hirlap, 16-18, 21 November 1956

Hazank (Gyor) 16-26 November; 5 December 1956
5-15, 17-20 January 1957

Magyar Honvéd 22, 23 November 1956

Magyar Ifjusag 5, 12 January 1957

Mai Nap 16, 19 December 1956

Napl6 (Debrecen) 16 November; 13 December 1956

Népakarat 16, 18, 23 November;
6-13, 16-20, 22 December 1956;
3-22 January, 13 March up to date

Népszabadsag 13-14, 17-18, 20, 22-23, 27, 30 November;
1 December 1956 up to date

Szabad Fold 16 December 1956;
13 January 1957

Szabad Nép 6,9, 11 November 1956

Szabad Ozd 14 November 1956

Szabolcs-Szatmar-Megye Népe

’

Uj Zala

18 November 1956
13 November 1956

Vasmegye 14 November 1956
9. Other material of Hungarian origin received from witnesses:
(a) Memorandum from “Leaders of the Hungarian liberation forces” regarding the views of

the “legal Government of Hungary, held captive by the Soviets and the Hungarian people
fighting for freedom”;

(b) Written statements by a witness on:

(1) The role of the Hungarian peasants and the co-operative movement from 1945 to 1956;
(i1) The origin of the Hungarian Revolution;

(iii)  The Hungarian Army and the AVH between 23 October and 14 December 1956;

() Memoranda of a witness on:

(1) Hungarian justice, 1945-56;

(i1) The situation of members of the Bar;

(iii))  The situation of workers;

(iv)  The situation of the bourgeoisie;

(d) Statement of a high-ranking engineer on the “economic exploitation” of Hungary since
1948;

(e) Photostat copies of documents concerned with the arrest of several witnesses and their

subsequent release;
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) Statement by a Hungarian Communist woman on:

(1) Her arrest and treatment in prison;

(i1) The disintegration within the Hungarian Workers’ Party from May 1956 onwards;
(i)  The position taken by intellectuals;

(2) Photostat copies of material issued at the outset, or in connexion with, the mass
meeting of the Building Industry Technological University students on 22 October 1956(4)
transmitted by a witness;

(h) Photostat copy of a leaflet containing 17 demands of the University Youth, issued on
23 October 1956 transmitted by a witness;

(1) Manifesto and four other declarations of Hungarian writers issued during the
revolution; French translation of the issue of Irodalmi Ujsag of 2 November 1956; and the
issue of 15 March 1957 of the same publication published outside Hungary by the members of
the Hungarian Writers’ Union in exile;

(9) Protocol drawn up on 31 March 1957 in a camp for Hungarian refugees in Italy on
terrorist activities of AVH;

(k) Sketches and notes by a witness concerning the losses of Soviet forces between 24-27
October, 1956 in Budapest;

(1) Memorandum on the discussions which took place on 29 October 1956 at the
Hungarian Air Force Command regarding the possibility of bombarding Soviet forces in
Hungary prepared by a witness;

(m)  Statement by a witness on the Office of the Hungarian Chief Prosecutor during and
after the uprising;

(n) Ahogy Lehet (As it could be) (Special number devoted to the Hungarian uprising of a
literary and cultural review) Paris, October 1956-January 1957, Vol. 111, No. 10; IX, No. 1,
Nos. 93-94 (transmitted by a witness);

(o) Memoranda submitted by a Hungarian journalist on:

(1) “The disintegration of the Hungarian Communist Party”;

(i1) Russian troop movements;

(i)  “Russian control over Hungary”;

(p) Memorandum on the Central Workers’ Council of Csepel, prepared by a witness;
) Memoranda supplied by a witness on:

(1) The origin and role of Workers’ Councils in Hungary;

(i1) The economic situation in Hungary before the uprising;

(r) Leaflets supplied by a witness (photostat copies of twenty leaflets, declarations,
manifestos and memoranda issued in Budapest during and after the uprising).

C. Monitoring reports of radio broadcasts
10.  British Broadcasting Corporation (BBC) summary of world broadcasts:
(a) Part I (The USSR);
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(b) Part II.A (Poland, Czechoslovakia, Eastern Germany, Finland);

(c) Part I1.B (Hungary, Romania, Bulgaria, Albania, Yugoslavia);

Published by the Monitoring Service of the BBC, 22 October 1956 up to date.

1. Foreign Broadcast Information Service (FBIS) [ Daily Report:

Foreign Radio Broadcasts - USSR and Eastern Europe, 22 October 1956 up to date.

12. A Magyar Forradalom ¢és Szabadsagharc a hazai radidoadasok tiikrében, 1956 oktdber
23-november 9. (The Hungarian Revolution and fight for Freedom in the Light of Hungarian
Broadcasts. 23 October-9 November 1956).

D. Communications transmitted by Members of the United Nations: (5)
13. Australia - Report of Mr. Eugene Gorman, Q.C., on the Problem of Hungary.

14.  Belgium - Note transmitted by the Head of the Permanent Delegation of Belgium to the
European Office of the United Nations [ from French].

15.  France - Report on the Hungarian Revolution (Communicated by the Permanent
Delegate of France to the European Office of the United Nations) [ from French].

16.  TItaly - Report of Hungarian Events (transmitted by the Permanent Delegate of Italy to
the European Office of the United Nations).

17.  Netherlands - Statement on Events in Hungary and the foreign intervention in that
country during October and November 1956 (transmitted by the Permanent Delegate of the
Netherlands to the European Office of the United Nations).

18.  United Kingdom:

(a) Report on the Hungarian Revolution (transmitted by the Permanent Delegation of the
United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland)

(b) Documentation transmitted by the Permanent Delegation of the United Kingdom of
Great Britain and Northern Ireland, as annexes to “Report on the Hungarian Revolution”;

A. Students’ Manifesto of 22 October 1956; B. Translation of article by Miklés Molnar in
Szabad Nép, 29 October 1956, replying to Pravda; C. Translations of broadcast speeches by
Cardinal Mindszenty on 1 and 3 November 1956; D. Translations of speeches and declarations
by leading Hungarian personalities, 29 October-3 November 1956; E. Translations of Party
programmes and announcements, 26 October-3 November 1956; F. Translations of articles
and declarations on the neutrality of Hungary; G. Declarations and opinions of Hungarian
personalities, 26 October-3 November 1956;

H. Translation of Irodalmi Ujsag, published 2 November 1956; I. Memorandum of Greater
Budapest Workers” Council, 6 December 1956; J. Translation of declarations by the
Democratic Parties and Revolutionary Organizations of Hungary, 8§ December 1956; K.
Telegram ad dressed to Mr. N. A. Bulganin by the Greater Budapest Workers’ Council, 15
December 1956; L. Statement of the Hungarian Writers’ Union passed at the General Meeting,
28 December 1956;

(c) Cuttings from the British Press from 23 October 1956 to 31 January 1957 (Transmitted
by the Permanent Delegation of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland)

(d) Summaries of Hungarian daily and weekly Press:
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(1) Relevant issues of the daily press summary from 22 October 1956 to 3 February 1957;

(i1) Two issues of the fortnightly Review of Hungarian Periodicals, 21 January and 4
February 1957,

(e) Other memoranda on different aspects of the Hungarian revolt, provided by the
Government of the United Kingdom,;

) Photostat copies of a number of leaflets, declarations and manifestos, issued in
Budapest during the revolutionary period and now in the possession of British authorities.
Informal translations of a few of these are included. The material is numbered 1-44 and two
photostat copies of a list, summarizing the contents of each leaflet, are also included;

(2) Material published in the United Kingdom:

(1) Hungarian Tragedy, by Peter Fryer;

(i1) Hungary and the Communist Party, by Peter Fryer;
(iii)) A Handful of Ashes, by Noel Barber;

(iv)  The Hungarian Revolution, by George Mikes;

(v) What Really Happened in Hungary, by Basil Davidson;

(vi)  Encounter, January 1957, containing an article en titled “Two Wandering Satellites” by
Peter Miles;

(vil)  Picture Post special supplement entitled “Cry Hungary”;

(viii) The Hungarian People’s Rising, December 1956;

(ix)  Hungarian Resistance Continues, January 1957,

(x) Repression in Hungary, February 1957.

(The last three items also in French and Spanish.)

(h) A set of photographs from an exhibition held in London in November 1956;
19.  United States of America:

(a) Chronology of events in Hungary, 23 October-23 November 1956;

(b) Report on the Hungarian Revolution (background; chronology of events; analysis and
comments)

(c) Monitoring material of the Hungarian revolution of October-November 1956;
(d) Appeals and leaflets:
(1) Appeals of the university students (22-24 October 1956)

(i1) Appeals of Revolutionary Councils: Budapest, 28 October 1956; Gyor, 30 October
1956)

(i)  Appeals of the Soviet Military Command in Budapest and Gydr, 6-7 November 1956;
(iv)  Appeal of the World Federation of Trade Unions, Prague, 3 November 1956;
(V) Other miscellaneous appeals and leaflets (88 photostat pages).
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E. Documents of non-governmental origin

20. Summaries of communications received by the Committee from non-governmental
sources.
21.  Depositions transmitted by the International Commission against Concentration Camp

Practices.(6)
22. Material submitted by the International Commission of Jurists: (7)

(a) Memoranda: (i) Background material to the legal situation in and concerning Hungary;
(i1) Hungary and the Soviet definition of aggression; (iii) The Hungarian situation in the light of
the Geneva Conventions of 1949; (iv) Summary trials in Hungary;

(b) “The Hungarian Situation and the Rule of Law”. The Hague, April 1957.

23. “On Human Rights in Hungary before the Revolution”. Memorandum transmitted to
the Special Committee on the Problem of Hungary by Lészlé Varga on 12 April 1957, in the
name of the Federation of Free Hungarian Jurists in America.

24.  Vier Tage Freiheit - Der Kampf des ungarischen Volkes und die Gewerkschaften der
freien Welt [Bussels 1957]. Pamphlet transmitted by the International Confederation of Free
Trade Unions.

25.  Plainte contre le gouvernement hongrois relative aux atteintes portées a la liberté
syndicale. Text of a complaint submitted by the General Secretary of the International
Confederation of Free Trade Unions to the Director-General of the International Labour Office
[10 April 1957].

26.  Report on Hungary by the Delegation of the World Federation of Trade Unions [23-27
November 1956] [includes in Appendix No. 1 “Notes on an Interview with Janos Kédar and
Gyorgy Marosan, on 24 November”].

F. Miscellaneous.

27.  Files of official statements of Governments on the problem of Hungary other than those
made within the United Nations.

28.  Cuttings and extracts from the World Press, 22 October 1956 up to date.

(1) Chapter XIV, para. 642.

(2) Chapter XII, para. 587, footnote 1.

(3) Chapter X1V, para. 700.

(4) Chapter X, paras. 439-452; chapter IX, para. 404.
(5) Chapter I, para 28.

(6) Chapter I, para.29.

(7) Chapter XV, para.720.
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INDEX TO THE REPORT
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Note: References are to paragraphs by number. Additional cross reference will be found within
the text.
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Agent provocateurs 100, 124, 127, 135

Aggression 324
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the Hungarian People’s Republic (27 May 1957) Chap. VIII, Annex A (text) 363

The Aims of the League of Working Youth (23 October 1956) Chap. IX, Annex F (text)
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IX, Annex A (text)
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767

Austrian State Treaty (15 May 1955) 312
AVH 769
brutality 768, 770-776
dissolution 68, 71, 520, 572, 615, 779
popular resentment 47, 145, 777
relations with Soviet forces 145, 166, 168, 400, 615, 616
replacement 615, 763, 764, 767
resistance 56, 145, 469, 470, 478, 482
Bali, Sandor 652
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Bata, Istvan 566
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Bebrits, Lajos 569

Bechtler, Péter, 512
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Bibo, Istvan 295, 584, 589

Bielkin, General 431

Bognar, Jozsef 568, 588

Budapest (map) Annex

Building Industry Technological University

Appeal ... (19 October 1956) Chap. IX, Annex A (text) First Draft of the Demands of the
Students ... (22 October  1956) Chap. IX, Annex D (text)

The Sixteen ... Points (22 October 1956) 404, A (text)
Bulganin, N. A. 316
Casualties, Hungarian 200, 202, 210-212, 214, 482, 621, 747, 748
Casualties, Soviet 164, 197, 202, 207, 211, 212
Cease fire order (28 October 1956) 67, 70, 238

Central Workers’ Council of Csepel 619, 621, 645, 654. Proclamation (8 January 1957) 657,
674

Cherbanin, General 280

Christian Democratic Party 587

Citadel, Budapest See Military action, 1* and 2™ phases, in Budapest

Coalition Government See Nagy Government, 3 November 1956

Communist party See Hungarian Socialist Workers’ Party; Hungarian Workers’ Party
Communist Youth Organization See DISZ

Corvin Cinema, Budapest See Military action, 1% and 2™ phases, in Budapest
Counter-revolution 97, 105, 107, 132, 138, 140, 146, 651 alleged preparations 120-123
Counter-Revolutionary Forces in the October Events in Hungary. See Hungarian White Book

Csepel Island, Budapest See Military action, 1% phase in Budapest; Military action, 2" phase,
in Budapest

Csergd, Janos 569
Czottner, Sandor 569
Darvas, Jozsef 566

Debrecen See Military action, 1* phase, in the provinces. Declaration of Neutrality of Hungary
74, 337, 338 (text)

Declaration of the Government of the Hungarian People’s Republic (28 October 1956) 326
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Declaration on Principles for Further Developing and Strengthening Friendship and Co-
operation between the Soviet Union and Other Socialist Countries (30 October 1956). See
Soviet Declaration (30 October 1956)

Democratic Party 47
Democratic People’s Party 587
Deportations 84, 211, 212, 713-740
Déry, Tibor 379, 697
DISZ (Communist Youth Organization) 49
Aims of the League of Working Youth (23 October 1956) Chap. IX, Annex F (text)

Appeal... (22 October 1956) Chap. IX, Annex B (text) Resolution ... (22 October 1956)
Chap. IX. Annex C text

Dobi, Istvan 225, 569

Dogei, Imre 296

Donat, Ferenc 281, 630
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Elections 88, 237, 238, 646, 679, 689

Erdei, Ferenc 66, 75, 221, 279, 341, 568, 584, 588
Erdekes Ujsag 700
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Farkas, Ferenc 72, 341, 342, 584, 589, 592

Farkas, General Mihaly 387, 388, 404, Annex A, Annex C and Annex E to chapter [X
Farkas, Lieutenant-Colonel Vladimir 273, 388

Fazekas, Gyorgy 630

First Draft of the Demands of the Students of the Building Industry Technological University
of Budapest (22 October 1956) Chap. IX, Annex D (text)

Fischer, Jozsef 589
Free Hungarian Revolutionary Youth Alliance 515, 516
Free Radio Kossuth 291-294

Freedom of expression 121, 379, 694, 696, 701, 767, 778 See also Press; State Information
Office

Frontier Guard See AVH
Fryer, Peter 148
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Gaspar, Sandor 350, 671, 675

Gellért Hill, Budapest See Military action, 1* and 2™ phases, in Budapest

Gerd, Ernd 117, 232, 242, 246, 247, 250, 251, 255, 260, 262
removal 65, 230, 275
speech (23 October 1956) 55, 223, 464-466

Greater Budapest Workers’ Council 86, 354, 621, 645-650, 652, 653
Proclamation (6 December 1956) 652

Grebennik, Major-General K. 349, 601, 606, 622

Gyenes, Antal 567

Gyér. See Military action 1% and 2™ phases, in the provinces

Haraszti, Sandor 630

Hay, Gyula 121, 379

Hegediis, Andrés 65, 219, 246, 247, 255, 260, 262, 317, 566, 776

Horthy, Admiral Miklos 136

Horvéath, Imre 288, 296, 346, 358, 387, 589

Human rights 741-783

Hungarian Air Force 174, 176, 307, 311 See also Revolutionary National Defence Committee

Hungarian Army 307, 310, 311 See also Revolutionary National Defence Committee
attitude towards insurgents 60, 160, 187-192, 195, 471, 472, 478, 612
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disintegration 60, 188, 195, 613, 614

Hungarian Conservative Party 587

Hungarian Independence Party 587

Hungarian National Revolutionary Committee 536

Hungarian Peasants’ Alliance 586
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Hungarian Revolutionary Youth Party 587

Hungarian Socialist Workers’ Party 73, 115, 280, 605, 625, 629, 636, 665, 684 See also
Hungarian Workers’ Party

Hungarian Telegraph Agency 532, 671

Hungarian White Book 91, 99-101, 122, 126, 136
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Hungarian Writers’ Union 52, 88, 225, 233, 293, 328, 354, 382, 692, 694-697, 716, 781
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Hungary. Permanent Representative of Hungary to the United Nations Memorandum (4
February 1957) 91, 121, 126, 362

Ignotus, Pal 382

Illyés, Gyula 584

Independent Smallholders’ Party 47, 88, 354, 568, 578, 586, 678
International Commission Against Concentration Camp Practices 720
International Commission of Jurists 29

International Labour Organisation 675

Janosi, Ferenc 221, 630

Janza, General Karoly 172, 173, 567, 589

Jaszberény See Military action, 1* phase, in the provinces
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policy 296, 360, 642, 689
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career (1929-1956) 271-274
collaboration with Nagy 285, 286
movements, 1-7 November 1956 287, 297
political views 280, 283, 284
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speech (30 October 1956) 279
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speech (15 November 1956) 325
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speech (5 January 1957) 360, 656, 665, 686
speech (2 February 1957) 361
speech (11 May 1957) 364, 707
Kallai, Gyula 780
Kalocsa See Military action, 2™ phase, in the provinces
Kardelj, Edvard 653
Karinthy, Frigyes 421
Kassdk, Lajos 382
Kecskemét ~ See Military action, 2™ phase, in the provinces
Kelemen, Gyula 140, 569, 580, 583, 589
Kéthly, Anna 7, 329, 346, 569, 580, 582, 583, 589, 591
Kilian Barracks, Budapest ~See Military action, 1% and 2™ phases, in Budapest
Kiraly, Major-General Béla 7, 173, 193, 290, 522
Kiss, Arpad 567
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Kodaly, Zoltan 585, 694
Koniev, Marshal I. S. 314, 680
Kopécsi, Sandor 257, 281
Kos, Péter 326, 346, 504, 525
Kossa, Istvan 288, 296, 569
Kovics, Béla 66, 75, 140, 568, 569, 578, 589, 591, 687
Kovacs, Imre 584
Kovécs, Major General Istvan 193, 290, 341
Kdvago, Jozsef 7, 341, 512
Kuznetsov, Vasilii 358
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League of Working Youth See DISZ
Losonczy, Géza 281, 295, 330, 341, 589, 630
Lukacs, Gyorgy 281, 567
Magyar Oktober 719
Maléter, Lieutenant-General Pal 67, 72, 75, 184, 193, 290, 341, 343, 589
Malinin, General 290, 343
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Marosan, Gyorgy 296, 325, 687, 696, 701, 706
Marton, General Andras 193, 341
Matyas, Laszl6 763
MEFESZ 353, 354, 437-440
Mikoyan, A. 1. 253, 254, 286, 334
Military action, 1* phase
in Budapest 64, 163, 164, 170, 479-482
in the provinces 167, 168
Military action, 2" phase
in Budapest 79, 196-198, 200, 202, 203
in the provinces 79, 200, 204, 206-208, 210-214
Mindszenty, Cardinal 71, 137, 140, 504, 779
Miskolc See Military action, 2™ phase, in the provinces
Miskolc Revolutionary Council 171
Moad, Péter 91, 525
Molnar, Erik 428, 569, 589
Miinnich, Ferenc 286, 288, 296, 567, 589, 757
Nader, Colonel 193
Nagy, Ferenc 142
Nagy Government (27 October 1956) 66, 276, 279, 288, 565-569
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Council of Ministers 566
Inner cabinet 288, 573, 575
overthrow 289-291, 295
repudiation of Kadar Government 295
Nagy Government (3 November 1956) 72, 106, 342, 367, 598-593
Nagy, Imre 48, 54, 59, 133
abduction 81, 635-639, 651
asylum 80, 295, 630-634
career (1918-1956) 218-220
detention (October 1956) 217, 233-239, 246-250, 256, 257
political views 220, 339
popular opinion 218-221, 227-232, 462
speech (24 October 1956) 228, 229, 250, 251
speech (25 October 1956) 230, 252
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speech (31 October 1956) 243, 333
speech (4 November 1956) 291
National Assembly See Elections
National Council of Trade Unions and National Council of Free Trade Unions 555, 671-675
National Guard 71, 173, 211, 522
National Peasant Party 47, 584 See also Petdfi Party
Németh, Laszl6 584, 591
Népakarat, 698
Népszabadsag 698
Nezval, Ferenc 757
Neutrality, Austrian 143
Neutrality, Hungarian 74, 326, 327, 333, 337, 338, 339, 340, 341, 646, 648
Non, Gyorgy 429, 776
Obersovszky, Gyula 696
Palinkas, Major Antal 137
Parliament Building, Budapest = See Military action, 1* and 2™ phases, in Budapest

Passive resistance 83-87, 602, 604, 616  See also Strikes Pécs See Military action, 1% phase,
in the provinces; Military action, 2" phase, in the provinces

People’s Patriotic Front 565, 656
Pestszenterzsébet, Budapest ~ See Military action, 2™ phase, in Budapest
Péter, Licutenant-General Gabor 378
Pet6fi Club 49, 88, 383-384
Ten Points (22 October 1956) Chap. IX, Annex E (text)
Pet6fi Party 353, 354, 584-586, 688
Piros, Laszl6 566
Poland, October events 50, 381, 390, 394
Political parties 47, 66, 68, 72, 238, 573, 576-587, 676, 679, 687 See also names of parties
Press 587, 654, 694, 698-700 See also Freedom of expression; State Information Office
Proclamation of the Hungarian Writers’ Union (23 October 1956) 404 B (text)
Property destruction 197, 211, 748
R Group See AVH
Racz, Sandor 652
Radio Building, Budapest 57, 155, 468-472
Radio Free Europe 100, 126, 128, 130, 131, 209
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Rajk, Julia 389, 630

Rajk, Laszl6 47, 48, 272, 378, 386
Raékosi, Matyas 47, 48, 117, 273, 377, 386
Refugees 707 See also Deportations

Resolution addressed to the Participants of the DISZ Mass Meeting (22 October 1956) Chap.
IX, Annex C (text)

Révai, Jozsef 387
Révész, Andras 579

Revolutionary Committee of Hungarian Intellectuals See Revolutionary Council of
Hungarian Intellectuals

Revolutionary Committee of the Foreign Ministry 525, 526
Revolutionary Committee of the Public Security Forces 522
Revolutionary Council of Csepel 203
Revolutionary Council of Hungarian Intellectuals 88, 354
Appeal (28 October 1956) Chap. IX, Annex G (text)
Appeal (12 November 1956) 693
Manifesto (24 November 1956) 695 Revolutionary Council of South Budapest 236
Revolutionary Council of South Budapest 236
Revolutionary Council of Young Workers and Working Youth 517
Revolutionary Councils 62, 485, 487, 490, 491, 524, 527-532, 692
abolition 652, 691
demands 503, 504, 506, 525-536
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recognition 238, 491, 492, 507, 537, 538
Revolutionary Military Council 173, 519
Revolutionary National Defence Committee 193, 518, 520-522
Ribianszki, Miklos 568
Ronai, Sandor 296, 376
Security Force Regiments See AVH
Serov, General Ivan 75, 290
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Shepilov, D. T. 99, 264, 265, 318, 319, 325, 357
Sik, Endre 346
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Plenary Meeting of the Building Industry Technological University (22 October 1956) 52, 328,
404, A (text), 444-451, 468

Social Democratic Party 47, 88, 281, 329, 579-583, 678, 687, 688
Soroksar, Budapest  See Military action, 2™ phase, in Budapest
Soviet Declaration (30 October 1956) 104, 331-332
Soviet Military Command 78, 83, 598-619

control of communications 606-608

Orders 601 (texts)

Soviet military forces in Hungary 51, 157-159, 166, 183, 304, 306 See also Military action;
Soviet military intervention

deployment, 1% phase 51, 74, 153-154, 178-185, 261, 262
deployment, 2™ phase 76, 78, 111, 178-185

resistance 160-163, 166, 198, 215

withdrawal 70, 171-178, 305, 327-330, 332, 333, 347-355, 368, 520
negotiations 67, 74, 75, 230, 286, 290, 330, 336, 646

Soviet military intervention (24 October 1956) 151-185, 479, 480, 744  See also Military
action, 1 phase; Soviet military forces in Hungary

justification 103, 109-112

request by Hungarian Government 59, 69, 104, 106, 260. 261, 264, 318, 320
attributed to Gerd 242, 260

attributed to Hegediis 242, 259

attributed to Nagy 216, 226, 231, 259

denied by Nagy 216, 242, 243, 245, 263
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action, 2™ phase; Soviet military forces in Hungary
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Special Committee on the Problem of Hungary = See United Nations. Special Committee on
the Problem of Hungary

State Information Office 88, 699 See also Freedom of expression; Press
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Resolution 1132 (XTI) Chap. I, Annex A (text) 322, 323

266



United Nations Security Council. Emergency Session 293
United Nations. Special Committee on the Problem of Hungary
conclusions 149-150, 185, 215, 266, 301-303, 365-369, 560, 561, 640, 708-712
establishment 1-2, Chap. I, Annex
interim report 3, 36
membership 1
procedure 4-5, 24-26, 32-34, 36, 44-46
relations with governments 4, 27-28, 32-34, 44, 90-91, 93, 270
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